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Smith v. Rudolph

ANTHONY SMITH ET AL. v. WILLIAM
J. RUDOLPH ET AL.

(SC 20008)

Palmer, McDonald, Robinson, Mullins and Kahn, Js.*

Syllabus

Pursuant to statute (§ 52-556), any person injured ‘‘through the negligence’’
of a state employee while that employee is operating a motor vehicle
owned and insured by the state ‘‘shall have a right of action against the
state to recover damages for such injury.’’

The named plaintiff, S, brought an action pursuant to § 52-556 to recover
damages from the defendant state Department of Transportation as a
result of a motor vehicle accident that occurred when a bus owned by
the state and operated by a state employee collided with a vehicle that
S was driving. After S claimed the case to the jury trial list, the defendant
filed a motion to strike the case from that list on the ground that a jury
trial was not authorized by § 52-556. The trial court granted the motion,
and the case was tried to the court, which rendered judgment for S and
awarded damages. S appealed, claiming that the trial court incorrectly
determined that § 52-556 did not afford him the right to a jury trial. Held
that, because there is no right to a jury trial for an action brought under
§ 52-556, the trial court properly struck S’s case from the jury trial list:
a right to a jury trial cannot be implied in a statute waiving sovereign
immunity but must be affirmatively expressed therein, and § 52-556 does
not expressly provide for a right to a jury trial; moreover, the legislature
could have, and likely would have, expressed its intention in § 52-556
to grant the right to a jury trial in cases brought pursuant to that statute
if it had desired to grant such a right, as it had in another statute (§ 13a-
144) waiving the state’s sovereign immunity in highway defect cases;
furthermore, even though § 52-556 uses the word ‘‘negligence,’’ which

* The listing of justices reflects their seniority status on this court as of
the date of oral argument.
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merely served to address the circumstance under which the legislature
waived sovereign immunity, there was no right to a jury trial for a
negligence action against the state prior to the adoption in 1818 of the
state constitutional guarantee of such a right because the doctrine of
sovereign immunity barred such an action, and there was no merit to
the plaintiff’s claim that simply because there previously have been jury
trials without objection in cases brought pursuant to § 52-556 that a jury
trial is authorized in such cases.

Argued March 27—officially released September 11, 2018

Procedural History

Action to recover damages for personal injuries sus-
tained by the named plaintiff as a result of the named
defendant’s alleged negligence, brought to the Superior
Court in the judicial district of New Britain, where the
claims against the named defendant were withdrawn
and where the claim of the plaintiff Marilyn Smith
against the defendant state Department of Transporta-
tion was dismissed; thereafter, the court, Abrams, J.,
granted the department’s motion to strike the plaintiff’s
case from the jury docket; subsequently, the case was
tried to the court, Young, J.; judgment for the named
plaintiff, from which the named plaintiff appealed.
Affirmed.

William J. Melley III, with whom was Gary A.
Friedle, for the appellant (named plaintiff).

Edward P. Brady III, with whom, on the brief, was
Catherine M. Blair, for the appellee (defendant state
Department of Transportation).

Jonathan Hasbani and Daniel P. Scholfield filed a
brief for the Connecticut Trial Lawyers Association as
amicus curiae.

Opinion

PALMER, J. This appeal requires us to determine
whether there is a right to a jury trial in an action
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brought pursuant to General Statutes § 52-556,1 which
waives sovereign immunity for claims arising from a
state employee’s negligent operation of a state owned
motor vehicle. The named plaintiff, Anthony Smith,2

commenced this action, pursuant to § 52-556, against
the defendant Department of Transportation,3 seeking
damages stemming from an accident that occurred
when a bus owned and operated by the state collided
with a vehicle that the plaintiff was driving. After the
plaintiff claimed the action to the jury trial list, the
defendant filed a motion to strike the case from that
list on the ground that a jury trial is not authorized by
§ 52-556. The trial court granted the defendant’s motion,
and a trial to the court ensued, following which the
court rendered judgment for the plaintiff, awarding him
damages. The plaintiff appeals4 from that judgment,
claiming that the trial court incorrectly determined that
§ 52-556 does not afford him the right to a jury trial.
Relying on the established principle that a common-
law negligence action carries with it the right to a jury
trial, the plaintiff maintains that, even though § 52-556
does not expressly provide for a jury trial, that provision

1 General Statutes § 52-556 provides: ‘‘Any person injured in person or
property through the negligence of any state official or employee when
operating a motor vehicle owned and insured by the state against personal
injuries or property damage shall have a right of action against the state to
recover damages for such injury.’’

2 The named plaintiff’s wife, Marilyn Smith, also was a party to this action.
Her loss of consortium claim against the named defendant, William J.
Rudolph, was withdrawn and her remaining loss of consortium claim against
the defendant Department of Transportation was dismissed. In the interest of
simplicity, we refer to Anthony Smith as the plaintiff throughout this opinion.

3 Because all of the claims asserted against the named defendant, William
J. Rudolph, previously were withdrawn, the Department of Transportation
is the sole remaining defendant in this action. In the interest of simplicity,
we refer to the Department of Transportation as the defendant throughout
this opinion.

4 The plaintiff appealed to the Appellate Court from the judgment of the
trial court, and we transferred the appeal to this court pursuant to General
Statutes § 51-199 (c) and Practice Book § 65-1.
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constitutes a waiver of sovereign immunity that permits
such an action against the state, thereby entitling him
to a trial by jury. The defendant contends that § 52-556
does not give rise to a common-law negligence claim
but, rather, creates a new cause of action, unknown at
common law, such that the plaintiff has no right to a jury
trial. We agree with the defendant, and, accordingly,
we affirm the judgment of the trial court.

The record reveals the following undisputed facts
and procedural history. On October 23, 2012, the plain-
tiff was driving to work when his vehicle was struck
by a bus owned by the state and operated by a state
employee, who was driving the bus within the scope
of his employment. The accident occurred when the
operator drove the bus through a red light at the inter-
section of West Main Street and South High Street in
the city of New Britain and collided with the plaintiff’s
vehicle as the plaintiff, who had a green light, was
lawfully negotiating a left turn at that intersection. The
plaintiff’s vehicle was damaged, and the plaintiff sus-
tained injuries to his neck, back and legs.

The plaintiff sought damages stemming from the bus
operator’s alleged negligence, and, subsequently, the
plaintiff claimed the case for a jury trial. The defendant
moved to strike the case from the jury docket on the
ground that no jury trial was authorized under § 52-
556. Thereafter, the trial court, Abrams, J., granted the
defendant’s motion and ordered the case transferred
from the jury list to the court trial list. The plaintiff
filed a motion for reconsideration of the trial court’s
decision, which the court denied. Thereafter, the court
issued a memorandum of decision explaining why the
plaintiff was not entitled to a jury trial. The plaintiff
then filed a notice of intention to appeal that from that
decision. Following a court trial, the trial court, Young,
J., rendered judgment for the plaintiff and awarded
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damages in the amount of $31,953.12. This appeal
followed.5

On appeal, the plaintiff claims that the trial court
improperly struck the case from the jury docket
because § 52-556 authorizes a trial by jury. The plaintiff
argues that the statute is a waiver of sovereign immunity
that permits an action long recognized at common
law—one sounding in ordinary negligence—to be
brought against the state. In support of this contention,
the plaintiff maintains that the legislature, by including
the word ‘‘negligence’’ in the statute, intended to incor-
porate the substantive legal principles that govern such
common-law actions, including the right to a jury trial,
which, this court has determined, is guaranteed under
article first, § 19, of the Connecticut constitution.6 In
response, the defendant contends that the right to a jury
trial cannot be implied in a statute waiving sovereign
immunity but, rather, must be affirmatively expressed
in the statutory language. We agree with the defendant
that, because § 52-556 does not expressly provide for
a right to a jury trial, the trial court properly struck the
plaintiff’s case from the jury docket.7

As a preliminary matter, we set forth the legal princi-
ples that govern our resolution of the plaintiff’s claim.
Whether there is a right to a jury trial under § 52-556

5 After this appeal was filed, we granted the application of the Connecticut
Trial Lawyers Association to file an amicus curiae brief in support of the
plaintiff’s claim.

6 Article first, § 19, of the Connecticut constitution provides: ‘‘The right
of trial by jury shall remain inviolate.’’

7 The plaintiff also claims that the activity in which the bus operator was
engaged when the accident occurred, namely, driving a bus, implicates a
ministerial duty for which there is no sovereign immunity. The plaintiff
cannot prevail on this claim for two reasons. First, there is nothing in the
trial court record or in the record before us to rebut the defendant’s con-
tention that this claim was not advanced in the trial court, and, therefore,
it is not properly preserved. Second, in contrast to principles governing
governmental or municipal liability, we never have recognized an exception
to sovereign immunity predicated on a ministerial duty.
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presents an issue of statutory interpretation, over which
we exercise plenary review. See, e.g., Perry v. Perry, 312
Conn. 600, 622, 95 A.3d 500 (2014). ‘‘When construing
a statute, [o]ur fundamental objective is to ascertain
and give effect to the apparent intent of the legislature.
. . . In other words, we seek to determine, in a rea-
soned manner, the meaning of the statutory language
as applied to the facts of [the] case, including the ques-
tion of whether the language actually does apply. . . .
In seeking to determine that meaning [General Statutes]
§ 1-2z directs us first to consider the text of the statute
itself and its relationship to other statutes. If, after
examining such text and considering such relationship,
the meaning of such text is plain and unambiguous and
does not yield absurd or unworkable results, extratex-
tual evidence of the meaning of the statute shall not
be considered. . . . When a statute is not plain and
unambiguous, we also look for interpretive guidance
to the legislative history and circumstances surrounding
its enactment, to the legislative policy it was designed to
implement, and to its relationship to existing legislation
and common law principles governing the same general
subject matter . . . .’’ (Internal quotation marks omit-
ted.) Rivers v. New Britain, 288 Conn. 1, 10–11, 950
A.2d 1247 (2008).

The general principles governing sovereign immunity
are well established. ‘‘[W]e have long recognized the
validity of the common-law principle that the state can-
not be sued without its consent . . . .’’ (Internal quota-
tion marks omitted.) Cox v. Aiken, 278 Conn. 204, 211,
897 A.2d 71 (2006). ‘‘[A] litigant that seeks to overcome
the presumption of sovereign immunity [pursuant to a
statutory waiver] must show that . . . the legislature,
either expressly or by force of a necessary implication,
statutorily waived the state’s sovereign immunity . . . .
In making this determination, [a court shall be guided
by] the well established principle that statutes in dero-
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gation of sovereign immunity should be strictly con-
strued. . . . [When] there is any doubt about their
meaning or intent they are given the effect which makes
the least rather than the most change in sovereign
immunity. . . . Furthermore, because such statutes
are in derogation of the common law, [a]ny statutory
waiver of immunity must be narrowly construed . . .
and its scope must be confined strictly to the extent the
statute provides.’’ (Citation omitted; internal quotation
marks omitted.) Housatonic Railroad Co. v. Commis-
sioner of Revenue Services, 301 Conn. 268, 288–89, 21
A.3d 759 (2011).

In determining whether there is a right to a jury trial
in an action brought under § 52-556, we are mindful
that article first, § 19, of the state constitution ‘‘has been
consistently construed by Connecticut courts to mean
that if there was a right to a trial by jury at the time of
the adoption of the provision, then that right remains
intact.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Skinner v.
Angliker, 211 Conn. 370, 373–74, 559 A.2d 701 (1989).
Thus, ‘‘in determining whether a party has a right to a
trial by jury under the state constitution . . . the court
must ascertain whether the action being tried is similar
in nature to an action that could have been tried to a
jury in 1818 when the state constitution was adopted.
This test requires an inquiry [into] whether the [cause]
of action has roots in the common law, and, if so,
whether the remedy involved was one in law or equity.
If the action existed at common law and involved a
legal remedy, the right to a jury trial exists, and the
legislature may not curtail that right either directly or
indirectly.’’ Id., 375–76. Significantly, however, this
court has also determined that, ‘‘to entitle one to a right
to a jury trial, it is not enough that the nature of the
plaintiff’s action is legal rather than equitable; the action
must also be brought against a defendant who was
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suable at common law in [1818].’’ (Emphasis added;
internal quotation marks omitted.) Id., 378.

Thus, in Canning v. Lensink, 221 Conn. 346, 603 A.2d
1155 (1992), we concluded that there is no right to a
jury trial in a wrongful death action brought pursuant
to General Statutes (Rev. to 1987) § 19a-24 against the
Commissioner of Mental Retardation and his employees
in their official capacity, explaining that, ‘‘because the
doctrine of sovereign immunity barred actions against
the state prior to the adoption of the state constitution
in 1818, there is no constitutional right of jury trial
in civil actions based on statutes effectively waiving
such immunity in particular situations.’’ (Emphasis
added.) Id., 353. We proceeded to explain, moreover,
that, when a statute waiving sovereign immunity does
not either expressly preclude the right to a jury trial or
provide for that right, ‘‘we have concluded that the
legislature intended that the action should be tried with-
out a jury.’’8 Id., 354. This is because, ‘‘[w]hen the state,
by statute, waives its immunity to suit . . . the right
to a jury trial cannot be implied but, rather, must be
affirmatively expressed.’’ (Emphasis added.) Skinner
v. Angliker, supra, 211 Conn. 381; accord Canning v.
Lensink, supra, 354.

Turning to the relevant statutory language in the pre-
sent case, we observe that § 52-556 provides that ‘‘[a]ny
person injured in person or property through the negli-
gence of any state official or employee when operating
a motor vehicle owned and insured by the state against

8 In Canning, the court distinguished statutes waiving sovereign immunity
that are silent with respect to the right to a jury trial from those that expressly
preclude such a right; see, e.g., General Statutes § 4-61 (a) (requiring court
trial in actions against state on highway and public works contracts); General
Statutes § 4-160 (f) (requiring court trial in actions against state authorized
by claims commissioner); and from those that expressly provide for such
a right; see General Statutes § 13a-144 (permitting plaintiff to elect jury trial
in action to recover damages for injuries sustained on state highways or
sidewalks). See Canning v. Lensink, supra, 221 Conn. 354.
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personal injuries or property damage shall have a right
of action against the state to recover damages for such
injury.’’ The statute neither expressly grants nor pre-
cludes the right to a jury trial. See Rodriguez v. State,
155 Conn. App. 462, 470 n.8, 110 A.3d 467 (‘‘§ 52-556
appears to contain no language, express or implied,
that grants a right to a jury trial to a claimant seeking
to recover under its provisions’’), cert. granted, 316
Conn. 916, 113 A.3d 71 (2015) (appeal withdrawn
December 15, 2015). The only language in § 52-556 that
even arguably may be read to reflect an intent by the
legislature to provide for a jury trial is the term ‘‘negli-
gence,’’ but, at the very most, such a legislative intent
may only be implied by the use of that term. As we have
explained, we will construe a statute waiving sovereign
immunity as providing for a right to a jury trial only if
that right is granted expressly; language that may be
construed as containing an implied grant of that right
will not suffice. See Skinner v. Angliker, supra, 211
Conn. 381.

Indeed, the language of § 52-556 stands in marked
contrast to at least one other statute that waives sover-
eign immunity—the state’s highway defect statute, Gen-
eral Statutes § 13a-144—in which the legislature
expressly provided for the right to a jury trial. If the
legislature intended for § 52-556 to include the right to
a jury trial, the legislature could have, and likely would
have, included such a provision in the statute. See, e.g.,
State v. Heredia, 310 Conn. 742, 761, 81 A.3d 1163 (2013)
(‘‘[w]hen a statute, with reference to one subject con-
tains a given provision, the omission of such provision
from a similar statute concerning a related subject . . .
is significant to show that a different intention existed’’
[internal quotation marks omitted]); see also State v.
Bush, 325 Conn. 272, 290, 157 A.3d 586 (2017) (‘‘[w]e
are not permitted to supply statutory language that the
legislature may have chosen to omit’’ [internal quotation
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marks omitted]). Moreover, the plaintiff cites to no leg-
islative history, and we have found none, that supports
his contention. Accordingly, and mindful of the general
principle that we are to strictly construe waivers of
sovereign immunity so as to make the least, rather than
the greatest, change in that immunity; see, e.g., Housa-
tonic Railroad Co. v. Commissioner of Revenue Ser-
vices, supra, 301 Conn. 289; we agree with the defendant
that there is no right to a jury trial for actions brought
under § 52-556. See Skinner v. Angliker, supra, 211
Conn. 381.

In arguing to the contrary, the plaintiff relies on Babes
v. Bennett, 247 Conn. 256, 721 A.2d 511 (1998), for the
proposition that, ‘‘[b]ecause the language of § 52-556
expressly waives the state’s immunity from suit based
on common-law negligence, it appears that the legisla-
ture intended § 52-556 to incorporate the principles gov-
erning existing common-law negligence actions, and
that the statute was not intended to create a separate
statutory action to which different principles of liability
and damages would apply.’’ Id., 263–64. In reliance on
this language, the plaintiff asserts that the legislature,
in enacting § 52-556, intended that the substantive rules
governing negligence actions generally would apply to
actions brought under § 52-556, including, in particular,
the right to a jury trial guaranteed by article first, § 19,
of the Connecticut constitution. We are not persuaded
by this argument. As we have explained, prior to 1818,
there was no right to a jury trial for a negligence action
against the state because the doctrine of sovereign
immunity barred such an action, and, consequently,
‘‘there is no constitutional right of jury trial in civil
actions based on statutes effectively waiving such
immunity in particular situations.’’ Canning v. Lensink,
supra, 221 Conn. 353.

Moreover, the legislature’s use of the word ‘‘negli-
gence’’ in § 52-556 merely addresses the circumstance
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under which the legislature has waived sovereign immu-
nity but does not purport to confer the right to a jury
trial. In other words, in enacting § 52-556, the legislature
simply sought to waive the immunity otherwise avail-
able to the state for the negligence of certain of its
employees, nothing more and nothing less. Our conclu-
sion in this regard finds support in a case recently
decided by the Appellate Court. See Perez v. University
of Connecticut, 182 Conn. App. 278, A.3d (2018).
In Perez, the Appellate Court was required to determine
whether General Statutes § 4-159 (c),9 which authorizes
the legislature to permit certain claims to be brought
against the state, entitled Christian Perez, the plaintiff
in that negligence action, to a jury trial because that
provision contains language indicating generally that
the state should be held liable as if it ‘‘were . . . a
private person . . . .’’ General Statutes § 4-159 (c); see
Perez v. University of Connecticut, supra, 288. In
rejecting the contention that Perez had a right to a jury
trial, Judge Prescott explained that § 4-159 (c) ‘‘merely
addresses the standard under which the General Assem-
bly will decide whether to waive sovereign immunity’’;
Perez v. University of Connecticut, supra, 288; and was
not intended to serve ‘‘as a grant to [Perez] of all the
rights he would have had if the action [had been]
brought against a private person rather than the state,’’
including the right to a trial by jury. Id., 289. We reach
the same conclusion in the present case.

Finally, the plaintiff asserts that ‘‘[n]umerous cases
have been brought against state employees or officials
for negligent operation of a motor vehicle since the
earliest enactment of . . . § 52-556’’ and that ‘‘[m]any

9 General Statutes § 4-159 (c) provides: ‘‘The General Assembly may grant
the claimant permission to sue the state under the provisions of this section
when the General Assembly deems it just and equitable and believes the
claim to present an issue of law or fact under which the state, were it a
private person, could be liable.’’
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of these cases have permitted a jury trial.’’ Contrary to
the suggestion of the plaintiff, however, the mere fact
that some cases brought under § 52-556 have been tried
to a jury does not mean that a jury trial is authorized
thereunder. In those cases, both the court and the par-
ties may have assumed that § 52-556 grants that right,
but any such assumption is irrelevant for purposes of
our analysis. More important, the plaintiff cites no
instances in which a case brought pursuant to § 52-556
proceeded to a jury trial after a motion to strike the
claim from the jury trial list had been filed. We therefore
find no merit in the plaintiff’s claim that § 52-556 entitles
him to a jury trial simply because other cases brought
pursuant to that provision have been tried—without
objection—to a jury.

For the foregoing reasons, we conclude that there is
no right to a jury trial for an action brought under § 52-
556. Accordingly, the trial court properly struck the
present action from the jury trial list so that the case
would be tried to the court.

The judgment is affirmed.

In this opinion the other justices concurred.

STATE OF CONNECTICUT v. EDWARD TAUPIER
(SC 19950)

Palmer, McDonald, Robinson, D’Auria, Mullins, Kahn and Vertefeuille, Js.*

Syllabus

Convicted, following a trial to the court, of threatening in the first degree,
breach of the peace in the second degree, and disorderly conduct in
connection with the sending of an e-mail containing threatening state-
ments directed toward a Superior Court judge, B, the defendant
appealed, claiming, inter alia, that the statements in the e-mail were
protected speech under both federal and state constitutions. The defen-

* The listing of justices reflects their seniority status on this court as of
the date of oral argument.
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dant had represented himself in a marital dissolution action and, after
having enrolled his children in a certain school in violation of a court
order, received copies of certain motions in that action from an attorney
representing his wife. Thereafter, the defendant sent an e-mail to, among
other people, N and V, criticizing the family court and stating that ‘‘[t]hey
can steal my kids from my cold dead bleeding cordite filled fists . . .
as my [sixty] round [magazine] falls to the floor . . . .’’ The e-mail then
accurately stated that ‘‘[B] lives in [a certain town] with her boys and
[n]anny’’ and that ‘‘there [are] 245 [yards] between [B’s] master bedroom
and a cemetery that provides cover and concealment . . . .’’ The e-mail
further stated that ‘‘a [.308 caliber rifle] at 250 [yards] with a double
pane drops [one-half inch] per foot beyond the glass and loses [7 percent]
of [foot pounds] of force [at] 250 [yards] . . . .’’ In response, N sent an
e-mail to the defendant characterizing his statements as ‘‘disturbing’’
and instructing him to refrain from sending such communications in
the future. The defendant then responded by sending a second e-mail
suggesting that he was contemplating violence against B and her family.
After reading the defendant’s first e-mail, V immediately communicated
her concern about it to several people and, a few days later, sent a
screenshot of that e-mail to an attorney who informed Judicial Branch
officials and the state police, which, in turn, informed B. During their
investigation, the police entered the defendant’s residence pursuant to
a warrant and seized fifteen firearms and multiple rounds of ammunition.
The police examined these firearms and determined that four were
capable of accurately firing a projectile 245 yards. At the defendant’s
criminal trial, B testified that, as a result of the defendant’s threats, she
upgraded the security at her home, warned officials at her children’s
school, had judicial marshals escort her from her office to her car each
evening, and had the state police surveil her home for several days.
The trial court denied the defendant’s motion to dismiss the charges,
rejecting his claim that the first degree threatening statute (§ 53a-61aa
[a] [3]) was unconstitutional because it required the state to prove
recklessness when the first amendment to the United States constitution
required proof of a specific intent to terrorize B. The trial court subse-
quently found the defendant guilty, concluding, inter alia, that the lan-
guage in the defendant’s first e-mail constituted a true threat and that
the defendant had consciously disregarded a substantial and unjustifi-
able risk that it would be disclosed to others and cause terror to B. On
appeal from the trial court’s judgment of conviction, held:

1. The defendant could not prevail on his claim that § 53a-61aa (a) (3) is
unconstitutional under the free speech provisions of the federal and
state constitutions because that statute did not require the state to prove
that the defendant, in threatening to commit a crime of violence, had
the specific intent to terrorize B.
a. The standard of recklessness under § 53a-61aa (a) (3), which requires
the state prove that a speaker was aware of and consciously disregarded
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a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the target of the speaker’s threat
would be terrorized, comported with the first amendment, insofar as it
applied to threatening speech directed at a private individual; this court
concluded, consistent with cases from other jurisdictions, that the
United States Supreme Court’s decision in Virginia v. Black (538 U.S.
343) did not hold that a specific intent to threaten is required in order
to communicate a true threat and did not purport to preclude the punish-
ment of threatening speech under the first amendment when a reason-
able person would interpret such speech as a serious threat.

b. The free speech provisions of the state constitution did not require
the state to prove, under § 53a-61aa (a) (3), that the speaker had the
specific intent to terrorize the target of the threatening speech, insofar
as those provisions applied to threatening speech directed at a private
individual; this court examined the factors set forth in State v. Geisler
(222 Conn. 672) for determining the contours of the protections provided
by the state constitution, and concluded that this state’s case law did not
suggest that the state is constitutionally required to tolerate threatening
speech when the speaker recklessly disregards a substantial and unjusti-
fiable risk that the speech would be interpreted as a serious threat.

c. The first amendment did not require a higher mens rea for threatening
speech directed at a public official, this court having concluded that
such speech is not constitutionally protected when the traditional true
threats doctrine has been satisfied; moreover, the defendant’s claim that
his first e-mail constituted a protected remonstrance under article first,
§ 14, of the Connecticut constitution could not be reconciled with his
claim that he did not intend for B to receive that e-mail, and lacked
merit because that constitutional provision is expressly limited to
redress sought in a peaceable manner.

2. The defendant failed to establish that the trial court’s consideration of
evidence regarding certain events that occurred after the defendant sent
his first e-mail, in support of the court’s conclusion that he violated
§ 53a-61aa (a) (3), constituted reversible error.

a. The trial court improperly considered evidence that the police had
seized firearms from the defendant’s home approximately one week
after he sent his first e-mail to support the court’s conclusion that the
defendant violated § 53a-61aa (a) (3), as neither the recipients of that
e-mail nor B knew that the defendant actually possessed firearms when
they received or became aware of the e-mail, and, therefore, that fact
could have no bearing on whether they would interpret the e-mail as
a serious threat; nevertheless, the defendant failed to prove that the
impropriety was harmful, as the other evidence supporting the trial
court’s conclusion that the defendant had violated § 53a-61aa (a) (3)
was extremely strong, including the detailed and disturbing language
in the defendant’s first e-mail, the reactions of B, N, and V to that e-mail,
the defendant’s extreme animosity toward the family court system, the
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contentious history between the defendant and B in family court, and
the events immediately preceding the sending of the e-mail.
b. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in considering the defen-
dant’s second e-mail to N to support its conclusion that the defendant
was aware that there was a significant and unjustifiable risk that his
first e-mail would be interpreted as a serious threat; the trial court
reasonably could have concluded that the contents of the second e-mail
were relevant to the issue of whether the defendant was aware when
he sent the first e-mail that it would be interpreted in that manner, as
the court could have inferred that, if the defendant had been unaware
when he sent the first e-mail that it would be interpreted as a serious
threat, he would have reacted differently to N’s characterization of the
e-mail as ‘‘disturbing’’ and N’s instruction to the defendant to refrain
from sending such communications in the future.

3. The evidence was sufficient to establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, that
the defendant had committed the crimes of threatening in the first degree
and disorderly conduct.
a. The evidence was sufficient to support the defendant’s conviction of
threatening in the first degree, as the evidence established that the
defendant was aware of a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the
recipients of his first e-mail would interpret it as a serious threat in
light of the language in that e-mail, which conveyed the clear connotation
that the defendant was seriously contemplating violence against B, the
reactions of N, V, and B to the first e-mail, the history between the
defendant and B, the immediately preceding events, and evidence that
the defendant’s demeanor throughout the course of the divorce proceed-
ings had been contentious and adversarial to all court personnel involved
in the case; moreover, there was no merit to the defendant’s claim that
the evidence was insufficient to establish that he was aware that there
was a substantial and unjustifiable risk that B would be terrorized by
the first e-mail because he did not send it to her, this court having
concluded that threatening speech need not be communicated directly
to its target in order to constitute a punishable true threat, and, because
the language of the defendant’s first e-mail was so extreme, there was
no credible evidence that would support a finding that the defendant
had reason to believe that all of the recipients of the e-mail would either
support or be indifferent to a serious threat to kill a Superior Court judge.
b. The evidence was sufficient to support the defendant’s conviction of
disorderly conduct directed at V; this court concluded that when, as in
the present case, a speaker communicates a true threat to a person
other than the target of the threat, and there is no evidence that the
speaker believed that the recipient would share or be indifferent to the
speaker’s desire to inflict violence on the target, the communication
constitutes offensive conduct and creates a substantial and unjustifiable
risk that the recipient will be inconvenienced, annoyed or alarmed.

Argued January 25, 2018—officially released September 11, 2018
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Procedural History

Amended information charging the defendant with
one count each of the crimes of threatening in the first
degree, threatening in the second degree, and breach
of the peace in the second degree, and two counts of
the crime of disorderly conduct, brought to the Superior
Court in the judicial district of Hartford and transferred
to the judicial district of Middlesex, where the court,
Gold, J., denied the defendant’s motion to dismiss; there-
after, the case was tried to the court, Gold, J.; judgment
of guilty of one count each of the crimes of threatening
in the first degree and breach of the peace in the second
degree, and two counts of the crime of disorderly con-
duct, from which the defendant appealed. Affirmed.

Norman A. Pattis, with whom, on the brief, was
Daniel Erwin, for the appellant (defendant).

Mitchell S. Brody, senior assistant state’s attorney,
with whom, on the brief, was Peter A. McShane, state’s
attorney, and Brenda L. Hans, assistant state’s attor-
ney, for the appellee (state).

Opinion

ROBINSON, J. The principal issue in this appeal is
whether the free speech provisions of the first amend-
ment to the United States constitution1 and article first,
§§ 4, 5 and 14, of the Connecticut constitution2 require

1 The first amendment to the United States constitution provides: ‘‘Con-
gress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohib-
iting the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech, or of
the press; or the right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition
the Government for a redress of grievances.’’

2 Article first, § 4, of the Connecticut constitution provides: ‘‘Every citizen
may freely speak, write and publish his sentiments on all subjects, being
responsible for the abuse of that liberty.’’

Article first, § 5, of the Connecticut constitution provides: ‘‘No law shall
ever be passed to curtail or restrain the liberty of speech or of the press.’’

Article first, § 14, of the Connecticut constitution provides: ‘‘The citizens
have a right, in a peaceable manner, to assemble for their common good,
and to apply to those invested with the powers of government, for redress of
grievances, or other proper purposes, by petition, address or remonstrance.’’
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the state to prove that a defendant has a specific intent
to terrorize another person in order to sustain a convic-
tion of threatening in the first degree under General
Statutes § 53a-61aa (a) (3),3 which criminalizes threat-
ening speech. The defendant, Edward Taupier, sent an
e-mail containing threats of violence against a judge of
the Superior Court, Elizabeth A. Bozzuto, to a group of
acquaintances. The defendant now appeals4 from the
judgment, rendered after a trial to the court, convicting
him of threatening in the first degree in violation of
§ 53a-61aa (a) (3), two counts of disorderly conduct
in violation of General Statutes § 53a-182 (a) (2),5 and
breach of the peace in the second degree in violation
of General Statutes § 53a-181 (a) (3). On appeal, the
defendant claims that (1) the trial court improperly
denied his motion to dismiss the charge of threatening

3 General Statutes § 53a-61aa (a) provides in relevant part: ‘‘A person is
guilty of threatening in the first degree when such person . . . (3) commits
threatening in the second degree as provided in section 53a-62, and in the
commission of such offense such person uses or is armed with and threatens
the use of or displays or represents by such person’s words or conduct that
such person possesses a pistol, revolver, shotgun, rifle, machine gun or
other firearm . . . .’’ We note that the legislature has amended § 53a-61aa
since the events underlying the present appeal. See, e.g., Public Acts 2016,
No. 16-67, § 6. Those amendments have no bearing on the merits of this
appeal. In the interest of simplicity, we refer to the current revision of
the statute.

General Statutes (Rev. to 2013) § 53a-62 (a), in turn, provides: ‘‘A person
is guilty of threatening in the second degree when . . . (3) such person
threatens to commit [any] crime of violence in reckless disregard of the
risk of causing . . . terror . . . .’’ We note that the legislature has also
made certain amendments to § 53a-62 that are not relevant to the present
appeal. See, e.g., Public Acts 2016, No. 16-67, § 7 (changing internal designa-
tions). For the sake of consistency with the record in the present case, all
references to § 53a-62 in this opinion are to the 2013 revision of the statute.

4 The defendant appealed from the judgment of the trial court to the
Appellate Court, and we transferred the appeal to this court pursuant to
General Statutes § 51-199 (c) and Practice Book § 65-1.

5 General Statutes § 53a-182 (a) provides: ‘‘A person is guilty of disorderly
conduct when, with intent to cause inconvenience, annoyance or alarm, or
recklessly creating a risk thereof, such person . . . (2) by offensive or
disorderly conduct, annoys or interferes with another person . . . .’’
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in the first degree under § 53a-61aa (a) (3) on the ground
that the statute is unconstitutional because it did not
require the state to prove that he had the specific intent
to terrorize Judge Bozzuto,6 (2) the trial court improp-
erly considered evidence of events that occurred after
he sent the threatening e-mail to support its conclusion
that he violated that statute, and (3) the evidence was
insufficient to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that
he violated §§ 53a-61aa (a) (3) and 53a-182 (a) (2). We
disagree with the defendant’s claims and, accordingly,
affirm the judgment of the trial court.

The record reveals the following procedural history
and facts that the trial court found or that are undis-
puted. In 2012, the defendant’s wife, Tanya Taupier,
initiated an action to dissolve their marriage. Among
the contested issues was the custodial status of the
couple’s two minor children. In August, 2013, the trial
court, Carbonneau, J., ordered that the children reside
with Tanya Taupier and attend school in Ellington,
where she resided.

In the spring of 2014, Judge Bozzuto, who was respon-
sible for managing the docket of the family court in
Hartford, became involved in the defendant’s dissolu-
tion proceeding. Judge Bozzuto assumed sole responsi-
bility for the management of the case in order to ensure
that it would be adjudicated in a timely manner.

On May 23, 2014, Judge Bozzuto ordered the Family
Services Unit of the Court Support Services Division
(family services unit) to conduct a comprehensive cus-
tody evaluation. Shortly thereafter, the family services

6 To the extent that the defendant contends that none of the statutes
under which he was convicted is constitutional as applied to threatening
speech, he effectively concedes on appeal that, if this court concludes
that his conduct in sending the e-mail constitutionally may be subject to
punishment pursuant to § 53a-61aa (a) (3), the other criminal statutes under
which he was charged are also constitutional as applied to him. Accordingly,
we limit our analysis to the constitutionality of § 53a-61aa (a) (3).
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unit informed Judge Bozzuto that the defendant was
interfering with the evaluation by injecting his personal
views and opinions concerning the family court system
into the process. In response, on June 18, 2014, Judge
Bozzuto conducted an in-court proceeding attended by
the parties. Judge Bozzuto told the defendant that he
was free to express his political beliefs and views of
the family court system, but ordered him to refrain from
doing so during interviews conducted by the family
services unit.

On August 20, 2014, the defendant informed his wife
that he had enrolled their children in school in Crom-
well, where he resided, in violation of the court order
that they attend school in Ellington. On August 22, 2014,
counsel for Tanya Taupier sent the defendant drafts of
a contempt motion and an application for an emergency
ex parte order of custody that she planned to file in
court. The defendant, who was representing himself in
the divorce proceeding, then sought the advice of sev-
eral acquaintances who had experience in family court,
including Anne Stevenson and Michael Nowacki. At
11:24 p.m. that night, in response to e-mails that he
had received from Stevenson, Nowacki, and Jennifer
Verraneault regarding the court motions, the defendant
sent an e-mail containing threatening statements
toward Judge Bozzuto to Stevenson, Nowacki, Susan
Skipp, Sunny Kelley, Paul Boyne, and Verraneault, all
of whom had been engaged with the defendant for some
time in efforts to reform the family court system. Specif-
ically, the defendant’s e-mail contained the following
statements: (1) ‘‘[t]hey can steal my kids from my cold
dead bleeding cordite filled fists . . . as my [sixty]
round [magazine] falls to the floor and [I’m] dying as I
change out to the next [thirty rounds]’’; (2) ‘‘[Bo]zzuto
lives in [W]atertown with her boys and [n]anny . . .
there [are] 245 [yards] between her master bedroom
and a cemetery that provides cover and concealment’’;
and (3) ‘‘a [.308 caliber rifle] at 250 [yards] with a double
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pane drops [one-half inch] per foot beyond the glass
and loses [7 percent] of [foot pounds] of force [at] 250
[yards]—nonarmor piercing ball ammunition . . . .’’7

In response to the defendant’s e-mail, on the morning
of August 23, 2014, Nowacki sent an e-mail to the defen-
dant stating: ‘‘Ted, [t]here are disturbing comments
made in this [e-mail]. You will be well served to NOT
send such communications to anyone.’’ The defendant
then sent another e-mail to Nowacki and Boyne in which
he again suggested that he was contemplating violence
against Judge Bozzuto and her family.8 In turn, Nowacki

7 This e-mail reads as follows: ‘‘Facts: JUST an FYI . . . .
‘‘[1] [I’m] still married to that POS . . . we own our children, there is no

decision . . . its 50/50 or whatever we decide. The court is dog shit and
has no right to shit they don’t have a rule on.

‘‘[2] They can steal my kids from my cold dead bleeding cordite filled
fists . . . as my [sixty] round [magazine] falls to the floor and [I’m] dying
as I change out to the next [thirty rounds] . . . .

‘‘[3] [Bo]zzuto lives in [W]atertown with her boys and [n]anny . . . there
[are] 245 [yards] between her master bedroom and a cemetery that provides
cover and concealment.

‘‘[4] They could try and put me in jail but that would start the ringing of
a bell that can be undone . . . .

‘‘[5] Someone wants to take my kids better have an [F-35 fighter jet] and
smart bombs . . . otherwise they will be found and adjusted . . . they
should seek shelter on the ISS ([international] space station) . . . .

‘‘[6] BTW a [.308 caliber rifle] at 250 [yards] with a double pane drops
[one-half inch] per foot beyond the glass and loses [7 percent] of [foot
pounds] of force [at] 250 [yards]—nonarmor piercing ball ammunition . . . .

‘‘[7] Mike may be right . . . unless you sleep with level [three] body
armor or live on the ISS you should be careful of actions.

‘‘[8] Fathers do not cause cavities, this is complete bullshit.
‘‘[9] Photos of children are not illegal . . . .
‘‘[10] Fucking [n]annies is not against the law, especially when there is no

fucking going on, just ask [Bo]zzuto . . . she is the ultimate [n]anny fucker.’’
8 The defendant’s second e-mail reads as follows: ‘‘Hi Mike . . . the

thoughts that the courts want to take my civil rights away is equally dis-
turbing, I did not have children, to have them abused by an illegal court
system.

‘‘My civil rights and those of my children and family will always be pro-
tected by my breath and hands.

‘‘I know where she lives and I know what I need to bring about change
. . . .
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sent the defendant an e-mail stating the following: ‘‘Vio-
lence is not a rational response to injustice. Please
refrain from communicating with me if you are going
to allude to violence as a response.’’

After reading the defendant’s first e-mail on August
23, 2014, Verraneault immediately communicated her
concern about it to several people. On the afternoon
of August 27, 2014, Verraneault learned of an incident
earlier in the day during which Tanya Taupier had gone
with a police escort to the school in Cromwell in which
the defendant had enrolled their children and removed

‘‘These evil court assholes and self appointed devils will only bring about
an escalation that will impact their personal lives and families.

‘‘When they figure out they are not protected from bad things and their
families are taken from them in the same way they took yours then the
system will change.

‘‘This past week in [Ferguson] there was a lot of hurt caused by an illegal
act, if it were my son, shot, there would be an old testament response.

‘‘[Second] amendment rights are around to keep a police state from vio-
lating my [family’s] rights.

‘‘If they—courts . . . need sheeeple they will have to look elsewhere. If
they feel it’s disturbing that I will fiercely protect my family with all my life
. . . they would be correct, I will gladly accept my death and theirs pro-
tecting my civil rights under my uniform code of justice.

‘‘They do not want me to escalate . . . and they know I will gladly . . . .
‘‘I’ve seen years of fighting go [unnoticed], people are still suffering . . . .

Judges still fucking sheeple over. Time to change the game.
‘‘I don’t make threats, I present facts and arguments. The argument today

is what has all the energy that has expended done to really effect change,
the bottom line is—insanity is defined as doing the [same thing] over and
over and expecting a different outcome . . . we should all be done . . .
and change the game to get results . . . that’s what Thomas Jefferson wrote
about constantly.

‘‘Don’t be disturbed . . . be happy there are new minds taking up a fight
to change a system.

‘‘Here is my daily prayer:
‘‘I will never quit. I persevere and thrive on adversity.
‘‘My [n]ation and [f]amily expects me to be physically harder and mentally

stronger than my enemies.
‘‘If knocked down, I will get back up, every time.
‘‘I will draw on every remaining ounce of strength to protect my [family

and] teammates and to accomplish our mission.
‘‘I am never out of the fight . . . .’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.)
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them from the school. The defendant was present and
recorded a video of the removal, while making a series
of mocking comments to the police and Tanya Taupier.
After learning of this incident, Verraneault feared that
it might put the defendant ‘‘over the edge.’’ Accordingly,
despite fears that she harbored about her own safety
if the defendant were to learn that she had disclosed
his e-mail concerning Judge Bozzuto, on August 28,
2014, Verraneault sent a screenshot of the contents of
the e-mail to an acquaintance who was an attorney,
Linda Allard. After discussing the matter with Verra-
neault, Allard informed Judicial Branch officials and the
state police about the e-mail and they, in turn, informed
Judge Bozzuto.

Judge Bozzuto testified at trial that, after she learned
about the e-mail, ‘‘every night when I [got] home . . .
as soon as . . . I pull[ed] up to the driveway and
pull[ed] in . . . every time I [got] out of that car I
look[ed] up on the hill in the back where all the brush
and trees are and [thought] of only [the defendant].
. . . [T]hose bumps in the night, it’s when the dogs
start[ed] barking in the middle of the night and the first
thing that [came] to my mind [was the defendant].’’ As
a result of the e-mail, she ‘‘did a massive upgrade of
security at the house, installing cameras and lights.’’
Judge Bozzuto also provided her children’s school with
a mug shot of the defendant and put school officials
on alert. State police surveilled her house for a week
or two after Judge Bozzuto learned about the e-mail,
and judicial marshals escorted her from her office to
her car in the evening. Judge Bozzuto also contacted a
sister whose daughter was taking care of Judge Boz-
zuto’s dogs, and told her not to let her daughter go to
Judge Bozzuto’s residence without a police escort.

The defendant was arrested in connection with his
first e-mail and ultimately was charged with threatening
in the first degree in violation of § 53a-61aa (a) (3);
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threatening in the second degree in violation of General
Statutes (Rev. to 2013) § 53a-62 (a) (3); two counts of
disorderly conduct in violation of § 53a-182 (a) (2), one
of which alleged that he caused inconvenience, annoy-
ance and alarm to Judge Bozzuto, and one of which
alleged that he caused inconvenience, annoyance and
alarm to Verraneault; and breach of the peace in viola-
tion of § 53a-181 (a) (3).9

Before trial, the defendant moved to dismiss all of
the charges. With respect to the threatening charges,
the defendant contended that the e-mail did not contain
speech that was punishable under the first amendment
because the threat was not ‘‘so unequivocal, uncondi-
tional, immediate and specific as to the person threat-
ened, as to convey a gravity of purpose and imminent
prospect of execution . . . .’’ (Internal quotation
marks omitted.) State v. Krijger, 313 Conn. 434, 450,
97 A.3d 946 (2014). In addition, the defendant argued
that the threatening charges ‘‘fail because the [d]efen-
dant did not communicate the threat to the intended
victim.’’ In support of this claim, the defendant cited
State v. Kenney, 53 Conn. App. 305, 323, 730 A.2d 119,
cert. denied, 249 Conn. 930, 733 A.2d 851 (1999), for
the proposition that ‘‘[a] threat imports the expectation
of bodily harm, thereby inducing fear and apprehension
in the person threatened.’’ (Emphasis added; internal
quotation marks omitted.) The trial court, Gold, J.,10

summarily denied the motion to dismiss, and the case
was tried to the court.

After the trial, the defendant filed another motion
to dismiss the charges, claiming that the threatening

9 All of the charges against the defendant arose from his conduct in sending
the first e-mail, which, according to the trial court’s factual findings, was
the only e-mail that had been provided to law enforcement before the
defendant’s arrest and the only e-mail that came to the attention of Judge
Bozzuto.

10 All subsequent references to the trial court are to Judge Gold.
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statutes under which he had been charged were uncon-
stitutional because they required the state to prove only
that his conduct in sending the e-mail was in reckless
disregard of causing terror to another person; see Gen-
eral Statutes § 53a-61aa (a) (3) and General Statutes
(Rev. to 2013) § 53a-62 (a) (3); when, according to the
defendant, the first amendment requires proof of spe-
cific intent to terrorize another person. The defendant
pointed out that, although this court in State v. Krijger,
supra, 313 Conn. 450, had applied an objective foresee-
ability standard to determine whether the defendant
had made a ‘‘true threat’’ that may be subject to punish-
ment under the first amendment, we had expressly
declined to consider whether the first amendment
required proof of a specific intent because the defen-
dant in Krijger had raised no such claim and, in any
event, he could prevail even under the objective
standard.

Relying on Justice Alito’s concurring opinion in
Elonis v. United States, U.S. , 135 S. Ct. 2001,
2016–17, 192 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2015), the trial court concluded
that the state was constitutionally required to prove
that the defendant acted recklessly, that is, that the
defendant subjectively knew that there was a substan-
tial and unjustifiable risk that his threatening speech
would terrorize the target of the threat, and that he
acted in conscious disregard of that risk. See General
Statutes § 53a-3 (13).11 Accordingly, the trial court con-
cluded that § 53a-61aa (a) (3), which requires proof of
recklessness, was not unconstitutional and denied the
defendant’s motion to dismiss.

11 General Statutes § 53a-3 (13) provides: ‘‘A person acts ‘recklessly’ with
respect to a result or to a circumstance described by a statute defining an
offense when he is aware of and consciously disregards a substantial and
unjustifiable risk that such result will occur or that such circumstance exists.
The risk must be of such nature and degree that disregarding it constitutes
a gross deviation from the standard of conduct that a reasonable person
would observe in the situation . . . .’’
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Thereafter, the trial court found the defendant guilty
of threatening in the first degree, two counts of disor-
derly conduct, and breach of the peace in the second
degree. In its memorandum of decision, the trial court
considered separately the questions of whether (1) the
language of the defendant’s e-mail constituted a true
threat that constitutionally could be punished, and (2)
the defendant had knowingly disregarded the risk that
the e-mail would cause Judge Bozzuto to be terrorized.
With respect to the first issue, the trial court observed
that, under State v. Krijger, supra, 313 Conn. 450, threat-
ening speech constitutionally may be punished when
‘‘a reasonable person would foresee that the statement
would be interpreted by those to whom the maker com-
municates the statement as a serious expression of
intent to harm or assault.’’ (Internal quotation marks
omitted.) The trial court ultimately concluded that ‘‘a
reasonable person not only could foresee, but readily
would foresee, that the language in the [defendant’s]
e-mail would be interpreted by those to whom it was
communicated as a serious expression of an intent to
commit an act of violence [against] Judge Bozzuto
. . . .’’ In support of this conclusion, the trial court
relied on the e-mail’s extremely detailed and specific
description of the threatened assault on Judge Bozzuto,
the prior relationship between the parties, the circum-
stances immediately preceding the e-mail, and the fact
that firearms that could enable the defendant to carry
out his threat were seized from the defendant’s resi-
dence approximately one week after he sent the e-mail.

The trial court then addressed the question of
whether the state had proved the elements of threaten-
ing in the second degree in violation of § 53a-62 (a) (3).
The trial court disagreed with the defendant’s claims
that the state had failed to prove that he acted recklessly
because ‘‘(1) he did not send the e-mail directly to Judge
Bozzuto, and (2) those to whom he did send it were seen
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by him as ‘like-minded individuals’ who understood and
shared his frustration with the family court system.’’
The trial court found that, to the contrary, the evidence
‘‘fully support[ed] the reasonable inference that the
defendant knew that his e-mail would be seen as a
serious expression of his intentions, and was aware of
and consciously disregarded the substantial and unjusti-
fiable risk that, as a result, it would be disclosed to
others and cause terror to Judge Bozzuto.’’ To support
this conclusion, the trial court again relied on the words
used in the e-mail, the history between the parties, and
the reactions of Nowacki and Verraneault. In addition,
the trial court relied on the fact that, upon being admon-
ished by Nowacki for sending the e-mail, the defendant
expressed no surprise that Nowacki had interpreted
the e-mail as a serious threat of violence and made no
attempt to clarify his intent or retract the threat. Rather,
the defendant validated Nowacki’s interpretation by
sending another e-mail reasserting the threat to Judge
Bozzuto and, for the first time, threatening her children.
Accordingly, the trial court found that the state had
established the elements of threatening in the second
degree.

The trial court then noted that, with regard to the
charge of threatening in the first degree in violation of
§ 53a-61aa (a) (3), the state was required to prove that
the defendant had committed threatening in the second
degree and, in committing that offense, had represented
by his words that he possessed a firearm. The trial court
concluded that the defendant’s reference in the e-mail
to the .308 caliber rifle satisfied that element. Accord-
ingly, the trial court found the defendant guilty of threat-
ening in the first degree.

Turning to the other charges, the trial court con-
cluded that the state had established the elements of
disorderly conduct toward Judge Bozzuto and Verra-
neault. With respect to the count involving disorderly
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conduct toward Verraneault, the trial court concluded
that the defendant ‘‘was aware that she would view
[the e-mail] as a serious expression of [the defendant’s]
intent to shoot Judge Bozzuto, and that . . . Verra-
neault would be disturbed and filled with anxiety as a
result of that threatened harm.’’ Finally, the trial court
concluded that the state had proven the elements of
breach of the peace in the second degree. Accordingly,
the trial court found the defendant guilty on both counts
of disorderly conduct and of breach of the peace in the
second degree. The trial court then rendered a judgment
of conviction in accordance with its findings and sen-
tenced the defendant to a total effective sentence of
five years imprisonment, execution suspended after
eighteen months, and five years probation with special
conditions on the charge of threatening in the first
degree. This appeal followed. See footnote 4 of this
opinion.

On appeal, the defendant first challenges the constitu-
tionality of § 53a-61aa (a) (3) under the free speech
provisions of the first amendment to the federal consti-
tution and article first, §§ 4, 5 and 14, of the Connecticut
constitution on the grounds that (1) the statute does
not require the state to prove that an individual who
engaged in threatening speech had the specific intent
to terrorize the target of the threat, and (2) even if
the statute is constitutional as applied to threatening
speech directed at a private individual, proof of specific
intent is required when the speech is directed at a public
official. He next claims that the trial court improperly
considered evidence of certain events, namely, the sei-
zure of firearms from his residence one week after
he sent the e-mail concerning Judge Bozzuto, and his
second e-mail to Nowacki, in which he again threatened
Judge Bozzuto and her family, to support its conclusion
that his e-mail was a punishable true threat. Finally,
the defendant contends that the evidence was insuffi-
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cient to establish that he violated § 53a-61aa (a) (3) by
sending the e-mail or that he violated § 53a-182 (a) (2)
by engaging in disorderly conduct toward Verraneault.
We address each of these claims in turn.

I

FREE SPEECH CLAIMS

We first address the defendant’s claims that § 53a-
61aa (a) (3) is unconstitutional under the free speech
provisions of the first amendment to the United States
constitution, and article first, §§ 4, 5 and 14, of the
Connecticut constitution because the statute does not
require the state to prove that the person who engaged
in the threatening speech had the specific intent to
terrorize the target of the threat.12 We conclude in part
I A of this opinion that the statutory recklessness stan-
dard is constitutional under the first amendment when
threatening speech is directed at a private individual.
In part I B of this opinion, we conclude that the statutory
recklessness standard is also constitutional under the
free speech provisions of the state constitution. In part I
C of this opinion, we consider and reject the defendant’s
suggestion that a higher mens rea standard is required
under both the federal and state constitutions when
threatening speech is directed at a public official.13

12 In his brief, the defendant contends that the trial court improperly
applied Krijger’s objective foreseeability standard and that the court ‘‘alto-
gether neglect[ed] the issue of scienter.’’ The trial court did not neglect the
issue of scienter, however, but applied the statutory recklessness standard,
which it previously had concluded was constitutional. Nevertheless, because
the defendant contends that the state and federal constitutions require the
state to prove that he had the specific intent to terrorize Judge Bozzuto, that
contention necessarily includes the position that the statutory recklessness
standard is also unconstitutional.

13 We note that the defendant did not preserve before the trial court his
state constitutional claim or his claim suggesting that proof of specific intent
is required when the threatening speech is directed at a public official.
Accordingly, we review those claims pursuant to State v. Golding, 213 Conn.
233, 239–40, 567 A.2d 823 (1989), under which ‘‘a defendant can prevail on
a claim of constitutional error not preserved at trial only if all of the following
conditions are met: (1) the record is adequate to review the alleged claim
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We begin by noting the well established principle that
determining the constitutionality of a statute presents
a question of law subject to plenary review. See, e.g.,
Kerrigan v. Commissioner of Public Health, 289 Conn.
135, 155, 957 A.2d 407 (2008).

A

We first address the defendant’s claim that the first
amendment required the state to prove that he had the
specific intent to terrorize Judge Bozzuto before he
could be punished for the threatening speech in his
e-mail.14 As we have explained, in this part of our opin-
ion, we limit our consideration to the federal constitu-
tional standard for threatening speech directed at a
private individual. We disagree with the defendant’s
claim.

We begin with a review of the first amendment princi-
ples applicable to statutes that criminalize threatening
speech. ‘‘The [f]irst [a]mendment, applicable to the

of error; (2) the claim is of constitutional magnitude alleging the violation
of a fundamental right; (3) the alleged constitutional violation . . . exists
and . . . deprived the defendant of a fair trial; and (4) if subject to harmless
error analysis, the state has failed to demonstrate harmlessness of the alleged
constitutional violation beyond a reasonable doubt. In the absence of any one
of these conditions, the defendant’s claim will fail.’’ (Emphasis in original;
internal quotation marks omitted.) State v. Holley, 327 Conn. 576, 590 n.8,
175 A.3d 514 (2018); see also In re Yasiel R., 317 Conn. 773, 781, 120 A.3d
1188 (2015) (modifying Golding’s third prong).

14 We recently stated in State v. Kono, 324 Conn. 80, 123, 152 A.3d 1 (2016),
that, ‘‘if the federal constitution does not clearly and definitively resolve
the issue in the defendant’s favor, we turn first to the state constitution to
ascertain whether its provisions entitle the defendant to relief.’’ In Kono,
however, the defendant prevailed on his claim under the state constitution.
Id., 122. In the present case, we conclude that the defendant cannot prevail
on his state constitutional claim. See part I B of this opinion. It is necessary,
therefore, to consider his federal constitutional claim. Moreover, because
a review of federal precedent is part of our state constitutional analysis
under State v. Geisler, 222 Conn. 672, 685, 610 A.2d 1225 (1992), we address
the defendant’s claim under the federal constitution first for the sake of effi-
ciency.



Page 31CONNECTICUT LAW JOURNALSeptember 11, 2018

SEPTEMBER, 2018 167330 Conn. 149

State v. Taupier

[s]tates through the [f]ourteenth [a]mendment, pro-
vides that Congress shall make no law . . . abridging
the freedom of speech. The hallmark of the protection
of free speech is to allow free trade [of] ideas—even
ideas that the overwhelming majority of people might
find distasteful or discomforting. . . . Thus, the [f]irst
[a]mendment ordinarily denies a [s]tate the power to
prohibit dissemination of social, economic and political
doctrine [that] a vast majority of its citizens believes
to be false and fraught with evil consequence. . . .

‘‘The protections afforded by the [f]irst [a]mendment,
however, are not absolute, and we have long recognized
that the government may regulate certain categories of
expression consistent with the [c]onstitution. . . . The
[f]irst [a]mendment permits restrictions [on] the con-
tent of speech in a few limited areas, which are of such
slight social value as a step to truth that any benefit
that may be derived from them is clearly outweighed
by the social interest in order and morality. . . .

‘‘Thus, for example, a [s]tate may punish those words
[that] by their very utterance inflict injury or tend to
incite an immediate breach of the peace. . . . Further-
more, the constitutional guarantees of free speech and
free press do not permit a [s]tate to forbid or proscribe
advocacy of the use of force or of law violation except
[when] such advocacy is directed to inciting or produc-
ing imminent lawless action and is likely to incite or
produce such action. . . . [T]he [f]irst [a]mendment
also permits a [s]tate to ban a true threat. . . .

‘‘True threats encompass those statements [through
which] the speaker means to communicate a serious
expression of an intent to commit an act of unlawful
violence to a particular individual or group of individu-
als. . . . The speaker need not actually intend to carry
out the threat. Rather, a prohibition on true threats
protect[s] individuals from the fear of violence and from
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the disruption that fear engenders, in addition to pro-
tecting people from the possibility that the threatened
violence will occur. . . .

‘‘Thus, we must distinguish between true threats,
which, because of their lack of communicative value,
are not protected by the first amendment, and those
statements that seek to communicate a belief or idea,
such as political hyperbole or a mere joke, which are
protected.’’ (Citation omitted; internal quotation marks
omitted.) State v. Krijger, supra, 313 Conn. 448–50.

Until 2003, the objective foreseeability test, under
which the state must prove that a reasonable person
would interpret the defendant’s threatening speech as
a serious threat before the defendant may be punished
for the speech, was universally acknowledged by fed-
eral courts as the proper constitutional standard for
identifying punishable true threats under the first
amendment. See Doe v. Pulaski County Special School
District, 306 F.3d 616, 622 (8th Cir. 2002) (‘‘[a]ll the
[federal circuit courts of appeals] to have reached the
issue have consistently adopted an objective test that
focuses on whether a reasonable person would inter-
pret the purported threat as a serious expression of an
intent to cause a present or future harm’’); see also
State v. DeLoreto, 265 Conn. 145, 156, 827 A.2d 671
(2003) (under federal constitution, ‘‘[w]hether a particu-
lar statement may properly be considered to be a threat
is governed by an objective standard—whether a rea-
sonable person would foresee that the statement would
be interpreted by those to whom the maker communi-
cates the statement as a serious expression of intent
to harm or assault’’ [internal quotation marks omitted]).

As we recognized in State v. Krijger, supra, 313 Conn.
451–52 n.10, however, this general consensus was
shaken by the decision of the United States Supreme
Court in Virginia v. Black, 538 U.S. 343, 123 S. Ct. 1536,
155 L. Ed. 2d 535 (2003), which led to a split in authority
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among the federal circuit courts of appeals about
whether the true threats doctrine requires proof of sub-
jective intent to intimidate the recipient of the threat
or, instead, requires proof of objective foreseeability.
In Black, the court considered the constitutionality of
a Virginia statute providing in relevant part that ‘‘[i]t
shall be unlawful for any person or persons, with the
intent of intimidating any person or group of persons,
to burn, or cause to be burned, a cross on the property
of another, a highway or other public place.’’ (Internal
quotation marks omitted.) Id., 348. In an opinion
authored by Justice O’Connor, a majority of the court
observed that ‘‘ ‘[t]rue threats’ encompass those state-
ments where the speaker means to communicate a seri-
ous expression of an intent to commit an act of unlawful
violence to a particular individual or group of individu-
als.’’ Id., 359. The majority further observed that
‘‘[i]ntimidation in the constitutionally proscribable
sense of the word is a type of true threat, where a
speaker directs a threat to a person or group of persons
with the intent of placing the victim in fear of bodily
harm or death.’’ Id., 360. Accordingly, the majority con-
cluded that ‘‘[t]he [f]irst [a]mendment permits Virginia
to outlaw cross burnings done with the intent to intimi-
date . . . .’’ Id., 363.

A plurality of the court also held, however, that a
provision of the Virginia statute stating that ‘‘[a]ny such
burning of a cross shall be prima facie evidence of an
intent to intimidate a person or group of persons’’ was
unconstitutional on its face because it did not differenti-
ate between cross burnings that were intended to intimi-
date and other cross burnings and, therefore, ‘‘would
create an unacceptable risk of the suppression of
ideas.’’15 (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Id., 363–66;

15 Chief Justice Rehnquist and Justices Stevens and Breyer agreed with the
portion of Justice O’Connor’s opinion holding that the prima facie evidence
provision was unconstitutional. The plurality noted, however, that the
Supreme Court of Virginia had not authoritatively interpreted the meaning
of the prima facie evidence provision, and it was theoretically possible that
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see also id., 367 (provision ‘‘ignore[d] all of the contex-
tual factors that are necessary to decide whether a
particular cross burning is intended to intimidate’’
[emphasis added]).

As we observed in State v. Krijger, supra, 313 Conn.
451–52 n.10, several courts have concluded that the
statement of the majority in Virginia v. Black, supra,
538 U.S. 360, that ‘‘a threat to a person or group of
persons with the intent of placing the victim in fear of
bodily harm or death’’ constitutes a true threat as well
as the statement of the plurality suggesting that the
finder of fact must determine whether the defendant
‘‘intended to intimidate’’; id., 367; show that the
Supreme Court intended to adopt a specific intent stan-
dard.16 Most of the courts that have addressed the issue,

‘‘the court, on remand, could interpret the provision in a manner different
from that so far set forth in order to avoid the constitutional objections we
have described.’’ Virginia v. Black, supra, 538 U.S. 367. Justice Scalia, who
had provided the fifth vote in the majority, contended in his concurring
and dissenting opinion, which Justice Thomas joined, that the prima facie
evidence provision was constitutional because it allowed defendants to
rebut the presumption of the intent to intimidate. See id., 370–71. Justice
Souter contended in his concurring and dissenting opinion, in which Justices
Kennedy and Ginsburg joined, that the entire cross burning statute was
unconstitutional. See id., 387. Justice Thomas contended in a concurring
and dissenting opinion that the prima facie evidence provision was constitu-
tional. See id., 388.

16 See United States v. Heineman, 767 F.3d 970, 980 (10th Cir. 2014) (‘‘one
of the predicates for the plurality’s overbreadth ruling [in Black] was the
[c]ourt’s view that a threat was unprotected by the [f]irst [a]mendment only
if the speaker intended to instill fear in the recipient’’); id., 981 (if subjective
intent is required to convict defendant of intimidation, it must be required
for other types of true threats as well); United States v. Bagdasarian, 652
F.3d 1113, 1117–18 (9th Cir. 2011) (holding without analysis that Black
adopted specific intent requirement); Brewington v. State, 7 N.E.3d 946,
964 (Ind. 2014) (stating in dictum that Black held that first amendment
requires subjective intent to intimidate), cert. denied, U.S. , 135 S.
Ct. 970, 190 L. Ed. 2d 834 (2015); see also United States v. Parr, 545 F.3d
491, 500 (7th Cir. 2008) (declining to decide whether Black adopted subjec-
tive intent standard, but stating in dictum that ‘‘[i]t is more likely . . . an
entirely objective definition is no longer tenable’’), cert. denied, 556 U.S.
1181, 129 S. Ct. 1984, 173 L. Ed. 2d 1083 (2009).
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however, have held that Black did not overrule the
objective foreseeability standard.17 Several of these
courts have reasoned that, although the court’s state-
ments in Black indicate that a speaker who has the
specific intent to intimidate constitutionally may be
punished for his speech, they do not support the propo-
sition a speaker constitutionally may be punished only
when he has a specific intent to intimidate. See United
States v. Martinez, 736 F.3d 981, 987 (11th Cir. 2013)
(under Black, ‘‘intimidation is but one type of true
threat,’’ and court did not intend to require specific
intent to intimidate for all true threats), vacated on
other grounds, U.S. , 135 S. Ct. 2798, 192 L. Ed.
2d 842 (2015); United States v. Jeffries, 692 F.3d 473,
480 (6th Cir. 2012) (stating that court in Black merely
observed ‘‘that intimidation is one type of true threat’’
[emphasis in original; internal quotation marks omit-
ted]), cert. denied, 571 U.S. 817, 134 S. Ct. 59, 187 L.
Ed. 2d 25 (2013); People v. Stanley, 170 P.3d 782, 789

17 See United States v. Martinez, 736 F.3d 981, 988 (11th Cir. 2013), vacated
on other grounds, U.S. , 135 S. Ct. 2798, 192 L. Ed. 2d 842 (2015);
United States v. Elonis, 730 F.3d 321, 329–30 (3d Cir. 2013), rev’d on other
grounds, U.S. , 135 S. Ct. 2001, 192 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2015); United States
v. Jeffries, 692 F.3d 473, 479–80 (6th Cir. 2012), cert. denied, 571 U.S. 817,
134 S. Ct. 59, 187 L. Ed. 2d 25 (2013); United States v. White, 670 F.3d 498,
508–509 (4th Cir. 2012); United States v. Mabie, 663 F.3d 322, 332 (8th Cir.
2011); People v. Stanley, 170 P.3d 782, 788 (Colo. App. 2007), cert. denied,
Colorado Supreme Court, Docket No. 07SC575 (November 19, 2007), cert.
denied, 552 U.S. 1297, 128 S. Ct. 1750, 170 L. Ed. 2d 541 (2008); People v.
Diomedes, 13 N.E.3d 125, 137 (Ill. App. 2014), appeal denied, 39 N.E.3d 1006
(Ill. 2015); State v. Draskovich, 904 N.W.2d 759, 762 (S.D. 2017); State v.
Schaler, 169 Wn. 2d 274, 283, 236 P.3d 858 (2010); see also Elonis v. United
States, supra, 135 S. Ct. 2016 (Alito, J., concurring in part and dissenting in
part) (statute requiring proof of recklessness in making threat was constitu-
tional under first amendment); Elonis v. United States, supra, 2027 (Thomas,
J., dissenting) (‘‘[t]he [c]ourt’s fractured opinion in Black . . . says little
about whether an intent-to-threaten requirement is constitutionally man-
dated’’); United States v. Turner, 720 F.3d 411, 420 and n.4 (2d Cir. 2013)
(applying objective test and noting that defendant did not rely on split
caused by Black, but concluding that result would be same under either
objective or subjective test), cert. denied, U.S. , 135 S. Ct. 49, 190
L. Ed. 2d 29 (2014).
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(Colo. App. 2007) (stating that court in Black merely
defined intimidation as one type of true threat), cert.
denied, Colorado Supreme Court, Docket No. 07SC575
(November 19, 2007), cert. denied, 552 U.S. 1297, 128
S. Ct. 1750, 170 L. Ed. 2d 541 (2008).

Several courts have also concluded that the plurality
in Black held that the prima facie evidence provision
of the cross burning statute was unconstitutional
because the plurality was concerned that cross burning
could be punished under that provision even when it
was not reasonably foreseeable that anyone would be
intimidated or terrorized, not because the statute failed
to require proof of specific intent. Thus, these courts
have reasoned, the plurality in Black was focused more
on the Virginia cross burning statute’s failure to differ-
entiate between different levels of intent than on the
specific mens rea that is constitutionally required
before a person may be punished for threatening
speech. See United States v. Martinez, supra, 736 F.3d
986–87 (‘‘Black was primarily a case about the over-
breadth of a specific statute—not whether all threats
are determined by a subjective or objective analysis in
the abstract’’); United States v. Jeffries, supra, 692 F.3d
479–80 (Black ‘‘did not turn on subjective versus objec-
tive standards for construing threats. It turned on over-
breadth—that the statute lacked any standard at all.’’);
United States v. White, 670 F.3d 498, 511 (4th Cir. 2012)
(‘‘[w]hile the Black discussion was . . . concerned
with the fact that criminalizing cross burning without
proof of any intent to intimidate would be unconstitu-
tional, the [c]ourt did not engage in any discussion that
proving true threats . . . required a subjective, rather
than objective, analysis’’ [emphasis in original]); United
States v. Mabie, 663 F.3d 322, 332 (8th Cir. 2011) (‘‘Black
. . . did not hold that the speaker’s subjective intent
to intimidate or threaten is required in order for a com-
munication to constitute a true threat. Rather, the
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[c]ourt determined that the statute at issue in Black
was unconstitutional because the intent element that
was included in the statute was effectively eliminated
by the statute’s provision rendering any burning of a
cross on the property of another prima facie evidence
of an intent to intimidate.’’).

Finally, one state court that has rejected the claim
that Black adopted a subjective intent requirement rea-
soned that the purpose underlying the true threats doc-
trine, namely, protecting the targets of threats from
the fear of violence, would not be ‘‘served by hinging
constitutionality on the speaker’s subjective intent
. . . .’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.) People v.
Stanley, supra, 170 P.3d 789, quoting Planned Parent-
hood of Columbia/Willamette, Inc. v. American Coali-
tion of Life Activists, 290 F.3d 1058, 1076 (9th Cir.
2002), cert. denied, 539 U.S. 958, 123 S. Ct. 2637, 156
L. Ed. 2d 655 (2003).

We are persuaded by the reasoning of the courts that
have concluded that Black did not adopt a subjective
intent standard. Indeed, nothing in Black itself suggests
that the court intended to overrule the preexisting con-
sensus among the federal circuit courts of appeals that
threatening speech may be punished under the first
amendment when a reasonable person would interpret
the speech as a serious threat. We also note that, in
State v. DeLoreto, supra, 265 Conn. 154, this court cited
Black, and we did not suggest that the decision had
affected the objective foreseeability test in any way.
Accordingly, we conclude that the first amendment
does not require the state to prove that the defendant
had the specific intent to terrorize Judge Bozzuto before
he could be punished for his threatening speech.

Having rejected the defendant’s claim that the first
amendment requires proof of a subjective intent, we
need not determine whether the objective foreseeability
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standard, which requires the state to prove that ‘‘an
objective listener would readily interpret the [threaten-
ing] statement as a real or true threat’’; State v. Krijger,
supra, 313 Conn. 460; but which does not require the
state to prove that the defendant subjectively knew
that the threat would be interpreted as a serious one,
satisfies the first amendment. Even if we were to
assume that proof of subjective knowledge is constitu-
tionally required, § 53a-61aa (a) (3) satisfies that
requirement because it requires the state to prove the
element of reckless disregard, namely, that the defen-
dant violated § 53a-62 (a) (3) by ‘‘threaten[ing] to com-
mit [a] crime of violence in reckless disregard of the
risk of causing . . . terror’’ to another person. Put
another way, the state must show that the defendant
was aware of and consciously disregarded a substantial
and unjustifiable risk that the target of the threat would
be terrorized. See General Statutes § 53a-3 (13). We
conclude, therefore, that § 53a-61aa (a) (3) is constitu-
tional under the first amendment as applied to threaten-
ing speech directed at a private individual.

B

We next address the defendant’s claim that the free
speech provisions of article first, § 4, 5 and 14, of the
Connecticut constitution provide greater protection
than does the first amendment, and require the state
to prove that an individual had the specific intent to
terrorize the target of the threat before that person may
be punished for threatening speech directed at a private
individual. Specifically, the defendant relies on this
court’s statement in State v. Linares, 232 Conn. 345,
380, 655 A.2d 737 (1995), that the state constitution
‘‘bestows greater expressive rights on the public than
that afforded by the federal constitution.’’ Accord Ley-
don v. Greenwich, 257 Conn. 318, 349, 777 A.2d 552
(2001). We again disagree and conclude that the Con-
necticut constitution does not require the state to prove
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that a defendant had the specific intent to terrorize the
target of the threat before that person may be punished
for threatening speech directed at a private individual.

‘‘[I]n determining the contours of the protections pro-
vided by our state constitution, we employ a multifactor
approach that we first adopted in [State v. Geisler, 222
Conn. 672, 685, 610 A.2d 1225 (1992)]. The factors that
we consider are (1) the text of the relevant constitu-
tional provisions; (2) related Connecticut precedents;
(3) persuasive federal precedents; (4) persuasive prece-
dents of other state courts; (5) historical insights into
the intent of [the] constitutional [framers]; and (6) con-
temporary understandings of applicable economic and
sociological norms [otherwise described as public poli-
cies]. . . . We have noted, however, that these factors
may be inextricably interwoven, and not every [such]
factor is relevant in all cases.’’ (Internal quotation marks
omitted.) State v. Kono, 324 Conn. 80, 92, 152 A.3d
1 (2016).

In the present case, because neither the constitu-
tional text nor the relevant federal case law supports his
position,18 the defendant relies primarily on the holdings
and dicta of decisions from this state’s appellate courts,
in particular State v. Linares, supra, 232 Conn. 345, to
support his claim that the state constitution requires
proof of a specific intent to terrorize. We are not per-
suaded. In Linares, the defendant pleaded nolo conten-
dere to charges of intentional interference with the
legislative process in violation of General Statutes § 2-
1d (a) (2) (C) and (E) in connection with an incident
in which she unfurled a banner and loudly chanted in
the gallery of the hall of the House of Representatives

18 Although the defendant relies on the federal precedent Geisler factor,
we concluded in part I A of this opinion that persuasive federal precedent
does not require proof of subjective intent. Accordingly, that factor favors
the state’s position that the recklessness standard of § 53a-61aa (a) (3)
comports with the state constitution.
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during the governor’s budget address. State v. Linares,
supra, 347–54. The defendant contended that § 2-1d (a)
(2) (C) and (E) was overbroad in violation of the speech
provisions of the state constitution. Id., 376–77. To
resolve this issue, this court was required to decide
whether the state constitution incorporated the rigid
forum analysis, which was the standard under the fed-
eral constitution, or, instead, the state constitution
incorporated the ‘‘more flexible, fact specific [compati-
bility] approach,’’ under which courts consider ‘‘whether
the particular speech in issue was consistent with the
uses of the specific public property involved.’’ Id., 377–
78. Noting that the more flexible compatibility approach
‘‘is designed to maximize the speech which the govern-
ment is constitutionally required to tolerate, consistent
with the appropriateand needful use of itsproperty,’’ this
court concluded that the state constitution incorporated
that approach. (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Id.,
383–84.

Nothing in either Linares or Leydon v. Greenwich,
supra, 257 Conn. 318, suggests, however, that the gov-
ernment is constitutionally required to tolerate threat-
ening speech when the speaker acted in reckless
disregard and was aware that there was a substantial
and unjustifiable risk that the speech would be interpre-
ted as a serious threat. Nor does the defendant contend
that the other Geisler factors, namely, constitutional
history and public policy, support his position. Accord-
ingly, we conclude that § 53a-61aa (a) (3) does not vio-
late the free speech provisions of the state constitution
because those provisions protect a broader range of
threatening speech than does the first amendment.

C

We next address the defendant’s claim that threaten-
ing speech that is directed at a public official is subject
to a higher standard than speech directed at a private
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individual under the free speech provisions of both
the federal and state constitutions. We disagree with
both claims.

1

We first consider whether the first amendment
imposes a higher mens rea standard on threatening
speech directed at public officials. The defendant con-
tends that, because a statute criminalizing political
advocacy of the use of force or of lawlessness violates
the first amendment unless ‘‘such advocacy is directed
to inciting or producing imminent lawless action and
is likely to incite or produce such action’’; (emphasis
added) Brandenburg v. Ohio, 395 U.S. 444, 447, 89 S.
Ct. 1827, 23 L. Ed. 2d 430 (1969); threatening speech
directed at public officials is punishable only if the
speaker had a specific intent to terrorize the official.
He cites no authority for this proposition, however,
and our independent research reveals that courts have
uniformly concluded that, if threatening speech
directed at a public official satisfies the traditional true
threats doctrine, it is not constitutionally protected.19

19 See Watts v. United States, 394 U.S. 705, 707, 89 S. Ct. 1399, 22 L. Ed. 2d
664 (1969) (statute criminalizing threats against president was constitutional
because ‘‘[t]he [n]ation undoubtedly has a valid, even an overwhelming,
interest in protecting the safety of its [c]hief [e]xecutive and allowing him to
perform his duties without interference from threats of physical violence’’);
United States v. Bazuaye, 559 Fed. Appx. 709, 714 (10th Cir. 2014) (when
defendant made true threat against police officer, threat was not constitu-
tionally protected speech); United States v. Turner, 720 F.3d 411, 423–24
(2d Cir. 2013) (statute criminalizing threats against judges was constitutional
because first amendment does not protect true threats), cert. denied,
U.S. , 135 S. Ct. 49, 190 L. Ed. 2d 29 (2014); United States v. Beale, 620
F.3d 856, 865–66 (8th Cir. 2010) (statute criminalizing threats against judicial
officers of United States was constitutional because first amendment does
not protect true threats), cert. denied, 562 U.S. 1190, 131 S. Ct. 1023, 178
L. Ed. 2d 847 (2011); United States v. Wolff, 370 Fed. Appx. 888, 893 (10th
Cir. 2010) (‘‘[t]he fact that a specific threat accompanies pure political speech
does not shield a defendant from culpability’’ [internal quotation marks
omitted]); United States v. Fulmer, 108 F.3d 1486, 1493 (1st Cir. 1997) (when
defendant was charged with threatening federal agent, ‘‘a conviction . . .
based on a finding that the statement was a true threat would not violate [the
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We emphasize that courts must carefully scrutinize
the evidence in cases involving charges of threats
against public officials to ensure that the speech at
issue was, in fact, a true threat, and not constitutionally
protected political advocacy. See Watts v. United
States, 394 U.S. 705, 707, 89 S. Ct. 1399, 22 L. Ed. 2d
664 (1969) (threatening statute ‘‘must be interpreted
with the commands of the [f]irst [a]mendment clearly
in mind’’ and ‘‘[w]hat is a threat must be distinguished
from what is constitutionally protected speech’’); see
also United States v. Turner, 720 F.3d 411, 420 and
n.4 (2d Cir. 2013) (distinguishing between advocacy of
violence, which is constitutionally protected speech,
and true threats, which are not), cert. denied, U.S.

, 135 S. Ct. 49, 190 L. Ed. 2d 29 (2014). If the evidence
establishes beyond a reasonable doubt, however, that
the defendant’s threatening speech was ‘‘so unequivo-
cal, unconditional, immediate and specific as to the
person threatened, as to convey a gravity of purpose and
imminent prospect of execution’’; (internal quotation
marks omitted) State v. Krijger, supra, 313 Conn. 450;
and that the defendant had the constitutionally required
mens rea for true threats directed at private individuals,
we cannot perceive why his speech should, neverthe-
less, be protected because it was directed at a public
official. Unlike passionate disagreement with existing

defendant’s] constitutionally protected right to [political] speech’’); People
v. Nishi, 207 Cal. App. 4th 954, 965, 143 Cal. Rptr. 3d 882 (2012) (statute
criminalizing threats against executive officers of state was constitutional
because first amendment does not protect true threats), review denied,
California Supreme Court, Docket No. 07SC575 (October 17, 2012); State v.
Draskovich, 904 N.W.2d 759, 764 (S.D. 2017) (upholding conviction of charge
of threatening courthouse employees and judge because speech constituted
true threat); Ex parte Eribarne, 525 S.W.3d 784, 785 (Tex. App. 2017) (statute
criminalizing threats directed at public servants was constitutional because
‘‘the statute punishes conduct rather than the content of speech alone and
bears a rational relationship to the [s]tate’s legitimate and compelling interest
in protecting public servants from harm’’), review refused, Texas Court of
Criminal Appeals, Docket No. PD-0901-17 (October 25, 2017).
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laws and abstract advocacy of the violent overthrow
of the government, true threats have no social value.
See State v. DeLoreto, supra, 265 Conn. 163 (‘‘[t]rue
threats have no communicative value but, rather, are
words [used] as projectiles where no exchange of views
is involved’’ [internal quotation marks omitted]); cf.
Rice v. Paladin Enterprises, Inc., 128 F.3d 233, 243
(4th Cir. 1997) (‘‘[A] right to advocate lawlessness is,
almost paradoxically, one of the ultimate safeguards
of liberty. Even in a society of laws, one of the most
indispensable freedoms is that to express in the most
impassioned terms the most passionate disagreement
with the laws themselves, the institutions of, and cre-
ated by, law, and the individual officials with whom the
laws and institutions are entrusted.’’), cert. denied, 523
U.S. 1074, 118 S. Ct. 1515, 140 L. Ed. 2d 668 (1998).
Accordingly, we conclude that § 53a-61aa (a) (3) is not
unconstitutional as applied to threatening speech
directed at public officials under the first amendment.

2

We next address the defendant’s contention that the
free speech provisions of the Connecticut constitution
require the state to prove that the defendant had a
specific intent to terrorize when threatening speech is
directed at public officials. In support of this claim, the
defendant relies on the text of article first, § 14, of the
Connecticut constitution, which provides that citizens
have a right ‘‘to apply to those invested with the powers
of government, for redress of grievances . . . by peti-
tion, address or remonstrance.’’ The defendant con-
tends that his e-mail regarding Judge Bozzuto was a
‘‘remonstrance’’ within the meaning of this provision
and, therefore, it was constitutionally protected. We
disagree.

Without additional analysis explicating the term
‘‘remonstrance,’’ we find it difficult to reconcile the
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defendant’s claim that the purpose of his e-mail was
‘‘to apply to those invested with the powers of govern-
ment, for redress of grievances’’ with his contention
that he did not intend for Judge Bozzuto to receive the
e-mail. In any event, article first, § 14, of the Connecticut
constitution expressly guarantees the right to apply to
government officials for the redress of grievances only
if the redress is sought ‘‘in a peaceable manner . . . .’’
A statement that is a true threat would, ipso facto, not
be one seeking redress in a peaceable manner. Accord-
ingly, we conclude that the constitutional framers did
not intend to protect the right to seek redress from a
public official by way of a ‘‘remonstrance’’ when the
speaker was aware that there was a substantial and
unjustifiable risk that the public official would interpret
the ‘‘remonstrance’’ as a serious threat of violence. We
conclude, therefore, that § 53a-61aa (a) (3) is constitu-
tional under the state constitution as it is applied to
threatening speech directed at public officials.

II

EVIDENTIARY CLAIMS

We next address the defendant’s claim that the trial
court improperly admitted evidence of events that
occurred after he sent the e-mail to support its conclu-
sion that the defendant violated § 53a-61aa (a) (3). Spe-
cifically, he contends that the trial court improperly
admitted (1) evidence that firearms were seized from
the defendant’s residence one week after he sent the
e-mail, and (2) the defendant’s second e-mail to
Nowacki, in which he reiterated his threats against
Judge Bozzuto, because this evidence was irrelevant.
We agree with the defendant’s first claim, but conclude
that the impropriety was harmless. We disagree, how-
ever, with his second claim.

Before turning to the defendant’s evidentiary claims,
we note that he has cast them as sufficiency of the



Page 45CONNECTICUT LAW JOURNALSeptember 11, 2018

SEPTEMBER, 2018 181330 Conn. 149

State v. Taupier

evidence claims, predicated on the trial court’s
improper consideration of the challenged evidence.
Because the defendant’s arguments, in essence, attack
the relevancy of the challenged evidence when consid-
ered by the trial court as the trier of fact, we view those
claims as evidentiary in nature. The defendant has not,
however, indicated how these evidentiary claims were
preserved for review. Nevertheless, because the state
does not object on preservation grounds, and because
the defendant cannot prevail on the claims in any event,
we review their merits. See Blumberg Associates World-
wide, Inc. v. Brown & Brown of Connecticut, Inc., 311
Conn. 123, 157–58, 84 A.3d 840 (2014) (‘‘[r]eview of an
unpreserved claim may be appropriate . . . when . . .
the party who raised the unpreserved claim cannot pre-
vail’’ [citation omitted; footnote omitted]).

‘‘Our standard of review for evidentiary claims is well
settled. To the extent [that] a trial court’s admission of
evidence is based on an interpretation of the Code of
Evidence, our standard of review is plenary. For exam-
ple, whether a challenged statement properly may be
classified as hearsay and whether a hearsay exception
properly is identified are legal questions demanding
plenary review. . . . We review the trial court’s deci-
sion to admit [or exclude] evidence, if premised on
a correct view of the law, however, for an abuse of
discretion. . . . The trial court has wide discretion to
determine the relevancy of evidence and the scope of
cross-examination. . . . Thus, [w]e will make every
reasonable presumption in favor of upholding the trial
court’s [rulings on these bases].’’ (Citations omitted;
internal quotation marks omitted.) State v. Davis, 298
Conn. 1, 10–11, 1 A.3d 76 (2010). Because the defendant
in the present case contends that the trial court improp-
erly admitted evidence of events that occurred after
the defendant sent the threatening e-mail on the ground
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that the evidence was irrelevant, we review the trial
court’s action for abuse of discretion.

A

We first address the defendant’s claim that the trial
court improperly considered evidence that firearms
were seized from his home approximately one week
after he sent the threatening e-mail to support its con-
clusion that the defendant violated § 53a-61aa (a) (3).
The record reveals the following additional relevant
facts. The state presented evidence that, during their
investigation of the defendant, the police obtained a
‘‘risk warrant’’ pursuant to General Statutes § 29-38c,
authorizing them to enter the defendant’s residence and
to seize any firearms and ammunition that they found
there. Upon executing the warrant, the police found
and seized fifteen firearms and multiple rounds of
ammunition. The police subsequently learned that, in
March, 2013, the family court had issued an order pro-
hibiting the defendant from possessing any firearms. In
accordance with that order, the defendant had surrend-
ered a number of firearms to a friend. When the police
went to that friend’s residence on September 2, 2014,
he confirmed that he had received thirteen firearms
from the defendant in March, 2013. During the summer
of 2014, however, the defendant had indicated that he
wanted them back. On August 27, 2014, five days after
sending the e-mail, the defendant went to his friend’s
residence and retrieved six of the firearms. The friend
turned over the remaining firearms to the police. There-
after, the police examined the fifteen firearms that had
been seized from the defendant’s residence and deter-
mined that four of them were capable of accurately
firing a projectile 245 yards, the distance to which the
defendant had referred in his e-mail. The trial court
concluded that, under State v. Krijger, supra, 313 Conn.
456 n.11, it could rely on this evidence to support a
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finding that the defendant ‘‘possessed the skills or
wherewithal necessary to carry out [his] threat.’’ Id.

In Krijger, however, this court concluded only that
knowledge by the target of a threat that the defendant
had the means to carry out the threat can support the
inference that the target would reasonably interpret the
threat to be serious. See id. We did not suggest that the
same inference may be drawn when the defendant had
the means to carry out the threat, but the target was
unaware of that fact. In this regard, we emphasize that
§ 53a-61aa (a) (3) does not allow a person to be pun-
ished for a thought—namely, having the subjective
intent to carry out a threat. Rather, it allows threatening
speech to be punished when the speaker was aware
that there was substantial and unjustifiable risk that
the speech would be interpreted as a serious threat of
violence, regardless of the speaker’s actual intentions.
See Virginia v. Black, supra, 538 U.S. 360 (‘‘a prohibi-
tion on true threats protect[s] individuals from the fear
of violence and from the disruption that fear engenders’’
[internal quotation marks omitted]); Roberts v. State,
78 Ark. App. 103, 108, 78 S.W.3d 743 (2002) (essence
of threat is ‘‘communication’’). Because there is no evi-
dence in the present case that either the recipients of
the e-mail or Judge Bozzuto knew that the defendant
actually possessed firearms when they received the
e-mail, that fact could have no bearing on whether they
would interpret the e-mail as a serious threat.20 Accord-
ingly, we conclude that the trial court improperly admit-
ted this evidence.

20 Judge Bozzuto testified that, when she received the copy of the defen-
dant’s e-mail, she was aware that the family court previously had issued an
order requiring the defendant to surrender all of his weapons. She also
testified that, when she read the e-mail, she ‘‘took it that he had a weapon.’’
There is no evidence, however, that Judge Bozzuto had any reason other
than the reference in the e-mail to a .308 caliber rifle to believe that the
defendant possessed weapons in violation of the family court order.
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We also conclude, however, that the defendant has
failed to prove that the impropriety was harmful. As
we discuss more fully in part III of this opinion, the
other evidence supporting the trial court’s conclusion
that the defendant violated § 53a-61aa (a) (3), including
the extremely detailed and disturbing language of the
defendant’s e-mail, the reactions of Nowacki and Verra-
neault, Judge Bozzuto’s reaction, the defendant’s
extreme animosity toward the family court system, with
which he interacted primarily through Judge Bozzuto,
the contentious history between the defendant and
Judge Bozzuto, and the events immediately preceding
the sending of the e-mail, was extremely strong. See
State v. Swinton, 268 Conn. 781, 797–98, 847 A.2d 921
(2004) (‘‘to establish reversible error on an evidentiary
impropriety, the defendant must prove both an abuse
of discretion and a harm that resulted from such abuse’’
[internal quotation marks omitted]); see also State v.
Mitchell, 296 Conn. 449, 460, 996 A.2d 251 (2010) (harm-
fulness determination must be made in light of entire
record including overall strength of state’s case without
evidence admitted in error). Accordingly, we conclude
that the evidentiary impropriety in the admission of the
firearms evidence was harmless and, therefore, does
not require reversal of the defendant’s conviction.

B

The defendant also claims that the trial court improp-
erly relied on his second e-mail to Nowacki to support
the conclusion that the defendant was aware that there
was a significant and unjustifiable risk that his initial
e-mail would be interpreted as a serious threat. Specifi-
cally, the trial court concluded that the fact that the
defendant expressed no surprise that Nowacki had
interpreted the e-mail as a serious threat of violence
and made no attempt to clarify his intent or retract the
threat but, instead, reiterated his threats against Judge
Bozzuto and also threatened her children, showed that
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the defendant was aware that his first e-mail would be
interpreted as a serious threat. The defendant again
contends that the trial court should have considered
only the circumstances that existed at the time that
the defendant sent the first e-mail when determining
whether that e-mail contained a serious threat.

This court, however, has expressly recognized that
‘‘evidence of the conduct of a defendant subsequent to
the commission of a crime is admissible to show the
defendant’s state of mind at the time of the crime.’’
(Internal quotation marks omitted.) State v. Croom, 166
Conn. 226, 230, 348 A.2d 556 (1974). Although the defen-
dant’s second e-mail to Nowacki had no bearing on the
question of whether the recipients of the first e-mail
would have interpreted it as a serious threat, the trial
court reasonably could have concluded that it was rele-
vant to the issue of whether the defendant was aware
when he sent the first e-mail that it would be interpreted
in that manner. Specifically, the trial court reasonably
could have inferred that, if the defendant had been
unaware when he sent the first e-mail that it would be
interpreted as a serious threat, he would have reacted
quite differently to Nowacki’s characterization of the
e-mail as ‘‘disturbing’’ and his admonition to the defen-
dant to refrain from making such statements. We con-
clude, therefore, that the trial court did not abuse its
discretion when it considered this evidence.

III

SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE CLAIMS

A

We next address the defendant’s contention that the
evidence was insufficient to convict him of threatening
in the first degree in violation of § 53a-61aa (a) (3).
Specifically, the defendant contends that the state failed
to satisfy the constitutional requirement that (1) it was
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objectively foreseeable that the e-mail would be inter-
preted as a serious threat, and (2) it was reasonably
foreseeable that Judge Bozzuto would be terrorized by
his e-mail when the defendant did not send the e-mail
to her. The defendant fails to recognize, however, that,
even if the constitutional standard is objective foresee-
ability, an issue that we have declined to decide in the
present case,21 § 53a-61aa (a) (3) required the state to
prove the higher recklessness standard.22 Thus, the
questions that we must address are whether the evi-
dence was sufficient to establish beyond a reasonable
doubt that (1) the defendant was aware that there was
a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the language of
the e-mail would be interpreted as a serious threat, and
(2) the defendant was aware that there was a substantial
and unjustifiable risk that Judge Bozzuto would be ter-
rorized by the e-mail even though he did not communi-
cate it to her directly. We conclude that the evidence
was sufficient to establish beyond a reasonable doubt
that the defendant committed the crime of threatening
in the first degree.

‘‘The standard of review we apply to a claim of insuffi-
cient evidence is well established. In reviewing the suffi-

21 See part I A of this opinion.
22 This point may also have been missed by the Appellate Court in State

v. Krijger, 130 Conn. App. 470, 24 A.3d 42 (2011), rev’d, 313 Conn. 434, 97
A.3d 946 (2014). In that case, the defendant was convicted of threatening
in the second degree in violation of § 53a-62 (a) (3), and breach of the peace
in violation of § 53a-181 (a) (3). Id., 472. The defendant claimed on appeal
to the Appellate Court that the convictions must be reversed because his
speech was constitutionally protected under the true threats doctrine. Id.,
476. Like the defendant in the present case, the defendant in Krijger did
not directly raise a statutory sufficiency claim, and the Appellate Court
affirmed the convictions upon concluding that the evidence was sufficient
to establish the constitutional objective foreseeability standard, without
considering whether the evidence was sufficient to satisfy the higher statu-
tory recklessness standard. Id., 484. On appeal to this court, we concluded
that the state had not met the constitutional standard and reversed the
judgment of the Appellate Court. See State v. Krijger, supra, 313 Conn. 460.
Accordingly, we had no occasion to consider whether the higher statutory
standard had been met.
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ciency of the evidence to support a criminal conviction
we apply a [two part] test. First, we construe the evi-
dence in the light most favorable to sustaining the ver-
dict. Second, we determine whether upon the facts so
construed and the inferences reasonably drawn there-
from the [finder of fact] reasonably could have con-
cluded that the cumulative force of the evidence
established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. . . .

‘‘We also note that the jury must find every element
proven beyond a reasonable doubt in order to find the
defendant guilty of the charged offense, [but] each of
the basic and inferred facts underlying those conclu-
sions need not be proved beyond a reasonable doubt.
. . . If it is reasonable and logical for the jury to con-
clude that a basic fact or an inferred fact is true, the
jury is permitted to consider the fact proven and may
consider it in combination with other proven facts in
determining whether the cumulative effect of all the
evidence proves the defendant guilty of all the elements
of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. . . .

‘‘Additionally, [a]s we have often noted, proof beyond
a reasonable doubt does not mean proof beyond all
possible doubt . . . nor does proof beyond a reason-
able doubt require acceptance of every hypothesis of
innocence posed by the defendant that, had it been
found credible by the [finder of fact], would have
resulted in an acquittal. . . . On appeal, we do not ask
whether there is a reasonable view of the evidence that
would support a reasonable hypothesis of innocence.
We ask, instead, whether there is a reasonable view of
the evidence that supports the [finder of fact’s] verdict
of guilty.’’ (Citations omitted; internal quotation marks
omitted.) State v. Morgan, 274 Conn. 790, 799–800, 877
A.2d 739 (2005).

To convict a defendant of threatening in the first
degree in violation of § 53a-61aa (a) (3), the state must
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prove that (1) the defendant committed threatening in
the second degree in violation of § 53a-62, and (2) in
committing that offense, the defendant represented by
his words that he possessed a firearm. To prove that
the defendant committed threatening in the second
degree in violation of § 53a-62 (a) (3), the state must
prove beyond a reasonable doubt that (1) the defendant
threatened to commit a crime of violence, and (2) in
doing so, the defendant acted in reckless disregard of
the risk of causing terror to another person. Pursuant
to § 53a-3 (13), ‘‘[a] person acts ‘recklessly’ with respect
to a result or to a circumstance described by a statute
defining an offense when he is aware of and consciously
disregards a substantial and unjustifiable risk that such
result will occur or that such circumstance exists. The
risk must be of such nature and degree that disregarding
it constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of
conduct that a reasonable person would observe in the
situation . . . .’’ Thus, to convict a defendant of the
crime of threatening in the second degree in violation
of § 53a-62 (a) (3), the state must prove that the defen-
dant was aware of and consciously disregarded a sub-
stantial and unjustifiable risk that his threatening
speech would cause terror to another person, that is,
that the person being threatened would interpret the
threat as a serious one. As we explain more fully in
part III A 2 of this opinion, when the threat has been
conveyed to a third party, the state must also prove
that the defendant knew that there was a substantial
and unjustifiable risk that the third party would commu-
nicate the threat to its target.

‘‘Recognizing the difficulty in proving by direct evi-
dence that an accused subjectively realized and chose
to ignore a substantial risk . . . we have long held that
the state of mind amounting to recklessness . . . may
be inferred from conduct.’’ (Internal quotation marks
omitted.) State v. Salz, 226 Conn. 20, 33, 627 A.2d 862
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(1993); see also State v. Tucker, 181 Conn. 406, 415, 435
A.2d 986 (1980) (although conduct prior to offense did
not in and of itself prove intent to murder, it was rele-
vant to establish, in connection with question of intent,
pattern of behavior and attitude toward victim that was
indicative of defendant’s state of mind). Accordingly,
it may be inferred from evidence that the defendant
engaged in speech that a reasonable person would inter-
pret as a serious threat that the defendant himself was
aware that there was a substantial and unjustifiable
risk that the speech would be so interpreted.23 Similarly,
proof beyond a reasonable doubt that a reasonable per-
son would be aware that there was a substantial and
unjustifiable risk that a threat that was communicated
to a third party would subsequently be communicated
to the target of the threat would support the inference
that the defendant was aware of that risk.

23 We acknowledge that, in Elonis v. United States, supra, 135 S. Ct. 2011,
the Supreme Court rejected the government’s argument that it could be
inferred from proof that a reasonable person would interpret the defendant’s
threatening speech as a serious threat that the defendant was aware that
the speech was threatening. Elonis, however, did not involve a sufficiency
of the evidence claim. Rather, it involved a claim that the jury had not been
instructed that it must find that the defendant was aware that his speech
would be interpreted as a serious threat. See id., 2012 (‘‘[t]he jury was
instructed that the [g]overnment need prove only that a reasonable person
would regard [the defendant’s] communications as threats’’). Accordingly,
we do not believe that Elonis supports the proposition that recklessness
cannot be inferred from proof that the defendant engaged in speech that a
reasonable person would interpret as a serious threat even when the fact
finder applied the proper mens rea standard. Indeed, ‘‘[w]e have long recog-
nized that a defendant’s state of mind can usually be proven only by circum-
stantial evidence.’’ State v. Salz, supra, 226 Conn. 32. We recognize, however,
that there might be rare cases in which a defendant could undercut such
an inference by showing that he simply was not aware of the objectively
reasonable meaning of his speech. For example in Elonis v. United States,
supra, 2011, the government suggested the inference might be undercut by
showing that the threatening speech was uttered by ‘‘a foreigner, ignorant
of the English language, who would not know the meaning of the words at
issue, or an individual mailing a sealed envelope without knowing its con-
tents.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.)
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1

With these principles in mind, we first consider
whether the evidence was sufficient to establish beyond
a reasonable doubt that the defendant was aware that
there was a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the
recipients of his e-mail would interpret it as a serious
threat. In making this determination, we consider the
language used by the defendant; State v. Krijger, supra,
313 Conn. 452; the context in which the statements
were made, including the reactions of the persons to
whom the threat was communicated; id., 454–55; ‘‘the
prior relationship between the parties’’; id., 454; and
‘‘the immediate circumstances surrounding the alleged
threat . . . .’’24 Id.

We turn first to the contents of the defendant’s first
e-mail. That e-mail stated: ‘‘The court is dog shit and
has no right to shit they don’t have a rule on’’; ‘‘there
[are] 245 [yards] between [Judge Bozzuto’s] master bed-
room and a cemetery that provides cover and conceal-
ment’’; ‘‘[t]hey could try and put me in jail but that
would start the ringing of a bell that can be undone’’;
‘‘[s]omeone wants to take my kids better have an [F-
35 fighter jet] and smart bombs . . . otherwise they
will be found and adjusted . . . they should seek shel-
ter on the ISS ([international] space station)’’; ‘‘a [.308
caliber rifle] at 250 [yards] with a double pane drops
[one-half inch] per foot beyond the glass and loses [7
percent] of [foot pounds] of force [at] 250 [yards]—
nonarmor piercing ball ammunition’’; and ‘‘unless you
sleep with level [three] body armor or live on the [inter-
national space station] you should be careful of
actions.’’ Judge Bozzuto testified that the descriptions
of her residence and the surrounding area were accu-

24 Whether the defendant actually intended to harm Judge Bozzuto or,
instead, the statements in his e-mail were, as he claims, merely hyperbolic
bluster, has no bearing on our analysis. The question before us is whether
the defendant knew that there was a substantial and unjustifiable risk that
the recipients of the e-mail would interpret it as a serious threat.
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rate. Thus, the defendant’s e-mail made it clear that he
was extremely angry at the ‘‘court,’’ over which Judge
Bozzuto had presided, that he had discovered where
she lived, that he had surveilled her residence, that he
had thought through a very detailed and specific way
to kill her at that location, and that he had anticipated
being punished for his conduct. Although the defendant
did not explicitly say that he was going to shoot Judge
Bozzuto, we have recognized that ‘‘rigid adherence to
the literal meaning of a communication . . . would
render [statutes proscribing true threats] powerless
against the ingenuity of threateners who can instill in
the victim’s mind as clear an apprehension of impending
injury by an implied menace as by a literal threat.’’
(Internal quotation marks omitted.) State v. Krijger,
supra, 313 Conn. 453. We conclude, therefore, that the
language of the defendant’s e-mail conveyed the clear
connotation that he was seriously contemplating vio-
lence against Judge Bozzuto.

Indeed, the reactions of Nowacki, who called the
e-mail disturbing, warned the defendant to refrain from
making such statements, and admonished him that vio-
lence was not a solution, and Verraneault, who immedi-
ately contacted several people to express her concern
and ultimately took steps to warn Judge Bozzuto, indi-
cate that this is how they, in fact, interpreted the defen-
dant’s e-mail.25 In addition, Judge Bozzuto’s fearful

25 The defendant contends that the fact the Verraneault did not immediately
communicate the contents of the e-mail to Judge Bozzuto or to others who
could warn her shows that a reasonable person would not interpret the
e-mail as a serious threat of harm. The trial court found, however, that the
fact that Verraneault took the threat seriously was established by evidence
showing that she sought guidance from a number of people as to how to
proceed immediately after reading the e-mail. The trial court also found
that Verraneault’s delay in warning Judge Bozzuto was explained in part by
the fact that ‘‘she harbored genuine concerns as to how the defendant would
react if he was to learn that she was the person who had reported the e-mail
to authorities.’’ It would, indeed, be ironic to conclude that a delay in
reporting caused by a genuine fear of the person who made the threat could
be used to infer that the recipient did not interpret the threat to be serious.
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reaction and the steps that she took to protect herself
and her family from the defendant, including installing
security equipment and warning her niece not to go to
her house without a police escort, show that she
believed the defendant’s threats were serious.

The history between the defendant and Judge Boz-
zuto, along with the events immediately preceding the
e-mail, also support the conclusion that the defendant
was aware that there was a substantial and unjustifiable
risk that the recipients of the e-mail and Judge Bozzuto
would interpret it as a serious threat. One of the recipi-
ents of the e-mail, Kelley, testified that, during her deal-
ings with the family court system, her feelings ran the
‘‘full gamut of every horrible thing that you can imagine.
I’ve been angry, I’ve been sad, I’ve been despondent.
There [are] no words. Apoplectic. I mean, it’s the full
gamut of terror. It’s absolute terror.’’ Kelley testified
that she expressed those feelings to the defendant
‘‘[b]ecause he was experiencing something similar.’’
The trial court reasonably could have inferred from this
testimony that the other e-mail recipients, all of whom
had been engaged with the defendant in efforts to
reform the family court system, were equally aware that
the defendant harbored such feelings toward the family
court system, which Judge Bozzuto represented.

The state also presented evidence in the form of
testimony by Tanya Taupier that the defendant’s
demeanor throughout the course of the divorce pro-
ceeding had been contentious and adversarial to all
court personnel involved in the case. In addition, there
was evidence that, on June 18, 2014, Judge Bozzuto had
admonished the defendant in court to stop interjecting
his political views into the custody evaluation that was
being performed by the family services unit.26 Although

26 The state presented evidence, on which the trial court relied, that, after
Judge Bozzuto admonished the defendant in court on June 18, 2014, the
defendant sent out multiple e-mails and Facebook postings criticizing Judge
Bozzuto. There is no direct evidence, however, that either the recipients
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there was no specific evidence that the e-mail recipients
were aware of the details of this particular interaction
between the defendant and Judge Bozzuto, the trial
court reasonably could have inferred that the interac-
tion would have reinforced the defendant’s negative
feelings toward the family court and Judge Bozzuto,
and that the members of the informal family court
reform group would have been generally aware of his
growing animosity and frustration.

In addition, the state presented evidence that the
defendant had enrolled his children in school in Crom-
well, where the defendant lived, in defiance of the court
order requiring that the children attend school in Elling-
ton, where Tanya Taupier lived. In response, on August
22, 2014, the same day that the defendant sent the threat-
ening e-mail, counsel for Tanya Taupier sent the defen-
dant drafts of a contempt motion and an application
for an emergency ex parte order of custody that she
planned to file with the family court and, more specifi-
cally, Judge Bozzuto. The recipients of the e-mail and
Judge Bozzuto were aware of these developments in
the case when they received the defendant’s e-mail.

We conclude this evidence was sufficient to establish
beyond a reasonable doubt that, as the trial court stated,
‘‘a reasonable person not only could foresee, but readily
would foresee, that the language in the e-mail would
be interpreted by those to whom it was communicated
as a serious expression of an intent to commit an act
of violence [against] Judge Bozzuto . . . .’’ (Emphasis
in original.) As we have explained, in the absence of
any evidence to the contrary, proof beyond a reasonable
doubt that a reasonable person would interpret threat-

of the defendant’s e-mail or Judge Bozzuto were aware of these specific
communications. Nevertheless, the trial court reasonably could have con-
cluded that the members of the informal family court reform group, which
included the recipients of the e-mail, were generally aware of the defendant’s
negative attitude toward the family court and its personnel.
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ening speech as a serious threat supports the inference
that the speaker was aware that the speech would be
interpreted in that manner. Cf. State v. Salz, supra, 226
Conn. 33 (‘‘the state of mind amounting to recklessness
. . . may be inferred from conduct’’ [internal quotation
marks omitted]). Moreover, as we explained in part II
B of this opinion, the second e-mail that the defendant
sent to Nowacki and Boyne in response to Nowacki’s
e-mail characterizing the defendant’s first e-mail as ‘‘dis-
turbing,’’ and urging the defendant to refrain from mak-
ing such statements, supports the inference that the
defendant was subjectively aware when he sent the first
e-mail that there was a substantial and unjustifiable risk
that it would be interpreted as a serious threat. The
defendant did not suggest in that e-mail that Nowacki
should have known that the language of the first e-mail
was merely hyperbolic bluster resulting from late night
fatigue or a passing moment of intense despondency
or frustration. Cf. State v. Krijger, supra, 313 Conn. 458
(defendant’s apology moments after making threaten-
ing comments showed that threat was not serious). To
the contrary, the defendant confirmed the validity of
Nowacki’s initial interpretation of the e-mail by stating,
among other things, that, ‘‘[i]f they feel it’s disturbing
that I will fiercely protect my family with all my life
. . . they would be correct, I will gladly accept my
death and theirs protecting my civil rights under my
uniform code of justice.’’ Accordingly, we conclude that
the trial court properly found that the evidence was
sufficient to support a finding beyond a reasonable
doubt that ‘‘the defendant was himself aware that his
e-mail would be seen as threatening . . . .’’

2

We next address the defendant’s claim that the evi-
dence was insufficient to establish that he was aware
that there was a substantial and unjustifiable risk that
Judge Bozzuto would be terrorized by the e-mail
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because he did not send it to her. The defendant con-
tends that, when he sent the e-mail regarding Judge
Bozzuto, he could not have foreseen that it would be
communicated to her because he sent it ‘‘to friends and
fellow travelers.’’

To the extent that the defendant contends that threat-
ening speech that is not communicated directly to the
target of the speech cannot, as a matter of law, consti-
tute a punishable true threat, we disagree. Numerous
courts have held to the contrary.27 Although the reason-

27 See United States v. Turner, supra, 720 F.3d 425 (rejecting defendant’s
claim that blog posts on public website in which defendant repeatedly stated
that three judges deserved to be killed for issuing decision affecting gun
rights was not true threat because he did not threaten to kill judges on ground
that threats ‘‘need be neither explicit nor conveyed with the grammatical
precision of an Oxford don’’); United States v. Jeffries, supra, 692 F.3d
483 (defendant who posted YouTube video of himself performing song
containing numerous threatening statements directed at judge assigned to
defendant’s child custody case was properly convicted under threatening
statute because statute contained no requirement that threat be communi-
cated to its target); United States v. Bagdasarian, 652 F.3d 1113, 1121–22 (9th
Cir. 2011) (concluding that evidence that defendant had posted comments
on public internet message board suggesting that presidential candidate
Barack Obama should be shot was insufficient to establish that comments
would be understood as serious threat because only one of many persons
who read posts understood them as sufficiently disturbing to notify authori-
ties and because defendant did not indicate that he personally intended to
shoot Obama); United States v. Parr, 545 F.3d 491, 497–98 (7th Cir. 2008)
(‘‘[a] threat doesn’t need to be communicated directly to its victim’’), cert.
denied, 556 U.S. 1181, 129 S. Ct. 1984, 173 L. Ed. 2d 1083 (2009); Doe v.
Pulaski County Special School District, supra, 306 F.3d 624 (threatening
speech can be punished as true threat if speaker intended to communicate
threat to third party); United States v. Snelenberger, 24 F.3d 799, 803 (6th
Cir.) (under statute making it crime to threaten judge with intent to retaliate,
government was not required to prove that defendant intended that threat
would be communicated to judge, overruled in part on other grounds by
United States v. Hayes, 227 F.3d 578 [6th Cir. 2000]), cert. denied, 513 U.S.
967, 115 S. Ct. 433, 130 L. Ed. 2d 346 (1994); Roberts v. State, supra, 78 Ark.
App. 108 (although threatening statute did ‘‘not require that the threat be
communicated directly to the person threatened,’’ proof of intent to commu-
nicate is required because ‘‘the gravamen of the offense is communication,
not utterance’’); People v. Nishi, 207 Cal. App. 4th 954, 967, 143 Cal. Rptr.
3d 882 (2012) (threat communicated to third parties was punishable under
threatening statute because ‘‘defendant intended, and expected or at least
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ing of these cases is somewhat ad hoc, in light of the
purpose of the true threats doctrine, which is not to
punish threatening speech in a vacuum, but to protect
targets of threats from the fear of violence; see Virginia
v. Black, supra, 538 U.S. 360 (‘‘a prohibition on true
threats protect[s] individuals from the fear of violence
and from the disruption that fear engenders’’ [internal
quotation marks omitted]); Roberts v. State, supra, 78
Ark. App. 108 (essence of threat is ‘‘communication,
not utterance’’); we conclude that threatening speech
that is not communicated directly to the target may

foresaw, [that the threat] would be conveyed from [the third parties] to the
intended law enforcement targets of the threat’’), review denied, California
Supreme Court, Docket No. 07SC575 (October 17, 2012); People v. Felix, 92
Cal. App. 4th 905, 913, 112 Cal. Rptr. 2d 311 (2001) (‘‘Where the threat is
conveyed through a third party intermediary, the specific intent element of
the statute is implicated. Thus, if the threatener intended the threat to be
taken seriously by the victim, he must necessarily have intended it to be
conveyed.’’ [Internal quotation marks omitted.]), review denied, California
Supreme Court, Docket No. S101923 (December 19, 2001); State v. Chung,
75 Haw. 398, 417, 862 P.2d 1063 (1993) (statements made to third parties
constituted true threat when they ‘‘were sufficiently alarming to impel [the
third parties] to transmit them to [the target of the threat] and for the police
to be notified’’); People v. Diomedes, 13 N.E.3d 125, 139 (Ill. App. 2014)
(threat communicated to third party was true threat because ‘‘a reasonable
sender would foresee that a reasonable recipient would view it as a serious
threat to harm another’’), appeal denied, 39 N.E.3d 1006 (Ill. 2015); Common-
wealth v. Beasley, 138 A.3d 39, 47 (Pa. Super.) (threat posted on Facebook
page was true threat because defendant ‘‘wanted’’ target of threat to receive
it and ‘‘successfully and intentionally communicated his threat’’ to target),
appeal denied, 639 Pa. 579, 161 A.3d 791 (2016) ; Wilkins v. State, 279 S.W.3d
701, 705 (Tex. App. 2007) (under statute making it crime to intentionally or
knowingly threaten another, when defendant made threatening comment
on telephone that was overheard by others who then reported threat to its
target, evidence was insufficient to support conviction because ‘‘nothing in
the record can be construed as evidence that appellant intended or knew
with reasonable certainty that his statement would’’ place target of threat
in fear); State v. Johnson, 178 P.3d 915, 919–20 (Utah App. 2008) (holding
as matter of statutory interpretation that statute that criminalized threats
to kill judge with intent to intimidate or retaliate did not require state to
prove that defendant knew that threat would be communicated to target,
but only that person to whom threat was communicated would interpret it
as serious threat).
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nevertheless be punished if the state establishes that
the defendant’s intent that the threat would be commu-
nicated to the target meets the same standard that the
state must satisfy in order to punish speech that is
directed specifically to the target. As we explained in
part I A of this opinion, the statutory recklessness stan-
dard is constitutional. We conclude, therefore, that a
defendant may be punished for threatening speech
directed at a third party if the state proves beyond a
reasonable doubt that the defendant was aware that
there was a substantial and unjustifiable risk both that
his speech would be interpreted as a serious threat and
that the threat would be communicated to the target
of the threat. Cf. People v. Felix, 92 Cal. App. 4th 905,
913, 112 Cal. Rptr. 2d 311 (2001) (‘‘Where the threat is
conveyed through a third party intermediary, the spe-
cific intent element of the statute is implicated. Thus,
if the threatener intended the threat to be taken seri-
ously by the victim, he must necessarily have intended
it to be conveyed.’’ [Internal quotation marks omitted.]),
review denied, California Supreme Court, Docket No.
S101923 (December 19, 2001).

In the present case, we agree with the trial court that,
even if the recipients of the e-mail were ‘‘ ‘like-minded
individuals’ who understood and shared [the defen-
dant’s] frustration with the family court system’’ and
his desire to reform it, the language of the e-mail was
so extreme that the defendant had to have been ‘‘aware
of and consciously disregarded the substantial and
unjustifiable risk that . . . it would be disclosed to oth-
ers and cause terror to Judge Bozzuto.’’ Indeed, there
was no credible evidence that would support, much
less compel, a finding that the defendant believed that
all of the recipients would either support or be indiffer-
ent to a serious threat to kill a family court judge. To
the contrary, the reactions of Nowacki and Verraneault
to the defendant’s first e-mail support the inference that
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it was not typical of the communications that previously
had been shared by the group and, therefore, that the
defendant would have had no reason to believe the
recipients would share his desire to inflict violence
against Judge Bozzuto.28

Moreover, when Skipp was asked if all of the recipi-
ents of the e-mail were ‘‘of a like mind when the issue
was family court in Connecticut,’’ she agreed that they
were with the exception of Verraneault, who had ‘‘no
children that were endangered by the state’s actions.’’
We conclude that this evidence was sufficient to estab-
lish beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was
aware that there was a substantial and unjustifiable risk
that at least Verraneault would react to the e-mail in
the same manner that any reasonable person would
react to a serious death threat against another person,
and take steps to notify Judge Bozzuto. Accordingly, we
conclude that the evidence was sufficient to establish
beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant commit-
ted the crime of threatening in the first degree in viola-
tion of § 53a-61aa (a) (3).

B

Finally, we address the defendant’s contention that
the evidence was insufficient to establish that he
engaged in disorderly conduct directed at Verraneault.
To prove this charge, the state was required to establish

28 As the trial court recognized, Skipp testified that the group of people
interested in reforming the family court system had exchanged communica-
tions that were similar in intensity and hyperbole to the statements in the
defendant’s e-mail. The only examples that she could provide, however,
were her own statements that ‘‘I wish I could mail [the guardian ad litem
in her family court case] a box of dog poop’’ and ‘‘I wish [the guardian ad
litem] would [self-immolate] . . . .’’ Kelley characterized the defendant’s
e-mail as a ‘‘hyperbolic [rant].’’ The trial court concluded, however, that
there were serious questions as to whether Skipp and Kelley ‘‘were objective
and unbiased witnesses [that] significantly undermined the value and credi-
bility of their testimony’’ on this issue.
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that the defendant, by engaging in offensive or disor-
derly conduct, recklessly created a risk of causing
inconvenience, annoyance or alarm to Verraneault. See
General Statutes § 53a-182 (a). The defendant contends
that although Verraneault ‘‘undoubtedly experienced
‘inconvenience, annoyance or alarm’ upon receipt of
the e-mail,’’ because the e-mail was not a true threat,
Verraneault’s ‘‘tender sensibilities should be of no
moment to this court.’’

We have concluded, however, that the defendant’s
e-mail was indeed a true threat. We further conclude
that, when a speaker communicates a true threat to a
person other than the target of the threat, and there is
no evidence that the speaker believed that the third
party would share or be indifferent to the speaker’s
desire to inflict violence on the target, the communica-
tion constitutes offensive conduct and creates a sub-
stantial and unjustifiable risk that the person will be
inconvenienced, annoyed and alarmed. The defendant
placed Verraneault in a position requiring her to either
keep quiet about the threat, thereby making herself
partially responsible—at least morally, if not legally—
in the event it was carried out, or to instead communi-
cate the threat to Judge Bozzuto, thereby taking the
risk that the defendant’s homicidal anger would be
directed at her. Indeed, the trial court expressly found
that Verraneault ‘‘harbored [fears] about her own safety
if [the defendant] were to learn that she was the person
who had disclosed the e-mail to law enforcement
authorities . . . .’’ Accordingly, we conclude that the
evidence was sufficient to support the defendant’s con-
viction of disorderly conduct directed at Verraneault.

The judgment is affirmed.

In this opinion the other justices concurred.
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CITY OF HARTFORD v. CBV PARKING
HARTFORD, LLC, ET AL.

(SC 20044)

Palmer, McDonald, Robinson, D’Auria, Mullins and Kahn, Js.*

Syllabus

The plaintiff, the city of Hartford, appealed from the judgment of the trial
court, which increased the amount of compensation paid in connection
with the city’s taking of certain property through its exercise of eminent
domain. The property consisted of three distinct parcels, A, B and C,
which were being used as parking lots at the time of the taking. The
city had taken the parcels to advance its redevelopment plan that
included the construction of a baseball stadium, which was to be built
directly across the street from parcel A. The city had previously pur-
chased two properties that abutted parcel A. At trial, the city and the
defendant property owners presented appraisals that were based on a
comparable sales methodology. The city’s appraisals assumed that the
parcels would continue to be used as parking lots, but the defendants’
appraisals valued the parcels on the basis of their highest and best use
as part of the anticipated surrounding redevelopment. The trial court
relied primarily on the appraisal of M Co., one of the defendants’ apprais-
ers. M Co.’s appraisal was based on the concept of assemblage of proper-
ties, concluding that it was reasonably probable that parcel A would be
joined with the city’s adjoining properties, thereby enhancing its value
because it could permit a higher and better use. Upon determining that
the parcels comprising the property were worth $2,830,000 more than
the amount the city paid at the time of the taking, the trial court rendered
judgment for the defendants. Thereafter, the defendants filed a motion
for an award of interest pursuant to the statute (§ 37-3a) governing
interest in civil actions generally. The city opposed the motion on the
ground that the defendants were entitled to interest at the default rate
set forth in the statute (§ 37-3c) governing condemnation actions
because the trial court failed to set an interest rate in its judgment. The
parties subsequently stipulated that, if the trial court were to conclude
that it could set a ‘‘reasonable and just’’ interest rate after it rendered
judgment, that rate would be 7.22 percent. The trial court granted the
defendants’ motion for an award of interest at the rate of 7.22 percent,
and, because the total compensation award, including interest at a rate
of 7.22 percent, exceeded the amount of the defendants’ offer of compro-
mise, the trial court awarded offer of compromise interest over the
city’s objection. The city appealed, claiming that the trial court improp-

* The listing of justices reflects their seniority status on this court as of
the date of oral argument.
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erly valued the property on the basis of an unreasonable assumption
that the defendants would assemble the parcels with the city’s properties
for commercial development and improperly awarded interest under
§ 37-3c at a rate of 7.22 percent and offer of compromise interest. Held:

1. There was no merit to the defendants’ claim that the city’s appeal was
moot because it challenged only one of two independent grounds that
supported the trial court’s fair market value determination: when the
relevant portion of the trial court’s decision was viewed in its entirety
and in context, it was apparent that the court’s valuation did not rest
on an alternative ground based on the per square foot values of the
city’s two properties adjoining parcel A rather than on a valuation predi-
cated on assemblage, as the court did not adopt either of the per square
foot values or settle on a valuation that conformed to any obvious
mathematical formula based on those values; moreover, the court refer-
enced the per square foot values to bolster its conclusion that M Co.’s
valuation, which was predicated on assemblage, was sound.

2. This court could not conclude, in light of the record and the claims
presented, that the trial court made a mistake when, in applying the
proper legal standard, it found that assemblage of the defendants’ parcels
with the city’s properties for development was reasonably probable,
even in the absence of condemnation: the trial court repeatedly cited
applicable governing law and implicitly acknowledged the requirement
that assemblage must be reasonably probable in the absence of condem-
nation in stating its reasons for finding M Co.’s appraisal persuasive,
and there was additional support in the record, on which the trial court
was entitled to rely, for the court’s determination that development was
reasonably probable, including that the city had no intention of retaining
the two properties adjoining parcel A, the city’s properties were not
intended for public use but for commercial and residential development
by a private developer, as evidenced by a development proposal selected
by the city that represented that it had secured letters of interest for
the construction of various commercial entities, one of the defendants’
appraisers cited research indicating that the construction of similar
types of baseball stadiums in other cities had sparked redevelopment,
and the testimony of the principal of one of the defendants, an experi-
enced real estate investor, that, from the time of the purchase of the
parcels, he had viewed the parcels as best assembled with adjoining
properties for development, had undertaken substantial measures to
eliminate obstacles to assemblage, had secured two other investors for
development of the parcels, and had financed the parcels so as to provide
the option to sell them to other developers or to contribute them to a
joint venture and to be a codeveloper; moreover, the trial court further
supported its reliance on M Co.’s appraisal by reference to the per square
foot price paid by the city for the two properties abutting parcel A prior
to the announcement of the proposed baseball stadium, as parcel A had
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substantially greater street frontage directly across the street from the
stadium site than the city’s two properties.

3. The trial court lacked authority to set a rate of interest other than the
default rate set forth in § 37-3c after it rendered its judgment of compen-
sation without setting an interest rate therein, and, accordingly, its award
of interest at a rate of 7.22 percent was improper and resulted in an
improper award of offer of compromise interest: the unambiguous lan-
guage of § 37-3c dictated that, when, as in the present case, a judgment
of compensation does not include a rate of interest, the default rate
applies; moreover, there was no merit to the defendants’ claim that a
condemnee must be able to seek interest postjudgment because it would
not make sense to present evidence regarding a reasonable and just
rate of interest prior to a court’s finding that the amount provided by
the government at the time of taking was inadequate, as the condemnee
would be free to seek bifurcation of the proceeding, first resolving the
value of the property and then resolving the matter of a reasonable rate
of interest; furthermore, the award of offer of compromise interest was
improper because, if the default rate had properly been applied, the
total compensation owed to the defendants would not have exceeded
the amount of the defendants’ offer to compromise.
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Opinion

McDONALD, J. The plaintiff, the city of Hartford,
exercised its power of eminent domain to take certain
property owned by three defendants1 to advance the
city’s redevelopment plan that included the construc-
tion of a minor league baseball stadium in close proxim-
ity to the defendants’ property. The defendants,
believing that the compensation offered by the city did
not account for the increased value and prospects for
their property due to the planned ballpark, appealed
from the statement of compensation filed by the city.
The trial court sustained the appeal, increasing the
amount of compensation by approximately $3 million
and ordering the city to pay interest at the rate of 7.22
percent. The city appeals from that judgment, claiming
that the trial court (1) improperly valued the property
on the basis of an unreasonable assumption that the
defendants would assemble their parcels with adjoining
properties owned by the city for commercial develop-
ment, and (2) exceeded its authority under General
Statutes § 37-3c in its award of interest. We disagree
with the city’s first claim but agree with its second claim.

The record reveals the following facts, found by the
trial court or otherwise undisputed. The property is
located in an area north of the downtown area of the
city (north downtown) and is comprised of fourteen
tax lots that form three distinct parcels, each of irregu-
lar shape and covering only part of a city block (collec-
tively, property). For purposes of this case, the property
has been designated as Parcels A, B, and C.2 Parcel A

1 The defendants are CBV Parking Hartford, LLC, CBV Parking Hartford
Ann, LLC, and CBV Parking Hartford Chapel, LLC. Although related entities,
each defendant held title to one of three parcels comprising the property
subject to the taking. Several other entities that had record interests in the
property were named as defendants but are not parties to this appeal.

2 For ease of reference, a map included in one of the reports submitted
by the valuation experts reflecting the boundaries of Parcels A, B and C is
reproduced as an appendix to this opinion.
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is located directly across from the Dunkin Donuts Park
minor league baseball stadium (ballpark) on Main
Street, constructed after the taking at issue. Parcel B
is located two blocks south of the ballpark on the corner
of Ann Uccello and Chapel Streets. Parcel C is located
diagonally across from the ballpark on the corner of
Main and Pleasant Streets. Collectively, the property is
2.89 acres. Prior to the taking, the three parcels were
being used as parking lots. The parcels are situated in
areas of north downtown that were zoned as either B-
1 or B-2, the most permissive zoning categories in the
city, permitting commercial and multifamily uses.

North downtown, due to its separation from the core
downtown area by Interstate 84 (I-84), has historically
become a separate entity from the downtown. It largely
did not benefit from increased commercial develop-
ment that took place starting in the late 1990s that
transformed and reenergized the core downtown. Prior
to and continuing through the time of the taking, north
downtown contained many rundown and/or abandoned
buildings and lots, as well as large, disintegrating park-
ing areas leased by businesses on the south side of I-
84 for their employees’ use.

Starting in 2003, the city undertook a series of efforts
aimed at changing the fortunes of north downtown.
In 2003 and 2004, it constructed or renovated several
buildings in that area, including a Public Safety Com-
plex, the Hartford police headquarters, and the Capitol
Preparatory Magnet School. By early 2009, city officials
approved a 2008 redevelopment plan with the stated
goal of creating an opportunity for educational, com-
mercial, and residential development in north down-
town. The property was included in the area designated
for such development. The plan called for the acquisi-
tion of properties by purchase, or eminent domain if
necessary, to accomplish its development goals. In fur-
therance of these goals, in 2010, the city acquired a
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parcel of land adjoining one side of Parcel A and demol-
ished an eyesore building on it commonly known as
the ‘‘Butt Ugly’’ building (Ugly lot). The city acquired
other properties in the area, but definitive redevelop-
ment plans had not yet materialized.

In July, 2012, a financially distressed seller sold the
property under a single deed for approximately
$374,000 to the defendant CBV Parking Hartford, LLC,
a subsidiary of CBV Parking Holding, LLC (CBV). The
sale was not an arm’s-length transaction, and the sale
price was well under the city’s valuation for purposes
of property tax assessment.

Pennock J. Yeatman, the sole owner of CBV, is an
experienced investor and developer of real estate. Prior
to the purchase of the property, Yeatman had reviewed
the city’s 2008 plan and researched any impediment to
redevelopment of the property. After he obtained the
property, Yeatman took several steps to facilitate the
sale or redevelopment of the property. He divided the
property into three parcels to make the option of indi-
vidual sales readily available, executing conveyances
so that each of the three defendant subsidiaries of CBV
held one. See footnote 1 of this opinion. He also negoti-
ated the elimination of ‘‘gangway’’ rights or easements,3

which he viewed as a potential obstacle to assemblage
of the property with adjoining properties. CBV’s busi-
ness plan identified the city as ‘‘the logical buyer’’ for
Parcel A, viewing the asset as a ‘‘long-term assemblage’’
with adjoining properties owned by the city for a single
lot for redevelopment.

By late 2012, the city had become the owner of both
of the two smaller properties that adjoined Parcel A: a
LAZ parking lot on one side of Parcel A that the city
had purchased in October, 2012, for $1,280,000, and the

3 Yeatman testified that a gangway is ‘‘a pedestrian access point to allow
pedestrians to get from one property to another.’’
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Ugly lot on the other side of Parcel A that it previously
had acquired and razed for a total cost of $1,225,000.

In May, 2013, the city offered to buy Parcels A, B,
and C for $1,170,000. CBV rejected the offer, indicating
that the property was considerably more valuable and
that CBV had no financial or other pressures requiring
immediate sale. Negotiations continued with offers
and counteroffers.

In the meantime and unbeknownst to CBV, the city
had decided that the construction of a ballpark could
be the catalyst for further redevelopment in north down-
town. On July 1, 2014, the city solicited proposals for
a public/private partnership for both the construction
of the ballpark and the mixed-use development of its
environs, including the property.

By the close of the August 1, 2014 deadline for submis-
sions, the city had received three proposals. It selected
the one prepared by DoNo Hartford, LLC (DoNo), in
collaboration with two other entities. DoNo’s proposal
presented a concept plan for a ‘‘ ‘dynamic new neighbor-
hood’ ’’ for north downtown that included the ballpark,
retail businesses, restaurants, and 600 residential units.
Under the proposal, Parcels A, B, and C were to be
assembled with adjoining properties for mixed-use
development. The proposal indicated that DoNo had
secured letters of interest for the construction of a
grocery store and a brewery with a rooftop beer garden.
DoNo supported its proposal with a market study,
which concluded: ‘‘ ‘Given the current dynamics
between employment, the state of housing opportuni-
ties in outlying areas of Hartford, and the tremendous
opportunity for placemaking around the ballpark, the
necessary conditions are in place to redefine what it
means to live downtown. . . . The subject site repre-
sents an opportunity to develop and deliver a [mixed-
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use] neighborhood at the exact inflection point of down-
town redevelopment.’ ’’

Neither CBV nor Yeatman submitted a proposal, and
the city did not solicit one from either. Yeatman claimed
to have learned about the ballpark proposal from a
Hartford Courant newspaper article published in July,
2014, and the request for development proposals some-
time thereafter. According to Yeatman, the one month
submission deadline was unusually short by industry
standards, and he had inadequate time to complete a
proper proposal for submission.4

In August, 2014, the city’s Court of Common Council
approved a resolution authorizing the purchase of the
property for $2.5 million, a price to which the parties
had previously tentatively agreed. However, in light of
the changing landscape, Yeatman countered with a pro-
posal to sell only Parcel A to the city, which would
allow the city to assemble the entire block immediately
across the street from the ballpark but would allow
Yeatman to develop Parcels B and C himself. The city
rejected this offer.

In November, 2014, the city exercised its power of
eminent domain to take the entire property, filing a
statement of compensation of $1,980,000 for the taking.
The defendants appealed to the Superior Court, claim-
ing that the amount of compensation was ‘‘inadequate.’’
In a trial to the court, both the city and the defendants
each presented two appraisals and supporting expert
testimony; all of the appraisals were based on a compa-
rable sales methodology.

4 Yeatman testified that the short deadline evidenced that the request for
proposals was simply a ‘‘beauty contest,’’ because the preparation necessary
to complete the market studies and establish the financial bona fides for a
proper submission could not reasonably have been completed in such a
short period. The trial court found it unnecessary to make any findings as
to whether Yeatman ‘‘had been treated fairly by the city.’’
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The city’s appraisals valued the property at the time
of the taking at $1,900,000 and $2,010,000, respectively.
Both appraisals assumed continuation of the property’s
present use as parking lots. The court concluded that
both appraisals suffered from the same ‘‘astounding
shortcoming’’; neither took into account the ‘‘major
change’’ of the announced ballpark and expectations
for surrounding development.

The defendants’ appraisals, prepared by Michaud
Company (Michaud) and J.F. Mulready Company, LLC
(Mulready), valued the property at $4,810,000 and
$5,220,000, respectively. The court rejected the higher
Mulready appraisal, which was premised on research
related to the effect that new minor league ballparks
had on surrounding land values in three other cities,
two in North Carolina and one in Indiana. The court
found that Mulready’s assumption that the positive
effects of those developments would similarly follow
in Hartford, despite current difficulties remaining in
Hartford, was ‘‘much too enthusiastic . . . .’’ It also
concluded that ‘‘the research . . . does not support the
singularly successful picture’’ reflected in Mulready’s
valuation.

The court found the Michaud appraisal of $4,810,000
the ‘‘most persuasive.’’ The court set forth the following
reasons. That appraisal rejected the ‘‘as is’’ approach
of the city’s appraisals because they did not reflect
the highest and best use of the property. The Michaud
appraisal also took into account the ‘‘ ‘cloud’ ’’ of the
city’s eminent domain power, which could dissuade
competitive buyers and in turn depress value. Signifi-
cantly, with regard to highest and best use, the court
noted: ‘‘The Michaud report relies on the concept of
‘assemblage,’5 contemplating that the LAZ property and

5 As we explain in further detail in this opinion, the doctrine of assemblage
permits a property owner to introduce evidence in a condemnation proceed-
ing that the fair market value of its land is enhanced by its probable assem-
blage with other parcels, which in turn could permit a higher and better
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the Ugly [lot] would be joined with the Main Street
exposure of the . . . property. Indeed, that is exactly
the basis on which DoNo premised its proposal. CBV
could have made this assemblage, but was not afforded
the opportunity to do so. The Michaud analysis con-
cludes that it was reasonably probable that the property
would be assembled, and if the city did not take the
parcel, the market would respond. CBV could have
developed this property. CBV could have developed
Parcels B and C, with the city obtaining [Parcel] A. CBV
could have purchased the LAZ and Ugly lots. One of
the things that the Mulready findings underscore is that
this scenario is exactly what occurred in the three cities
studied by Mulready.’’ Finally, the court pointed to the
per square foot price that the city had paid for the
two lots adjacent to Parcel A before the ballpark was
announced, which, if applied to the property, would
have yielded a valuation of $3,245,298 or $5,339,933.6 In
conclusion, the court sustained the defendants’ appeal,
holding that the fair market value of the property at
the time of the taking was $4,810,000.

Approximately two weeks after the court issued its
decision, upon the defendants’ motion, the court
awarded interest at a rate of 7.22 percent. The city
appealed from the trial court’s judgment to the Appel-
late Court, and we thereafter transferred the appeal to
this court. See General Statutes § 51-199 (c); Practice

use. See Commissioner of Transportation v. Towpath Associates, 255 Conn.
529, 548–49, 767 A.2d 1169 (2001).

6 The city paid $1,280,000, equating to $25.75 per square foot, for the LAZ
lot. The city paid $625,000 for the Ugly lot plus $600,000 to demolish the
eyesore building on it, which, together, equated to a per square foot price
of $42.37. According to one of the city’s experts, the city was highly motivated
to buy the Ugly lot because many city officials believed that the building
was such a ‘‘blight’’ on the neighborhood that it had ‘‘stymied’’ development
in that area. This view was consistent with the 2008 redevelopment plan’s
goal of removing ‘‘obsolete and blighted buildings from a critical perimeter
area of the [d]owntown . . . .’’



Page 74 CONNECTICUT LAW JOURNAL September 11, 2018

SEPTEMBER, 2018210 330 Conn. 200

Hartford v. CBV Parking Hartford, LLC

Book § 65-1. On appeal, the city challenges both the
amount of compensation and the rate at which the trial
court awarded interest.

I

The city claims that the court improperly valued the
property on the basis of an unreasonable assumption
that the defendants would assemble the property with
adjoining properties owned by the city for commercial
development. In response, the defendants contend that
the city’s appeal is moot because it challenges only
one of two independent grounds that support the trial
court’s fair market value determination. Alternatively,
they contend that, if the appeal is not dismissed as
moot, the city cannot prevail on the merits because the
trial court’s assemblage valuation was proper.

A

‘‘Mootness implicates [this] court’s subject matter
jurisdiction and is thus a threshold matter for us to
resolve.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Burbank
v. Board of Education, 299 Conn. 833, 839, 11 A.3d 658
(2011). Undoubtedly, if there exists an unchallenged,
independent ground to support a decision, an appeal
from that decision would be moot, as this court could
not afford practical relief even if the appellant were to
prevail on the issue raised on appeal. See, e.g., Mid-
dlebury v. Connecticut Siting Council, 326 Conn. 40, 54,
161 A.3d 537 (2017); Doe v. Hartford Roman Catholic
Diocesan Corp., 317 Conn. 357, 379 n.23, 119 A.3d 462
(2015). We are not persuaded that such circumstances
exist in the present case.

The defendants contend that the trial court’s valua-
tion rested on an alternative ground that was not based
on assemblage. They rely on the final paragraph of
the trial court’s analysis, which commences with the
following sentence: ‘‘The history of the city’s taking of
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the two properties adjoining Parcel A of the subject
property is enlightening for purposes of this court’s
evaluation and presents a basis for valuing the prop-
erty even without application of the assemblage doc-
trine.’’ (Emphasis added.) The remainder of the
paragraph then explains that applying the per square
foot prices paid by the city for the two parcels adjacent
to Parcel A to the property would have yielded valua-
tions of $3,245,298 or $5,339,933.

Although the trial court’s initial statement clearly
lends support to the defendants’ view, the paragraph
viewed in its entirety and in context persuades us other-
wise. The trial court did not adopt either of the two
per square foot valuations cited, or even the mean of
the two ($4,292,615.50). It did not indicate that it had
weighted one of those valuations more heavily than the
other, and the valuation ultimately adopted does not
conform to any obvious mathematical formula. Nor did
the court articulate any reason to settle on a figure
closer to the valuation of one adjacent parcel than the
other. Instead, adopting the defendants’ view, the trial
court would have had to settle on the mean of the two
valuations, and added the seemingly arbitrary figure of
$517,384.50 to coincidentally arrive at the exact same
valuation as Michaud’s valuation of $4,810,000—a valua-
tion predicated on assemblage.

We recognize that the trial court can make an inde-
pendent determination of value and fair compensation
in light of all the circumstances and is not bound by the
valuations or valuation methods used by the appraisers.
See, e.g., Bristol v. Tilcon Minerals, Inc., 284 Conn. 55,
74–75, 931 A.2d 237 (2007); Robinson v. Westport, 222
Conn. 402, 410, 610 A.2d 611 (1992). Nonetheless, we
decline to presume, in the absence of clearer evidence,
that the trial court arbitrarily settled on a valuation.
Accordingly, while it also is not an entirely satisfying
interpretation of the final paragraph of the court’s analy-
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sis, the better interpretation is that the court referenced
the per square foot valuations to bolster its conclusion
that Michaud’s valuation, predicated on assemblage,
was sound. Therefore, the city’s appeal challenging that
valuation is not moot.

B

The question before us, therefore, is whether the trial
court’s adoption of Michaud’s valuation was proper.
The city’s argument is twofold. First, it contends that
the trial court applied the wrong legal test because,
when it assumed that the defendants would assemble
the property with neighboring properties owned by the
city for commercial development, it failed to consider
whether assemblage would have occurred in the
absence of condemnation. Second, it contends that the
evidence would not support a conclusion that the
proper test was met. We do not agree with either con-
tention.

The governing principles are not in dispute. The gov-
ernment must pay ‘‘just compensation’’ when it takes
private property. U.S. Const., amend. V; accord Conn.
Const., art. I, § 11. ‘‘The amount that constitutes just
compensation is the market value of the condemned
property when put to its highest and best use at the
time of the taking. . . . The highest and best use of a
given parcel contemplates the use which will most likely
produce the highest market value, greatest financial
return, or the most profit . . . .’’ (Citation omitted;
internal quotation marks omitted.) Commissioner of
Transportation v. Towpath Associates, 255 Conn. 529,
540, 767 A.2d 1169 (2001) (Towpath).

‘‘Evidence of the special adaptability of land for a
particular purpose is properly admitted if there is a
reasonable probability that the land could be so used
within a reasonable time and with economic feasibility.
. . . A landowner must provide the trier with sufficient
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evidence from which it could conclude that it is reason-
ably probable that the land to be taken would, but for
the taking, be devoted to the proposed use by a prudent
investor in the near future. . . . The uses to be consid-
ered must be so reasonably probable as to have an
effect on the present market value of the land. Purely
imaginative or speculative value should not be consid-
ered.’’ (Citations omitted; internal quotation marks
omitted.) Id., 544; accord Bristol v. Tilcon Minerals,
Inc., supra, 284 Conn. 64–65; Northeast Ct. Economic
Alliance, Inc. v. ATC Partnership, 256 Conn. 813, 828–
29, 776 A.2d 1068 (2001).

Similarly, ‘‘[t]he doctrine of assemblage applies when
the highest and best use of separate parcels involves
their integrated use with lands of another. Pursuant to
this doctrine, such prospective use may be properly
considered in fixing the value of the property if the
joinder of the parcels is reasonably practicable. If appli-
cable, this doctrine allows a property owner to intro-
duce evidence showing that the fair market value of
the owner’s real estate is enhanced by its probable
assemblage with other parcels.’’ 4 J. Sackman, Nichols
on Eminent Domain (3d Ed. Rev. 2018) § 13.01 [17].

‘‘[If] combination of the parcels is reasonably proba-
ble, then evidence concerning assemblage, and, ulti-
mately, a finding that the land is specially adaptable
for that highest and best use, may be appropriate. . . .
[T]he use of property in conjunction with other parcels
may affect value if it is shown that such an integrated
use reasonably would have occurred in the absence of
the condemnation.’’ (Citation omitted; emphasis added;
internal quotation marks omitted.) Towpath, supra, 255
Conn. 549–50.

‘‘[A]lthough the possibility of a change . . . always
exists in some degree, it [is often] difficult to prove
that such a possibility has become a reasonable proba-
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bility. . . . Because of the uncertainties necessarily
attending the determination of the probability of the
happening of such an event in the future, claims and
evidence regarding the probability must be scrutinized
with care and examined with caution.’’ (Citation omit-
ted; internal quotation marks omitted.) Id., 551.

The trier of fact’s determinations as to what is the
highest and best use of the property and whether there
is a reasonable probability of a future change affecting
value are questions of fact. Bristol v. Tilcon Minerals,
Inc., supra, 284 Conn. 64–65; Greene v. Burns, 221 Conn.
736, 748, 607 A.2d 402 (1992). As such, we do not disturb
the trial court’s findings on these matters unless they
are clearly erroneous. Bristol v. Tilcon Minerals, Inc.,
supra, 65; Robinson v. Westport, supra, 222 Conn. 414.

The city’s first line of attack, however, is that the
trial court’s findings as to these matters were made
without consideration of a critical element, namely,
whether assemblage of the property with parcels owned
by the city reasonably would have occurred ‘‘in the
absence of the condemnation.’’ Towpath, supra, 255
Conn. 550. Whether the trial court applied the proper
legal standard is subject to plenary review on appeal.
See, e.g., St. Joseph’s High School, Inc. v. Planning &
Zoning Commission, 176 Conn. App. 570, 586–87, 170
A.3d 73 (2017); Norwich v. Styx Investors in Norwich,
LLC, 92 Conn. App. 801, 808, 887 A.2d 910 (2006).

We are not persuaded that the trial court failed to
apply the proper standard. The city places too much
weight on the fact that the trial court did not recite the
talismanic phrase ‘‘in the absence of condemnation’’
when reciting the governing law. The trial court repeat-
edly cited our decision in Towpath, supra, 255 Conn.
548–50, which unambiguously sets forth this require-
ment. The trial court implicitly acknowledged this
requirement when citing its reasons for finding the
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Michaud valuation persuasive: ‘‘The Michaud analysis
concludes that it was reasonably probable that the prop-
erty would be assembled, and if the city did not take the
parcel, the market would respond.’’ (Emphasis added.)
This statement is sufficient to warrant application of
the presumption that the trial court applied the proper
legal standard. See DeNunzio v. DeNunzio, 320 Conn.
178, 197, 128 A.3d 901 (2016) (‘‘[w]hen examining an
ambiguous decision . . . we presume that the trial
court applied the correct standard’’ [internal quotation
marks omitted]); Singhaviroj v. Board of Education,
301 Conn. 1, 17 n.12, 17 A.3d 1013 (2011) (noting pre-
sumption and appellant’s failure to seek articulation);
see, e.g., Greene v. Burns, supra, 221 Conn. 746–47. To
the extent that the city’s view of the legal standard is
colored by its concern as to the propriety of the trial
court’s ultimate finding of fact that this standard was
met, that is a separate matter.

Before we examine the trial court’s ultimate finding—
that there was a reasonable probability of assemblage
for redevelopment by an entity other than the city—it
is important to make two clarifications as to the scope
of the matter before us. First, the trial court’s decision
appears to support the defendants’ view that the lion’s
share of the difference between Michaud’s valuation
and those of the city’s experts arises not from assem-
blage but from the effect on surrounding property val-
ues of the city’s plan to construct a ballpark. The city’s
arguments on appeal, however, are exclusively directed
to the matter of assemblage.7 Accordingly, we have no

7 In the city’s posttrial brief, it appears to have conceded that the value
added by such plans could be considered if that value was not speculative:
‘‘The only relevance that the proposed baseball stadium has in this case is
what impact, if any, did the information that was available [on the date of
the taking] on December 9, 2014, regarding the proposed development have
on the value of the subject property. While it is the stated goal of the [request
for proposals] to catalyze development through the ballpark, the plan that
was produced in response to that [request] is only conceptual and may not
be developed.’’



Page 80 CONNECTICUT LAW JOURNAL September 11, 2018

SEPTEMBER, 2018216 330 Conn. 200

Hartford v. CBV Parking Hartford, LLC

occasion in this opinion to consider whether a principle
articulated by some other jurisdictions, namely, that
the fair market value of property taken shall not include
any increase (or decrease) in the value attributable to
a redevelopment project for which the property is
taken, has any application to the present circum-
stances.8

8 See Almota Farmers Elevator & Warehouse Co. v. United States, 409
U.S. 470, 480, 93 S. Ct. 791, 35 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1973) (Powell, J., concurring)
(‘‘Where multiple properties or property interests are condemned for a
particular public project, the [g]overnment must pay pre-existing market
value for each. Neither the [g]overnment nor the condemnee may take
advantage of an alteration in market value attributable to the project itself.’’
[Emphasis omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.]); Santa Clara Valley
Transportation Authority v. Mission West Shoreline, LLC, Docket No.
H030248, 2008 WL 1823068, *6 (Cal. App. April 24, 2008) (‘‘[t]he fair market
value of the property taken shall not include any increase or decrease in
the value of the property that is attributable to any of the following . . .
[a] [t]he project for which the property is taken . . . [b] [t]he eminent
domain proceeding in which the property is taken . . . [c] [a]ny preliminary
actions of the plaintiff relating to the taking of the property’’ [internal quota-
tion marks omitted]); Cole v. Boston Edison Co., 338 Mass. 661, 666, 157
N.E.2d 209 (1959) (noting rule that, ‘‘if it was contemplated at the time of
the original construction that the land in question would sooner or later be
taken for the purposes of the project, the enhanced value is not to be used
in determining damages’’ [emphasis omitted]); Regents of the University of
Minnesota v. Hibbing, 302 Minn. 481, 485, 225 N.W.2d 810 (1975) (‘‘[n]either
an owner nor a condemnor is permitted to gain by any increase or decrease
in value of the land taken due to the impact upon land values generated by
an area redevelopment project for which the tracts included are acquired’’
[internal quotation marks omitted]); Fusegni v. Portsmouth Housing
Authority, 114 N.H. 207, 209, 317 A.2d 580 (1974) (acknowledging rule that
trier of fact is not entitled to consider any increase or enhancement in value
of condemnee’s property due to redevelopment project including condem-
nee’s property); Cleveland v. Carcione, 118 Ohio App. 525, 531, 190 N.E.2d
52 (1963) (‘‘[w]here one entire plan has been adopted for a public improve-
ment, and from the inception a certain tract of land has been actually
included therein, the owner of such tract in a condemnation proceeding
therefor is not entitled to an increased value which may result from the
improvement, where its appropriation is a condition precedent to the exis-
tence of the improvement’’ [internal quotation marks omitted]); see also
United States v. Fuller, 409 U.S. 488, 492, 93 S. Ct. 801, 35 L. Ed. 2d 16
(1973) (‘‘the general principle [is] that the [g]overnment as condemnor may
not be required to compensate a condemnee for elements of value that the
[g]overnment has created, or that it might have destroyed under the exercise
of governmental authority other than the power of eminent domain’’); West
Haven v. Norback, 263 Conn. 155, 170, 819 A.2d 235 (2003) (concluding that
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Second, it is apparent that, throughout these proceed-
ings, the parties and the trial court operated under the
assumption that the doctrine of assemblage applies irre-
spective of whether the properties at issue are under
common ownership. In Towpath, this court recognized
that there is a split of authority among other jurisdic-
tions on this question but found it unnecessary to adopt
a position on that issue because it had not been raised
by the parties.9 Towpath, supra, 255 Conn. 549 n.13
(expressly leaving question open); see also J. Sackman,
supra, § 13.01 [17]. As the parties to the present case
similarly have not raised this issue, we proceed under
the same assumption for purposes of resolving the
issues in this appeal.

Having clarified our focus in the present case, we
now examine the record to ascertain whether, and to
what extent, it supports the trial court’s ultimate find-
ing—that assemblage of the property with the city’s
properties for redevelopment by someone other than
the city was reasonably probable. The city does not
contend that there was no evidence to support this
finding but, rather, seeks to overturn the trial court’s
judgment on the extraordinary standard that review of
the record should engender a ‘‘definite and firm convic-
tion that a mistake has been made.’’ (Internal quotation
marks omitted.) Levine v. Sterling, 300 Conn. 521, 535,

referee’s reference to anticipated development of surrounding properties
was not improper because report did not establish that such development
was necessary to determination of fair market value).

Relatedly, although DoNo’s proposal set forth several conditions for its
approximately $330 million investment, not the least of which were substan-
tial infrastructure investments and financial concessions by the city, the
city did not advance any argument before the trial court relating to these
matters. Therefore, we similarly do not consider those factors.

9 We presume that the trial court and the parties took this approach
because there is Appellate Court case law holding that ‘‘the better rule is
not to impose an absolute requirement of common ownership for parcels
sought to be assembled for valuation purposes.’’ Franc v. Bethel Holding
Co., 73 Conn. App. 114, 122–23, 807 A.2d 519, cert. granted, 262 Conn. 923,
812 A.2d 864 (2002) (appeal withdrawn October 21, 2003).
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16 A.3d 664 (2011); see id. (citing alternative tests for
ascertaining clear error). Specifically, the city contends
that the trial court’s reliance on assemblage rested on
three pillars that mirrored the valuation that this court
deemed improper in Towpath: (1) the assemblage prem-
ise for DoNo’s proposal; (2) Michaud’s analysis; and
(3) the defendants’ purported ability to assemble and
develop the properties. We disagree.

In Towpath, the Department of Transportation exer-
cised the state’s power of eminent domain to take prop-
erties on opposite sides of a river containing the
remnants of stone bridge abutments in order to bridge
the river as part of a project to realign and improve a
highway. See Towpath, supra, 255 Conn. 530–31, 533. In
the defendant property owners’ appeal to the Superior
Court, the property owners’ expert opined that the high-
est and best use of the property was the use proposed
by the state, a bridge site connecting the bridge abut-
ments. Id., 536. The department’s expert opined that
the highest and best use of both properties was their
current use as ‘‘vacant/flood zone land,’’ assigning no
value to the bridge abutments. Id., 537. The trial court
agreed with the valuation proposed by the property
owners. Id., 538.

On appeal to this court, the department contended
that the trial court improperly failed to apply the general
rule ‘‘that the loss to the owner from the taking, and
not its value to the condemnor, is the measure of the
damages to be awarded in eminent domain proceed-
ings.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Id., 539. The
department further contended that, ‘‘because the land
was held by separate owners and because anyone want-
ing to build a bridge would have had to connect the
parcels, the trial court engaged in improper speculation
in awarding compensation for their special adaptability
as a bridge site.’’ Id.

This court concluded that the record did not support
the trial court’s determination that it was reasonably
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probable that someone other than the department
would have assembled these properties in the near
future to construct a bridge thereon. Id., 547–48. The
only evidence regarding that scenario came from the
defendants’ expert, who simply asserted that the abut-
ments could be connected to create either a bike path
and/or a walking path to facilitate recreation, and that
such projects had been undertaken by public or private
entities in other towns. Id., 546. The court concluded
that the record failed to provide an adequate foundation
to support a finding that it was anything other than
‘‘ ‘imaginative or speculative’ that another entity would
have acquired these two parcels in the near future to
pursue a bridge project.’’ Id., 548. The court further
noted that, ‘‘although not a conclusive factor, it is undis-
puted that neither [defendant property owner] had uti-
lized the properties as proposed for their highest and
best use; nor did they submit any plans that they, or
anyone else, had for using the properties in such a way
had the department not condemned the properties for
its highway project.’’ Id., 552.

There are material differences between Towpath and
the present case that compel a different result. We
acknowledge that the defendants’ expert witness, Rich-
ard A. Michaud of the Michaud Company, was not asked
to elaborate on the basis of his opinion that it was
reasonably probable that the market would have
responded to assemble the property for redevelopment
if the city had not taken the property.10 He did testify
unequivocally, however, that the ballpark would have
sparked market interest in developing this property.
This testimony was consistent with the findings in his
report, which examined market conditions existing in
Hartford at the time of the taking (retail, residential,

10 The trial court’s decision attributed this opinion to the ‘‘Michaud analy-
sis.’’ We presume that the court was referring to Michaud’s testimony, which
was the only source of such an opinion. The Michaud report did not express
any opinion as to whether assemblage for redevelopment by someone other
than the city was reasonably probable.
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office) and the effect that the ballpark would have on
those conditions. More important, unlike in Towpath,
other support for this opinion existed in the record, on
which the trial court was entitled to rely. See Branford
v. Santa Barbara, 294 Conn. 785, 799 n.17, 988 A.2d
209 (2010) (‘‘[W]e did not state in [a prior case] that
the evidence testified to by the experts must in isolation
support a trial court’s determination that there is a
reasonable probability that a property would be put to
its highest and best use. On the contrary, the court was
entitled to consider the testimony of [the experts] in
the context of all the evidence presented at trial relevant
to the proposed use of the property.’’ [Emphasis
omitted.]).

It is not purely speculative that someone other than
the city would have used the assembled property for
redevelopment. The DoNo proposal reflected its inten-
tion to effectuate such use. Its proposal expressed the
view that north downtown was ripe for redevelopment.
It bolstered that view with representations that it had
secured letters of interest for the construction of a
grocery store and a brewery in north downtown. The
Mulready report prepared for the defendants confirmed
that the construction of similar types of ballparks in
other cities had sparked redevelopment. The fact that
the trial court found the Mulready valuation too optimis-
tic did not preclude its reliance on some of the subordi-
nate facts on which that valuation was based. See State
v. Andrews, 313 Conn. 266, 313, 96 A.3d 1199 (2014)
(‘‘[t]he trier of fact may credit part of a witness’ testi-
mony and reject other parts’’ [internal quotation
marks omitted]).

The record also does not reflect that it is purely
speculative that only the city would have made such
an assemblage. Yeatman testified that, from the outset
of CBV’s purchase of the property, he had viewed the
property best used as assembled with adjoining proper-
ties for development. He undertook substantial mea-
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sures to eliminate every obstacle to assemblage.
Although CBV’s business plan indicated that the city
was the most logical buyer to make this assemblage
after the city purchased properties surrounding Parcel
A, that plan preceded the disclosure of the plan to
construct the ballpark. Notably, once armed with the
relevant information, Yeatman made clear that, even if
he were to sell Parcel A to the city, he intended to
develop Parcels B and C on his own. In addition, Yeat-
man testified that, if he had been given a fair opportu-
nity, he ‘‘[a]bsolutely’’ would have responded to the
city’s request for proposals for all or part of the plan.
Yeatman’s failure to produce a specific plan for redevel-
opment can reasonably be explained by the short win-
dow of time between the disclosure of the ballpark plan
and the taking of the property, and the failed negotia-
tions during the intervening period.

Moreover, the record lends strong support to the trial
court’s findings that Yeatman had both the expertise
and the means to assemble and develop the property
himself. Over Yeatman’s career as a real estate investor,
he had made investments for clients totaling five and
one-half billion dollars. He had developed large projects
across the country similar in scale and type to DoNo’s
proposal. Yeatman had financed the property with mort-
gages to afford him the option of either selling the
parcels to other developers or contributing the parcels
to a joint venture and being a codeveloper of them. He
testified that he had secured two other investors for
development of the property.

In jurisdictions in which common ownership is not
required, the fact that the city owned the properties
that would need to be assembled with the defendants’
property would not preclude a finding that assemblage
by someone other than the city was reasonably proba-
ble. See Santa Clara v. Ogata, 240 Cal. App. 2d 262,
268, 49 Cal. Rptr. 397 (1966); Regents of the University
of Minnesota v. Hibbing, 302 Minn. 481, 486–87, 225
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N.W.2d 810 (1975); Clarmar Realty Co. v. Redevelop-
ment Authority, 129 Wis. 2d 81, 87–88, 383 N.W.2d 890
(1986); see also United Gas Pipe Line Co. v. Becnel,
417 So. 2d 1198, 1202 (La. App.) (‘‘[t]he fact that the
adjacent land is held in ownership by another party
who may or may not want to sell is not determinative’’
[internal quotation marks omitted]) (quoting State v.
Long, 344 So. 2d 754, 759 [Ala. 1977]), writ denied, 421
So. 2d 1124 (La. 1982). As one court explained: ‘‘Were
we to permit entities planning to acquire a block or
other area of land to do so piecemeal by purchase or
condemnation and thereby adversely affect the value
of the remaining parcels by thwarting any reasonable
possibilities for assemblage, we would be permitting
these entities to acquire land by condemnation without
justly compensating the owners. The fact that a con-
demnor acquires various parcels of land by direct pur-
chase rather than by condemnation should make no
difference because of the [ever present] threat of emi-
nent domain.’’ Regents of the University of Minnesota
v. Hibbing, supra, 486–87; see also Almota Farmers
Elevator & Warehouse Co. v. United States, 409 U.S.
470, 480, 93 S. Ct. 791, 35 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1973) (Powell,
J., concurring) (‘‘[a]part from cases where . . . the
[g]overnment has a property interest antedating but
within the bounds of its present project, it would be
unjust to allow the [g]overnment to use ‘salami tactics’
to reduce the amount of one property owner’s compen-
sation by first acquiring an adjoining piece of property
or another interest in the same property from another
property owner’’ [citation omitted]). The question is
whether, despite the city’s ownership of the adjoining
properties, assemblage by the defendants or a third
party for redevelopment was a reasonable probability
sufficient to affect property values. See, e.g., Santa
Clara v. Ogata, supra, 268; see also Greystone Heights
Redevelopment Corp. v. Nicholas Investment Co., 500
S.W.2d 292, 296–98 (Mo. App. 1973).
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We conclude that the record supports the trial court’s
conclusion that there was such a probability. The city
had no intention of retaining the properties adjoining
the defendants’ property. The city’s properties were not
intended for use by the public (i.e., a bridge, road, or
hospital) but, rather, for commercial and residential
development by a private developer. In its responses
to questions submitted regarding its request for propos-
als to accomplish those development goals, the city
indicated that it would be willing to consider proposals
for smaller redevelopment plans that did not include
the ballpark.

We also cannot ignore the fact that the trial court
supported its adoption of the Michaud assemblage valu-
ation by the per square foot price paid by the city for
the two properties abutting Parcel A. Although this fac-
tor was not an independent ground for the trial court’s
conclusion, it clearly bolstered that conclusion. It is
noteworthy that common sense alone would suggest
that Parcel A would be considerably more valuable than
either of the two properties abutting it because Parcel A
had substantially greater Main Street frontage, directly
across the street from the ballpark site.

Finally, we recognize that, at the time of the taking,
there was no certainty that the ballpark would be con-
structed and, if constructed, whether it would be suffi-
ciently successful to spark the hoped for redevelopment
of north downtown. However, for such integrated use
to be reasonably probable in the absence of condemna-
tion, the possibility of assemblage must only be ‘‘consid-
erable enough to be a practical consideration and
actually to influence prices.’’ McGovern v. New York,
229 U.S. 363, 372, 33 S. Ct. 876, 57 L. Ed. 1228 (1913);
accord Towpath, supra, 255 Conn. 550. The assemblage
need not occur imminently, but only in the ‘‘reasonably
near future . . . .’’11 (Internal quotation marks omit-

11 As one court explained: ‘‘The term ‘in the near future’ or even the term
‘in a reasonable time’ bear[s] no direct relationship to the ultimate subject
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ted.) Branford v. Santa Barbara, supra, 294 Conn. 796.
In light of the present record and the claims raised
below, we do not have a definite and firm conviction
that a mistake has been made in finding that assemblage
for development was reasonably probable even in the
absence of condemnation.

II

The city also claims that the trial court improperly
awarded interest at the rate of 7.22 percent after it
rendered judgment sustaining the defendants’ appeal.
According to the city, because the trial court did not
set an interest rate in the judgment of compensation,
the defendants are entitled only to the default rate of
interest provided in § 37-3c. The city further asserts that
the defendants were not entitled to offer of compromise
interest because, if the default rate of interest properly
had been awarded, the total compensation would not
have exceeded their offer of compromise. In response,
the defendants characterize the award as ‘‘postjudg-
ment’’ interest and contend that it would be absurd to
expect them to litigate the proper rate of interest before
the court has rendered judgment as to the fair value of
the property. We agree with the city.

The following additional procedural history is rele-
vant to this issue. The trial proceedings and all posttrial/

under inquiry, i.e., the market value of the condemnee’s land to the hypotheti-
cal willing buyer. To a literal-minded judge, the term ‘near future’ might
exclude a rezoning that is unlikely for a two or three year period. To an astute
investor, however, ten, fifteen or even twenty years might be considered
‘in the near future,’ or a ‘reasonable time,’ from the standpoint of investment
objectives. One primary objective in a condemnation proceeding is to bring
the values of the real-world marketplace into the courtroom. Yet a rule
which commands a trial judge to exclude evidence of a rezoning which may
take place beyond the judge’s abstract notion of the ‘near future’ or a
‘reasonable time’ seems . . . to frustrate that goal.

‘‘The far better rule . . . emphasizes the clause in the Nichols rule which
states that ‘. . . such likelihood may be considered if the prospect of such
(zoning change) . . . is sufficiently likely as to have an appreciable influ-
ence upon present market value.’ ’’ Moschetti v. Tucson, 9 Ariz. App. 108,
112–13, 449 P.2d 945 (1969), overruled in part on other grounds by Tucson
v. Rickles, 15 Ariz. App. 244, 246, 488 P.2d 180 (1971).



Page 89CONNECTICUT LAW JOURNALSeptember 11, 2018

SEPTEMBER, 2018 225330 Conn. 200

Hartford v. CBV Parking Hartford, LLC

prejudgment filings focused exclusively on the fair mar-
ket appraisals of the property. The defendants did not
raise the issue or present evidence related to the rate
of interest. The trial court rendered judgment in favor
of the defendants on December 5, 2016, finding that the
property was worth $2,830,000 more than the amount
paid by the city at the time of the taking. The trial
court’s decision contained no reference to an award
of interest.

On December 20, 2016, the defendants filed a motion
for an award of interest on the $2,830,000 from the date
of the taking in 2014, through the December 5, 2016
date of judgment, citing General Statutes § 37-3a. The
city opposed the motion on the grounds that (1) interest
recoverable in a condemnation action is governed by
§ 37-3c, not § 37-3a, the latter governing interest in civil
actions generally as damages for the detention of money
after it becomes payable, and (2) pursuant to the terms
of § 37-3c, the defendants were entitled only to the
default rate of interest prescribed therein because the
trial court had failed to set an interest rate in its judg-
ment. At a hearing on the motion, the defendants con-
ceded that § 37-3c is the controlling statute for interest
in condemnation cases. Nonetheless, they argued that
the court could set interest at the 10 percent rate set
forth in § 37-3a as a ‘‘reasonable and just’’ interest rate
under § 37-3c. To avoid an evidentiary hearing, the par-
ties subsequently stipulated that, if the trial court were
to conclude that it could set a ‘‘reasonable and just’’
interest rate after judgment had entered, then such a
rate would be 7.22 percent.

The trial court granted the defendants’ motion for an
award of interest, ordering payment of interest at a rate
of 7.22 percent. As a result, the total compensation
award, including interest, exceeded the defendants’
offer of compromise, and they thereafter successfully
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moved for offer of compromise interest in the amount
of $457,202.22.12

The issue before us raises a question of statutory
construction. As such, we apply plenary review guided
by settled principles of construction aimed at ascertain-
ing legislative intent. See generally General Statutes § 1-
2z; Lieberman v. Aronow, 319 Conn. 748, 756–57, 127
A.3d 970 (2015); In re Tyriq T., 313 Conn. 99, 104–105,
96 A.3d 494 (2014).

The text of § 37-3c provides in relevant part: ‘‘The
judgment of compensation for a taking of property by
eminent domain shall include interest at a rate that is
reasonable and just on the amount of the compensation
awarded. If a court does not set a rate of interest on the
amount of compensation awarded, the interest shall
be calculated as follows . . . .’’ (Emphasis added.) Sec-
tion 37-3c then prescribes calculation methods prem-
ised on the ‘‘weekly average one-year constant maturity
yield of United States Treasury securities . . . for the
calendar week preceding the date of taking,’’ with addi-
tional interest awarded if the period from the date of
the taking exceeds one year. Interest accrues from the
date of the taking to the date of payment. General Stat-
utes § 37-3c.

In our view, the statute unambiguously dictates that,
when the ‘‘judgment of compensation’’ does not include
a rate of interest, as in the present case, the default
rate applies. There is simply no authority allowing the
trial court to adopt another rate of interest. To conclude
otherwise would render the second sentence of § 37-
3c superfluous. See Lopa v. Brinker International, Inc.,
296 Conn. 426, 433, 994 A.2d 1265 (2010) (‘‘[a statute]
must be construed, if possible, such that no clause,
sentence or word shall be superfluous, void or insignifi-

12 Had the default rate applied, the total compensation would not have
exceeded the offer of compromise.
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cant’’ [internal quotation marks omitted]). It appears
that the legislature assumed that tying the default rate
to the yield of variable securities would ensure a suffi-
ciently reasonable and just rate.

The defendants make no argument that the statutory
text reasonably can be read otherwise. Instead, they
make various policy arguments as to why application
of the default rule would yield absurd results. We are
not persuaded.

The defendants’ characterization of the interest at
issue as ‘‘postjudgment interest’’ evidences a fundamen-
tal misunderstanding of the unique nature of the interest
in a condemnation case. Although § 37-3c governs the
rate of interest in condemnation cases, the right to the
award of interest in such cases is constitutional, not
statutory. Leverty & Hurley Co. v. Commissioner of
Transportation, 192 Conn. 377, 380, 471 A.2d 958
(1984). As a consequence, ‘‘[a] landowner, if there is
no fault for delay on his part, is entitled to interest to
the date of payment as a proper element of damages
for the taking.’’ (Emphasis added.) E. & F. Construction
Co. v. Ives, 156 Conn. 416, 420–21, 242 A.2d 768 (1968);
see id., 420 (‘‘[T]he fifth amendment [to the United
States constitution] . . . requires the states to pay just
compensation for private property taken for public use.
. . . [J]ust compensation includes an additional sum
which is an amount sufficient to produce the full equiva-
lent of that value paid contemporaneously with the
taking.’’ [Citations omitted; internal quotation marks
omitted.]).13 Determining all components of compensa-

13 The defendants have never advanced an argument that the default rate
of interest under § 37-3c is constitutionally inadequate. See E. & F. Construc-
tion Co. v. Ives, supra, 156 Conn. 419–20 (‘‘[a] statutory rule for compensation
cannot be provided by the legislature which is less favorable than that
required by constitutional mandate’’). Accordingly, we have no occasion to
consider the constitutional implications of application of the default rule.
See Statewide Grievance Committee v. Whitney, 227 Conn. 829, 846, 633
A.2d 296 (1993) (‘‘general rule against considering claims not raised at trial
also applies to constitutional issues’’).
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tion for the taking at the time of judgment is essential
so that a reviewing court can adequately determine
whether the compensation is just.14 See Laurel, Inc. v.
Commissioner of Transportation, 180 Conn. 11, 46–48,
428 A.2d 789 (1980) (evaluating rate of interest in con-
text of all components of award of compensation).
Therefore, the equitable determination of the rate of
interest must be determined by the trial court at the time
of the judgment of compensation. See, e.g., Leverty &
Hurley Co. v. Commissioner of Transportation, supra,
379 (committee of state trial referees determined that
plaintiff landowner was entitled to additional sum of
$199,400 with ‘‘interest at the legal rate from the date
of taking to the date of payment’’ [internal quotation
marks omitted]).

We are not persuaded by the defendants’ contention
that condemnees must be able to seek interest postjudg-
ment because it would be senseless to require a con-
demnee to present evidence regarding a reasonable and
just rate of interest when the court has not yet found
that the amount provided by the government at the time
of the taking was inadequate.15 The condemnee is free
to seek bifurcation of the proceeding, first resolving
the value of the property and then resolving the matter
of a reasonable rate of interest. See Practice Book § 15-
1; see also Barry v. Quality Steel Products, Inc., 263
Conn. 424, 449, 820 A.2d 258 (2003) (‘‘[b]ifurcation may
be appropriate in cases in which litigation of one issue

14 The defendants’ addition of the amount of interest to the judgment of
compensation as a basis to seek additional interest on the ground that the
judgment exceeded the offer of compromise evidences that such interest
is in fact an element of damages. They cannot have it both ways.

15 For similar reasons, we disagree with the defendants’ assertion that the
award of a rate of interest is akin to an award of attorney’s fees because
the final award cannot be calculated at the time of judgment. Although
the final amount of interest cannot be determined until the judgment of
compensation as to the property value has been determined and payment
has been made, the rate of interest can be determined before the judgment
of compensation is rendered.
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may obviate the need to litigate another issue’’ [internal
quotation marks omitted]). In many cases, the rate of
interest may be determined solely on the basis of docu-
mentary evidence and argument.

We also are not persuaded by the argument that if a
trial court were to inadvertently fail to set a rate of
interest at the time of judgment and thereby trigger the
default statutory rate of interest, a condemnee would
be without recourse. Our rules of practice permit a
party, within four months of a judgment, to move to
open the judgment when there is ‘‘a good and compel-
ling reason for its modification or vacation.’’ (Internal
quotation marks omitted.) Mazziotti v. Allstate Ins. Co.,
240 Conn. 799, 809, 695 A.2d 1010 (1997); see Practice
Book § 17-4 (a). Although the granting of a motion to
open is within the discretion of the trial court; Mazziotti
v. Allstate Ins. Co., supra, 809; inadvertent failure to
determine the reasonable rate of interest after this mat-
ter has properly been presented to the trial court might
well qualify as a good and compelling reason to modify
a judgment.

We conclude that the trial court lacked authority to
set a rate of interest other than the default rate after
it rendered its judgment of compensation. Therefore,
the trial court improperly awarded interest at the rate
of 7.22 percent rather than the default rate dictated
by § 37-3c. As a result, the trial court also improperly
granted the defendants’ motion for offer of compromise
interest. See footnote 12 of this opinion.

The judgment is reversed only as to the rate of interest
and offer of compromise interest and the case is
remanded with direction to award the default rate of
interest under § 37-3c; the judgment is affirmed in all
other respects.

In this opinion the other justices concurred.
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part, from which the defendants appealed to this court.
Reversed in part; new trial.
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Dragone Classic Motorcars, Inc.).

Jeffrey Hellman, for the appellee (plaintiff).

Opinion

LAVINE, J. The plaintiff, Christine Downing, brought
this action to recover money owed for services she is
alleged to have rendered in accordance with an
agreement she had with the defendant Dragone Classic
Motorcars, Inc.1 After a trial to the court, the court
found in favor of the plaintiff on her breach of contract
claim and rendered judgment accordingly. On appeal,
the defendant principally claims that the trial court
based its legal conclusions on a clearly erroneous find-
ing of fact.2 We agree with the defendant and, therefore,
reverse in part the judgment of the trial court and
remand the case for further proceedings.

1 The plaintiff also commenced this action against the named defendant,
Emmanuel Dragone (Emmanuel). The trial court did not find Emmanuel to
be liable under either count of the plaintiff’s two count complaint. The court
rendered judgment only against Dragone Classic Motorcars, Inc. Counsel
for Emmanuel and Dragone Classic Motorcars, Inc., filed an appeal on behalf
of both defendants. Emmanuel, however, did not file a separate brief in this
appeal, and he is not personally aggrieved by the trial court’s judgment. See
General Statutes § 52-263. We therefore refer to Dragone Classic Motorcars,
Inc., as the defendant in this opinion.

2 The defendant also claims that the plaintiff: (1) failed to prove ‘‘mutual
assent or a meeting of the minds, as required to form an express or implied
contract’’; (2) ‘‘failed to prove what her services were reasonably worth’’;
(3) ‘‘harbored a secret intention that [was] not an enforceable contract
provision’’; and (4) needed to present expert testimony to establish ‘‘industry
standards’’ and ‘‘to explain the phrase ‘gross auction proceeds.’ ’’ Because
we conclude that the trial court based its legal conclusions substantially on
a clearly erroneous factual finding, we do not address these additional
claims. Additionally, the defendant withdrew its claim that the trial court
‘‘relied on an exhibit for identification to calculate damages,’’ after conceding
that the exhibit was, in fact, admitted as a full exhibit.
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The trial court’s memorandum of decision and the
record reveal the following relevant facts and proce-
dural history. The plaintiff is an experienced auctioneer.
While working as an auctioneer, she met George Dra-
gone (George). George and his brother, Emmanuel Dra-
gone (Emmanuel), operate the defendant company, a
used and classic car retail business. In the summer of
2011, George told the plaintiff that the defendant was
considering staging its first, ‘‘very upscale’’ auction of
classic cars. On January 4, 2012, Emmanuel sent the
plaintiff an e-mail, ‘‘saying that [he and George] had
decided to hold two auctions in the coming year, and
that they would like her to serve as their auctioneer.’’

On January 26, 2012, George and Emmanuel held an
initial meeting regarding the planned auctions, which
the plaintiff attended. The first auction was set to take
place on May 12, 2012,3 and also would be the plaintiff’s
first auction of classic cars. During the initial meeting,
the parties discussed the plaintiff’s expected compensa-
tion. According to Emmanuel, ‘‘[the plaintiff] told him
. . . that she charged $2500 to conduct an auction,
and that this is what he believed [they] owed her, plus
expenses.’’ The plaintiff testified, however, ‘‘that $2500
is her standard fee for services on auction day,’’ and
because the May auction involved setting up a ‘‘first-
time auction,’’ she would need to do additional work.
Because of this, she informed Emmanuel that she, there-
fore, required greater compensation. The court found
that, on January 26, 2012, ‘‘[the plaintiff] advised
[Emmanuel] . . . that she would require a fee of 1 per-
cent of the auction’s gross [proceeds], with a minimum
of $30,000, which she said was standard when an auc-
tioneer also sets up the auction.’’ She testified that,
following the initial discussion, she drafted a written
contract reflecting ‘‘that their agreement was for 1 per-
cent of gross [auction proceeds], plus expenses.’’

3 The auction was eventually held on May 19, 2012.
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At trial, the court admitted into evidence a document
that the plaintiff claimed set forth the terms of her
agreement with the defendant (document). The docu-
ment, dated February 2, 2012, was titled, ‘‘Agreement
for Christine Downing to serve as Auction Consultant
for Dragone Classic Auctions (DCA) for their inaugural
auction to be held on May 12, 2012.’’ The document
stated that she ‘‘contract[ed] to provide’’ certain ser-
vices in connection with the auction and, specifically,
‘‘provide[d] for compensation of 1 percent of gross auc-
tion proceeds, with a minimum payment of $30,000,
payable one-third by April 1, [2012], and the balance
within ten days after the auction.’’4 The court found
that this document ‘‘[did] not contain signature lines
for either party,’’ and neither party signed it.

The court found that the plaintiff ‘‘admitted that the
document contained some terms that she had not dis-
cussed with [Emmanuel], but also stated that she did
not hear anything from him or anyone else contradicting
the terms. She maintained that they had discussed, and
he had agreed, to compensation of 1 percent of the
[gross] auction sales.’’ Additionally, the court found
that ‘‘[the plaintiff] testified that she tried to hand this
document to [Emmanuel] but was told to put it on his
desk. [Emmanuel] testified that he had the document
on his desk but did not read it until four months after
the auction.’’

The court credited the plaintiff’s testimony that she
devoted substantial time—approximately 420 hours—
to the planning and organization of the May auction.

4 The portion of the document allegedly addressing the plaintiff’s compen-
sation provided as follows: ‘‘As compensation for the above duties, I require
[1 percent] of the gross auction proceeds, with a minimum payment of
$30,000. I would like [one third] of the minimum, $10,000, to be paid by
April 1, 2012. The remaining balance is due within [ten] days of the auction,
which is May 22, 2012. If you wish to make any amendments or additions
to this agreement, please notify me within [ten] days of your desire to do so.’’
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On the basis of the evidence, the court found that ‘‘[the
plaintiff] substantially performed the obligations listed
in [the document], including . . . conducting the auto-
mobile auction itself.’’ It further determined that
‘‘[a]pproximately $4.1 million in gross sales was realized
[during the auction] and subsequent related sales.’’ And
although the plaintiff made demands for payment and
attempted to set up meetings with George and Emman-
uel for six months after the auction, her efforts were
to no avail.5

On June 6, 2013, the plaintiff commenced the underly-
ing action. In a two count complaint directed against
Emmanuel and the defendant; see footnote 1 of this
opinion; she alleged (1) breach of contract6 and (2)
unjust enrichment. In its memorandum of decision filed
on December 7, 2016, the court found against the defen-
dant on count one, and in favor of the defendant on
count two.7 This appeal followed. Additional facts will
be set forth as necessary.

As an initial matter, we address the plaintiff’s claim
that the defendant waived all of its claims on appeal
by failing to include them in the preliminary statement
of issues. The defendant’s preliminary statement pre-
sented the following issues for appeal: ‘‘(1) Did the trial
court err in rendering judgment for the plaintiff?; [and]

5 The court found that, although the defendant’s financial manager pre-
pared a check for approximately $3800, representing a fee of $2500 plus
expenses, the plaintiff did not receive this check, and it was not cashed.

6 In count one of her complaint, the plaintiff alleged that ‘‘[a] written
contract’’ outlined her obligations and compensation according to the par-
ties’ agreement and that she ‘‘performed the duties outlined in the contract.’’
Notwithstanding her allegations, the trial court found that an implied in fact
contract existed under the circumstances. See footnote 8 of this opinion.
On appeal, the defendant does not argue that the court could not make
such a finding due to the plaintiff’s allegations.

7 Because the court rendered judgment for the defendant on the unjust
enrichment count and the plaintiff did not file an appeal or cross appeal,
we do not discuss the second count further in this opinion.
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(2) Such other issues as may become apparent upon a
review of the record.’’ The plaintiff argues that she was
prejudiced by the defendant’s preliminary statement
because (1) she could not timely file a corresponding
preliminary statement of issues and (2) was forced to
pay expedited pricing for portions of the transcript.

Practice Book § 63-4 (a) provides in relevant part:
‘‘Within ten days of filing an appeal, the appellant shall
also file with the appellate clerk the following:

‘‘(1) A preliminary statement of the issues intended
for presentation on appeal. . . .

‘‘Whenever the failure to identify an issue in a prelimi-
nary statement of issues prejudices an opposing party,
the [appellate] court may refuse to consider such
issue.’’

Although we do not condone the defendant’s inade-
quate presentation of the issues for review in its prelimi-
nary statement, we review the merits of its central
claim; see footnote 2 of this opinion; because we con-
clude that the plaintiff has failed to demonstrate that she
was prejudiced. She fully responded to the defendant’s
claims in her appellate brief and presented oral argu-
ment before this court. See, e.g., Mickey v. Mickey, 292
Conn. 597, 603 n.9, 974 A.2d 641 (2009) (plaintiff failed
to raise alternative grounds to affirm in preliminary
statement, but Supreme Court reviewed claims because
defendant was not prejudiced by procedural defect).

We now turn to the dispositive issue raised in this
appeal. The defendant claims that the trial court based
its legal conclusions on a clearly erroneous factual find-
ing. More specifically, the defendant argues that the
trial court imputed to Emmanuel knowledge of the con-
tents of the document submitted into evidence by the
plaintiff, which described her compensation as being 1
percent of the gross auction proceeds, with a minimum
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payment of $30,000. The defendant contends that the
trial court reached this decision on the basis of its
finding that ‘‘[Emmanuel] testified that he had the docu-
ment on his desk but did not read it until four months
after the auction.’’ According to the defendant, this lat-
ter finding is clearly erroneous and was the ‘‘linchpin’’
of the trial court’s reasoning. We agree.

In its memorandum of decision, the court found that
an implied in fact contract existed between the parties.8

According to the court, ‘‘[t]he fact that [Emmanuel]
claim[ed] that he did not read the contract until several
months after the auction [was] no defense to [the plain-
tiff’s] claim for compensation.’’ The court determined
that ‘‘the evidence showed that [the plaintiff] gave
[Emmanuel] the contract, which specified compensa-
tion of 1 percent of gross proceeds of the auction, with
a minimum payment of $30,000. There [was] no question
that the [defendant] knew that [the plaintiff] expected
to be paid for her services and that she, in fact, did

8 The court ‘‘[found] that the defendants breached an implied contract’’
but did not specify whether it was one implied in fact or one implied in
law. ‘‘The term ‘implied contract’ . . . often leads to confusion because it
can refer to an implied in fact contract or to an implied in law contract.’’
Vertex, Inc. v. Waterbury, 278 Conn. 557, 573, 898 A.2d 178 (2006).

The plaintiff argues in her appellate brief, and conceded during oral argu-
ment before this court, that ‘‘the court found the existence of an implied
in fact contract.’’ As noted by our Supreme Court, ‘‘an implied in law contract
is another name for a claim for unjust enrichment.’’ Vertex, Inc. v. Waterbury,
supra, 278 Conn. 574. The trial court determined that the plaintiff had failed
to prove the value of her services to the defendants and, therefore, could
not prevail on her unjust enrichment claim, and that ‘‘such an award would
be duplicative and inconsistent with an award for breach of contract and
would not be allowed.’’ See, e.g., Connecticut Light & Power Co. v. Proctor,
158 Conn. App. 248, 251 n.7, 118 A.3d 702 (2015) (‘‘[a] court . . . cannot
grant relief on a theory of unjust enrichment unless the court first finds
that there was no contract between the parties’’), aff’d, 324 Conn. 245, 152
A.3d 470 (2016). Because ‘‘an implied in law contract is another name for
a claim for unjust enrichment’’; Vertex, Inc. v. Waterbury, supra, 574; and
the court found against the plaintiff on her claim for unjust enrichment, we,
too, understand the court to have found that an implied in fact contract
existed under the circumstances.
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provide substantial services in preparation for, and in
the conduct of, the classic car auction.’’ It reasoned
that ‘‘[Emmanuel] [was] charged with knowledge of the
contents of the contract’’ because the plaintiff gave it
to him, and he simply did not read it. The court thus
concluded that the plaintiff was ‘‘entitled to receive
compensation of 1 percent of the gross auction pro-
ceeds,’’ which it found to be $41,000.

We now set forth the relevant legal principles govern-
ing our review. ‘‘[W]here the factual basis of the [trial]
court’s decision is challenged we must determine
whether the facts set out in the memorandum of deci-
sion are supported by the evidence or whether, in light
of the evidence and the pleadings in the whole record,
those facts are clearly erroneous.’’ (Internal quotation
marks omitted.) LeBlanc v. New England Raceway,
LLC, 116 Conn. App. 267, 280, 976 A.2d 750 (2009). ‘‘A
finding of fact is clearly erroneous when there is no
evidence in the record to support it . . . or when
although there is evidence to support it, the reviewing
court on the entire evidence is left with the definite
and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed.
. . . Because it is the trial court’s function to weigh
the evidence and determine credibility, we give great
deference to its findings. . . . In reviewing factual find-
ings, [w]e do not examine the record to determine
whether the [court] could have reached a conclusion
other than the one reached. . . . Instead, we make
every reasonable presumption . . . in favor of the trial
court’s ruling.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.)
Connecticut Light & Power Co. v. Proctor, 324 Conn.
245, 258–59, 152 A.3d 470 (2016). ‘‘It is well settled that
the existence of an implied in fact contract is a question
of fact for the trier.’’ Id., 258.

‘‘Where . . . some of the facts found [by the trial
court] are clearly erroneous and others are supported
by the evidence, we must examine the clearly erroneous
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findings to see whether they were harmless, not only
in isolation, but also taken as a whole. . . . If, when
taken as a whole, they undermine appellate confidence
in the court’s fact finding process, a new hearing is
required.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.) LeBlanc
v. New England Raceway, LLC, supra, 116 Conn. App.
281; see also DiNapoli v. Doudera, 28 Conn. App. 108,
112, 609 A.2d 1061 (1992).

The defendant concedes that ‘‘the plaintiff performed
work as an auctioneer for the defendant [and] that the
plaintiff performed some work in helping to organize
and prepare for the [car] auction.’’ According to the
defendant, the only disagreement between the parties
‘‘concerns the amount of the plaintiff’s compensation.’’

We thoroughly have reviewed the record and con-
clude that the trial court’s decision rests on a clearly
erroneous factual finding. There is no evidence from
which the trial court could have found that ‘‘[Emman-
uel] testified that he had the document on his desk but
did not read it until four months after the auction.’’9

(Emphasis added.) The plaintiff, in fact, conceded dur-
ing oral argument before this court that this latter find-
ing was an ‘‘error.’’ The trial court relied on this factual

9 During direct examination, Emmanuel testified in relevant part as
follows:

‘‘[The Plaintiff’s Counsel]: Showing you what’s been marked exhibit 1 [the
document]. Do you recognize it?

‘‘[Emmanuel]: Yes.
‘‘[The Plaintiff’s Counsel]: Okay. And when did you first receive exhibit 1?
‘‘[Emmanuel]: It was placed on my desk four months after the auction.
‘‘[The Plaintiff’s Counsel]: Okay. You’re claiming you did not receive it

on or about February 2, 2012?
‘‘[Emmanuel]: Absolutely not.
‘‘[The Plaintiff’s Counsel]: Okay. But you did receive it afterwards?
‘‘[Emmanuel]: Four months after the auction.

* * *
‘‘[The Plaintiff’s Counsel]: [Emmanuel], how did you receive this

document?
‘‘[Emmanuel]: It was placed on my desk four months after the auction;

it was just laying on my desk in Westport.
‘‘[The Plaintiff’s Counsel]: Do you know who placed it on your desk?
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finding when it found in favor of the plaintiff on her
breach of contract claim.10 Significantly, the court rea-
soned that ‘‘[Emmanuel] [was] charged with knowledge
of the contents of the contract,’’ specifically, the portion
dealing with the alleged compensation provision,
despite ‘‘[his claim] that he did not read the contract
until several months after the auction . . . .’’ The
court’s memorandum of decision, therefore, demon-
strates that, in imputing the terms of the document to
the defendant, the court relied on what it thought to
be Emmanuel’s own testimony. More specifically, the
court relied on ‘‘[Emmanuel’s claim] that he did not
read the contract until several months after the auction
. . . .’’11 At trial, Emmanuel did not so testify. Accord-
ingly, we conclude that the trial court’s reasoning sub-
stantially relied on a clearly erroneous factual finding,

‘‘[Emmanuel]: It either had to be [the plaintiff] or David Bate [a former
employee]. There was no one else that had any knowledge of this.’’

10 It is significant that, under the present circumstances, the trial court
did not rely on a credibility determination. See, e.g., Stewart v. King, 121
Conn. App. 64, 74 n.5, 994 A.2d 308 (2010) (court made no credibility determi-
nations, but ruling on claim ‘‘include[d] implicit findings that it resolved
any credibility determinations and issues involving the testimony in a manner
that supports its ruling’’); LeBlanc v. New England Raceway, LLC, supra,
116 Conn. App. 274 (‘‘[a]s a reviewing court [w]e must defer to the trier of
fact’s assessment of the credibility of the witnesses’’ [internal quotation
marks omitted]). Rather, the trial court’s memorandum of decision demon-
strates that its legal reasoning was substantially based on specific testimony
that it attributed to Emmanuel that did not, in fact, take place at trial.

11 Our conclusion is further supported by statements made by the trial
court during oral argument. In one instance, the following colloquy occurred
between the court and counsel for the plaintiff:

‘‘[The Plaintiff’s Counsel]: Let’s also look a little bit at some of the things
that are undisputed. [Emmanuel] admits that he received exhibit 1 [the
document]. He said it was on his desk. [The plaintiff] said she left it on his
desk. The only thing they disagree about is when it was left on his desk.
She says it was left on his desk in February, [2012], long before the auction.
He says it was left on his desk after the auction, months after his—

‘‘The Court: I don’t think so. I understood [Emmanuel] as like he saw it
after the auction.

‘‘[The Plaintiff’s Counsel]: I think that’s correct, Your Honor. I think you’re
correct.’’ (Emphasis added.)

Later on, when counsel for the plaintiff explained why the defendant
breached a contract between the parties, the court also stated in relevant
part: ‘‘And I think it’s important that [Emmanuel] did acknowledge that he
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requiring a new trial. See, e.g., DiNapoli v. Doudera,
supra, 28 Conn. App. 112–13 (new hearing in damages
required where trial court ‘‘substantially based’’ its
award on clearly erroneous factual findings); cf.
LeBlanc v. New England Raceway, LLC, supra, 116
Conn. App. 281–82 (even if factual finding was incor-
rect, it was harmless because this court ‘‘[was] not
persuaded that [the] finding formed the basis of the
[trial] court’s judgment’’).12

In reaching its decision, the trial court relied on this
court’s decision in Sandella v. Dick Corp., 53 Conn.
App. 213, 729 A.2d 813, cert. denied, 249 Conn. 926, 733
A.2d 849 (1999). In Sandella, this court held that the
jury reasonably could have inferred that an ‘‘implied
contract’’ existed between the parties on the basis of
a letter in the cross claim defendant’s possession that
it neither signed nor returned. See id., 216–17, 219–22.
This court noted that the jury reasonably could have
determined that the cross claim defendant’s ‘‘failure to
decline the conditions [set forth in the letter] was an
implied acceptance of its conditions.’’ Id., 220. Sandella
did not involve a situation where the trier of fact relied
on a clearly erroneous factual finding, however, and is,
therefore, distinguishable.

The judgment is reversed in part and the case is
remanded for a new trial only as to count one of the
plaintiff’s complaint. The judgment is affirmed in all
other respects.

In this opinion the other judges concurred.

had the contract somewhere on his desk or somewhere. He hasn’t said,
[I’ve] never seen this before.’’ (Emphasis added.)

12 The plaintiff argues that we may affirm the trial court’s judgment on
the alternative ground that she sufficiently proved a breach of an express
contract. The trial court did not find that an express contract existed. As
an appellate court, we may not find facts. See, e.g., Cruz v. Visual Percep-
tions, LLC, 311 Conn. 93, 106, 84 A.3d 828 (2014) (‘‘[i]t is elementary that
neither [the Supreme Court] nor the Appellate Court can find facts in the
first instance’’); Positive Impact Corp. v. Indotronix International Corp.,
96 Conn. App. 361, 364, 900 A.2d 535 (existence of contract is question of
fact), cert. denied, 280 Conn. 915, 908 A.2d 538 (2006).
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STATE OF CONNECTICUT v. LAURENTIU
LUGOJANU
(AC 40691)
(AC 40824)

Alvord, Sheldon and Norcott, Js.

Syllabus

The defendant, who had been convicted of conspiracy to commit home
invasion following a plea of guilty, appealed to this court from the
trial court’s dismissal of his motion to correct an illegal sentence. The
defendant claimed that his sentence of twenty years of incarceration
followed by a five year term of probation effectively constituted a twenty-
five year sentence, which exceeded the twenty year limit for a class B
felony authorized by statute (§ 53a-35a). After the trial court rendered
judgment dismissing the motion in its entirety for lack of subject matter
jurisdiction, the defendant appealed to this court, which consolidated
the appeal from that judgment from the defendant’s separate appeal
from certain postjudgment rulings. Held:

1. The defendant’s claim that the trial court erred in not granting his motion
to correct because his sentence exceeded the statutory limit for a class
B felony was unavailing: pursuant to the rule of practice (§ 43-22) con-
cerning motions to correct, the trial court has limited jurisdiction to
correct an illegal sentence at any time if the sentence exceeds the
relevant statutory maximum limits, and although the defendant’s claim
that his sentence exceeded the statutory limit failed on its merits, as
his sentence did not violate the statute (§ 53a-28 [b] [5]) that specifies
that a defendant can be sentenced to a term of imprisonment but have
that sentence suspended while he serves a period of probation, nor did
it violate the requirement in § 53a-35a that the sentence of imprisonment
for a class B felony shall be not more than twenty years, or the require-
ment in the statute pertaining to terms of probation (§ 53a-29 [d]) that
the period of probation for a class B felony shall not be more than
five years, the defendant’s claim fell within the trial court’s limited
jurisdiction under the rule of practice governing motions to correct;
accordingly, the trial court should have denied, rather than dismissed,
the motion to correct as to that claim.

2. The trial court properly dismissed the defendant’s motion to correct an
illegal sentence as to his remaining claims; the defendant’s claim that
there was a disparity between his sentence and the sentences received
by the other participants in the underlying crime did not fall within the
limited purview of the rule of practice (§ 43-22) governing motions to
correct an illegal sentence, and the events underlying the defendant’s
claim that the prosecutor improperly increased the length of his recom-
mended sentence after the defendant rejected a prior plea offer and



Page 15ACONNECTICUT LAW JOURNALSeptember 11, 2018

184 Conn. App. 576 SEPTEMBER, 2018 577

State v. Lugojanu

elected a jury trial occurred during plea negotiations, not at the sentenc-
ing stage, and did not implicate the court’s jurisdiction under § 43-22.

Argued May 24—officially released September 11, 2018

Procedural History

Substitute information charging the defendant with
the crime of conspiracy to commit home invasion,
brought to the Superior Court in the judicial district of
New Haven, where the defendant was presented to the
court, Fasano, J., on a plea of guilty; judgment of guilty
in accordance with the plea; thereafter, the court, Clif-
ford, J., dismissed the defendant’s motion to correct
an illegal sentence, and the defendant appealed to this
court; subsequently, the court, Clifford, J., denied, inter
alia, the defendant’s motion for reconsideration, and
the defendant filed a separate appeal to this court; there-
after, this court consolidated the appeals. Improper
form of judgment; judgment directed.

Laurentiu Lugojanu, self-represented, the appel-
lant (defendant).

Timothy F. Costello, assistant state’s attorney, with
whom, on the brief, were Patrick J. Griffin, state’s
attorney, and Stacey M. Miranda, senior assistant
state’s attorney, for the appellee (state).

Opinion

PER CURIAM. The self-represented defendant,
Laurentiu Lugojanu, appeals from the judgment of the
trial court dismissing his motion to correct an illegal
sentence under Practice Book § 43-22.1 The defendant
claims that the trial court erred in not granting his
motion because (1) his sentence exceeded the statutory
limit for a class B felony, (2) there was a disparity

1 Practice Book § 43-22 provides: ‘‘The judicial authority may at any time
correct an illegal sentence or other illegal disposition, or it may correct a
sentence imposed in an illegal manner or any other disposition made in an
illegal manner.’’
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between his sentence and the sentences received by
the other participants in the underlying crime, and (3)
the prosecutor vindictively increased the length of the
defendant’s recommended sentence under the plea deal
offered to him after the defendant invoked his right to
a jury trial.2 The state argues that the trial court properly
dismissed the defendant’s second and third claims in
support of his motion to correct because it lacked sub-
ject matter jurisdiction over those claims pursuant to
§ 43-22. As for the defendant’s first claim in support of
his motion to correct, by contrast, the state contends
that that claim should have been denied on the merits
rather than dismissed because, although the claim was
unfounded in law or in fact, it fell within the court’s
limited subject matter jurisdiction under § 43-22. We
agree with the state and, thus, reverse the court’s judg-
ment of dismissal with respect to the defendant’s first
claim only and remand this case with direction to render
judgment denying that claim on the merits. The court’s
judgment of dismissal is affirmed in all other respects.

The following facts are relevant to this appeal. On
or about May 7, 2009, the defendant and two other
individuals were arrested and charged, inter alia, with
home invasion in violation of General Statutes § 53a-
100aa. Subsequently, the defendant and the others were
offered plea deals involving recommended sentences
of ten years incarceration in exchange for guilty pleas
to conspiracy to commit home invasion in violation of
General Statutes §§ 53a-48 and 53a-100aa. Although the
other two individuals accepted such plea deals, the
defendant rejected the state’s offer and exercised his
right to proceed to jury trial.

After unsuccessfully prosecuting a motion to sup-
press identification evidence, the defendant reinitiated
plea negotiations with the state. The prosecutor

2 The defendant filed two appeals, which this court ordered consolidated.
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responded by offering the defendant a revised plea deal
involving a recommended sentence of twenty years
incarceration, execution suspended after twelve years,
followed by five years of probation in exchange for his
plea of guilty to conspiracy to commit home invasion.
On January 31, 2012, the defendant accepted this offer
and pleaded guilty under the Alford doctrine.3

Notwithstanding this agreement, the defendant, at
sentencing on April 5, 2012, asked the court to reinstate
the original plea deal that he initially had been offered,
but which he had rejected, for a recommended sentence
of ten years incarceration in exchange for his guilty
plea to conspiracy to commit home invasion. The court
responded by noting that the defendant had rejected
that offer and had ‘‘substantially [gone] through the
trial.’’ The court then imposed sentence as agreed to in
the second plea deal, which the defendant had accepted.
The defendant subsequently filed a motion to correct
an illegal sentence under Practice Book § 43-22. The
motion was dismissed for lack of subject matter juris-
diction. This appeal followed.

Because the trial court dismissed the defendant’s
claims for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, we first
set forth general legal principles and our standard of
review as to jurisdiction. ‘‘[T]he jurisdiction of the sen-
tencing court terminates once a defendant’s sentence
has begun, and, therefore, that court may no longer
take any action affecting a defendant’s sentence unless
it expressly has been authorized to act.’’ (Internal quota-
tion marks omitted.) State v. Tabone, 279 Conn. 527,
533, 902 A.2d 1058 (2006). Practice Book § 43-22 pro-
vides such authority, stating that ‘‘[t]he judicial author-
ity may at any time correct an illegal sentence . . . or
it may correct a sentence imposed in an illegal manner

3 North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 37, 91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L. Ed. 2d
162 (1970).
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. . . .’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.) State v.
Tabone, supra, 279 Conn. 534. ‘‘An illegal sentence is
essentially one [that] either exceeds the relevant statu-
tory maximum limits, violates a defendant’s right
against double jeopardy, is ambiguous, or is internally
contradictory.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Id.
‘‘[I]f the defendant cannot demonstrate that his motion
to correct falls within the purview of § 43-22, the court
lacks jurisdiction to entertain it. . . . [I]n order for the
court to have jurisdiction over a motion to correct an
illegal sentence after the sentence has been executed,
the sentencing proceeding [itself] . . . must be the
subject of the attack.’’ (Emphasis omitted; internal quo-
tation marks omitted.) State v. Jason B., 176 Conn. App.
236, 243, 170 A.3d 139 (2017). ‘‘Our determination of
whether a motion to correct falls within the scope of
Practice Book § 43-22 is a question of law and, thus our
review is plenary.’’ State v. Osuch, 124 Conn. App. 572,
578–79, 5 A.3d 976, cert. denied, 299 Conn. 918, 10 A.3d
1052 (2010).

The defendant first claims that his sentence was ille-
gal because it exceeded the statutory limit for a class B
felony. Specifically, the defendant claims that a twenty
year sentence of imprisonment followed by a five year
term of probation effectively constitutes a twenty-five
year sentence thus exceeds the twenty year limit for a
class B felony authorized by General Statutes § 53a-35a
(6). We disagree.

‘‘Absent a statutory prohibition, a term of imprison-
ment with the execution of such sentence of imprison-
ment suspended after a period set by the court and a
period of probation is an authorized sentence.’’ State
v. Dupree, 196 Conn. 655, 660–61, 495 A.2d 691, cert.
denied, 474 U.S. 951, 106 S. Ct. 318, 88 L. Ed. 2d 301
(1985). The plain language of the statute concerning
authorized sentences, General Statutes § 53a-28 (b) (5),
specifies that a defendant can be sentenced to a term
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of imprisonment, but have that sentence suspended
while he serves a period of probation.4 In the present
case, the defendant’s maximum exposure to imprison-
ment under such a sentence is twenty, not twenty-five,
years. Moreover, § 53a-35a expressly states that ‘‘the
sentence of imprisonment shall be a definite sentence
and . . . the term shall be . . . (1) [f]or a class B fel-
ony other than manslaughter in the first degree with a
firearm . . . a term not less than one year nor more
than twenty years . . . .’’ (Emphasis added.) Further-
more, the statute concerning periods of probation, Gen-
eral Statutes § 53a-29 (d), expressly states that ‘‘the
period of probation . . . (1) [f]or a class B felony, [shall
be] not more than five years.’’ (Emphasis added.) The
defendant’s sentence does not violate any of these pro-
visions. We agree with the state, however, that the
defendant’s claim that his sentence exceeds the statu-
tory maximum falls within the court’s narrow jurisdic-
tion to correct an illegal sentence under Practice Book
§ 43-22. See State v. Tabone, supra, 279 Conn. 533–34.
An appellate court, however, ‘‘can sustain a right deci-
sion although it may have been placed on a wrong
ground.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.) State v.
Osuch, supra, 124 Conn. 583. The form of the trial
court’s judgment is improper as the court should have
denied on the merits, rather than dismissed, this part
of the defendant’s motion.

The defendant’s remaining claims were properly dis-
missed for lack of jurisdiction. The defendant asserts
that the disparity between his sentence and those of
the other individuals involved in the underlying crime
brings his claim within the purview of Practice Book

4 General Statutes § 53a-28 (b) provides in relevant part: ‘‘Except as pro-
vided in section 53a-46a, when a person is convicted of an offense, the court
shall impose one of the following sentences . . . (5) a term of imprison-
ment, with the execution of such sentence of imprisonment suspended,
entirely or after a period set by the court, and a period of probation or a
period of conditional discharge . . . .’’
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§ 43-22. As previously noted, jurisdiction under § 43-22
is narrow, applying only to limited claims. See State v.
Tabone, supra, 279 Conn. 534. ‘‘Connecticut courts have
considered four categories of claims pursuant to [Prac-
tice Book] § 43-22. The first category has addressed
whether the sentence was within the permissible range
for the crimes charged. . . . The second category has
considered violations of the prohibition against double
jeopardy. . . . The third category has involved claims
pertaining to the computation of the length of the sen-
tence and the question of consecutive or concurrent
prison time. . . . The fourth category has involved
questions as to which sentencing statute was applica-
ble. . . . [I]f a defendant’s claim falls within one of
these four categories the trial court has jurisdiction to
modify a sentence after it has commenced. . . . If the
claim is not within one of the categories, then the court
must dismiss the claim for a lack of jurisdiction and
not consider its merits.’’ (Internal quotation marks omit-
ted.) State v. Robles, 169 Conn. App. 127, 133, 150 A.3d
687 (2016), cert. denied, 324 Conn. 906, 152 A.3d 544
(2017); see also State v. Mollo, 63 Conn. App. 487, 490,
776 A.2d 1176 (‘‘a sentence imposed within statutory
limits is generally not subject to review’’), cert. denied,
257 Conn. 904, 777 A.2d 194 (2001). The defendant’s
claim regarding the disparity of sentences does not fall
within the narrow scope of the trial court’s jurisdiction,
and thus the court properly dismissed that claim.

The defendant finally claims that the prosecutor
acted vindictively in increasing his plea offer after the
defendant exercised his right to a jury trial. The defen-
dant notes that ‘‘as a direct result of [his] trial contem-
plation, the prosecution doubled [his] offer from [ten]
years, to [twenty] years with [five] years [of] probation.’’
The court’s jurisdiction under Practice Book § 43-22 is
not implicated because these events occurred during
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plea negotiations, not the sentencing stage of his crimi-
nal prosecution. See State v. Robles, supra, 169 Conn.
App. 133; see also State v. Francis 322 Conn. 247, 264,
140 A.3d 927 (2016) (‘‘[i]n light of the limited and
straightforward nature of the claims that may be raised
in a motion to correct, the potential merits of such a
motion frequently will be apparent to the court . . .
from a simple review of the sentencing record’’).
Accordingly, the trial court properly dismissed this
claim.

The form of the judgment is improper, the judgment
dismissing the motion to correct an illegal sentence is
reversed in part only as to the defendant’s claim that
his sentence exceeded the statutory maximum limit for
a class B felony, and the case is remanded with direction
to render judgment denying the motion as to that claim;
the judgment is affirmed in all other respects.

SANDRA M. HIRSCH, TRUSTEE v.
WILLIAM S. WOERMER

(AC 40653)

Keller, Elgo and Beach, Js.

Syllabus

The plaintiff trustee sought to foreclose a mortgage on certain real property
owned by the defendant. In response, the defendant filed three special
defenses, including a claim of unconscionability of the initial loan. The
trial court granted the plaintiff’s motion to strike the special defenses
and, thereafter, rendered judgment in the plaintiff’s favor. The defendant
subsequently filed motions to open the judgment and to amend his
answer with an additional special defense of a violation of the Connecti-
cut Abusive Home Loan Lending Practices Act (§ 36a-746 et seq.), which
the trial court denied. The court rendered a judgment of foreclosure by
sale, from which the defendant appealed to this court. Held:

1. The trial court properly granted the plaintiff’s motion to strike the defen-
dant’s special defense of unconscionability; the defendant failed to suffi-
ciently plead facts to support his special defense on procedural grounds
in that he did not allege facts constituting unfair surprise that related
to the making, validity, or enforcement of the mortgage or note, and
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his assertion that the loan was predatory because of its term of one
year with an interest rate of 15 percent, and points of 5 percent, alone,
was not sufficient to render the contract unenforceable on the ground
of substantive unconscionability, as claims of an unconscionable interest
rate are not enough to sustain the special defense without facts related
to the defendant’s financial circumstances, the type of property for
which the loan would be utilized, whether the property was associated
with a second mortgage, or the income-producing capacity of the prop-
erty, which the defendant failed to provide.

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied the defendant’s
motion to open the judgment; that court was not required to open the
judgment to consider a claim not previously raised, the proposed special
defense alleged for the first time the violation of a statute, which the
defendant did not raise until two months after the judgment was ren-
dered against him, he did not offer any authority to support his claim
that the court abused its discretion in denying his motion to open but
merely argued that his proposed amended answer and special defenses
included allegations that the loan was unconscionable because it alleg-
edly violated certain statutes, and there was no indication that such a
claim was unavailable to him prior to when judgment was rendered or
that new evidence was discovered, nor did the defendant offer any
evidence that there was a good and compelling reason for the modifica-
tion to his special defenses after judgment was rendered.

Argued May 17—officially released September 11, 2018

Procedural History

Action to foreclose a mortgage on certain real prop-
erty owned by the defendant, and for other relief,
brought to the Superior Court in the judicial district of
New Haven at Meriden, where the court, Hon. John
F. Cronan, judge trial referee, granted the plaintiff’s
motion to strike the defendant’s special defenses; there-
after, the court granted the plaintiff’s motion for judg-
ment and rendered judgment in part thereon;
subsequently, the court denied the defendant’s motion
to open the judgment; thereafter, the court denied the
defendant’s motion to amend; subsequently, the court
granted the plaintiff’s motion for judgment of foreclo-
sure by sale and rendered judgment thereon, from
which the defendant appealed to this court; thereafter,
the court denied the defendant’s motion for articula-
tion. Affirmed.
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Robert M. Singer, for the appellant (defendant).

Harry Hirsch, for the appellee (plaintiff).

Opinion

ELGO, J. The defendant, William S. Woermer, appeals
from the judgment of foreclosure by sale rendered by
the trial court in favor of the plaintiff, Sandra M. Hirsch,
Trustee. On appeal, the defendant claims that the court
improperly (1) granted the plaintiff’s motion to strike
his special defense of unconscionability and (2) denied
his motion to open. We affirm the judgment of the
trial court.

The following facts and procedural history are rele-
vant to our resolution of this appeal. The plaintiff holds
a note from the defendant, which is now in default, for
the original principal amount of $73,200 secured by a
mortgage on real property located in Branford. The
mortgage was dated March 31, 2015, and recorded on
the Branford land records.

The plaintiff initiated this foreclosure action on May
3, 2016. On October 5, 2016, the defendant filed an
answer and three special defenses on the basis of lack
of standing, invalid mortgage, and unconscionability.
On October 11, 2016, the plaintiff filed an amended
complaint, and subsequently moved to strike the defen-
dant’s three special defenses on December 15, 2016. On
January 30, 2017, the defendant filed an objection.

On January 31, 2017, the court granted the plaintiff’s
motion to strike. In striking the special defense of
unconscionability, the court stated that ‘‘the defen-
dant’s claim that the initial loan was ‘outrageous and
unconscionable’ is without any statutory or case law
basis. There is nothing in the record that indicates that
the defendant was tricked or coerced into entering the
original instrument.’’
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The plaintiff filed a motion for judgment on the plead-
ings1 in March, 2017. In support of the motion, the plain-
tiff argued that the defendant admitted liability on the
complaint and had no valid special defense. On March
20, 2017, the court granted the plaintiff’s motion and
rendered judgment in her favor.

On May 15, 2017, the defendant filed a motion to
open the judgment.2 In addition, the defendant filed
a motion for permission to amend on May 15, 2017.3

Specifically, the defendant requested permission to file
a proposed amended special defense and a counter-
claim alleging a violation of General Statutes § 36a-746
et seq., the Connecticut Abusive Home Loan Lending
Practices Act (act). In response, the plaintiff filed sepa-
rate objections on May 25, 2017, to the defendant’s
motion to open and the motion to amend. At the hearing

1 Our Practice Book does not provide for a motion for judgment on the
pleadings. Our Supreme Court, however, recognized the motion in
DelVecchio v. DelVecchio, 146 Conn. 188, 191, 148 A.2d 554 (1959). See Sewer
Commission v. Norton, 164 Conn. 2, 5, 316 A.2d 775 (1972); Boucher Agency,
Inc. v. Zimmer, 160 Conn. 404, 408–409, 279 A.2d 540 (1971).

2 In his motion to open, the defendant argued as follows: ‘‘The defendant
herein moves that the judgment on the pleadings be opened. The defendant
is filing herewith the following:

‘‘Motion for Order to Amend Special Defense & Counterclaim
‘‘The subject mortgage was in violation of An Act Concerning Abuse Home

Lending Practices, [General Statutes § 36a-746 et seq.]. Attached hereto is
the following:

‘‘a. U.S. Department of Treasury Yield Curve Rate—showing Treasury
Bond Rate of 2.61 [percent] on March 31, 2016;

‘‘b. FreddieMac.com [thirty] year fixed rate mortgage—rate in April
3.61 [percent];

‘‘c. [Office of Legislative Research] Research Report 2002-R-0855 entitled
‘Predatory Lending Laws’;

d. Relevant Portions of Chapter 669 of the Connecticut General Statutes,
including Connecticut Abusive Home Loan Lending Practices, [§ 36a-746
et seq.].’’

3 The defendant’s motion to amend stated as follows: ‘‘Pursuant to Practice
Book [§] 10-60, the [defendant], through his attorney, hereby moves that he
be allowed to add a special defense and file a counterclaim. The mortgage
is in violation of [General Statutes §] 36a-746, and the statute provides for
a defense and counterclaim per [General Statutes §] 36a-760i.’’
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on the motion to open and motion to amend, the plaintiff
argued that the act does not provide a private right
of action; rather the act describes activities that are
regulated by the Commissioner of Banking. Following
the hearing, the court denied both motions on May 31,
2017. Thereafter, on June 2, 2017, the plaintiff filed a
motion for judgment of foreclosure by sale, and on July
3, 2017, the court rendered a judgment of foreclosure
by sale, determining the amount of debt and setting the
sale date as September 2, 2017. This appeal followed.

I

The defendant first claims that the court improperly
granted the plaintiff’s motion to strike his special
defense of unconscionability. We disagree.

In his answer, the defendant claimed that the mort-
gage and note are unconscionable for one or more of
the following reasons: ‘‘(a) the attorney performing the
closing is the same attorney foreclosing on the property;
(b) the attorney performing the closing failed to provide
a retainer agreement; (c) the loan is predatory for one
or more of the following reasons: (1) the term is for
just over [one] year, (2) the interest rate is 15 [percent],
and (3) the points charged were in excess of 5
[percent].’’

At the outset, we set forth our well-established stan-
dard of review. ‘‘Because a motion to strike challenges
the legal sufficiency of a pleading and, consequently,
requires no factual findings by the trial court, our review
of the court’s ruling on [a motion to strike] is plenary.
. . . A party wanting to contest the legal sufficiency of
a special defense may do so by filing a motion to strike.
The purpose of a special defense is to plead facts that
are consistent with the allegations of the complaint
but demonstrate, nonetheless, that the plaintiff has no
cause of action.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.)
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TD Bank, N.A. v. M.J. Holdings, LLC, 143 Conn. App.
322, 326, 71 A.3d 541 (2013).

‘‘A motion to strike does not admit legal conclusions.
. . . Conclusions of law, absent sufficient alleged facts
to support them, are subject to a motion to strike. The
trial court may not seek beyond the complaint for facts
not alleged, or necessarily implied . . . . Historically,
defenses to a foreclosure action have been limited to
payment, discharge, release or satisfaction . . . or, if
there had never been a valid lien. . . . A valid special
defense at law to a foreclosure proceeding must be
legally sufficient and address the making, validity or
enforcement of the mortgage, the note, or both. . . .
Where the plaintiff’s conduct is inequitable, a court may
withhold foreclosure on equitable considerations and
principles. . . . [O]ur courts have permitted several
equitable defenses to a foreclosure action. [I]f the mort-
gagor is prevented by accident, mistake or fraud, from
fulfilling a condition of the mortgage, foreclosure can-
not be had . . . .’’ (Citation omitted; internal quotation
marks omitted.) U.S. Bank National Assn. v. Blowers,
177 Conn. App. 622, 629, 172 A.3d 837 (2017), cert.
granted, 328 Conn. 904, 177 A.3d 1160 (2018).

We first note that the defense of unconscionability
is a recognized defense to a foreclosure action. See id.,
629 (‘‘equitable defenses that our Supreme Court has
recognized in foreclosure actions include unconsciona-
bility . . . abandonment of security . . . and usury’’
[internal quotation marks omitted]); Monetary Funding
Group, Inc. v. Pluchino, 87 Conn. App. 401, 411, 867
A.2d 841 (2005). ‘‘The purpose of the doctrine of uncon-
scionability is to prevent oppression and unfair sur-
prise. . . . As applied to real estate mortgages, the
doctrine of unconscionability draws heavily on its coun-
terpart in the Uniform Commercial Code which,



Page 27ACONNECTICUT LAW JOURNALSeptember 11, 2018

184 Conn. App. 583 SEPTEMBER, 2018 589

Hirsch v. Woermer

although formally limited to transactions involving per-
sonal property, furnishes a useful guide for real prop-
erty transactions. . . . As Official Comment 1 to § 2-
302 of the Uniform Commercial Code suggests, [t]he
basic test is whether, in the light of the general commer-
cial background and the commercial needs of the partic-
ular trade or case, the clauses involved are so one-
sided as to be unconscionable under the circumstances
existing at the time of the making of the contract. . . .
Unconscionability is determined on a case-by-case
basis, taking into account all of the relevant facts and
circumstances.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.)
Monetary Funding Group, Inc. v. Pluchino, supra, 411.
‘‘The classic definition of an unconscionable contract
is one which no man in his senses, not under delusion,
would make, on the one hand, and which no fair and
honest man would accept, on the other.’’ (Internal quo-
tation marks omitted.) R.F. Daddario & Sons, Inc. v.
Shelansky, 123 Conn. App. 725, 741, 3 A.3d 957 (2010).

Claims of unconscionability fall into two categories:
substantive and procedural. ‘‘Substantive unconsciona-
bility focuses on the content of the contract, as distin-
guished from procedural unconscionability, which
focuses on the process by which the allegedly offensive
terms found their way into the agreement.’’ (Internal
quotation marks omitted.) Cheshire Mortgage Service,
Inc. v. Montes, 223 Conn. 80, 87 n.4, 612 A.2d 1130
(1992), quoting J. Calamari & J. Perillo, Contracts (3d
Ed.) § 9-37. Procedural unconscionability is intended
to prevent unfair surprise and substantive unconsciona-
bility is intended to prevent oppression. Smith v. Mit-
subishi Motors Credit of America, Inc., 247 Conn. 342,
349, 721 A.2d 1187 (1998).

‘‘The doctrine of unconscionability, as a defense to
contract enforcement, generally requires a showing that
the contract was both procedurally and substantively
unconscionable when made—i.e., some showing of an
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absence of meaningful choice on the part of one of the
parties together with contract terms which are unrea-
sonably favorable to the other party . . . .’’ (Internal
quotation marks omitted.) R.F. Daddario & Sons, Inc.
v. Shelansky, supra, 123 Conn. App. 741; see also Emeri-
tus Senior Living v. Lepore, 183 Conn. App. 23, 29,
A.3d. (2018).

On our review of the pleadings, we conclude that
the defendant has failed to sufficiently plead facts to
support his special defense of unconscionability on pro-
cedural or substantive grounds. The defendant alleged
that the attorney performing the closing is the same
attorney foreclosing on the property and that the attor-
ney performing the closing failed to provide a retainer
agreement. To the extent that the allegations implicate
procedural unconscionability, the defendant has not
sufficiently alleged facts constituting unfair surprise
that relate to the making, validity, or enforcement of
the mortgage or the note.

As to substantive unconscionability, the defendant
asserts that the loan is predatory because of the one
year term with a 15 percent interest rate and points
in the amount of 5 percent. These allegations, alone,
however, are not sufficient to render the contract unen-
forceable on the ground of substantive unconscionabil-
ity. In Cheshire Mortgage Service, Inc. v. Montes, supra,
223 Conn. 85, 94, our Supreme Court held that a mort-
gage with an annual interest rate of 18 percent was
neither procedurally nor substantively unconscionable.
Furthermore, in Emigrant Mortgage Co. v. D’Agostino,
94 Conn. App. 793, 803, 896 A.2d 814, cert. denied, 278
Conn. 919, 901 A.2d 43 (2006), this court held that a
defendant’s ‘‘bald assertion’’ that a default interest rate
of 18 percent was unconscionable, ‘‘without more, was
insufficient to establish that the default interest rate
. . . was unconscionable.’’ As the United States District
Court for the District of Connecticut has noted, in cases
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analyzing whether an interest rate is substantively
unconscionable, unpaid property taxes in Connecticut
are subject to an annual interest rate of 18 percent,
which suggests that such a rate is not unconscionable
in and of itself. See Pierce v. Emigrant Mortgage Co.,
Docket No. 3:04cv1767 (JCH), 2007 WL 4800725, *6 n.1
(D. Conn. December 27, 2007) (‘‘the Connecticut legisla-
ture’s imposition of an 18 [percent] rate for unpaid taxes
suggests that such a rate is not unconscionable per se’’);
see also General Statutes § 12-146.

Furthermore, our Supreme Court has noted that
‘‘[w]hether interest rates are unconscionable is a ques-
tion that should not be decided simply by judicial sur-
mise about prevailing prime interest rates. The financial
circumstances of the borrower, the increased risk asso-
ciated with a second mortgage, and the income-produc-
ing capacity of the mortgaged property are some of the
questions of fact that might appropriately be explored
to shed light on whether a designated interest rate is
or is not unconscionable.’’ (Footnote omitted.) Hamm
v. Taylor, 180 Conn. 491, 495, 429 A.2d 946 (1980).

Accordingly, if a bald allegation of an annual or
default interest rate of 18 percent is not enough to
establish unconscionability, it follows that the mere
allegation of an annual interest rate of 15 percent like-
wise is not enough to establish unconscionability. The
other alleged predatory terms, including the points ‘‘in
excess of 5 [percent]’’ and the term of the loan for
‘‘just over [one] year,’’ do not tip the scale to support
a defense on substantive unconscionability. See Hottle
v. BDO Seidman, LLP, 268 Conn. 694, 721, 846 A.2d 862
(2004); Smith v. Mitsubishi Motors Credit of America,
Inc., supra, 247 Conn. 352. To survive a motion to strike,
the defendant must plead additional facts for such terms
to be sufficient to support the defense of unconsciona-
bility. As this court stated in R.F. Daddario & Sons, Inc.
v. Shelansky, supra, 123 Conn. App. 742, a defendant’s
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‘‘mere claim that the terms of the subject note and
mortgage were unconscionable is insufficient to estab-
lish [the] special defense.’’

In this case, the defendant has failed to provide any
information about his financial circumstances, the type
of property that the loan would be utilized for, whether
the property was associated with a second mortgage,
or the income-producing capacity of the property. Fur-
thermore, the defendant has not alleged any facts that
he was unfairly surprised by the terms of the note, that
he was misled; see Monetary Funding Group, Inc. v.
Pluchino, supra, 87 Conn. App. 412; or any other facts
that would support that there was an absence of mean-
ingful choice on the part of the defendant. Bender v.
Bender, 292 Conn. 696, 732, 975 A.2d 636 (2009).

Construed in the light most favorable to the defen-
dant, the facts alleged in his special defense do not
support his claim that the note and the mortgage are
unconscionable.4 Accordingly, we conclude that the
court properly granted the plaintiff’s motion to strike
the defendant’s special defense of unconscionability.

II

The defendant’s second claim of error alleges that
the court improperly denied his motion to open the
judgment for the purpose of amending his special
defenses. In essence, the defendant argues that the
court abused its discretion when it denied his motion
to open because the proposed amended answer and
special defenses ‘‘specifically [pleaded] that the loan

4 To the extent that the defendant argues the merits of his special defense
of unconscionability, we note that our review is restricted to the motion to
strike the special defense. As we have already articulated, our review of
the motion to strike is limited to the facts as set forth in the complaint and
the answer. Any facts in the defendant’s brief that are not included in the
complaint and the answer are irrelevant to our review.
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violated . . . An Act Concerning Abus[ive] Home
[Loan] Lending Practices.’’ We disagree.

We first set forth our standard of review and applica-
ble law. ‘‘The denial of a motion to open is an appealable
final judgment. . . . Although a motion to open can be
filed within four months of a judgment . . . the filing
of such a motion does not extend the appeal period
for challenging the merits of the underlying judgment
unless filed within the [twenty day period provided by
Practice Book § 63-1]. . . . When a motion to open is
filed more than twenty days after the judgment, the
appeal from the denial of that motion can test only
whether the trial court abused its discretion in failing
to open the judgment and not the propriety of the merits
of the underlying judgment. . . . This is so because
otherwise the same issues that could have been
resolved if timely raised would nevertheless be
resolved, which would, in effect, extend the time to
appeal. . . .

‘‘The principles that govern motions to open or set
aside a civil judgment are well established. Within four
months of the date of the original judgment, Practice
Book [§ 17-4] vests discretion in the trial court to deter-
mine whether there is a good and compelling reason
for its modification or vacation. . . .

‘‘Because opening a judgment is a matter of discre-
tion, the trial court [is] not required to open the judg-
ment to consider a claim not previously raised. The
exercise of equitable authority is vested in the discre-
tion of the trial court and is subject only to limited
review on appeal. . . . We do not undertake a plenary
review of the merits of a decision of the trial court to
grant or to deny a motion to open a judgment. The only
issue on appeal is whether the trial court has acted
unreasonably and in clear abuse of its discretion. . . .
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In determining whether the trial court abused its discre-
tion, this court must make every reasonable presump-
tion in favor of its action.’’ (Citation omitted; internal
quotation marks omitted.) JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
v. Eldon, 144 Conn. App. 260, 272–73, 73 A.3d 757, cert.
denied, 310 Conn. 935, 79 A.3d 889 (2013).

‘‘The criteria for a court to open a judgment is analo-
gous to the conditions needed for a petition for a new
trial on grounds of newly discovered evidence. . . . A
petition for a new trial is governed by [General Statutes]
§ 52-270 (a), which provides in relevant part: The Supe-
rior Court may grant a new trial of any action that may
come before it, for . . . the discovery of new evidence
. . . . The standard that governs the granting of a peti-
tion for a new trial based on newly discovered evidence
is well established. The petitioner must demonstrate, by
a preponderance of the evidence, that: (1) the proffered
evidence is newly discovered, such that it could not
have been discovered earlier by the exercise of due
diligence; (2) it would be material on a new trial; (3)
it is not merely cumulative; and (4) it is likely to produce
a different result in a new trial. . . . These rules are
motivated by the policy that [o]nce a judgment [is]
rendered it is to be considered final and it should be
left undisturbed by post-trial motions except for a good
and compelling reason.’’ (Citations omitted; emphasis
in original; internal quotation marks omitted.) Worth v.
Korta, 132 Conn. App. 154, 160–61, 31 A.3d 804 (2011),
cert. denied, 304 Conn. 905, 38 A.3d 1201 (2012).

We note that the defendant had the opportunity to
plead over after the court granted the plaintiff’s motion
to strike, yet failed to do so. Instead, the defendant did
not raise any allegation of a violation of the act until
May, 2017, two months after judgment had been ren-
dered against him. In his appellate brief, the defendant
offers no authority to support his claim that the court
abused its discretion in denying the motion to open.



Page 33ACONNECTICUT LAW JOURNALSeptember 11, 2018

184 Conn. App. 595 SEPTEMBER, 2018 595

State v. Griffin

Rather, he merely argues that the proposed amended
answer and special defenses included allegations that
the loan is unconscionable because it allegedly violated
the act. There is no indication that such claims were
unavailable to the defendant prior to judgment entering
or that new evidence was discovered. Furthermore, the
defendant failed to offer any evidence that there was
a good and compelling reason for the modification to
his special defenses after judgment was rendered.

As we previously stated, ‘‘the trial court [is] not
required to open the judgment to consider a claim not
previously raised.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.)
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. v. Eldon, supra, 144 Conn.
App. 273. The proposed special defense not only alleges
for the first time the violation of a statute, the statute
itself is not synonymous with the previously raised spe-
cial defense of unconscionability. Accordingly, the
court was not required to consider this new claim.

Making every reasonable presumption in favor of the
court’s action, we cannot conclude that the court acted
unreasonably and in clear abuse of its discretion when
it denied the defendant’s motion to open.

The judgment is affirmed.

In this opinion the other judges concurred.

STATE OF CONNECTICUT v. MADELINE GRIFFIN
(AC 40555)

Sheldon, Keller and Lavery, Js.

Syllabus

Convicted of the crimes of arson in the first degree, conspiracy to commit
arson in the first degree and insurance fraud, the defendant appealed,
claiming that the evidence was insufficient support her conviction and
that the trial court improperly denied her motion to suppress certain
pretrial and in-court identifications of her that were made by witnesses
to the fire. The defendant’s conviction resulted from an arson at her
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mother’s home after which the defendant’s mother filed a homeowner’s
insurance claim for damage to her home. Held:

1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the defendant’s
motion to suppress the identifications of her that were made to the
police and in court by witnesses to the fire; the photographic arrays
that the police administered to the witnesses were not unduly suggestive,
as the defendant did not appear to be substantially different in age or
appearance from the other women in the arrays and did not appear to
be highlighted, even though she was smiling slightly in her photograph,
her claim that there was an increased risk that the witnesses would
select her photograph because the photographs were administered
simultaneously instead of sequentially was unavailing and not borne out
by appellate precedent, and this court having concluded that the arrays
and procedures employed in administering them were not unconstitu-
tionally suggestive, it was not necessary to address the defendant’s claim
that the identifications were unreliable, and her claim regarding the
suppression of the in-court identifications, having been premised entirely
on her claims that the pretrial identifications of her were suggestive
and unreliable, also failed.

2. The defendant could not prevail on her claim that the evidence was
insufficient to support her conviction of arson in the first degree and
conspiracy to commit arson in the first degree, which was based on her
assertion that there was no evidence that she started the fire with the
intent to collect insurance proceeds related to the homeowner policy;
a reasonable jury could have inferred from the circumstantial evidence
that the defendant’s conduct was part of a plan to defraud and that she
possessed the requisite intent when she started the fire, as the evidence
supported a finding that her mother filed an insurance claim for the
property damage, that the defendant, prior to lighting the fire, stowed
valuables that belonged to her and her mother in her car, and that her
mother packed items in her own car and made arrangements to be away
from her home when the defendant started the fire, and the defendant’s
claim that the evidence was insufficient to establish that she possessed
the requisite mens rea to support the conspiracy conviction was unavail-
ing, as there was sufficient evidence to support the inference that she
possessed the requisite intent to commit the arson.

3. The defendant’s conviction of insurance fraud as to her mother’s fraudu-
lent insurance claim could not stand, as there was no evidence that the
defendant participated in the making or preparation of any statement
that was provided to her mother’s home insurer; the plain and unambigu-
ous terms of the insurance fraud statute (§ 53a-215 [a] [2]) require evi-
dence that the defendant engaged in conduct related to the making or
preparing of the insurance claim, and the same evidence that supported
her arson conviction could not be used to uphold her insurance fraud
conviction, as that evidence, which supported an inference that the
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defendant intended to defraud when she started the fire, did not reason-
ably support the inference that she engaged in the making or preparation
of the actual statement given to the insurance company.

Argued April 25—officially released September 11, 2018

Procedural History

Substitute information charging the defendant with
two counts of the crime of insurance fraud, and with
the crimes of arson in the first degree and conspiracy
to commit arson in the first degree, brought to the
Superior Court in the judicial district of Fairfield and
tried to the jury before Pavia, J.; thereafter, the court
denied the defendant’s motion to suppress certain evi-
dence; verdict and judgment of guilty, from which the
defendant appealed. Reversed in part; judgment
directed; further proceedings.

Pamela S. Nagy, assistant public defender, for the
appellant (defendant).

Denise B. Smoker, senior assistant state’s attorney,
with whom, on the brief, were John C. Smriga, state’s
attorney, and David R. Applegate, assistant state’s attor-
ney, for the appellee (state).

Opinion

KELLER, J. The defendant, Madeline Griffin, appeals
from the judgment of conviction, rendered after a jury
trial, of one count each of the crimes of arson in the
first degree in violation of General Statutes §§ 53a-100,
53a-111 (a) (3) and 53a-8 (a); conspiracy to commit
arson in the first degree in violation of General Statutes
§§ 53a-48 (a), 53a-100 and 53a-111 (a) (3); insurance
fraud in violation of General Statutes § 53a-215 (a) (1);
and insurance fraud in violation of General Statutes
§ 53a-215 (a) (2). On appeal, the defendant claims that
(1) the trial court improperly denied her motion to
suppress the pretrial and in-court identifications of her
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because they were the result of unnecessarily sugges-
tive photographic arrays, and (2) the state presented
insufficient evidence to convict her of arson, conspiracy
to commit arson, and the insurance fraud charge per-
taining to the homeowner’s insurance policy of her
mother. We agree with the defendant’s second claim
as it pertains to the insurance fraud count and, accord-
ingly, reverse in part the trial court’s judgment. We
otherwise affirm the judgment.

The following facts, which the jury reasonably could
have found, and procedural history are relevant to this
appeal. At about 2:45 p.m. on May 28, 2011, the defen-
dant set fire to her mother’s house in Stratford. Neigh-
bors, including Carmen Febles, Juan Febles, and Karen
Wakeley, heard an explosion and saw flames coming
from the house. The defendant appeared among the
neighbors, barefoot, claiming that she had been mowing
the lawn when the fire started. At least one of the
neighbors was familiar with the defendant. The defen-
dant, who spoke English and Spanish, identified herself
as the homeowner’s daughter, and then used Carmen
Febles’ cell phone to call her mother’s cell phone and
asked the person on the other line, ‘‘Where are you?’’
Approximately thirty minutes later, two unidentified
individuals drove to the scene, picked up the defendant,
and drove away.

Meanwhile, emergency personnel arrived at the scene
to extinguish the fire and investigate its origins. They
determined that the fire was started intentionally
through the use of gasoline as an accelerant. A K-9
unit alerted to several areas of the house where an
accelerant was used, and a partially melted gasoline
container was found in the house. At about the same
time, a tracking K-9 searched the neighborhood.
Another neighbor, Debra Hirth, who had not witnessed
the fire, alerted an officer to a pair of sandals smelling
of gasoline that appeared to have been thrown onto
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her property. The sandals were then presented to the
other K-9 unit, which alerted to the sandals as con-
taining accelerants.

The defendant returned to the scene while police
were still there and voluntarily provided a written state-
ment to police. She claimed to have been at her home
in Danbury during the fire, but had left her car parked
in her mother’s garage. The following items were found
inside her car: a cell phone; two televisions; trophies;
frozen and canned food; a safe containing multiple valu-
ables and documents, including the mother’s marriage
license and jewelry; and a pocketbook containing the
defendant’s passport, multiple identification cards, and
multiple social security cards.

The defendant later filed an insurance claim with
Esurance for damage to her car. The defendant’s mother
filed an insurance claim with Homesite Insurance Com-
pany (Homesite) for damage to the house.

Carmen Febles and Juan Febles met with police on
May 31, 2011, and gave statements concerning their
encounter with the defendant on the day of the fire.
Stratford police separately administered photographic
arrays to Carmen Febles and Juan Febles. Both identi-
fied the defendant as the woman they encountered at
the fire scene. Wakeley likewise gave a statement to
police, and also identified the defendant in a photo-
graphic array as the woman she talked to at the fire
scene.

In an amended information, the state charged the
defendant with arson in the first degree as a principal
and an accessory, conspiracy to commit arson in the
first degree, and two counts of insurance fraud. Prior
to trial, the defendant filed a motion to suppress the
pretrial identifications made by the Febleses and
Wakeley, and sought to prevent them from making in-
court identifications. The court denied the motion.
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After a jury trial, the defendant was convicted on all
counts. The defendant was sentenced to a total effective
term of twenty years of incarceration, execution sus-
pended after twelve years, and five years of probation.
One of the conditions of the defendant’s probation was
that she pay $337,000 in restitution to the insurer of
her mother’s home, Homesite Insurance Company. This
appeal followed.

I

The defendant first claims that the court improperly
denied her motion to suppress identifications made by
the Febleses and Wakeley. Specifically, the defendant
argues that the identification procedure used by police
was suggestive and unreliable, and, therefore, the trial
court should have suppressed the pretrial and in-court
identifications of the defendant by these witnesses. We
are not persuaded.

The following additional facts are relevant to the
present claim. As we stated previously in this opinion,
prior to trial, the defendant filed a motion to suppress
evidence of pretrial identifications made by Carmen
Febles, Juan Febles, and Wakeley. Additionally, she
asked the court to prevent these witnesses from making
in-court identifications. On October 29, 2015, the court
held a hearing on the defendant’s motion at which it
heard testimony from two Stratford police officers,
Edward Leary and Lawrence Overby, and a Milford
police officer, Bruce Carney.1 All three witnesses were
shown arrays consisting of the same eight photographs
appearing on a single sheet of paper, although the
arrangement of the photographs in each array was dif-
ferent. The cover sheet attached to each array was

1 The state did not present testimony from the police officer who adminis-
tered the array to Wakeley. Nonetheless, the array and cover sheet that
were completed by Wakeley and the officer who administered the array to
her were before the court.
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identical, each cover sheet reflected the witness’ sworn
statement that he or she had identified the person he
or she had encountered at the fire scene, and each cover
sheet contained instructions that had been initialed by
each witness.2

Leary testified in relevant part that he administered
the photographic array to Carmen Febles. He lacked a
recollection of the circumstances surrounding the
array, but, relying on the array and the cover sheet
attached to it, he testified that he had administered
the array to Carmen Febles, that he followed standard
police procedures for administering the array, and that
Carmen Febles had identified the defendant. He testi-
fied that it would have been the normal practice for
the Stratford police to have had two officers present
during the administration of the array. Moreover, Leary
testified that standard police procedure would entail
his reading the instructions on the cover sheet to the
witness and having the witness sign his or her initials
next to each instruction. He stated his belief that this
procedure was followed with Carmen Febles because
the cover sheet attached to the array reflected the wit-
ness’ initials next to each instruction set forth thereon,
and his signature appeared on the cover sheet, indicat-
ing that the witness swore before him that she under-
stood the instructions and had identified the person
selected from the array as the person she had encoun-
tered at the fire scene. Leary testified that the standard
instructions indicated that a suspect may or may not
be depicted in the array. Leary asserted that he would
have followed protocol in administering the array and

2 The instructions provided: (1) ‘‘I will ask you to review a set of photo-
graphs,’’ (2) ‘‘It is important to clear innocent people and to identify the
guilty,’’ (3) ‘‘Persons in the photos may not look exactly as they did on the
date of the incident, because of features like facial or head hair change,’’
(4) ‘‘The person you saw may or may not be in the photograph,’’ and (5)
‘‘The Police will continue to investigate this incident, whether you identify
someone or not.’’
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would not have directed Carmen Febles to choose any
particular photograph. Leary also testified that Carmen
Febles indicated her understanding of the instructions,
and had selected the defendant’s photograph from those
appearing in the array by circling the defendant’s photo-
graph and signing her name near it.

Overby testified at the suppression hearing that he
took part in administering the photographic array to
Juan Febles. Overby testified that although another
police officer, Jeff Nattrass, had administered the array
to Juan Febles, he nonetheless ‘‘notarized’’ Juan Febles’
statement that appears on the cover sheet of the array
that the photograph he had selected was that of the
person he had observed at the fire scene. Overby testi-
fied that, in accordance with standard police procedure,
the cover sheet of the array reflects that Juan Febles
had initialed next to each of the standard array instruc-
tions, one of which stated that ‘‘[t]he person you saw
may or not be in the photograph.’’ Moreover, the array
reflected that Juan Febles circled the defendant’s photo-
graph in the array and signed his name near the photo-
graph. The cover sheet reflects the defendant’s
signature as well as Overby’s signature, as evidence
that Febles had made a sworn statement to him con-
cerning the array.

Carney testified that, at the request of the Stratford
police, he constructed the arrays shown to the Febleses.
He was provided the defendant’s name and date of birth.
Carney retrieved the driver’s license photograph of the
defendant that the Milford police already had in their
possession, and he searched for photographs in Mil-
ford’s police database that depicted females who were
similar in age, race, and facial features to the defendant.
Carney then changed the defendant’s photograph to
black and white, so that its background matched the
backgrounds in the seven other photographs in the
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array consisting of mug shots in the Milford police
database.

At the hearing, the defendant argued that the array
was unduly suggestive. She argued that only one other
woman in the array appeared to be of the defendant’s
age, that the witnesses were shown the photographs
simultaneously as opposed to sequentially, that the
defendant’s photograph stood out because she was
smiling, and that, in composing the array, Carney did
not obtain photographs by relying on physical features
identified by the witnesses, but instead relied on the
driver’s license photograph alone to select the other
photographs.

The state countered in relevant part that the array
contained eight different photographs, that the defen-
dant’s photograph was not highlighted, that the wit-
nesses were instructed that a suspect might not be in the
array, and that the witnesses were not shown multiple
arrays with the defendant’s photograph appearing in
each array. Also, although Carney used a photograph
of the defendant that depicted her without curly hair,
contrary to the description of the suspect by the wit-
nesses, the state argued that all three witnesses were
instructed that ‘‘persons in the photos may not look
exactly like they did on the date of the incident . . . .’’

The court, noting that ‘‘the defendant ha[d] the bur-
den of proving that the identification[s] resulted from an
unconstitutional procedure,’’ found that the defendant
failed to prove that the arrays were suggestive. The
court rejected the defendant’s arguments that the array
had highlighted the defendant and relied on the police
officers’ testimony concerning the procedures
employed. The court stated that it did not agree with
the defendant that her age and appearance were sub-
stantially different from those of the other persons
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depicted in the array. The court, therefore, denied the
motion to suppress.

At trial, Carmen Febles, Juan Febles, and Wakeley
testified about the manner in which they selected the
defendant in photographic arrays that the police had
administered to them prior to the time of trial, and the
completed arrays were presented in evidence. Each of
these witnesses testified that the police had provided
them with instructions and that they had identified the
person that they had encountered at the scene of the
fire. Moreover, each of these witnesses made an in-
court identification of the defendant.

‘‘In determining whether identification procedures
violate a defendant’s due process rights, the required
inquiry is made on an ad hoc basis and is two-pronged:
first, it must be determined whether the identification
procedure was unnecessarily suggestive; and second,
if it is found to have been so, it must be determined
whether the identification was nevertheless reliable
based on examination of the totality of the circum-
stances. . . .

‘‘In the seminal case of Neil v. Biggers, [409 U.S. 188,
93 S. Ct. 375, 34 L. Ed. 2d 401 (1972)], the [United States]
Supreme Court explained the overarching concern that
courts face when assessing a challenged identification
procedure: It is . . . apparent that the primary evil to
be avoided is a very substantial likelihood of irreparable
misidentification. . . . It is the likelihood of misidenti-
fication which violates a defendant’s rights to due pro-
cess . . . . Id., 198, quoting Simmons v. United States,
[390 U.S. 377, 384, 88 S. Ct. 967, 19 L. Ed. 2d 1247 (1968)].
As courts apply the two-pronged test to determine if
a particular identification procedure is so suggestive
and unreliable as to require suppression, they always
should weigh the relevant factors against this standard.
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In other words, an out-of-court eyewitness identifica-
tion should be excluded on the basis of the procedure
used to elicit that identification only if the court is
convinced that the procedure was so suggestive and
otherwise unreliable as to give rise to a very substantial
likelihood of irreparable misidentification. See Sim-
mons v. United States, supra, 384.’’ (Citations omitted;
emphasis in original; internal quotation marks omitted.)
State v. Marquez, 291 Conn. 122, 141–42, 967 A.2d 56,
cert. denied, 558 U.S. 895, 130 S. Ct. 237, 175 L. Ed. 2d
163 (2009).

‘‘[A] claim of an unnecessarily suggestive pretrial
identification procedure is a mixed question of law and
fact [subject to plenary review]. With respect to our
review of the facts . . . because the issue of the sug-
gestiveness of a photographic array implicates the
defendant’s constitutional right to due process, we
undertake a scrupulous examination of the record to
ascertain whether the findings are supported by sub-
stantial evidence.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.)
Id., 137.

‘‘[W]e will reverse the trial court’s ruling [on evi-
dence] only where there is an abuse of discretion or
where an injustice has occurred . . . and we will
indulge in every reasonable presumption in favor of the
trial court’s ruling. . . . Because the inquiry into
whether [identification evidence] should be suppressed
contemplates a series of factbound determinations,
which a trial court is far better equipped than this court
to make, we will not disturb the findings of the trial
court as to subordinate facts unless the record reveals
clear and manifest error.’’ (Internal quotation marks
omitted.) State v. Salmond, 179 Conn. App. 605, 616,
180 A.3d 979, cert. denied, 328 Conn. 936, 183 A.3d
1175 (2018).

‘‘The critical question . . . is what makes a particu-
lar identification procedure ‘suggestive’ enough to
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require the court to proceed to the second prong and
to consider the overall reliability of the identification.
. . . There are . . . two factors that courts have con-
sidered in analyzing photographic identification proce-
dures for improper suggestiveness. The first factor
concerns the composition of the photographic array
itself. In this regard, courts have analyzed whether the
photographs used were selected or displayed in such
a manner as to emphasize or highlight the individual
whom the police believe is the suspect. See, e.g., State
v. Williams, [203 Conn. 159, 176, 523 A.2d 1284 (1987)]
(multiple photographs of same individual in same or
subsequent photographic arrays possibly suggestive
‘when, in the context of the entire array, the recurrence
unnecessarily emphasizes the defendant’s photo-
graph’); State v. Fullwood, [193 Conn. 238, 247, 476 A.2d
550 (1984)] (to be unnecessarily suggestive, variations
in array photographs must highlight defendant to point
that it affects witness’ selection); State v. Gold, 180
Conn. 619, 656, 431 A.2d 501 (‘[when] a feature is placed
on the defendant’s photograph in order to make the
picture conform to the witness’ description of the crimi-
nal he or she had seen, the identification proceeding
has been held to have been rendered highly suggestive’),
cert. denied, 449 U.S. 920, 101 S. Ct. 320, 66 L. Ed. 2d
148 (1980); see also United States v. DeCologero, [530
F.3d 36, 62 (1st Cir.)] (at first step in two-pronged test,
court ‘consider[s] whether the photo[graphic] array
included, as far as was practicable, a reasonable number
of persons similar in appearance to the suspect’) [cert.
denied, 555 U.S. 1005, 129 S. Ct. 513, 172 L. Ed. 2d 376,
cert. denied, 555 U.S. 1039, 129 S. Ct. 615, 172 L. Ed.
2d 469 (2008)]; United States v. Rattler, 475 F.3d 408,
413 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (court must ‘examine the suggesti-
vity of irregularities between the subjects in the array’).

‘‘The second factor, which is related to the first but
conceptually broader, requires the court to examine
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the actions of law enforcement personnel to determine
whether the witness’ attention was directed to a suspect
because of police conduct. . . . In considering this
[factor, the court should] look to the effects of the
circumstances of the pretrial identification, not whether
law enforcement officers intended to prejudice the
defendant. . . . It stands to reason that police officers
administering a photographic identification procedure
have the potential to taint the process by drawing the
witness’ attention to a particular suspect. This could
occur either through the construction of the array itself
or through physical or verbal cues provided by an offi-
cer. See, e.g., State v. Fullwood, supra, 193 Conn. 248
(irregularity in defendant’s photograph not suggestive
because it did not ‘signal to the witnesses that the defen-
dant was the person whom the police believed to be
the perpetrator of the robbery’); see also Simmons v.
United States, supra, 390 U.S. 385 (‘[t]here is no evi-
dence to indicate that the witnesses were told anything
about the progress of the investigation, or that the [law
enforcement] agents in any other way suggested which
persons in the pictures were under suspicion’); State
v. Ledbetter, 185 Conn. 607, 612, 441 A.2d 595 (1981)
(no basis for claiming that ‘display itself was suggestive
or that [the administering officer] was suggestive in any
respect in the selection process’); State v. Gold, supra,
180 Conn. 656 (‘[a] procedure is unfair which suggests
in advance of identification by the witness the identity
of the person suspected by the police’ . . .)’’. (Citation
omitted; footnote omitted.) State v. Marquez, supra,
291 Conn. 142–44.

Our Supreme Court also stressed ‘‘that this is not a
‘best practices’ test. In other words, the test does not
require a court to engage in a relative value judgment
of various possible identification techniques and settle
on the one that it believes bears the least risk of mistake,
a decision that would be prone to being revised or
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second-guessed as the scientific debate evolves and
new studies become available. See, e.g., State v. Nunez,
93 Conn. App. 818, 832, 890 A.2d 636 (2006) (‘[t]he
question . . . is not whether a double-blind, sequential
identification procedure is less suggestive than the tra-
ditional procedures . . . but . . . whether the tradi-
tional procedures are unnecessarily suggestive under
[the] constitution’), cert. denied, 278 Conn. 914, 899
A.2d 621, cert. denied, 549 U.S. 906, 127 S. Ct. 236, 166
L. Ed. 2d 186 (2006); see also State v. Fullwood, supra,
193 Conn. 244 (‘[i]t has been generally recognized that
the presentation of several photographs to witnesses,
including that of the suspect . . . is by itself a nonsug-
gestive and constitutionally acceptable practice, in the
absence of any unfairness or other impropriety in the
conduct of the exhibit’ . . .). Nor does this test require
law enforcement personnel to alter their procedures
every time a fresh scientific study suggests that a new
identification procedure might lead to more reliable
results. Moreover, although our analysis focuses princi-
pally on two key functional aspects of the eyewitness
identification process, we stress that it is the entire
procedure, viewed in light of the factual circumstances
of the individual case, that must be examined to deter-
mine if a particular identification is tainted by unneces-
sary suggestiveness. The individual components of a
procedure cannot be examined piecemeal but must be
placed in their broader context to ascertain whether
the procedure is so suggestive that it requires the court
to consider the reliability of the identification itself
in order to determine whether it ultimately should be
suppressed.’’ (Emphasis in original; footnote omitted.)
State v. Marquez, supra, 291 Conn. 145–46.

‘‘In evaluating the suggestiveness of a photographic
array, a court should look to both the photographs
themselves and the manner in which they were pre-
sented to the identifying witness. . . . We consider the
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following nonexhaustive factors in analyzing a photo-
graphic array for unnecessary suggestiveness: (1) the
degree of likeness shared by the individuals pictured
. . . (2) the number of photographs included in the
array . . . (3) whether the suspect’s photograph prom-
inently was displayed or otherwise was highlighted in
an impermissible manner . . . (4) whether the eyewit-
ness had been told that the array includes a photograph
of a known suspect . . . (5) whether the eyewitness
had been presented with multiple arrays in which the
photograph of one suspect recurred repeatedly . . .
and (6) whether a second eyewitness was present dur-
ing the presentation of the array. . . . It is important
to note, however, that [p]hotographs will often have
distinguishing features. The question . . . is not
whether the defendant’s photograph could be distin-
guished from the other photographs . . . but whether
the distinction made it unnecessarily suggestive.’’ (Cita-
tions omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) Id.,
161.

We conclude that the photographic arrays adminis-
tered to the witnesses were not suggestive. First, we
address the defendant’s arguments that the arrays were
composed in such a manner that they unfairly high-
lighted her. The court considered the defendant’s argu-
ment that she appeared to be a different age than the
majority of the people in the array. The court, however,
found that the defendant did not appear ‘‘to be substan-
tially different in age or appearance from the other
individuals who are in the array. . . . [T]he array was
made in black and white so as not to highlight the
defendant . . . .’’ The defendant also argues that her
photograph in the array is the only photograph that
depicts someone smiling. To be unnecessarily sugges-
tive, a variation must highlight the defendant to the
point that it affected the witnesses’ selection of the
defendant. See State v. Fullwood, supra, 193 Conn. 247;
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see also State v. Marquez, supra, 291 Conn. 143. After
our own scrupulous review of the array, we are not
persuaded that the defendant looks so different from
the other women in the array so as to make the array
unduly suggestive. Some, but not all, of the photographs
in the arrays depict females with what may be described
as neutral facial expressions. In her photograph, the
defendant appears to be smiling slightly but, similar to
the appearance of the other females depicted in the
array, her teeth are not visible. Our careful examination
of the arrays does not lead us to conclude that the
defendant appears to be highlighted in the array or that
she was dissimilar to the other females depicted therein.
Thus, our examination of the arrays does not lead us
to conclude that the court erred in finding that the
photographs used were not so dissimilar that they ren-
dered the arrays suggestive.3

The defendant also argues that there was an
increased risk that the witnesses would select the defen-
dant’s photograph because the photographs were
administered simultaneously instead of sequentially.4

3 The defendant cites to one case from this court and several out-of-state
cases for the proposition that when the constituent photographs of an array
contain individuals with disparate ages than that of the defendant, the array
is suggestive. See State v. Small, 1 Conn. App. 584, 587–88, 474 A.2d 460
(1984); see also United States v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218, 232, 87 S. Ct. 1926, 18
L. Ed. 2d 1149 (1967); United States v. Castro-Caicedo, 775 F.3d 93, 98 (1st
Cir. 2014), cert. denied, U.S. , 135 S. Ct. 1884, 191 L. Ed. 2d 753
(2015); Swicegood v. Alabama, 577 F.2d 1322, 1327–28 (5th Cir. 1978); State
v. Merrill, 22 Ohio App. 3d 119, 122, 489 N.E.2d 1057 (1984). These cases
generally note the actual variations in ages among those persons presented
to a witness (or, at the very least, a finding by the trial court that a suspect
was far older than the others presented). The defendant, however, made
no showing, in the trial court or here, that there was any variation in the
ages of the women in the array, relying exclusively on her argument that
they appear different, which the trial court reasonably did not find.

4 The arrays each contained eight photographs, but ‘‘[t]he police officers’
use of an eight person photographic array is not, in and of itself, impermissi-
bly suggestive.’’ State v. Smith, 107 Conn. App. 666, 674, 946 A.2d 319, cert.
denied, 288 Conn. 902, 952 A.2d 811 (2008).
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In State v. Marquez, supra, 291 Conn. 156, our Supreme
Court opined that ‘‘this continues to be an issue particu-
larly ill suited to generic, bright line rules,’’ and that
‘‘[d]ue process does not require the suppression of a
photographic identification that is not the product of
a double-blind, sequential procedure.’’ (Internal quota-
tion marks omitted.) The defendant, quoting from State
v. Guilbert, 306 Conn. 218, 238, 49 A.3d 705 (2012),
argues that ‘‘identifications are likely to be less reliable
in the absence of a double-blind, sequential identifica-
tion procedure . . . .’’5

There are two problems with the defendant’s argu-
ment. As this court noted in State v. Grant, 154 Conn.
App. 293, 311, 112 A.3d 175 (2014), cert. denied, 315
Conn. 928, 109 A.3d 923 (2015), ‘‘[t]he principal issue
before the court in Guilbert was not whether any partic-
ular identification procedures are constitutionally man-
dated, but whether courts are obligated to admit under
specified circumstances qualified expert testimony con-
cerning the fallibility of eyewitness identification under
State v. Porter, 241 Conn. 57, 698 A.2d 739 (1997) (en
banc), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1058, 118 S. Ct. 1384, 140
L. Ed. 2d 645 (1998), to aid juries in their evaluation of
identification evidence.’’ The second problem is that
the quotation from Guilbert that the defendant cites,
by its very terms, pertains to reliability, not sugges-
tiveness. Therefore, the defendant’s argument that the
police officers’ use of simultaneous photographic arrays
was suggestive is not borne out by our appellate
precedent.

Considering the totality of the circumstances after
our scrupulous review, the photographic arrays and the

5 There was never any discussion before the trial court as to whether the
arrays were administered using a double-blind procedure, but testimony
from the suppression hearing indicates that the officer who contacted Carney
was also involved in the administration of the array to Juan Febles. Regard-
less, the defendant has not argued on appeal that the lack of a double-blind
procedure resulted in an unduly suggestive array.
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procedures employed in administering them were not
unconstitutionally suggestive.6 Therefore, we do not
address the defendant’s claim regarding reliability. See
State v. Outing, 298 Conn. 34, 56, 3 A.3d 1 (2010) (our
Supreme Court ‘‘consistently has declined to consider
the reliability of the identification if [it concludes] that
the procedure was not unnecessarily suggestive’’), cert.
denied, 562 U.S. 1225, 131 S. Ct. 1479, 179 L. Ed. 2d
316 (2011). Additionally, because the defendant’s claim
regarding suppression of the witnesses’ in-court identi-
fications is entirely premised on her claim that the pre-
trial identifications were suggestive and unreliable, it,
too, must fail. Thus, the court did not abuse its discre-
tion in denying the motion to suppress.

II

The defendant also claims that the state failed to
meet its burden of proof on the elements of three of
the crimes of which she was convicted, namely, that
the state failed to meet its burden of proof on the arson
charge, the conspiracy to commit arson charge, and
the insurance fraud charge pertaining to her mother’s
insurance claim for the home.7 Specifically, the defen-
dant contends that there was no evidence that she was
connected to the homeowner’s insurance claim or in
any way benefited from it. The defendant also argues
that the state bore the burden of proving that she
intended to collect insurance proceeds in order to con-
vict her of the arson and conspiracy to commit arson
counts, and failed to present sufficient evidence in this

6 Additionally, the evidence presented reflects that the witnesses were all
instructed that the suspect might not appear in the array, each was presented
only with a single array, and each witness was administered the array
separately. Leary testified that he did not attempt to influence the witness’
selection, and each witness separately confirmed at trial that no officer
attempted to influence his or her selection.

7 At oral argument before this court, the defendant indicated that she was
not claiming that there was insufficient evidence to convict her of the
insurance fraud charge pertaining to her car.
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regard. We agree with the defendant that the state failed
to present sufficient evidence to prove that she commit-
ted insurance fraud, but disagree that, in order to be
convicted of arson or conspiracy to commit arson, she
must have intended to benefit from any insurance
proceeds.

The defendant seeks review of her claims of insuffi-
cient evidence under the doctrine of State v. Golding,
213 Conn. 233, 239–40, 567 A.2d 823 (1989), as modified
by In re Yasiel R., 317 Conn. 773, 781, 120 A.3d 1188
(2015); however, ‘‘any defendant found guilty on the
basis of insufficient evidence has been deprived of a
constitutional right, and would therefore necessarily
meet the four prongs of Golding . . . . [Thus] we
review an unpreserved sufficiency of the evidence claim
as though it had been preserved.’’ (Internal quotation
marks omitted.) State v. Josephs, 328 Conn. 21, 35 n.11,
176 A.3d 542 (2018).

‘‘The standard of review we apply to a claim of insuffi-
cient evidence is well established. In reviewing the suffi-
ciency of the evidence to support a criminal conviction
we apply a two-part test. First, we construe the evidence
in the light most favorable to sustaining the verdict.
Second, we determine whether upon the facts so con-
strued and the inferences reasonably drawn therefrom
the [finder of fact] reasonably could have concluded
that the cumulative force of the evidence established
guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. . . .

‘‘We note that the jury must find every element proven
beyond a reasonable doubt in order to find the defen-
dant guilty of the charged offense, [but] each of the
basic and inferred facts underlying those conclusions
need not be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. . . .
If it is reasonable and logical for the jury to conclude
that a basic fact or an inferred fact is true, the jury is
permitted to consider the fact proven and may consider



Page 52A CONNECTICUT LAW JOURNAL September 11, 2018

614 SEPTEMBER, 2018 184 Conn. App. 595

State v. Griffin

it in combination with other proven facts in determining
whether the cumulative effect of all the evidence proves
the defendant guilty of all the elements of the crime
charged beyond a reasonable doubt. . . .

‘‘Moreover, it does not diminish the probative force
of the evidence that it consists, in whole or in part, of
evidence that is circumstantial rather than direct. . . .
It is not one fact, but the cumulative impact of a multi-
tude of facts which establishes guilt in a case involving
substantial circumstantial evidence. . . . In evaluating
evidence, the [finder] of fact is not required to accept
as dispositive those inferences that are consistent with
the defendant’s innocence. . . . The [finder of fact]
may draw whatever inferences from the evidence or
facts established by the evidence it deems to be reason-
able and logical. . . .

‘‘Finally, [a]s we have often noted, proof beyond a
reasonable doubt does not mean proof beyond all possi-
ble doubt . . . nor does proof beyond a reasonable
doubt require acceptance of every hypothesis of inno-
cence posed by the defendant that, had it been found
credible by the [finder of fact], would have resulted in
an acquittal. . . . On appeal, we do not ask whether
there is a reasonable view of the evidence that would
support a reasonable hypothesis of innocence. We ask,
instead, whether there is a reasonable view of the evi-
dence that supports the [finder of fact’s] verdict of
guilty.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.) State v. Led-
better, 275 Conn. 534, 542–43, 881 A.2d 290 (2005), cert.
denied, 547 U.S. 1082, 126 S. Ct. 1798, 164 L. Ed. 2d 537
(2006), overruled in part on other grounds by State v.
Harris, 330 Conn. 91, 131, A.3d (2018).

A

We first address the defendant’s claim that there was
insufficient evidence to convict her of arson. Specifi-
cally, the defendant argues that her conviction should
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be vacated because ‘‘there was no evidence that [the]
defendant intended to collect insurance proceeds from
damages to the home.’’ We disagree.

General Statutes § 53a-111 (a) provides in relevant
part: ‘‘A person is guilty of arson in the first degree
when, with intent to destroy or damage a building, as
defined insection 53a-100,8 he starts a fire or causes an
explosion, and . . . (3) such fire or explosion was
caused for the purpose of collecting insurance proceeds
for the resultant loss . . . .’’ (Footnote added.) Thus,
to obtain a conviction, the state needed to prove beyond
a reasonable doubt that the defendant (1) started the
fire (2) to destroy her mother’s home (3) with the ‘‘intent
to defraud’’ an insurance company. State v. Woodson,
227 Conn. 1, 9, 629 A.2d 386 (1993). The defendant does
not challenge the fact that the state presented evidence
that she started the fire or that the fire was intended
to destroy her mother’s home. Instead, the defendant
argues that there was no evidence that she had she
started the fire with the intent of collecting insurance
proceeds related to the homeowner policy.

The defendant must have the specific intent to
defraud in order to be guilty pursuant to § 53a-111 (a)
(3). State v. Joyce, 243 Conn. 282, 298–99, 705 A.2d 181
(1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1077, 118 S. Ct. 1523, 140
L. Ed. 2d 674 (1998). Specific intent is usually proven
by circumstantial evidence. State v. Williams, 169 Conn.
322, 334, 363 A.2d 72 (1975). Our Supreme Court has
recognized that ‘‘intent is often inferred from conduct

8 General Statutes § 53a-100 (a) provides in relevant part: ‘‘(1) ‘Building’
in addition to its ordinary meaning, includes any watercraft, aircraft, trailer,
sleeping car, railroad car or other structure or vehicle or any building with
a valid certificate of occupancy. Where a building consists of separate units,
such as, but not limited to separate apartments, offices or rented rooms,
any unit not occupied by the actor is, in addition to being a part of such
building, a separate building . . . .’’
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. . . and from the cumulative effect of the circumstan-
tial evidence and the rational inferences drawn there-
from. . . . [A]ny such inference cannot be based on
possibilities, surmise or conjecture. . . . It is axiom-
atic, therefore, that [a]ny [inference] drawn must be
rational and founded [on] the evidence.’’ (Internal quo-
tation marks omitted.) State v. Hedge, 297 Conn. 621,
657–58, 1 A.3d 1051 (2010).

The record supports a rational inference that the
defendant acted with the specific intent to defraud
because of evidence that the defendant and her mother
acted in concert before, on the day of, and after the fire.
The evidence supported the finding that the defendant’s
mother filed an insurance claim for the property damage
caused by her daughter. Prior to lighting the fire, the
defendant stowed valuables belonging to both her and
her mother in the trunk of her car. There was also
evidence that the defendant’s mother packed items in
her own car and made arrangements to be away from
her home when the defendant started the fire. This
culmination of the circumstantial evidence could lead
a reasonable jury to infer that the defendant did not
start the fire simply to destroy her mother’s home, but
that the defendant’s conduct was part of a plan to
defraud and that she possessed the requisite intent
when she started the fire.

The defendant also challenges her conspiracy convic-
tion on the limited ground that the evidence was insuffi-
cient to establish that she possessed the requisite mens
rea for the underlying crime. Because of our conclusion
that the defendant acted with an intent to defraud, how-
ever, there is sufficient evidence to support the infer-
ence that the defendant possessed the requisite intent
to commit the arson.

B

We finally address the defendant’s claim that there
was insufficient evidence that she violated § 53a-215
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(a) (2). Specifically, she argues that the insurance fraud
statute required the state to prove that she assisted or
conspired with another to make or prepare a statement
in connection with her mother’s fraudulent insurance
claim and that the state presented no evidence in this
regard. We agree with the defendant.

Section 53a-215 (a) provides in relevant part: ‘‘A per-
son is guilty of insurance fraud when the person, with
the intent to injure, defraud or deceive any insurance
company . . . (2) assists, abets, solicits, or conspires
with another to prepare or make any written or oral
statement that is intended to be presented to any insur-
ance company in connection with, or in support of, any
application for any policy of insurance or any claim for
payment or other benefit pursuant to such policy of
insurance, knowing that such statement contains any
false, incomplete, or misleading information concerning
any fact or thing material to such application or claim
for the purposes of defrauding such insurance com-
pany.’’ (Emphasis added.)

As there is no precedent from this court or our
Supreme Court interpreting the meaning of § 53a-215
(a) (2), our resolution of this portion of the defendant’s
claim becomes an issue of statutory interpretation. ‘‘The
process of statutory interpretation involves the determi-
nation of the meaning of the statutory language as
applied to the facts of the case . . . . When construing
a statute, [o]ur fundamental objective is to ascertain
and give effect to the apparent intent of the legislature.
. . . In other words, we seek to determine, in a rea-
soned manner, the meaning of the statutory language
as applied to the facts of [the] case . . . . In seeking
to determine that meaning . . . [General Statutes] § 1-
2z directs us first to consider the text of the statute itself
and its relationship to other statutes. If, after examining
such text and considering such relationship, the mean-
ing of such text is plain and unambiguous and does
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not yield absurd or unworkable results, extratextual
evidence of the meaning of the statute shall not be
considered.’’ (Footnote omitted; internal quotation
marks omitted.) State v. Leak, 297 Conn. 524, 532–33,
998 A.2d 1182 (2010). ‘‘Issues of statutory construction
raise questions of law, over which we exercise plenary
review.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.) State v.
Fernando A., 294 Conn. 1, 13, 981 A.2d 427 (2009).

Per the plain and unambiguous terms of § 53a-215
(a) (2), in order to establish guilt, the state must present
evidence that the defendant engaged in conduct related
to the making or preparing of the insurance claim. We
agree with the state that this does not require evidence
of physically filing the claim. We disagree with the
state’s argument, however, that the same evidence that
supports the defendant’s arson conviction can be used
to uphold her insurance fraud conviction. Although this
evidence supports the inference that the defendant
intended to defraud when she started the fire, it does
not reasonably support the inference that she engaged
in the making or preparation of the actual statement
given to Homesite. Ultimately, after a thorough review
of the record, we conclude that there is no evidence
that the defendant participated in the making or prepa-
ration of any statement provided to Homesite. Thus,
the defendant’s conviction under § 53-215 (a) (2) can-
not stand.

The judgment is reversed only with respect to the
defendant’s conviction of insurance fraud under § 53a-
215 (a) (2) and the case is remanded with direction to
render a judgment of acquittal on that charge and to
resentence the defendant on the conviction of arson in
the first degree, conspiracy to commit arson in the first
degree and insurance fraud in violation of § 53a-215 (a)
(3); the judgment is affirmed in all other respects.

In this opinion the other judges concurred.
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Syllabus

The plaintiff, a business invitee of the defendant company, brought this
premises liability action against the defendant, seeking to recover dam-
ages for personal injuries she sustained when she allegedly slipped and
fell on an accumulation of water while walking in the main aisle of the
defendant’s store. The plaintiff alleged that her fall was caused by, inter
alia, the defendant’s negligence and carelessness in creating the alleged
dangerous and hazardous condition on the floor, and failing to properly
inspect its premises to detect and remedy that condition. The defendant
filed a motion for summary judgment on the ground that there was no
factual basis on which a reasonable jury could find that the defendant
had actual or constructive notice of the alleged defect. In support, the
defendant attached an excerpt from the plaintiff’s deposition and an
affidavit of its employee, C. The plaintiff claimed that a genuine issue
of material fact existed as to whether the defendant had constructive
notice of the alleged defect and, in support of her objection, submitted
a copy of C’s deposition and a copy of a video recording of the events
leading up to, and including, the plaintiff’s fall. The trial court granted
the defendant’s motion for summary judgment and rendered judgment
thereon, from which the plaintiff appealed to this court. On appeal, the
plaintiff claimed, inter alia, that the trial court improperly concluded
that she failed to present evidence demonstrating the existence of a
disputed factual issue as to the matter of constructive notice. Specifi-
cally, she claimed that C’s deposition contained contradictions regarding
whether she actually performed a safety sweep of the main aisle prior
to the plaintiff’s fall and that C’s deposition testimony regarding the
time that had elapsed from her safety sweep of the main aisle to the
plaintiff’s fall was inconsistent. Held:

1. The trial court properly concluded that the defendant met its initial burden
of establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact with
respect to the constructive notice element of a premises liability action
for a business invitee; the defendant’s evidence, particularly C’s affidavit,
established a forty second maximum time period between the creation
of the defect and the plaintiff’s fall, and that brief period of time in
which the defect could have existed did not create a genuine issue of
material fact with respect to the constructive notice element, as the
defendant, acting through its employees’ exercise of due care, did not
have sufficient time to discover and remedy the alleged defect, a puddle
of water on the floor of its store.
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2. The trial court properly concluded that the plaintiff failed to present
evidence demonstrating the existence of a disputed factual issue as to the
constructive notice element: the plaintiff’s attempt to inject a question
of untruthfulness into C’s deposition regarding whether she had per-
formed a safety sweep was unsupported by the record, as the plaintiff’s
argument failed to appreciate the distinction between two different types
of safety sweeps performed at the defendant’s store, the plaintiff’s claim
that the surveillance video showed that C never looked down or directly
in the area of the plaintiff’s fall amounted to nothing more than specula-
tion on behalf of the plaintiff because it was not possible to discern
where C’s gaze was directed when she performed her safety sweep due
to the low quality of the video recording, and although C’s deposition
testimony regarding the time that had elapsed from her safety sweep
of the main aisle to the plaintiff’s fall included isolated references to
both a five and ten minute time frame, C’s deposition, when read as a
whole, demonstrated that the plaintiff’s fall occurred in the area where,
approximately forty seconds prior, C had conducted a safety sweep,
and that time period was confirmed by the video recording; moreover,
the plaintiff’s claim that the presence of snow on the ground on the day
of the plaintiff’s fall increased the defendant’s duty to keep its premises in
a reasonably safe condition was inadequately briefed and not reviewable.

Argued March 12—officially released September 11, 2018

Procedural History

Action to recover damages for personal injuries sus-
tained as a result of the defendant’s alleged negligence,
and for other relief, brought to the Superior Court in
the judicial district of Ansonia-Milford, where the court,
Tyma, J., granted the defendant’s motion for summary
judgment and rendered judgment thereon; thereafter,
the court denied the plaintiff’s motion to reargue and
for reconsideration, and the plaintiff appealed to this
court. Affirmed.

Ryan K. Miller, for the appellant (plaintiff).

Michael P. Kenney, with whom, on the brief, was
Kate J. Boucher, for the appellee (defendant).

Opinion

DiPENTIMA, C. J. In this premises liability action,
the plaintiff, Rebecca Bisson, challenges the summary
judgment rendered in favor of the defendant, Wal-Mart
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Stores, Inc.,1 in which the trial court determined that
(1) the defendant met its burden of establishing that
no genuine issue of material fact existed regarding con-
structive notice of the defect alleged and (2) that the
plaintiff’s own evidence did not establish the existence
of a genuine issue of material fact. We affirm the judg-
ment of the trial court.

The following facts and procedural history are rele-
vant to our consideration of the plaintiff’s appeal. The
plaintiff commenced this premises liability action on
November 13, 2013. In the amended complaint, dated
March 4, 2014, the plaintiff alleged that on February 12,
2013, she entered the defendant’s store in Naugatuck
with her aunt. While walking in the main aisle of the
store, the plaintiff slipped and fell on an accumulation
of water. The plaintiff suffered immediate pain in her
left knee, and an employee of the defendant quickly
offered her assistance.

The plaintiff claimed that her fall was caused by the
defendant’s negligence and carelessness in creating the
dangerous and hazardous condition on the floor, failing
to remedy the condition, failing to warn the plaintiff of
the condition, failing to properly inspect its premises to
detect and correct the condition and failing to exercise
reasonable care under the circumstances. The plaintiff
also claimed to have suffered a variety of injuries in
the fall as a result of the defendant’s negligence and
carelessness.2 The defendant filed an answer, denying
the allegations of negligence and carelessness, and
raised the special defense of comparative negligence.

1 The plaintiff named ‘‘Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.’’ as the defendant in her initial
complaint. Thereafter, the plaintiff amended the complaint to include the
proper legal name of the defendant, that is, ‘‘Wal-Mart Stores East I, L.P.’’

2 Specifically, the plaintiff alleged various injuries to her left knee, heart
palpitations, stomach pains and nausea, difficulty sleeping, headaches and
physical and emotional pain and suffering.
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On July 6, 2016, the defendant filed a motion for
summary judgment. Specifically, it argued that ‘‘[t]he
plaintiff’s negligence claim against [the defendant] fails
as a matter of law because there is no factual basis upon
which a reasonable jury could find that [the defendant],
through its agents, servants and/or employees, had
actual or constructive notice of the alleged defect at
issue.’’ Attached to the defendant’s memorandum of
law in support of the motion for summary judgment
were an excerpt of the plaintiff’s deposition and an
affidavit of Jennifer Card, an employee of the defendant,
who had offered assistance to the plaintiff after her fall.
Card’s affidavit stated: ‘‘[The plaintiff’s] fall occurred
in the exact area where I had performed a safety sweep
less than one minute ([forty] seconds) prior . . . [and]
I did not observe any water, or other liquid, on the area
of the floor where [the plaintiff] fell during my safety
sweep . . . .’’

On August 18, 2016, the plaintiff filed an objection
to the defendant’s motion for summary judgment. She
argued that ‘‘contradictory pieces of evidence . . .
bring about a material fact as to the length of time
the water, which caused the [p]laintiff to slip and fall,
existed.’’ Specifically, the plaintiff argued that Card’s
affidavit, which she labeled as ‘‘self-serving,’’ was con-
tradicted by Card’s deposition. Additionally, the plain-
tiff contended that a surveillance video, provided by
the defendant, disproved Card’s statements contained
in her affidavit and deposition.3

On September 16, 2016, the defendant replied to the
plaintiff’s objection. The defendant noted in its reply
memorandum that the plaintiff had failed to produce
the surveillance video for the trial court’s inspection

3 The plaintiff attached Card’s entire deposition and affidavit to her memo-
randum of law opposing the defendant’s motion for summary judgment.
The plaintiff did not, however, include a copy of the video with her memoran-
dum of law.
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and, therefore, that video was not part of the record
before the court on the summary judgment proceeding.
It did note, however, that if the surveillance video were
to be considered, it would support Card’s deposition
testimony and her affidavit.

On September 30, 2016, the plaintiff filed a surreply
memorandum, in which she argued that ‘‘[t]he surveil-
lance video depicts a different version of what is stated
in . . . Card’s deposition and affidavit. The [d]efen-
dant’s counsel gave this video to the undersigned, with-
out any objection or disagreement, several months ago.
It is hereby enclosed for the court’s review as an adden-
dum.’’ Attached to the surreply was an affidavit from
the plaintiff’s counsel stating that he had submitted a
USB flash drive to the court containing a true copy
of the February 12, 2013 surveillance video from the
defendant’s Naugatuck store that the defendant’s coun-
sel previously had mailed to him on August 28, 2015.

The court, Tyma, J., held a hearing on the motion
for summary judgment on November 21, 2016. At the
start of the hearing, the court noted that it had watched
the surveillance video twice in chambers with both
counsel present. The defendant’s counsel argued that
the video demonstrated that the claimed defect, water
on the floor, had existed for no more than one minute,
and more likely forty-two seconds. Specifically, the
defendant relied on Card’s affidavit and the surveillance
video to support its contention that she had scanned
the area of the plaintiff’s fall approximately forty sec-
onds prior to that event and did not see any water
on the floor. Such a minimal time period could not
constitute a sufficient length of time for constructive
notice of the defect, according to the defendant’s coun-
sel. Further, the defendant’s counsel also directed the
trial court to our decision in Hellamns v. Yale-New
Haven Hospital, Inc., 147 Conn. App. 405, 82 A.3d 677
(2013), cert. granted, 311 Conn. 918, 85 A.3d 652 (2014)
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(appeal withdrawn May 9, 2014), in support of the defen-
dant’s argument for summary judgment.

The plaintiff’s counsel challenged the defendant’s
claim that there was no genuine issue as to the duration
of the defect. Specifically, he argued that, given the fact
that there was snow on the ground outside on the day
of the plaintiff’s fall in the store, a genuine issue of
material fact existed as to whether the defendant had
‘‘taken reasonable steps to make sure that [its] invitees,
[its] customers, were safe under the circumstances.’’
The plaintiff’s counsel also claimed that inconsistencies
between Card’s affidavit and her deposition regarding
the nature and details of her ‘‘safety sweep’’ precluded
the granting of summary judgment in favor of the
defendant.

The court iterated that it had watched the surveil-
lance video twice and commented that it showed Card
walking down one of the main aisles of the defendant’s
store.4 Specifically, it noted that Card traversed the area
where the plaintiff’s accident would occur. The court
then stated: ‘‘And approximately forty to forty-two or
forty-three seconds later, we see the plaintiff come and
slip and fall in the spot where there’s allegedly water.
So we do know from the surveillance video that you
got that it’s consistent with [Card’s] deposition testi-
mony, that was about forty seconds.’’ The plaintiff’s

4 Specifically, the court stated: ‘‘We watched the video and we timed it.
So, the video shows that this store employee, Ms. Card, is walking down a
Wal-Mart, in one of the main aisles in Wal-Mart, and there’s people milling
about. And she walks, we watched it twice, she walks by the place where
allegedly water is. And approximately forty to forty-two or forty-three sec-
onds later, we see the plaintiff come and slip and fall in the spot where
there’s allegedly water. So, we do know from the surveillance video that
you got that it’s consistent with her deposition testimony, that was about
forty seconds. . . . It was forty seconds, forty-two, forty-three. It’s less
than a minute, no doubt about that.’’ Later, the court noted that the video
established a time frame of approximately forty seconds from the time that
Card walked in the main aisle to the plaintiff’s fall at that location.
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counsel subsequently claimed that the video supported
the claim that a reasonable person could conclude that
water had been on the floor for a longer period of time.

The court then rendered an oral decision5 granting the
defendant’s motion for summary judgment. It expressly
based its decision on Card’s affidavit, her deposition
testimony and the surveillance video.6 It concluded that
the defendant had met its initial burden of demonstra-
ting that there was no genuine issue of material fact
that the defendant did not have constructive notice of
the water on the floor.7 It then determined that the
plaintiff had failed to meet her burden of offering con-
trary evidence demonstrating the existence of a genuine
issue of material fact.8 The court subsequently denied

5 The court, in lieu of issuing a written memorandum of decision, signed
a copy of the transcript on December 5, 2016. See Practice Book § 64-1 (a).

6 As noted, the court and the parties referred to the surveillance video at the
November 21, 2016 hearing regarding the defendant’s motion for summary
judgment. On appeal, the parties discussed this video in their respective
appellate briefs. At oral argument before this court, however, the defendant’s
counsel commented that the surveillance video was not part of the appel-
late record.

Subsequent to oral argument, we issued an order, sua sponte, instructing
the trial court and counsel for the parties to rectify the record and to provide
this court with a copy of the February 12, 2013 surveillance video on a USB
flash drive. On May 7, 2018, the parties filed, and the trial court accepted,
a stipulation that the attached USB flash drive contained a copy of the
requested video. We have reviewed the surveillance video provided by
the parties.

7 Specifically, the court stated: ‘‘So based upon the evidence, particularly,
the affidavit of . . . Card, and the surveillance video that I’ve seen . . .
the defendant . . . has met its burden, initial burden of proof showing that
there’s no genuine issue of material fact that [the defendant] did not have
constructive notice of this water on the floor. This is not an actual defect,
actual notice case.’’

8 Specifically, the court stated: ‘‘The plaintiff has not met [her] burden to
offer contrary evidence from which a jury reasonably can conclude that
[the defendant] had notice of the water on the floor and failed to take
reasonable steps to remedy it after the notice. The plaintiff’s entire argument,
in view of the evidence, is based upon the plaintiff, in essence, making [the
defendant] an insurer of the safety of all its business invitees on the premises.
There’s absolutely no evidence as to how long the water existed on the
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the plaintiff’s motion for reconsideration or reargu-
ment. This appeal followed.

We begin with our standard of review and the relevant
legal principles. The fundamental purpose of summary
judgment is to prevent unnecessary trials. Stuart v.
Freiberg, 316 Conn. 809, 822, 116 A.3d 1195 (2015). ‘‘The
standard by which we review a trial court’s decision to
grant a motion for summary judgment is well estab-
lished. Summary judgment shall be rendered forthwith
if the pleadings, affidavits and any other proof submit-
ted show that there is no genuine issue as to any mate-
rial fact and that the moving party is entitled to
judgment as a matter of law. . . . In deciding a motion
for summary judgment, the trial court must view the
evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving
party. . . . Although the party seeking summary judg-
ment has the burden of showing the nonexistence of
any material fact . . . a party opposing summary judg-
ment must substantiate its adverse claim by showing
that there is a genuine issue of material fact together
with the evidence disclosing the existence of such an
issue. . . . It is not enough . . . for the opposing
party merely to assert the existence of such a disputed
issue. . . . Mere assertions of fact, whether contained
in a complaint or in a brief, are insufficient to establish
the existence of a material fact and, therefore, cannot
refute evidence properly presented to the court [in sup-
port of a motion for summary judgment]. . . .

‘‘As a general rule, then, [w]hen a motion for summary
judgment is filed and supported by affidavits and other
documents, an adverse party, by affidavit or as other-
wise provided by . . . [the rules of practice], must set
forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue
for trial, and if he does not so respond, summary judg-
ment shall be entered against him. . . . Requiring the

floor prior to the plaintiff’s fall. And to find otherwise would be to inject
speculation into the case.’’
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nonmovant to produce such evidence does not shift the
burden of proof. Rather, it ensures that the nonmovant
has not raised a specious issue for the sole purpose of
forcing the case to trial. . . .

‘‘More specifically, [t]he party opposing a motion for
summary judgment must present evidence that demon-
strates the existence of some disputed factual issue
. . . . The movant has the burden of showing the
nonexistence of such issues but the evidence thus pre-
sented, if otherwise sufficient, is not rebutted by the
bald statement that an issue of fact does exist. . . . To
oppose a motion for summary judgment successfully,
the nonmovant must recite specific facts . . . which
contradict those stated in the movant’s affidavits and
documents. . . . The opposing party to a motion for
summary judgment must substantiate its adverse claim
by showing that there is a genuine issue of material
fact together with the evidence disclosing the existence
of such an issue. . . . The existence of the genuine
issue of material fact must be demonstrated by counter-
affidavits and concrete evidence. . . . Our review of
the trial court’s decision to grant a motion for summary
judgment is plenary.’’ (Citation omitted; emphasis in
original; internal quotation marks omitted.) Bruno v.
Whipple, 162 Conn. App. 186, 213–15, 130 A.3d 899
(2015), cert. denied, 321 Conn. 901, 138 A.3d 280 (2016);
see also Practice Book § 17-49.

The parties do not dispute that the complaint set forth
a claim of negligence based upon premises liability, that
the plaintiff was a business invitee9 and that this was

9 ‘‘A business invitee is a person who is invited to enter or remain on land
for a purpose directly or indirectly connected with business dealings with
the possessor of the land.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Gargano v.
Azpiri, 110 Conn. App. 502, 506, 955 A.2d 593 (2008). As a result of this
status, the defendant owed the plaintiff the duty to keep its premises in a
reasonably safe condition. Baptiste v. Better Val-U Supermarket, Inc., 262
Conn. 135, 140, 811 A.2d 687 (2002); Gulycz v. Stop & Shop Cos., 29 Conn.
App. 519, 521, 615 A.2d 1087, cert. denied, 224 Conn. 923, 618 A.2d 527 (1992).
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a constructive notice case. Accordingly, the following
relevant legal principles apply to this action. ‘‘To hold
the defendant liable for her personal injuries . . . the
plaintiff must prove (1) the existence of a defect, (2)
that the defendant knew or in the exercise of reasonable
care should have known about the defect and (3) that
such defect had existed for such a length of time that
the [defendant] should, in the exercise of reasonable
care, have discovered it in time to remedy it.’’ (Internal
quotation marks omitted.) Palmieri v. Stop & Shop
Cos., 103 Conn. App. 121, 123–24, 927 A.2d 371 (2007);
see also Martin v. Stop & Shop Supermaket Cos., 70
Conn. App. 250, 251, 796 A.2d 1277 (2002).

Our Supreme Court has explained that ‘‘[f]or [a] plain-
tiff to recover for the breach of a duty owed to [him]
as [a business] invitee, it [is] incumbent upon [him] to
allege and prove that the defendant either had actual
notice of the presence of the specific unsafe condition
which caused [his injury] or constructive notice of it.
. . . [T]he notice, whether actual or constructive, must
be notice of the very defect which occasioned the injury
and not merely of conditions naturally productive of
that defect even though subsequently in fact producing
it. . . . In the absence of allegations and proof of any
facts that would give rise to an enhanced duty . . . [a]
defendant is held to the duty of protecting its business
invitees from known, foreseeable dangers. . . .

‘‘Accordingly, business owners do not breach their
duty to invitees by failing to remedy a danger unless
they had actual or constructive notice of that danger.
To defeat a motion for summary judgment in a case
based on allegedly defective conditions, the plaintiff
has the burden of offering evidence from which a jury
reasonably could conclude that the defendant had
notice of the condition and failed to take reasonable
steps to remedy the condition after such notice.’’ (Cita-
tion omitted; emphasis added; internal quotation marks
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omitted.) DiPietro v. Farmington Sports Arena, LLC,
306 Conn. 107, 116–17, 49 A.3d 951 (2012); see also
Kelly v. Stop & Shop, Inc., 281 Conn. 768, 776, 918
A.2d 249 (2007); see generally Colombo v. Stop & Shop
Supermarket Co., 67 Conn. App. 62, 64, 787 A.2d 5
(2001) (‘‘The law concerning notice in this type of case
is clear. The plaintiff bore the burden of proffering some
evidence, either direct or circumstantial, from which
the jury could infer that the defect she allegedly encoun-
tered existed for a length of time sufficient to put the
defendant on actual or constructive notice of its exis-
tence.’’), cert. denied, 259 Conn. 912, 789 A.2d 993
(2002).

‘‘The controlling question in deciding whether the
defendant had constructive notice of the defective con-
dition is whether the condition had existed for such a
length of time that the defendants’ employees should,
in the exercise of due care, have, discovered it in time
to have remedied it. . . . What constitutes a reason-
able length of time within which the defendant should
have learned of the defect, how that knowledge should
have been acquired, and the time within which, there-
after, the defect should have been remedied are matters
to be determined in light of the particular circumstances
of each case. The nature of the business and the location
of the defective condition would be factors in this deter-
mination. To a considerable degree each case must be
decided on its own circumstances.’’ (Internal quotation
marks omitted.) Hellamns v. Yale-New Haven Hospital,
Inc., supra, 147 Conn. App. 408–409; see Considine v.
Waterbury, 279 Conn. 830, 870, 905 A.2d 70 (2006); see
also Gulycz v. Stop & Shop Cos., 29 Conn. App. 519,
521, 615 A.2d 1087 (whether defendant had constructive
notice of condition causing defect turns on whether
condition existed for length of time sufficient for defen-
dant’s employees, in exercise of due care, to discover
defect in time to have remedied it), cert. denied, 224
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Conn. 923, 618 A.2d 527 (1992). Nevertheless, as we
will discuss in greater detail, a defect lasting under a
minute has been held to be, as a matter of law, insuffi-
cient for a defendant to have discovered and remedied
it, and thus fatal to a premises liability action. See, e.g.,
James v. Valley-Shore Y.M.C.A., Inc., 125 Conn. App.
174, 183, 6 A.3d 1199 (2010) (no evidence that allegedly
defective condition existed for such length of time that
defendant’s employees should have discovered it in
exercise of due care and remedied it and, therefore,
defendant entitled to summary judgment), cert. denied,
300 Conn. 916, 13 A.3d 1103 (2011).

First, the plaintiff argues that the court improperly
concluded that the defendant met its initial burden of
establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material
fact. Specifically, she contends that Card’s affidavit10

was insufficient to demonstrate that no genuine issues
of material fact existed.11 We disagree.

The following additional facts are necessary for our
analysis. The defendant moved for summary judgment

10 The plaintiff describes Card’s affidavit as ‘‘self-serving.’’ We disagree
with this description. Card is not a party to this action; she is an employee
of the defendant. Additionally, employees of businesses frequently provide
such affidavits in preparation for litigation. See, e.g., Webster Bank v. Flana-
gan, 51 Conn. App. 733, 749, 725 A.2d 975 (1999). Additionally, Card made
a sworn statement before a notary public, subjecting her to penalty for giving
false information. See id. Finally, we note that Card’s affidavit comports
with the requirements of Practice Book § 17-46, and the plaintiff failed to
file a motion to strike her affidavit. See, e.g., Doe v. West Hartford, 328
Conn. 172, 178, 177 A.3d 1128 (2018).

11 The plaintiff also contends that the court ‘‘flipped the burden of proof,
[reading] the facts in the light most favorable to the [d]efendant, the moving
party, rather than in the light most favorable to [the] [p]laintiff.’’ The plaintiff
offers no support for the bald assertion that the court improperly viewed
the facts in a light most favorable to the defendant. Absent evidence to the
contrary, we presume that the court acted properly. LeSueur v. LeSueur,
172 Conn. App. 767, 785–86, 162 A.3d 32 (2017); see also Magsig v. Magsig,
183 Conn. App. 182, 196, A.3d (2018) (this court will presume trial
court acted properly in performance of its duties). Accordingly, we reject
this meritless contention.
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on July 6, 2016. It attached a memorandum of law, a
portion of the plaintiff’s deposition, dated August 6,
2015, and an affidavit from Card dated August 12, 2015.
In her deposition, the plaintiff had stated that there was
snow on the ground on February 12, 2013, and that the
liquid she had slipped on looked like water, was clear
and did not have carriage track marks going through
it. She also noted that Card had approached her after
the fall and inquired if the plaintiff was okay or wanted
to speak with a manager.

Card’s affidavit set forth the following: Card was
working on February 12, 2013; she witnessed the plain-
tiff’s slip and fall; the plaintiff’s fall occurred in the
‘‘exact area’’ that Card had performed a ‘‘safety sweep
less than one minute ([forty] seconds) prior’’; during
the ‘‘safety sweep’’ Card had not observed any liquid,
water or otherwise, where the plaintiff’s fall occurred;
after the plaintiff’s fall, Card noticed, for the first time,
a small puddle of water at the site of the plaintiff’s fall;
and Card believed that the water had originated from
snow melting off the boots of several children who had
been standing in that area. The affidavit emphasized
that ‘‘[t]he water was not on the floor for more than
[forty] seconds before the fall.’’

We emphasize that the defendant, as the movant for
summary judgment, bore the burden of establishing the
nonexistence of any genuine issue of material fact and
that it was entitled to judgment as a matter of law under
the relevant principles of our premises liability law. See
Romprey v. Safeco Ins. Co. of America, 310 Conn. 304,
319–20, 77 A.3d 726 (2013); see also Capasso v.
Christmann, 163 Conn. App. 248, 258–59, 135 A.3d
733 (2016).

The defendant submitted evidence that the liquid on
the floor in the main aisle of the store at the site of the
plaintiff’s fall had been there for no more than forty
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seconds following Card’s safety sweep.12 Specifically,
Card’s affidavit established this time frame. She averred
that she had performed a safety sweep in the ‘‘exact
area’’ of the plaintiff’s fall forty seconds later. At the
time of her sweep, Card observed no liquid on the floor.
Card further posited that the water on the floor had
come from snow melting off the boots of four to five
children. Additionally, as further support for this
sequence of events, the defendant had produced testi-
mony from the plaintiff’s deposition that the liquid on
the floor was clear and did not have any carriage marks
running through it. The unsullied nature of the spill
supported the time frame claimed by the defendant.13

The trial court then considered whether, under our
case law, a genuine issue of material fact existed with
respect to the issue of constructive notice. We iterate
that ‘‘[t]he controlling question in deciding whether the
defendants had constructive notice of the defective con-
dition is whether the condition existed for such a length
of time that the defendants should, in the exercise of
reasonable care, have discovered it in time to remedy
it. . . . What constitutes a reasonable length of time
is largely a question of fact to be determined in the light
of the particular circumstances of a case.’’ (Citation
omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) Considine
v. Waterbury, supra, 279 Conn. 870; see also Hellamns
v. Yale-New Haven Hospital, Inc., supra, 147 Conn.
App. 408–409. In the absence of evidence that the
claimed defect existed for such a length of time that

12 At the hearing before the trial court, defense counsel relied on Card’s
affidavit, Card’s deposition testimony and the video recording from the
store, to support the argument that the water had been on the floor for less
than one minute.

13 But see Colombo v. Stop & Shop Supermarket Co., supra, 67 Conn. App.
62–65 (trial court properly directed defendant’s verdict where plaintiff’s only
evidence as to length of time that milk was on floor was fact that it was dirty,
and this court noted that to conclude otherwise would permit conclusion
regarding time of defect’s existence solely on conjecture and speculation).
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the defendant, through exercise of due care by its
employees, should have discovered and remedied it,
we have affirmed the granting of summary judgment
in favor of the defendant. See James v. Valley-Shore
Y.M.C.A., Inc., supra, 125 Conn. App. 179–83.

We agree with the trial court that the defendant satis-
fied its initial burden of demonstrating that there was
no genuine issue of material fact with respect to the
element of constructive notice.14 The defendant’s evi-
dence, particularly Card’s affidavit, established a forty
second maximum time period between the creation of
the defect and the plaintiff’s fall. Under our case law,
a forty second window constitutes an insufficient
period of time for a business owner to discover and
remedy a small puddle of water on the floor in the
exercise of due care.

For example, in White v. E & F Construction Co.,
151 Conn. 110, 111–12, 193 A.2d 716 (1963), the plaintiff,
an employee of a tenant in the apartment house owned
by the defendant, removed laundry from an outdoor
clothesline due to rain. After placing the clothes into a
basket, the plaintiff proceeded to the basement stairs.
Id., 112. She slipped on the wet landing and fell to
the basement floor. Id. ‘‘About two minutes before the
plaintiff fell, her employer had noticed that the steps
were wet by reason of rain which was coming through

14 During the hearing on the motion for summary judgment, the plaintiff’s
counsel argued that the defendant had not provided enough evidence regard-
ing the question of constructive notice. The trial court disagreed: ‘‘[The
defendant has] shown plenty of evidence. My question is now the burden
shifts to you. You have to come forth with what evidence do you have that
the water existed for a sufficient length of time such that the defendant
should have been on notice of that and remedied it. What is it? The burden
is on you now. [The defendant has] met [its] burden.’’ The plaintiff’s counsel
disagreed that the defendant had met its initial burden of submitting evidence
that there was no genuine issue of material fact as to the element of construc-
tive notice. The court responded: ‘‘But assume [the defendant] has because
I’m telling you [it] has.’’
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the open doorway. . . . Therefore, the crucial question
is whether the water had been there for such a length
of time that the defendant should, in the exercise of
due care, have discovered it in time to have removed
it.’’ (Citations omitted.) Id., 112–13.

The trial court directed a verdict for the defendant
following the presentation of evidence. Id., 111. In
affirming the judgment of the trial court, our Supreme
Court stated: ‘‘The evidence reveals no more than that
the condition which caused the plaintiff to fall had
been present for about two minutes before the time she
entered the building. This evidence would not support
a finding that the condition had existed for a sufficient
length of time to charge the defendant with constructive
notice of it.’’ Id., 113–14.

More recently, this court considered whether a plain-
tiff had established that a defendant had constructive
notice in Hellamns v. Yale-New Haven Hospital, Inc.,
supra, 147 Conn. App. 411–14.15 In that case, the plaintiff
slipped and fell on a puddle of water while walking in
the hallway of a medical building owned by the defen-
dant. Id., 407. ‘‘A janitor, pushing a cart with cleaning

15 The plaintiff contends that the trial court improperly relied on our
decision in Hellamns due to the procedural posture of that case. We acknowl-
edge that that appeal stemmed from a judgment for the plaintiff following
a court trial. Hellamns v. Yale-New Haven Hospital, Inc., supra, 147 Conn.
App. 407. In that case, we agreed with the defendant that the trial court
had applied a standard of care contrary to law and that the plaintiff had
failed to establish that the defendant had notice of the defect. Id., 407–14.
For these reasons, we reversed the judgment of the trial court and remanded
the case with direction to render judgment for the defendant. Id., 414.

Despite the procedural differences between Hellamns and the present
case, we conclude that the guidance that the former provides regarding the
matter of constructive notice informs our analysis in the latter. Specifically,
the principle that ‘‘[e]vidence establishing that the defective condition
existed a few seconds before the accident is insufficient to establish that
the defendant had constructive notice of that defect’’ applies whether at
the summary judgment stage or a judgment for a party subsequent to trial.
Id., 413. Accordingly, we disagree with the plaintiff that the court erred in
relying on Hellamns.
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material and a warning sign, walked past the spot where
the water had accumulated just prior to the plaintiff
falling.’’ Id. Following the trial, the court, acting as the
fact finder, rendered judgment in favor of the plain-
tiff. Id.

On appeal, we agreed with the defendant that the
plaintiff had failed to establish that it had notice of
the defect. Id., 411. We noted that the only evidence
regarding the issue of notice was the plaintiff’s testi-
mony that ‘‘a janitor walked past the puddle of water
just before she fell.’’ Id., 412. We concluded that this
evidence was insufficient to support the finding that
the defendant had notice of the defect and time to
remedy it. Id., 413. ‘‘First, the plaintiff did not present
the janitor, or any other employee . . . to establish for
the court that the janitor actually saw the puddle of
water before the accident. . . . Second, the plaintiff’s
testimony established that a janitor passed the puddle
of water only seconds before the plaintiff fell. Evidence
establishing that the defective condition existed a few
seconds before the accident is insufficient to establish
that the defendant had constructive notice of that
defect. . . .

‘‘Third, the plaintiff failed to establish that notice
could be imputed to the defendant because the plaintiff
did not present any evidence to establish that cleaning
the specific hallway where the accident occurred was
within the janitor’s scope of employment.’’ (Citations
omitted; emphasis added.) Id.

For these reasons, we concluded in Hellamns that
the trial court’s finding that the defendant had notice
of the defect was clearly erroneous and remanded the
case with direction to render judgment for the defen-
dant. Id., 414; see also Correa v. Westfield America,
Inc., Superior Court, judicial district of Middlesex,
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Docket No. CV-13-6010576-S (October 2, 2014) (defen-
dant property owner entitled to summary judgment on
plaintiff’s premises liability action where undisputed
evidence demonstrated spill existed for only two
minutes prior to fall); Mason v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.,
Superior Court, judicial district of Hartford, Docket No.
CV-10-6013281-S (May 1, 2012) (53 Conn. L. Rptr. 882,
883) (rendering judgment for defendant where plaintiff
fell one minute after water had accumulated on floor
from mulch bag and noting that ‘‘[i]t would be unreason-
able . . . to find that the defendant has constructive
notice of a hazardous condition that had been in exis-
tence for but one minute . . . [and that] [t]he defen-
dant’s store is large, and such minute-to-minute
monitoring would be unfeasible’’).

In summary, the defendant submitted evidence that
the defective condition in this case, a puddle of water,
existed for, at most, forty seconds prior to the plaintiff’s
fall. Our Supreme Court has cautioned that ‘‘[e]vidence
which goes no farther than to show the presence of a
slippery foreign substance does not warrant an infer-
ence of constructive notice to the defendant.’’ (Internal
quotation marks omitted.) Kelly v. Stop & Shop, Inc.,
supra, 281 Conn. 777. Additionally, we are mindful that,
under our law, business owners are not insurers of their
customers’ safety. Id., 790; Hellamns v. Yale-New Haven
Hospital, Inc., supra, 147 Conn. App. 410. We disagree
with the plaintiff’s statement that the defendant must
offer ‘‘evidence of exactly how long the alleged defect
was there . . . .’’16 Rather, to prevail on its motion for

16 We have held that if a plaintiff fails to present any evidence as to the
duration of the existence of a defect, the court properly may dismiss the
action for failing to make out a prima facie case. Gulycz v. Stop & Shop
Cos., supra, 29 Conn. App. 521–23; see also McCrorey v. Heilpern, 170 Conn.
220, 221–22, 365 A.2d 1057 (1976) (Supreme Court reversed judgment in
favor of plaintiff and remanded with direction to render judgment for defen-
dant where plaintiff produced no evidence regarding length of time hole in
floor outside plaintiff’s apartment had existed); Drible v. Village Improve-
ment Co., 123 Conn. 20, 23–24, 192 A. 308 (1937) (trial court properly set
aside jury verdict and rendered judgment for defendant where plaintiff



Page 75ACONNECTICUT LAW JOURNALSeptember 11, 2018

184 Conn. App. 619 SEPTEMBER, 2018 637

Bisson v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.

summary judgment, the defendant had to establish that
the time period in which the defect could have existed
was of such a minimal duration that its employees could
not have been expected to discover and remedy it in
the exercise of due care. James v. Valley-Shore
Y.M.C.A., Inc., supra, 125 Conn. App. 183.

Consistent with this case law, the brief period of time
in which the defect could have existed here does not
create a genuine issue of material fact with respect to
the constructive notice element of a premises liability
action for a business invitee. Stated differently, under
these facts and circumstances, the defendant, acting
through its employee’s exercise of due care, did not
have enough time to discover and remedy a puddle of
water on the floor of its store. Therefore, the defendant
met its initial burden of establishing that it was entitled
to summary judgment. Romprey v. Safeco Ins. Co. of
America, supra, 310 Conn. 320.

Next, the plaintiff argues that the court improperly
concluded that she failed to present evidence demon-
strating the existence of a disputed factual issue as to
the matter of notice. See, e.g., Kurisoo v. Ziegler, 174
Conn. App. 462, 468–69, 166 A.3d 75 (2017). Specifically,
she contends that the evidence attached to her objec-
tion to the motion for summary judgment and her surre-
ply established the existence of genuine issues of
material fact so as to warrant the denial of the motion
for summary judgment. We disagree.

The following additional facts will facilitate our dis-
cussion. The plaintiff filed her objection to the defen-
dant’s motion for summary judgment on August 18,
2016. In addition to her memorandum of law, the plain-
tiff filed the transcript of Card’s deposition, dated
August 3, 2016, and Card’s August 12, 2015 affidavit,

provided no evidence as to length of time snow and ice had been on steps
of building where plaintiff fell).
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which had been attached to the defendant’s memoran-
dum. In the memorandum of law, the plaintiff referred
to the video recording of the events leading up to, and
including, her fall on February 12, 2013. The plaintiff
included a copy of the video recording as an addendum
to her surreply, dated September 30, 2016.

During her deposition, Card stated that employees
of the defendant are required to perform safety sweeps
any time they walk within the store. This obligation
involves ‘‘picking up any items . . . picking up any-
thing that is on [the store’s] white tiles, putting it . . .
back on the shelves.’’ Card explained that, as a result
of this requirement, she looked for potential hazards
present on the floor any time she walked within the
store. In contrast to this type of safety sweep, which
was to be done at all times, the defendant’s employees
also conducted paged safety sweeps. At certain times,
an overhead page informed the employees to stop their
work, ‘‘walk the perimeter of [their] department, and
. . . make sure everything is safe for the customers
and [employees].’’ Card noted that she was ‘‘observant
at all times.’’

In her deposition, Card stated that on February 12,
2013, although there had been no page, she had per-
formed a safety sweep of the area where the plaintiff
fell. Card specifically indicated that she had been look-
ing down at the floor, and that there was ‘‘no chance’’
she was looking in the opposite direction, at her cell
phone, or at a customer when she passed that particular
spot. Although she initially claimed to have spoken with
a customer for ten minutes, she immediately reconsid-
ered her response and stated that it ‘‘was only like five
minutes.’’ After being reminded of the video recording,
Card stated that she had performed the safety sweep
forty seconds prior to the plaintiff’s fall. After iterating
that it was forty seconds, Card noted that it could have
been ‘‘[m]aybe under a minute.’’ Later, Card indicated
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that the water which had caused the plaintiff to fall
was not present during her safety sweep. After a further
colloquy with the plaintiff’s counsel, Card resolutely
indicated that the fall occurred forty seconds after her
safety sweep.

On appeal, the plaintiff appears to argue that Card’s
deposition contains contradictions regarding whether
she ‘‘truly’’ performed a safety sweep prior to the plain-
tiff’s fall.17 We do not agree. As noted, Card stated in
her deposition that the defendant’s employees were
required to perform safety sweeps whenever they were
walking within the store. In addition, Card described a
paged safety sweep, when employees check the perime-
ters of their assigned departments for any hazards fol-
lowing an overhead page. The plaintiff’s argument fails
to appreciate the two types of safety sweeps performed
at the defendant’s store. Although Card stated that she
had not performed a paged safety sweep in the main
aisle prior to the plaintiff’s fall, her statement was con-
sistent with her testimony that safety sweeps are to be
done any time an employee walks in the store. The
plaintiff’s attempt to inject a question of untruthfulness
or incredibility into Card’s deposition regarding
whether she had performed a safety sweep is unsup-
ported by the record.

The plaintiff next argues that the surveillance video
shows that Card ‘‘never looked down or directly in [the]
area’’ of the plaintiff’s fall. She further maintains this
‘‘fact’’ contradicts Card’s deposition testimony and affi-
davit, and, therefore, creates a genuine issue of material
fact. We disagree. We have reviewed the surveillance

17 Specifically, the plaintiff argues in her brief that ‘‘[t]he fact that . . .
Card says she was on a safety sweep, because she is always on a safety
sweep during her entire shift, but it was not a called safety sweep by Wal-
Mart, brings up a big question as to the truthfulness and credibility of those
statements, which should be weighed by the trier of fact.’’
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video recording and disagree with the plaintiff’s con-
tention that it depicts precisely where Card was looking
at the time of her safety sweep in the main aisle just
prior to the plaintiff’s fall. Due to the presence of other
shoppers, and the quality of the video, it is not possible
to discern where Card’s gaze was directed. This argu-
ment, therefore, amounts to nothing more than specula-
tion on behalf of the plaintiff, which has no place in
appellate review. See Rafalko v. University of New
Haven, 129 Conn. App. 44, 54, 19 A.3d 215 (2011) (specu-
lation and conjecture have no place in appellate
review).

The plaintiff also argues that Card’s deposition testi-
mony regarding the time that had elapsed from her
safety sweep of the main aisle to the plaintiff’s fall was
inconsistent, varying from forty seconds to five minutes
to ten minutes. As a result, the plaintiff contends that
a genuine issue of material fact exists.18 We disagree.
Despite her isolated references to a ten minute time
frame, and then to a five minute time frame, Card’s
deposition, read as a whole, demonstrates her view that
the plaintiff’s fall occurred in the area where, approxi-
mately forty seconds prior, she had conducted a
safety sweep.

Additionally, this forty second time period is con-
firmed by the video recording. When a court is pre-
sented with such evidence in deciding a motion for
summary judgment, it should view the facts in the light
depicted by the recording. Scott v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372,
378–81, 127 S. Ct. 1769, 167 L. Ed. 2d 686 (2007);19 see

18 In its oral decision, the trial court acknowledged that Card’s deposition
testimony regarding the time between her safety sweep and the plaintiff’s
fall got ‘‘a little bit muddied.’’

19 In Scott v. Harris, supra, 550 U.S. 374–75, the petitioner, a Georgia
county police deputy, employed a certain technique to stop the respondent,
an individual who had led law enforcement on a high speed pursuit for
nearly ten minutes. As a result, the respondent crashed his vehicle and was
rendered a quadriplegic. Id., 375. The respondent filed an excessive force
action, and the petitioner moved for summary judgment on the basis of
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also Alvarez v. Building & Land Technology Corp.,
Superior Court, judicial district of Stamford-Norwalk,
Docket No. CV-13-6017699-S (February 7, 2018) (video
recording used to determine that there was no material
issue of fact); Carter v. Board of Education, Superior
Court, judicial district of New London, Docket No. CV-
14-6022709-S (October 20, 2015) (citing Scott v. Harris,
supra, 380, and noting that when opposing parties tell
two different contradictory stories, one of which is con-
tradicted by record so that no reasonable jury could
believe it, court should not adopt that version of facts);
Sipes v. Serrano, Superior Court, judicial district of
Tolland, Docket No. CV-07-5001483-S (July 25, 2007)
(43 Conn. L. Rptr. 832, 833) (same).

Finally, the plaintiff argues that, due to the presence
of snow on the ground on the day of her fall, the defen-
dant ‘‘should have taken steps to remedy the fact that
the snow caused a heightened dangerous condition to

qualified immunity. Id., 375–76. The United States District Court for the
Northern District of Georgia denied the petitioner’s motion, and the United
States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit affirmed that judgment.
Id., 376.

In reversing the judgment of the Court of Appeals, the United States
Supreme Court first noted that the parties had presented vastly different
versions of the events that resulted in the respondent’s injuries. Id., 378–79.
It then stated that, generally, a court was obligated to view the facts in the
light most favorable to the nonmoving party, the respondent in this case.
Id., 378. ‘‘There is, however, an added wrinkle in this case: existence in the
record of a videotape capturing the events in question. There are no allega-
tions or indications that this videotape was doctored or altered in any way,
nor any contention that what it depicts differs from what actually happened.
The videotape quite clearly contradicts the version of the story told by
respondent and adopted by the Court of Appeals.’’ Id.

The United States Supreme Court further noted that ‘‘[w]hen opposing
parties tell two different stories, one of which is blatantly contradicted by
the record, so that no reasonable jury could believe it, a court should not
adopt that version of the facts for purposes of ruling on a motion for summary
judgment. . . . Respondent’s version of events is so utterly discredited by
the record that no reasonable jury could have believed him. The Court of
Appeals should not have relied on such visible fiction; it should have viewed
the facts in the light depicted by the videotape.’’ Id., 380–81.
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the floors, where countless numbers of its invitees were
walking. If there is snow on the ground, it is foreseeable
that the snow would constitute a known and foresee-
able danger.’’ To the extent that the plaintiff suggests
that the presence of snow on the ground increased the
defendant’s duty to keep its premises in a reasonably
safe condition, we conclude that this argument is inade-
quately briefed. ‘‘We consistently have held that [a]naly-
sis, rather than mere abstract assertion, is required in
order to avoid abandoning an issue by failure to brief
the issue properly. . . . [F]or this court judiciously and
efficiently to consider claims of error raised on appeal
. . . the parties must clearly and fully set forth their
arguments in their briefs. We do not reverse the judg-
ment of a trial court on the basis of challenges to its
rulings that have not been adequately briefed. . . . The
parties may not merely cite a legal principle without
analyzing the relationship between the facts of the case
and the law cited. . . . It is not enough merely to men-
tion a possible argument in the most skeletal way, leav-
ing the court to do counsel’s work, create the ossature
for the argument, and put flesh on its bones.’’ (Internal
quotation marks omitted.) Cadle Co. v. Ogalin, 175
Conn. App. 1, 8, 167 A.3d 402, cert. denied, 327 Conn.
930, 171 A.3d 454 (2017).

Having considered and rejected the plaintiff’s sundry
arguments, we conclude that the court properly deter-
mined that the defendant met its initial burden of pro-
ducing evidence that there was no genuine issue of
material fact with respect to the constructive notice
element of the plaintiff’s claim. Additionally, the plain-
tiff failed to set forth evidence demonstrating a genuine
issue of material fact regarding that issue. Accordingly,
the court properly granted the defendant’s motion for
summary judgment.

The judgment is affirmed.

In this opinion the other judges concurred.
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A BETTER WAY WHOLESALE AUTOS, INC. v.
SHANNON GAUSE

(AC 40033)

DiPentima, C. J., and Moll and Harper, Js.

Syllabus

The plaintiff used car dealer sought to vacate an arbitration award in favor
of the defendant in connection with the defendant’s purchase of a vehicle
from the plaintiff in which the plaintiff failed to disclose that the vehicle
was a manufacturer buyback. The defendant brought an arbitration
claim against the plaintiff, alleging violations of numerous state and
federal laws related to the sale of the vehicle. The arbitration submission
was unrestricted. The arbitrator found that the vehicle did not have
a windshield sticker or any other conspicuous display disclosing the
vehicle’s status as a manufacturer buyback and that the purchase order
failed to clearly and conspicuously disclose its manufacturer buyback
status, as required by statute (§ 42-179 [g] [1]) and state regulation
(§ 42-179-9). The arbitrator concluded that the plaintiff had violated a
provision (§ 42-110b [c]) of the Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act
(CUTPA) and awarded the defendant compensatory damages, punitive
damages, attorney’s fees and costs. Thereafter, the plaintiff filed an
application to vacate the arbitration award pursuant to the statute (§ 52-
418 [a] [4]) governing the vacating of arbitration awards, and the defen-
dant filed a motion to confirm the award. The trial court denied the
application to vacate and granted the motion to confirm the award,
concluding that there was no manifest disregard of the law by the
arbitrator. On the plaintiff’s appeal to this court, held:

1. Contrary to the defendant’s claim that the appeal was moot because the
plaintiff failed to oppose her motion to confirm the award, the plaintiff
could have obtained practical relief through a reversal of the trial court’s
decision denying its application to vacate, as the plaintiff filed its applica-
tion to vacate prior to the defendant’s filing the motion to confirm, and
the motion to confirm would have been denied had the application to
vacate been granted; accordingly, the appeal was not moot.

2. The plaintiff could not prevail on its claim that the arbitrator’s award of
punitive damages constituted a manifest disregard of the law pursuant
to § 52-418 (a) (4): the arbitrator found and the plaintiff conceded in
its appellate brief and at oral argument before this court that the plain-
tiff’s failure to display prominently the manufacturer buyback disclosure
on the vehicle and in the purchase order constituted a per se violation
of CUTPA, and the arbitrator concluded that such violations, in addition
to the plaintiff’s actions of restricting the defendant from testing the
vehicle, inducing the defendant to execute the purchase documents
before inspection and attempting to deliver a vehicle that failed to meet
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safety standards, constituted a reckless indifference of the defendant’s
rights to warrant punitive damages under CUTPA; moreover, the arbitra-
tor acted within his discretion in crediting the defendant’s evidence of
the CUTPA violations against the plaintiff’s lack of evidence in rebuttal,
and because the arbitrator’s conclusions did not indicate an extraordi-
nary lack of fidelity to established legal principles, this court could not
second-guess his conclusions.

Argued May 29—officially released September 11, 2018

Procedural History

Application to vacate an arbitration award, brought to
the Superior Court in the judicial district of Waterbury,
where the defendant filed a motion to confirm the
award; thereafter, the matter was tried to the court, M.
Taylor, J.; judgment denying the application to vacate
and granting the motion to confirm, from which the
plaintiff appealed to this court. Affirmed.

Kenneth A. Votre, for the appellant (plaintiff).

Richard F. Wareing, with whom was Daniel S. Blinn,
for the appellee (defendant).

Opinion

PER CURIAM. The plaintiff, A Better Way Wholesale
Autos, Inc., appeals from the judgment of the trial court
denying its application to vacate an arbitration award
and granting the motion to confirm that award in favor
of the defendant, Shannon Gause. The plaintiff claims
that the court erred because the arbitrator’s award of
punitive damages constituted a manifest disregard of
the law pursuant to General Statutes § 52-418 (a) (4).1

We affirm the judgment of the court.
1 The plaintiff additionally claims that the award of a nearly 4 to 1 punitive

to compensatory damages ratio ‘‘border[s] on a constitutional deprivation
of property.’’ During oral argument before this court, the plaintiff conceded
that this ratio claim was not raised before the trial court; accordingly, the
claim is unpreserved, and we will not address it. See, e.g., MBNA America
Bank, N.A. v. Bailey, 104 Conn. App. 457, 468, 934 A.2d 316 (2007) (‘‘[g]ener-
ally, claims neither addressed nor decided by the trial court are not properly
before an appellate tribunal’’).

General Statutes § 52-418 (a) provides in relevant part: ‘‘Upon the applica-
tion of any party to an arbitration, the superior court for the judicial district
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The record reveals the following undisputed facts.
The arbitration arose from the defendant’s March 8,
2014 purchase of a 2004 Cadillac SRX automobile from
the plaintiff, an automotive dealer engaged in selling
used cars. After purchasing the vehicle, the defendant
discovered that the plaintiff had failed to disclose that
the vehicle was a manufacturer buyback.2 Upon this
discovery, the defendant requested copies of the pur-
chase order from the plaintiff but was denied. Subse-
quently, the defendant was forced to spend additional
money to repair the vehicle’s defects.

The defendant brought an arbitration claim against
the plaintiff on May 6, 2016, alleging violations of numer-
ous state and federal laws in connection with the sale.
In his decision, the arbitrator found that the vehicle did
not have a windshield sticker or any other conspicuous
display disclosing the vehicle’s status as a manufacturer
buyback, as required by General Statutes § 42-179 (g)
(1) and § 42-179-9 of the Regulations of Connecticut
State Agencies. The arbitrator also found that the pur-
chase order for the vehicle failed to clearly and conspic-
uously disclose the vehicle’s status as a manufacturer
buyback, also required by § 42-179 (g) (1) and § 42-179-
9 of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies.
On the basis of these findings, as well as identifying a
Federal Trade Commission violation and other defects,

in which one of the parties resides . . . shall make an order vacating the
award if it finds any of the following defects . . . (4) if the arbitrators have
exceeded their powers or so imperfectly executed them that a mutual, final
and definite award upon the subject matter submitted was not made.’’

2 Manufacturer buyback refers to a nonconforming motor vehicle, com-
monly referred as a ‘‘lemon,’’ which is returned to the manufacturer due to
a defect. General Statutes § 42-179; see Cagiva North America, Inc. v.
Schenk, 239 Conn. 1, 6, 680 A.2d 964 (1996) (‘‘The Lemon Law [§ 42-179 et
seq.] is a remedial statute that protects purchasers of new passenger motor
vehicles. It was designed to compel manufacturers of passenger motor
vehicles to fulfill all express warranties made to consumers, and to facilitate
a consumer’s recovery against the manufacturer of a defective vehicle should
a dispute arise.’’).
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the arbitrator concluded that the plaintiff had violated
the Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act (CUTPA),
specifically General Statutes § 42-110b (c). The arbitra-
tor awarded the defendant $1279 in compensatory dam-
ages, $5000 in punitive damages,3 and $10,817.02 in
attorney’s fees and costs, amounting to a total award
of $17,096.02.

The plaintiff subsequently filed an application to
vacate and the defendant filed a motion to confirm the
award with the Superior Court. In a memorandum of
decision dated December 30, 2016, the court found that
the factual and legal allegations the defendant made in
her arbitration submission supported the award. The
court determined that the arbitrator’s decision did not
‘‘represent an egregious misperformance of duty or a
patently irrational application of legal principles.’’
Accordingly, the court concluded that there was no
manifest disregard of the law and, subsequently,
granted the defendant’s motion to confirm the arbitra-
tion award and denied the plaintiff’s application to
vacate. This appeal followed.

Before turning to the merits of the appeal, we must
first address the defendant’s claim that this appeal is
moot because the plaintiff failed to oppose her motion
to confirm the award. We reject this argument. ‘‘It is a
well-settled general rule that the existence of an actual
controversy is an essential requisite to appellate juris-
diction; it is not the province of appellate courts to
decide moot questions, disconnected from the granting
of actual relief or from the determination of which no
practical relief can follow.’’ (Internal quotation marks
omitted.) Shays v. Local Grievance Committee, 197
Conn. 566, 571, 499 A.2d 1158 (1985).

3 The actual award of damages was $5000 in punitive damages and $1279
compensatory damages, which was slightly less than the 4 to 1 ratio that
the plaintiff asserts in its appellate brief.



Page 85ACONNECTICUT LAW JOURNALSeptember 11, 2018

184 Conn. App. 643 SEPTEMBER, 2018 647

A Better Way Wholesale Autos, Inc. v. Gause

‘‘General Statutes § 52-417 provides that in ruling on
an application to confirm an arbitration award, the
court or judge shall grant such an order confirming
the award unless the award is vacated, modified or
corrected as prescribed in [General Statutes §§ 52-418
and 52-419. . . . The trial court lacks any discretion
in confirming the arbitration award, unless the award
suffers from any of the defects described in . . . §§ 52-
418 and 52-419.’’ (Emphasis omitted; footnotes omitted;
internal quotation marks omitted.) Amalgamated Tran-
sit Union Local 1588 v. Laidlaw Transit, Inc., 33 Conn.
App. 1, 3–4, 632 A.2d 713 (1993); see also General Stat-
utes §§ 52-418 and 52-419. The plaintiff commenced this
special statutory proceeding by filing an application to
vacate pursuant to § 52-418 prior to the defendant’s
filing her motion to confirm. The motion to confirm
would have been denied had the application to vacate
been granted. Thus, the plaintiff could obtain practical
relief through a reversal of the court’s decision denying
the application to vacate. Accordingly, the plaintiff’s
claim is not moot.

We turn to the plaintiff’s claim that the arbitrator’s
award of punitive damages constituted a manifest disre-
gard of the law pursuant to § 52-418 (a) (4).4 The arbitra-

4 The defendant additionally argues that the plaintiff failed to preserve
the claim regarding the punitive damages awarded, thus precluding this
court from reviewing that claim. We disagree and determine that the plaintiff
sufficiently preserved this claim pursuant to Practice Book § 60-5. ‘‘[B]ecause
our review is limited to matters in the record, we . . . will not address
issues not decided by the trial court.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.)
Burnham v. Karl & Gelb, P.C., 252 Conn. 153, 171, 745 A.2d 178 (2000).
Although the plaintiff did not discuss the issue of punitive damages in its
memorandum of law supporting its application to vacate, it did identify the
awarding of punitive damages as an area of concern during oral argument
on the application and the motion to confirm. Thus, such arguments are in
the record.

Furthermore, we can properly review the plaintiff’s argument because it
is an argument, not a claim. See Michael T. v. Commissioner of Correction,
319 Conn. 623, 635 n.7, 126 A.3d 558 (2015) (‘‘[w]e may . . . review legal
arguments that differ from those raised before the trial court if they are
subsumed within or intertwined with arguments related to the legal claim
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tion in this case was an unrestricted submission.5 Of
the three grounds that our Supreme Court has recog-
nized for vacating an award based on an unrestricted
submission, the plaintiff argues only that ‘‘the award
contravenes one or more of the statutory proscriptions
of § 52-418.’’ Garrity v. McCaskey, 223 Conn. 1, 6, 612
A.2d 742 (1992).

‘‘[A] claim that the arbitrators have exceeded their
powers may be established under § 52-418 in either one
of two ways: (1) the award fails to conform to the
submission, or, in other words, falls outside the scope
of the submission; or (2) the arbitrators manifestly dis-
regarded the law.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.)
Harty v. Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., 275 Conn. 72, 85,
881 A.2d 139 (2005). ‘‘A trial court’s decision to vacate
an arbitrator’s award under § 52-418 involves questions
of law and, thus, we review them de novo.’’ Bridgeport
v. Kasper Group., Inc., 278 Conn. 466, 475, 899 A.2d
523 (2006).

raised at trial’’ [internal quotation marks omitted]). In the present case, the
plaintiff’s argument regarding punitive damages is subsumed within its legal
claim raised before the trial court that the arbitrator’s award was a manifest
disregard of the law. See id.; see also State v. Fernando A., 294 Conn. 1, 31
n.26, 981 A.2d 427 (2009) (‘‘[although] the plaintiff did not [previously] raise
. . . all of the theories that he raises in his writ . . . those theories are
related to a single legal claim, and . . . there is substantial overlap between
these theories under the case law’’ [internal quotation marks omitted]). As
such, this argument is sufficiently intertwined with previous claims and
properly preserved for appeal.

To the extent that the plaintiff contends that its ratio claim; see footnote
1 of this opinion; is also subsumed or intertwined with its punitive damages
claim, we disagree. The ratio claim is of a constitutional due process nature
and not an argument within its claim under § 52-418. See, e.g., BMW of North
America, Inc. v. Gore, 517 U.S. 559, 580–83, 116 S. Ct. 1589, 134 L. Ed. 2d
809 (1996).

5 Unrestricted submission refers to the type of arbitration agreement
entered into by the parties. ‘‘A submission is unrestricted when . . . the
parties’ arbitration agreement contains no language restricting the breadth of
issues, reserving explicit rights, or conditioning the award on court review.’’
(Internal quotation marks omitted.) Industrial Risk Insurers v. Hartford
Steam Boiler Inspection & Ins. Co., 273 Conn. 86, 89 n.3, 868 A.2d 47 (2005).



Page 87ACONNECTICUT LAW JOURNALSeptember 11, 2018

184 Conn. App. 643 SEPTEMBER, 2018 649

A Better Way Wholesale Autos, Inc. v. Gause

To vacate an arbitration award on the ground that
the arbitrator manifestly disregarded the law, three ele-
ments must be met: ‘‘(1) the error was obvious and
capable of being readily and instantly perceived by the
average person qualified to serve as an arbitrator; (2)
the arbitration panel appreciated the existence of a
clearly governing legal principle but decided to ignore
it; and (3) the governing law alleged to have been
ignored by the arbitration panel is well defined, explicit,
and clearly applicable.’’ (Internal quotation marks omit-
ted.) Industrial Risk Insurers v. Hartford Steam Boiler
Inspection & Ins. Co., 273 Conn. 86, 95, 868 A.2d 47
(2005).

Applying these elements, we disagree with the plain-
tiff that the award of punitive damages constituted a
manifest disregard of the law. Awarding punitive dam-
ages under CUTPA is discretionary. General Statutes
§ 42-110g (a).6 The arbitrator found that the plaintiff’s
failure to display prominently the manufacturer buy-
back disclosure on the vehicle and in the purchase
order constituted a per se violation of CUTPA. The
plaintiff conceded that this failure constituted a statu-
tory violation, both in its appellate brief and during oral
argument before this court. The arbitrator concluded
that such violations, in addition to the plaintiff’s actions
of restricting the defendant from testing the vehicle,
inducing the defendant to execute the purchase docu-
ments before inspection, and attempting to deliver a
vehicle that failed to meet safety standards, constituted

6 General Statutes § 42-110g (a) provides: ‘‘Any person who suffers any
ascertainable loss of money or property, real or personal, as a result of the
use or employment of a method, act or practice prohibited by section 42-
110b, may bring an action in the judicial district in which the plaintiff or
defendant resides or has his principal place of business or is doing business,
to recover actual damages. Proof of public interest or public injury shall
not be required in any action brought under this section. The court may, in
its discretion, award punitive damages and may provide such equitable relief
as it deems necessary or proper.’’
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a reckless indifference of the defendant’s rights to war-
rant punitive damages under CUTPA. See Ulbrich v.
Groth, 310 Conn. 375, 446, 78 A.3d 76 (2013) (punitive
damages under CUTPA warranted where ‘‘bank’s failure
to inform the plaintiffs that . . . personal property
located at the . . . facility at the time of the auction
was not included in the sale . . . involved a conscious
decision to disregard acknowledged business norms’’).
Furthermore, the arbitrator acted within his discretion
in crediting the defendant’s evidence of the CUTPA
violations against the plaintiff’s lack of evidence in
rebuttal. Thus, because the arbitrator’s conclusions do
not indicate an ‘‘extraordinary lack of fidelity to estab-
lished legal principles,’’ we cannot second-guess his
conclusions. Garrity v. McCaskey, supra, 223 Conn. 10;
see, e.g., Industrial Risk Insurers v. Hartford Steam
Boiler Inspection & Ins. Co., supra, 273 Conn. 96 (‘‘[a]s
we have stated . . . courts do not review the evidence
or otherwise second-guess an arbitration panel’s factual
determinations when the arbitration submission is
unrestricted’’). We therefore conclude the court prop-
erly confirmed the arbitration award and denied the
application to vacate the award.

The judgment is affirmed.

JACK AJLUNI v. STEVE SUDHIR CHAINANI
(AC 39649)

Alvord, Keller and Bishop, Js.

Syllabus

The plaintiff sought to recover damages from the defendant for, inter alia,
breach of his guaranty obligation to the plaintiff in connection with a
promissory note executed between the plaintiff and C Co., which was
secured by the defendant’s written personal guaranty of payment of all
of C Co.’s obligations under the note. Following C Co.’s default on
the note, the plaintiff commenced an action against the defendant in
California on the guaranty. Thereafter, the California court rendered a
default judgment in favor of the plaintiff. The plaintiff subsequently
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commenced the present action, alleging, inter alia, nonpayment of the
California judgment and breach of contract related to nonpayment of
the guaranty. The defendant alleged as a special defense that the action
was barred by the six year statute of limitations (§ 52-576) applicable
to breach of contract actions. The trial court rendered judgment in favor
of the plaintiff on his breach of contract claim, concluding that the claim
was not barred by the statute of limitations because the defendant
repeatedly reaffirmed the existence of the debt owed to the plaintiff,
thereby tolling the limitation period. In reaching its conclusion, the court
relied on statements that the defendant had made to the plaintiff in
several e-mails that he had sent to the plaintiff. The defendant had
signed the e-mails personally and did not reference C Co., nor did he
indicate that he was signing them on behalf of C Co. or in his capacity
as its managing member. On the defendant’s appeal to this court, held
that the trial court’s finding that the defendant reaffirmed the existence
of the subject debt was not clearly erroneous, as there was adequate
evidence in the record supporting that court’s finding of reaffirmation
and the defendant failed to provide any evidence or authority that left this
court with a definite and firm conviction that the trial court committed
a mistake; the statements the defendant made in the e-mails to the
plaintiff unequivocally acknowledged that he owed a debt to the plaintiff,
and he never expressed an intention not to pay the debt but, instead,
reassured the plaintiff that it was his full intention to repay the plaintiff
as soon as possible, and, therefore, the trial court properly determined
that there was nothing equivocal about the defendant’s reaffirmation of
the existence of the subject debt.

Argued February 20—officially released September 11, 2018

Procedural History

Action to recover damages for, inter alia, breach of
contract, and for other relief, brought to the Superior
Court in the judicial district of Stamford-Norwalk and
tried to the court, Povodator, J.; judgment in part for
the plaintiff, from which the defendant appealed to this
court. Affirmed.

Roy W. Moss, for the appellant (defendant).

Benjamin M. Wattenmaker, with whom, on the brief,
was John M. Wolfson, for the appellee (plaintiff).

Opinion

ALVORD, J. The defendant, Steve Sudhir Chainani,
appeals from the judgment of the trial court, in which
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it concluded that he breached his guaranty obligation
to the plaintiff, Jack Ajluni. On appeal, the defendant
claims that the court improperly determined that the
applicable statute of limitations did not bar the action
because (1) the relation back doctrine applied to the
plaintiff’s claim and (2) certain communications
between the plaintiff and the defendant reaffirmed the
debt so as to toll the statute of limitations on the plain-
tiff’s claim.1 We conclude that certain e-mails
exchanged between the parties reaffirmed the debt and,
accordingly, affirm the judgment of the trial court.2

The court’s memorandum of decision details the rele-
vant facts and procedural history. ‘‘On or about August
13, 2008, the plaintiff loaned Chainani Associates, LLC
(Chainani Associates) . . . a Connecticut limited lia-
bility company, the sum of $200,000, as evidenced by
the [Chainani Associates’] Secured Promissory Note
. . . in said principal amount. . . . The note was
secured by a [mortgage] of the same date executed

1 At the outset, we note that ‘‘[i]t is well settled that [w]e are not required
to review claims that are inadequately briefed. . . . We consistently have
held that [a]nalysis rather than mere abstract assertion, is required in order
to avoid abandoning an issue by failure to brief the issue properly. . . .
[F]or this court judiciously and efficiently to consider claims of error raised
on appeal . . . the parties must clearly and fully set forth their arguments
in their briefs. We do not reverse the judgment of the trial court on the
basis of challenges to its rulings that have not been adequately briefed. . . .
The parties may not merely cite a legal principle without analyzing the
relationship between the facts of the case and the law cited.’’ (Internal
quotation marks omitted.) Clelford v. Bristol, 150 Conn. App. 229, 233, 90
A.3d 998 (2014). As noted by the plaintiff, the defendant’s analyses are
primarily conclusory assertions that contain no citations to the record or
application of relevant authority to the facts of this case. Despite the border-
line inadequacy of the defendant’s brief, however, we were able to discern
the defendant’s arguments and, therefore, consider the merits of his claim.

2 Because we conclude that the trial court properly determined that the
defendant’s reaffirmation of the obligation tolled the statute of limitations,
we need not address the court’s alternative basis for concluding that the
statute of limitations did not bar the action, that the relation back doctrine
applies to the plaintiff’s claim.
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by the borrower on the borrower’s real property in
Stamford, Connecticut . . . . To further secure the
note, the [d]efendant executed a written personal guar-
anty . . . of payment of all obligations of the borrower
under the note. . . . [T]he maturity date of the note
was November 11, 2008. . . .

‘‘The mortgaged property was part of the borrower’s
adjacent properties on Summer Street consisting of two
low rise office buildings that the borrower intended to
redevelop with a residential tower. The loan served to
finance legal, engineering, and other expenses incurred
in connection with obtaining certain significant zoning
and other approvals required for the project. However,
by November, 2008, although the borrower had suc-
ceeded, at least in part, in obtaining approvals, the mar-
ket crashed and ultimately a senior mortgage lender
foreclosed on the property.

‘‘No payment has been made on the note or pursuant
to the Guaranty. On or about July 19, 2010, in the Supe-
rior Court of the state of California, county of San
Mateo, the plaintiff filed an action, CIV 497018 (Califor-
nia action) against the defendant on the guaranty. On
or about July 26, 2010, service of the California sum-
mons and complaint was made upon the defendant at
his residence in New Canaan, Connecticut. The defen-
dant did not appear in the California action. Conse-
quently, thereafter, on motion of the plaintiff, on or
about October 12, 2010, a default judgment was entered
in the California action in favor of the plaintiff in the
amount of $304,086.52. . . .

‘‘[This] action was commenced in February, 2014,
the single count alleging nonpayment of the California
judgment and seeking to domesticate [that judgment].

‘‘On November 18, 2014, the plaintiff filed a proposed
amended complaint . . . that added additional counts
for breach of contract (count two), breach of the duty
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of good faith and fair dealing (count three), and unjust
enrichment (count four). These additional counts allege
nonpayment of the guaranty.

‘‘In January of 2015, the plaintiff attempted to amend
his complaint further, seeking to add counts alleging
misrepresentation and fraud; an objection to that pro-
posed amended complaint was sustained.

‘‘In his answers to the various iterations of the com-
plaint, in addition to denying material facts, the defen-
dant asserted the lack of jurisdiction of the California
court to render judgment against him, and further has
alleged defenses of laches and the statute of limitations
[pursuant to General Statutes § 52-576 (a)3] (as appro-
priate). The plaintiff responds by contending that the
California court could assert personal jurisdiction both
because the defendant had a sufficient general presence
in California and because this transaction had suffi-
ciently precise roots in California. [The plaintiff] further
claims that the statute of limitations is inapplicable both
because of relation back and because of the defendant’s
reaffirmation of the debt. He also claims that on the
merits, he is entitled to recover on all of his claims.

‘‘An evidentiary hearing took place on February 4,
2016. Both sides filed memoranda before and after the
hearing.’’ (Citation omitted; footnote added; internal
quotation marks omitted.)

The court ruled in favor of the defendant on counts
one, three, and four, but ruled in favor of the plaintiff
on count two. Regarding count two, the court stated,
inter alia, that ‘‘it is well established in Connecticut that
a reaffirmation of the existence of a debt is sufficient
to reset the statute of limitations.’’ (Internal quotation

3 General Statutes § 52-576 (a) provides: ‘‘No action for an account, or on
any simple or implied contract, or on any contract in writing, shall be brought
but within six years after the right of action accrues, except as provided in
subsection (b) of this section.’’
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marks omitted.) The court continued: ‘‘As reflected in
e-mails submitted into evidence (and the plaintiff
repeatedly referred to them in connection with the juris-
dictional aspect of the case), on more than one occasion
within [six] years of the assertion of the direct guaranty
claim in the amended complaint of November 18, 2014
. . . the defendant acknowledged the existence of the
debt and expressed his intention to pay the money back
(at least the principal), if and when he could—well into
2010. While an equivocal statement might be insufficient
to interrupt/reset the running of the statute of limita-
tions, there was nothing equivocal about the reaffirma-
tion of the existence of the debt; the defendant merely
hedged on if and when he would be able to repay it.
The court does not believe that that is sufficient uncer-
tainty to preclude operation of the legal principle; there
was no equivocation with respect to the existence of
the obligation. The defendant repeatedly reaffirmed the
debt, with sufficient certainty to preclude reliance on
the statute of limitations. Accordingly, the court does
not find the contract claim barred by the statute of
limitations.’’ (Citation omitted; emphasis in original.)

The court then rendered judgment in favor of the
plaintiff on his breach of contract claim, and awarded
the plaintiff damages of $609,994.67 with per diem inter-
est of $141.33. This appeal followed.

On appeal, the defendant claims that the court errone-
ously concluded that he sufficiently acknowledged the
existence of the debt so as to toll the statute of limita-
tions on the plaintiff’s claim. The plaintiff responds
that certain e-mails exchanged between him and the
defendant reaffirmed the debt and tolled the statute of
limitations. We agree with the plaintiff.

‘‘The statute of limitations creates a defense to an
action. It does not erase the debt. Hence, the defense
can be lost by an unequivocal acknowledgment of the
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debt, such as a new promise, an unqualified recognition
of the debt, or a payment on account. . . . Whether
partial payment constitutes unequivocal acknowledg-
ment of the whole debt from which an unconditional
promise to pay can be implied thereby tolling the statute
of limitations is a question for the trier of fact. . . .

‘‘A general acknowledgment of an indebtedness may
be sufficient to remove the bar of the statute. The gov-
erning principle is this: The determination of whether
a sufficient acknowledgment has been made depends
upon proof that a defendant has by an express or
implied recognition of the debt voluntarily renounced
the protection of the statute. . . . But an implication
of a promise to pay cannot arise if it appears that
although the debt was directly acknowledged, this
acknowledgment was accompanied by expressions
which showed the defendant did not intend to pay it,
and did not intend to deprive himself of the right to
rely on the Statute of Limitations . . . . [A] general
acknowledgment may be inferred from acquiescence
as well as from silence, as where the existence of the
debt has been asserted in the debtor’s presence and he
did not contradict the assertion. . . .

‘‘We review the trial court’s finding . . . under a
clearly erroneous standard. . . . [A] finding of fact is
clearly erroneous when there is no evidence in the
record to support it . . . or when although there is
evidence to support it, the reviewing court on the entire
evidence is left the definite and firm conviction that a
mistake has been committed. . . . We do not examine
the record to determine whether the trier of fact could
have reached a conclusion other than the one reached.
Rather we focus on the conclusion of the trial court,
as well as the method by which it arrived at that conclu-
sion, to determine whether it is legally correct and factu-
ally supported.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.)
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Zatakia v. Ecoair Corp., 128 Conn. App. 362, 369–70, 18
A.3d 604, cert. denied, 301 Conn. 936, 23 A.3d 729 (2011).

In reaching its conclusion that the defendant reaf-
firmed the existence of the debt owed to the plaintiff,
the court relied on statements that the defendant made
to the plaintiff in several e-mails they exchanged. For
example, in an e-mail dated June 16, 2009, the defendant
stated: ‘‘[I]t is my full intention to get you paid as
soon as possible and our entire team is fully focused
on getting the project financed or sold.’’ (Emphasis
added.) In an e-mail dated October 11, 2009, the defen-
dant stated: ‘‘I do understand that in recent times we
have all lost large amounts of money—both you and
myself have lost on a multiplicity of investments. How-
ever, in view of our personal friendship and on many
levels, it is my endeavor and intent to at least get
you your principal back as soon as I possibly can.’’
(Emphasis added.) In an e-mail dated May 10, 2010, the
defendant stated: ‘‘Even though you are foreclosed out,
it is fully our intention to at least get you your full
principal back as soon as possible.’’ (Emphasis added.)
The defendant signed each of these e-mails as ‘‘Sudhir’’
and did not reference Chainani Associates, nor indicate
that he was signing the e-mails on behalf of Chainani
Associates or in his capacity as managing member of
Chainani Associates.4

On the basis of the evidence cited by the trial court,
including the evidence highlighted in the preceding
paragraph, we conclude that there was adequate evi-
dence in the record from which the court could deter-
mine that the defendant reaffirmed the existence of the

4 We also note that in nearly every e-mail that the plaintiff sent to the
defendant, the plaintiff asserted the existence of the debt, and the defendant
did not contradict any of those assertions. See Zatakia v. Ecoair Corp.,
supra, 128 Conn. App. 370 (‘‘[a] general acknowledgment may be inferred
from acquiescence as well as from silence, as where the existence of the
debt has been asserted in the debtor’s presence and he did not contradict
the assertion’’ [internal quotation marks omitted]).
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debt. The statements that the defendant made in the
e-mails to the plaintiff unequivocally acknowledged that
he owed a debt to the plaintiff. Moreover, in these
communications, the defendant never expressed an
intention not to pay the debt. To the contrary, the defen-
dant reassured that it was his ‘‘full intention’’ to payback
the plaintiff as soon as possible. We thus agree with the
court’s determination that ‘‘there was nothing equivocal
about the reaffirmation of the existence of the debt;
the defendant merely hedged on if and when he would
be able to repay it.’’ (Emphasis in original.)

The defendant has not pointed to any evidence or
authority from which we could conclude that the court’s
finding of reaffirmation was clearly erroneous. See foot-
note 1 of this opinion. Indeed, the defendant’s analysis
of this issue in his appellate brief is limited to three
conclusory sentences and a citation to Dwyer v. Harris,
128 Conn. 397, 23 A.2d 147 (1941), which is not on
point.5 Because we have found evidence in the record

5 The entirety of the defendant’s analysis provides: ‘‘[T]he communications
appear to involve not the guaranty obligation but the debt owed under the
note by the primary obligor, Chainani Associates . . . under its mortgage
note to the plaintiff. The implication of an acknowledgment by the defendant
of a debt owed by [Chainani Associates] could not itself constitute a reaffir-
mation of [the] defendant’s separate and distinct guaranty obligation. See
Dwyer v. Harris, [supra] 128 Conn. 397 (1941) ([d]efendant’s offer to assist
in collection of debt from others not reaffirmation of debt owed by defen-
dant). It was therefore error as a matter of law for the court to conclude
that the communications constituted a reaffirmation of the debt claimed
under the guaranty, such as to reset the limitations period.’’ (Emphasis
in original.)

The defendant has not directed us to any portion of the record that
establishes that the e-mails exchanged between the plaintiff and the defen-
dant involved only [Chainani Associates’] note and not the defendant’s per-
sonal guaranty.

Additionally, the defendant’s reliance on Dwyer is misplaced. In Dwyer,
our Supreme Court held: ‘‘The trial court should have told the jury that if
they found the evidence established the defendant’s claim that his promise
was not to pay the debt created by the note but to assist in collecting from
others the money paid . . . such promise did not remove the bar of the
Statute of Limitations.’’ Id., 400. The present case is distinguishable because,
here, the defendant has not promised to assist the plaintiff in collecting the
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supporting the court’s finding of reaffirmation, and
because the defendant has not provided any evidence
or authority that has left us with the definite and firm
conviction that the court made a mistake, we conclude
that the court properly found that the defendant reaf-
firmed the debt, thereby tolling the applicable statute
of limitations.

The judgment is affirmed.

In this opinion the other judges concurred.

CHRISTIANA TRUST, A DIVISION OF WILMINGTON
SAVINGS FUND SOCIETY, FSB, TRUSTEE v.

WALTER J. LEWIS, JR., ET AL.
(AC 39985)

Lavine, Moll and Flynn, Js.

Syllabus

The plaintiff, C Co., sought to foreclose a mortgage on certain real property
owned by the defendant L, following L’s default on his mortgage pay-
ments and failure to cure the default. Prior to trial, L requested to
participate in the foreclosure mediation program, but the parties were
unsuccessful in reaching an amicable resolution. In response to C Co.’s
amended complaint, L filed an answer and special defenses. Thereafter,
C Co. filed a motion for summary judgment as to liability. In support
of its motion, C Co. submitted a copy of the note and mortgage and an
affidavit of its servicing agent’s contested foreclosure specialist, stating
that C Co. is the holder of the note and mortgage and that L defaulted
on his payments. L filed an objection to the motion for summary judg-
ment on the ground that there was a genuine issue of material fact as

debt from Chainani Associates. Rather, the defendant personally guaranteed
to pay the obligation to the plaintiff should Chainani Associates fail to repay
the plaintiff in full. See JSA Financial Corp. v. Quality Kitchen Corp. of
Delaware, 113 Conn. App. 52, 57, 964 A.2d 584 (2009) (‘‘[w]e have explained
that a guarantee is a promise to answer for the debt, default, or miscarriage
of another’’ [internal quotation marks omitted]). In other words, the defen-
dant has not made a promise to assist in collecting the debt, he has made
a promise to pay the debt. Accordingly, in this case, unlike in Dwyer, the
defendant’s acknowledgments of the debt in the various e-mails could be—
and were—sufficient to toll the six year statute of limitations.
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to whether the mortgage was valid because the signature purporting to
be his on the mortgage had been forged. In support of his objection, L
attached an affidavit in which he stated that he had reviewed the mort-
gage submitted in connection with the motion for summary judgment
and that he had not signed the mortgage. The trial court granted the
motion for summary judgment as to liability, concluding first that L had
abandoned his special defenses because in his objection he did not
dispute the evidence presented by Co. and contested only the validity
of the mortgage. In addition, the court concluded that L’s affidavit was
insufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact with regard to the
validity of the mortgage given his explicit and implicit recognition that
the mortgage was valid. The court reasoned that during his 2011 bank-
ruptcy proceeding, L had made two judicial admissions that the mortgage
was valid and that L’s participation in the foreclosure mediation program
constituted an implicit recognition of the validity of the mortgage. Fol-
lowing the assignment of the subject mortgage to W Co., the trial court
granted C Co.’s motion to substitute W Co. as the plaintiff. Thereafter,
the trial court granted W Co.’s motion for a judgment of strict foreclosure
and rendered judgment thereon. On L’s appeal to this court, held that
the trial court improperly granted C Co.’s motion for summary judgment
as to liability, as a genuine issue of material fact existed as to whether
the signature on the subject mortgage was that of L: L’s statements in
his affidavit in support of his opposition to the motion for summary
judgment that he had reviewed the mortgage submitted in connection
with the motion and that he had not signed the mortgage contradicted
the evidence submitted by C Co. in support of its motion that he had
executed and delivered a valid mortgage, called into question the validity
of the mortgage and gave rise to a genuine issue of material fact as to
the authenticity of the signature on the mortgage, and contrary to W
Co.’s contention that the trial court properly deemed L’s statements in
his 2011 bankruptcy proceeding to be judicial admissions that were
binding on the court, because those statements did not occur in the
context of the present proceeding, they were not judicial admissions
but, instead, were evidentiary admissions to be accepted or rejected
by the trial court; moreover, the trial court improperly considered L’s
participation in the foreclosure mediation program as admissible evi-
dence relating to the issue of the validity of the mortgage, as the statute
(§ 49-31l [c] [8]) governing the foreclosure mediation program makes
clear that a party’s participation in the program does not result in a
waiver of any rights of the mortgagee or mortgagor.

Argued May 14—officially released September 11, 2018

Procedural History

Action to foreclose a mortgage on certain of the
named defendant’s real property, and for other relief,
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brought to the Superior Court in the judicial district of
Middlesex, where the court, Aurigemma, J., granted the
plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment as to liability;
thereafter, Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as
trustee for Normandy Mortgage Loan Trust, Series 2015-
17, was substituted as the plaintiff; subsequently, the
court granted the substitute plaintiff’s motion for a judg-
ment of strict foreclosure and rendered judgment
thereon, from which the named defendant appealed to
this court. Reversed; further proceedings.

Albert L. J. Speziali, with whom, on the brief, was
Francis R. Sablone, for the appellant (named
defendant).

Andrea C. Sisca, with whom was Michael J. Jones,
for the appellee (substitute plaintiff).

Jeffrey Gentes filed a brief for the Connecticut Fair
Housing Center as amicus curiae.

Opinion

MOLL, J. The defendant, Walter J. Lewis, Jr., who
is also known as Walter J. Lewis,1 appeals from the
judgment of strict foreclosure rendered by the trial
court in favor of the substitute plaintiff, Wilmington
Savings Fund Society, FSB, doing business as Christiana
Trust, as Trustee for Normandy Mortgage Loan Trust,
Series 2015-17 (substitute plaintiff). On appeal, the
defendant claims that the court improperly rendered
summary judgment, as to liability only, in favor of the
named plaintiff, Christiana Trust, a Division of Wilming-
ton Savings Fund Society, FSB, as Trustee for Stanwich
Mortgage Loan Trust, Series 2012-17 (original plaintiff),

1 The complaint also named as defendants Santander Bank, N.A., formerly
known as Sovereign Bank, National Association, formerly known as Sover-
eign Bank; and Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., as nominee
for Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. Lewis alone filed the present appeal.
Accordingly, we refer to him as the defendant.
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because a genuine issue of material fact exists as to
whether the signature on the mortgage is his. We agree
and reverse the judgment of the trial court.

The following background is relevant to this appeal.
On April 15, 2014, the original plaintiff commenced this
foreclosure action against the defendant. In its amended
complaint, the original plaintiff alleged the following.
On or about September 14, 2005, the defendant exe-
cuted and delivered a note to First National Bank of
Arizona in the principal amount of $500,000. On that
same date, the defendant executed and delivered to
Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc.
(MERS), as nominee for First National Bank of Arizona,
a mortgage on property located at 21 Brush Hill Road
in Clinton (subject property). The mortgage was
assigned to Bank of America, N.A., in February, 2012,
and thereafter assigned to the original plaintiff. The
defendant defaulted on his mortgage payments and
failed to cure the default. The original plaintiff elected
to accelerate the balance due on the note and to fore-
close the mortgage on the subject property.

On May 19, 2014, the defendant requested to partici-
pate in the foreclosure mediation program. The defen-
dant participated in the mediation program, and the
parties were unsuccessful in reaching an amicable reso-
lution. On April 9, 2015, the defendant filed an answer
and special defenses, as well as a disclosure of defenses.
He raised four special defenses: unclean hands, estop-
pel, fraud, and breach of the covenant of good faith
and fair dealing.

On June 10, 2015, the original plaintiff filed a motion
for summary judgment against the defendant as to liabil-
ity only. In support of its motion, the original plaintiff
submitted, inter alia, a copy of the note and the mort-
gage and an affidavit of Robert Raulerson, a contested
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foreclosure specialist for the original plaintiff’s servic-
ing agent, stating that the original plaintiff is the holder
of the note and the mortgage and that the defendant
defaulted on his payments. On July 2, 2015, the defen-
dant filed an objection to the motion for summary judg-
ment in which he argued that there was a genuine issue
of material fact as to whether the mortgage was valid.
He contended that the signature purporting to be his
on the mortgage at issue had been forged. He also
claimed that the mortgage was recorded on December
18, 2006, more than one year after the mortgage alleg-
edly was executed, i.e., September 14, 2005. In support
of his objection, the defendant attached an affidavit in
which he stated that he reviewed the mortgage submit-
ted in connection with the motion for summary judg-
ment and that he had not signed the mortgage. He
further attested that the attorney who allegedly took
his acknowledgement on the mortgage engaged in a
fraudulent mortgage scheme in December, 2006, and
January, 2007, during which time the mortgage at issue
was recorded, was convicted of crimes relating to mort-
gage fraud and had been suspended from the practice
of law.

On November 6, 2015, the original plaintiff filed a
reply to the defendant’s objection, essentially arguing
that the defendant was precluded from challenging the
validity of the mortgage. Specifically, it argued that the
defendant filed for chapter 11 bankruptcy in August,
2011, and listed as a creditor in his bankruptcy petition
the loan servicer for the mortgage at issue. The original
plaintiff also argued that during a meeting of creditors,
the defendant had admitted that there was a mortgage
on the subject property and that he had retained the
attorney whose acknowledgment appeared on the mort-
gage. It asserted that the foregoing representations con-
stituted judicial admissions that the mortgage was valid.
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On January 7, 2016, the court issued its decision grant-
ing the original plaintiff’s motion for summary judg-
ment, as to liability only, against the defendant. The
court first concluded that the defendant had abandoned
his special defenses because in his objection he did not
dispute the evidence presented by the original plaintiff
and contested only the validity of the mortgage. With
regard to the validity of the mortgage, the court stated
that during the defendant’s 2011 bankruptcy proceed-
ing, the defendant made two judicial admissions that
the mortgage was valid, and that his affidavit was not
sufficient to overcome those binding admissions. The
court also reasoned that the defendant’s participation
in the foreclosure mediation program constituted an
implicit recognition of the validity of the mortgage. The
court thereupon concluded that the defendant’s affida-
vit, in which he attested that the signature on the mort-
gage is not his, was insufficient to create a genuine
issue of material fact given his explicit and implicit
recognition that the mortgage was valid.2

On May 20, 2016, the original plaintiff filed a motion
to substitute, in which it stated that it had assigned
the mortgage to the substitute plaintiff, and attached
thereto a copy of the assignment. On June 6, 2016, the
court granted the motion to substitute. On December
5, 2016, the substitute plaintiff filed a motion for a
judgment of strict foreclosure. On December 19, 2016,
the court granted the motion, determined the amount
of debt, and set the law day as January 23, 2017. This
appeal followed.

‘‘The standards governing our review of a trial court’s
decision to grant a motion for summary judgment are
well established. Practice Book [§ 17-49] provides that

2 On January 26, 2016, the defendant appealed from the court’s granting
of the motion for summary judgment. The original plaintiff filed a motion
to dismiss the appeal for lack of a final judgment, and this court granted
the motion.
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summary judgment shall be rendered forthwith if the
pleadings, affidavits and any other proof submitted
show that there is no genuine issue as to any material
fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as
a matter of law. . . . In deciding a motion for summary
judgment, the trial court must view the evidence in the
light most favorable to the nonmoving party. . . . The
party seeking summary judgment has the burden of
showing the absence of any genuine issue [of] material
facts which, under applicable principles of substantive
law, entitle him to a judgment as a matter of law . . .
and the party opposing such a motion must provide an
evidentiary foundation to demonstrate the existence of
a genuine issue of material fact. . . . A material fact
. . . [is] a fact which will make a difference in the result
of the case. . . . Finally, the scope of our review of
the trial court’s decision to grant the plaintiff’s motion
for summary judgment is plenary.’’ (Internal quotation
marks omitted.) Romprey v. Safeco Ins. Co. of America,
310 Conn. 304, 312–13, 77 A.3d 726 (2013).

‘‘In order to establish a prima facie case in a mortgage
foreclosure action, the plaintiff must prove by a prepon-
derance of the evidence that it is the owner of the
note and mortgage, that the defendant mortgagor has
defaulted on the note and that any conditions precedent
to foreclosure, as established by the note and mortgage,
have been satisfied. . . . Thus, a court may properly
grant summary judgment as to liability in a foreclosure
action if the complaint and supporting affidavits estab-
lish an undisputed prima facie case and the defendant
fails to assert any legally sufficient special defense.’’
(Internal quotation marks omitted.) Bank of America,
N.A. v. Aubut, 167 Conn. App. 347, 359, 143 A.3d 638
(2016).

The defendant claims that the court improperly
granted the original plaintiff’s motion for summary judg-
ment because a genuine issue of material fact exists as
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to whether his signature on the mortgage was forged.
He contends that his affidavit, filed in connection with
his objection, in which he attested that the signature
on the mortgage is not his, was sufficient to demonstrate
the existence of a genuine issue of material fact regard-
ing the authenticity of the signature. In contrast, the
substitute plaintiff argues that the court properly deter-
mined that there was no genuine issue of material fact
as to the validity of the mortgage. The substitute plaintiff
further argues that the fact that the defendant signed
a foreclosure mediation certificate in which he repre-
sented that his primary residence was subject to the
mortgage and participated in mediation in an attempt
to negotiate a short sale supports the court’s determina-
tion that the defendant implicitly recognized that the
mortgage was valid.3 We agree with the defendant.

‘‘To oppose a motion for summary judgment success-
fully, the nonmovant must recite specific facts . . .
which contradict those stated in the movant’s affidavits
and documents.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.)
Yancey v. Connecticut Life & Casualty Insurance Co.,
68 Conn. App. 556, 559, 791 A.2d 719 (2002). Here, the

3 The substitute plaintiff also argues that the defendant did not properly
raise the issue of forgery by way of a special defense. The substitute plaintiff
did not characterize this claim as an alternative ground for affirmance but
raised it in its brief filed in this court, and the defendant responded to the
argument in his reply brief. ‘‘Given the fact that neither party would be
prejudiced by our doing so, we treat [this claim] as if [it] had been properly
raised as . . . [an] alternate [ground] for affirmance.’’ (Internal quotation
marks omitted.) Gerardi v. Bridgeport, 294 Conn. 461, 466, 985 A.2d 328
(2010). In paragraph 4 of its amended complaint, the original plaintiff
asserted that the defendant executed and delivered to MERS a mortgage
on the subject property. In his answer, the defendant denied the allegations
in paragraph 4 of the amended complaint. We conclude that the defendant’s
denial of the substitute plaintiff’s allegation that he had executed the mort-
gage was sufficient in this case. See Practice Book § 10-50 (‘‘No facts may
be proved under either a general or special denial except such as show that
the plaintiff’s statements of fact are untrue. Facts which are consistent with
such statements but show, notwithstanding, that the plaintiff has no cause
of action, must be specially alleged. . . .’’).
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defendant provided an evidentiary foundation to dem-
onstrate the existence of a genuine issue of material
fact.

In his affidavit, the defendant contradicted the evi-
dence submitted by the original plaintiff in support of
its motion for summary judgment that he had executed
and delivered a valid mortgage, namely, the note, the
mortgage and an affidavit from the original plaintiff’s
loan servicer attesting that the defendant had executed
the mortgage. In his affidavit, the defendant stated that
he ‘‘reviewed the mortgage attached to the plaintiff’s
memorandum of law,’’ and ‘‘[t]he signature that appears
on that mortgage is not mine; I did not sign it.’’ The
foregoing statements call into question the validity of
the mortgage and give rise to a genuine issue of material
fact as to the authenticity of the signature on the
mortgage.

The substitute plaintiff argues that a mortgage con-
taining an unauthorized signature is not automatically
deemed a nullity but is enforceable under certain cir-
cumstances. Whether the mortgage is enforceable
under the circumstances of the present case is a factual
issue reserved for the trier of fact.

Although the substitute plaintiff argued in its brief
to this court that the trial court properly deemed the
defendant’s statements in his 2011 bankruptcy proceed-
ing to be judicial admissions binding on the court, the
parties now agree that such statements were not judicial
admissions but, rather, were evidentiary admissions.4

We agree. Because the defendant’s statements in the
bankruptcy proceeding did not occur in the context of
the present proceeding, they are evidentiary admissions
to be accepted or rejected by the trier of fact. ‘‘Judicial

4 The substitute plaintiff conceded this point during oral argument before
this court.
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admissions are conclusive only in the judicial proceed-
ing in which made. . . . In subsequent proceedings
such prior judicial admissions are merely evidentiary
admissions, to be used as evidence to prove a matter
in dispute in the subsequent trial.’’ C. Tait & E. Prescott,
Connecticut Evidence (5th Ed. 2014) § 8.16.3, p. 530;
see also Straw Pond Associates, LLC v. Fitzpatrick,
Mariano & Santos, P.C., 167 Conn. App. 691, 707–708,
145 A.3d 292, cert. denied, 323 Conn. 930, 150 A.3d
231 (2016).

Moreover, we conclude that the court improperly
considered the defendant’s participation in the foreclo-
sure mediation program as admissible evidence relating
to the issue of the validity of the mortgage. General
Statutes § 49-31l (c) (8), which governs the foreclosure
mediation program, makes clear that a party’s participa-
tion in the foreclosure mediation program does not
result in a waiver of any rights of the mortgagee or
mortgagor. Specifically, that subdivision provides:
‘‘None of the mortgagor’s or mortgagee’s rights in the
foreclosure action shall be waived by participation in
the foreclosure mediation program.’’ General Statutes
§ 49-31l (c) (8). Simply put, holding participation in the
foreclosure mediation program against a mortgagor by
restricting his or her ability to contest the validity of
the mortgage would run afoul of the plain language of
§ 49-31l (c) (8) and would contravene the public policy
of promoting foreclosure mediation.

In sum, we conclude that the trial court improperly
granted the motion for summary judgment as to liability
only, as a genuine issue of material fact exists as to
whether the signature on the mortgage is that of the
defendant.

The judgment is reversed and the case is remanded
for further proceedings according to law.

In this opinion the other judges concurred.
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STATE OF CONNECTICUT v. GERJUAN
RAINER TYUS

(AC 40093)

Lavine, Sheldon and Harper, Js.

Syllabus

Convicted of the crime of murder in connection with the shooting death of
the victim, the defendant appealed, claiming, inter alia, that the trial
court abused its discretion in granting the state’s motion to join his case
for trial with that of A, who also was involved in the shooting. The
defendant also had been charged with conspiracy to commit murder,
but the trial court dismissed that charge prior to trial. The defendant
and A had driven to a café, where A shot the victim. A later told E that
he had shot someone. The defendant claimed, inter alia, that he would
be substantially prejudiced if his case was joined with A’s case for trial
because A’s statement to E would be admissible in evidence as a party
admission against A. The defendant further asserted that A’s statement
to E could not be admitted under the coconspirator exception to the
hearsay rule under the applicable provision (§ 8-3 [1]) of the Connecticut
Code of Evidence (2008) because the conspiracy charge had been dis-
missed. The trial court also denied the defendant’s motion to preclude
testimony from the state’s firearms examiner, S, about S’s examination
of and conclusions about certain firearms evidence that had been exam-
ined by another state’s examiner who had since died and, thus, was
not available for cross-examination. The defendant claimed that his
constitutional right to confrontation would be violated if S testified
about the firearms evidence. Held:

1. The trial court committed no error in granting the state’s motion to join
the defendant’s case with A’s case for trial, as both cases arose from
the same incident, virtually all of the state’s testimonial, documentary,
physical and scientific evidence against the two defendants would have
been admissible against either of them if they had been tried separately,
their defenses were not antagonistic and each was the other’s principal
alibi witness; moreover, A’s statement to E was admissible against the
defendant under the coconspirator exception to the hearsay rule, as
Connecticut follows the general American rule that the coconspirator
exception is applicable in cases where no formal charge of conspiracy
has been made, and the defendant presented no other basis for claiming
that his case should not have been joined with A’s case for trial.

2. The defendant could not prevail on his claim that the trial court violated
his right to confrontation when it permitted S to testify about S’s exami-
nation of and conclusions regarding the firearms evidence; the only
inculpatory conclusions or statements regarding the firearms evidence
were made by S in court, S conducted his own physical examination
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of and formulated his own conclusions about the evidence, S did not
rely on the deceased examiner’s report, which was not admitted into
evidence, and the defendant cross-examined S extensively.

3. The trial court did not err in denying the defendant’s request for a limiting
instruction to the jury regarding S’s testimony; the defendant’s requested
instruction and the court’s instruction were substantially similar, the
court properly instructed the jury as to its role in assessing the credibility
of expert witnesses and determining the weight to be given to expert
testimony, and although the court declined to the defendant’s request
to highlight S’s testimony, the court’s instructions were correct in law,
adapted to the issues and sufficient to guide the jury.

Argued May 15—officially released September 11, 2018

Procedural History

Substitute information charging the defendant with
the crimes of murder and conspiracy to commit murder,
brought to the Superior Court in the judicial district of
New London, where the court, Jongbloed, J., granted
the defendant’s motion to dismiss the charge of conspir-
acy to commit murder and granted the state’s motion
to consolidate the case for trial with that of another
defendant; thereafter, the matter was tried to the jury
before A. Hadden, J.; subsequently, the court, A. Had-
den, J., denied the defendant’s motion to preclude cer-
tain evidence; verdict and judgment of guilty, from
which the defendant appealed. Affirmed.

Pamela S. Nagy, assistant public defender, for the
appellant (defendant).

Paul J. Narducci, senior assistant state’s attorney,
with whom, on the brief, were Michael L. Regan, state’s
attorney, and David J. Smith, senior assistant state’s
attorney, for the appellee (state).

Opinion

SHELDON, J. The defendant, Gerjuan Rainer Tyus,
appeals from the judgment of conviction, which was
rendered against him after a jury trial, on the charge
of murder in violation of General Statutes § 53a-54a (a).
On appeal, the defendant claims (1) that the trial court
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abused its discretion in granting the state’s motion to
join his case for trial with that of his codefendant, Darius
Armadore; (2) that he was deprived of his constitutional
right to confrontation when the state’s firearms exam-
iner was permitted to testify regarding the findings of
another firearms examiner, who was deceased, and thus
unavailable to testify at trial; and (3) that the court
erred in denying his request for a limiting instruction to
the jury concerning the testimony of the state’s firearms
examiner.1 We affirm the judgment of the trial court.

On the basis of the evidence presented at trial, the
jury reasonably could have found the following facts.
In early December, 2006, the defendant was involved
in an ongoing dispute with Todd Thomas regarding a
piece of jewelry that Thomas’ brother had given to the
defendant. Thomas demanded that the defendant give
him the jewelry, but the defendant refused to do so
unless Thomas paid him $10,000.

On December 3, 2006, there was a drive-by shooting
near the defendant’s residence on Willetts Avenue in
New London. In that incident, Thomas, who was a pas-
senger in a white Lexus that was registered to his wife,
fired several gunshots at the defendant with a .38 caliber
firearm, striking him in the leg and the back. The defen-
dant returned fire at Thomas, firing five gunshots with
a nine millimeter firearm. Four .38 caliber cartridge
casings and five nine millimeter cartridge casings were
recovered from the scene of the shooting on Willetts
Avenue. Later that day, while the defendant was at a

1 The defendant also claims that the court erred when it admitted testimony
and documentary evidence of cell phone data, absent any objection by the
defendant or Armadore, without qualifying the witness as an expert or
holding a hearing pursuant to State v. Porter, 241 Conn. 57, 698 A.2d 739
(1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1058, 118 S. Ct. 1384, 140 L. Ed. 2d 645 (1998),
to determine its reliability. Because this claim is evidentiary in nature, and
the defendant failed to preserve it at trial, we decline to review it. See State
v. Turner, 181 Conn. App. 535, 549–55, 187 A.3d 454 (2018).
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hospital being treated for his wounds, his close friend,
Darius Armadore, who was at the hospital waiting for
news of the defendant’s condition, was overheard to
say, ‘‘we’re gonna get them niggas . . . .’’

At approximately 7 p.m. on December 22, 2006, the
defendant and Armadore went to Boston to visit family
and pick up three girls in a silver Chevrolet Impala that
the defendant had rented on December 15, 2006. When
one of the three girls refused to return to Connecticut
with them, the defendant and Armadore returned to
Connecticut with the other two girls.

Later that evening, at approximately 11 p.m. on
December 22, 2006, Thomas arrived at Ernie’s Café on
Bank Street in New London. Shortly after midnight on
that evening, while Thomas was outside Ernie’s smok-
ing a cigarette, he was shot in the head. A light skinned
African-American male was observed fleeing from the
place where Thomas fell, running first down Bank
Street toward the corner of Golden Street, then up
Golden Street to a municipal parking lot, where he
entered the passenger’s side of a silver car that had
been waiting there with its motor running. As soon as
the fleeing man entered the waiting vehicle, it sped
away. Thomas was transported to Lawrence + Memorial
Hospital, where he was pronounced dead on arrival.

Later, at approximately 12:45 a.m., the defendant and
Armadore arrived at Bella Notte, a nightclub in Nor-
wich. Tracking information on records produced by
their cell service providers established that their three
cell phones—the defendant had two cell phones in his
possession and Armadore had one—had been brought
from Boston to New London at approximately 11:45
p.m. All three phones activated cell towers in New Lon-
don, in the vicinity of Ernie’s, minutes before a 911 call
was received reporting the shooting outside of Ernie’s.
Thereafter, between 12:30 and 12:42 a.m., the three cell
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phones were taken from New London to Norwich,
where they activated a cell tower in close proximity to
Bella Notte.2 A few hours later, at approximately 4 a.m.,
the defendant dropped Armadore off at the apartment
that he shared with his then girlfriend, Ritchae Ebrah-
imi. After arriving at the apartment, Armadore told
Ebrahimi that he had shot someone that night.

One nine millimeter cartridge casing was recovered
from the scene of Thomas’ December 23, 2006 shooting
outside of Ernie’s. A comparison of that cartridge casing
to the five nine millimeter cartridge casings recovered
from the scene of the defendant’s December 3, 2006
shooting on Willetts Avenue revealed that all six had
been fired from the same firearm.

On November 20, 2012, the defendant and Armadore
were both arrested in connection with the shooting
death of Thomas on charges of murder in violation of
§ 53a-54a, and conspiracy to commit murder in violation
of General Statutes §§ 53a-48 and 53a-54a. The conspir-
acy charges against both defendants were later dis-
missed on the ground that they were barred by the
statute of limitations. The state thereafter filed long
form informations charging the defendant and Arm-
adore with murder, both as a principal and as an acces-
sory, in violation of General Statutes §§ 53a-8 and 53a-
54a (a). The cases were subsequently joined for trial,
then tried together before a single jury, which returned
guilty verdicts as to both defendants without specifying
whether such verdicts were based on principal or acces-
sorial liability. The court sentenced the defendant to a
term of fifty-five years of incarceration. This appeal
followed.3

2 The defendant and Armadore claimed that they had been at Bella Notte
when Thomas was shot and killed in New London.

3 Armadore also has challenged his conviction in a separate appeal.
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I

The defendant first claims that the court abused its
discretion in granting the state’s motion to join his case
with Armadore’s case for trial.4 We disagree.

On April 7, 2015, the state filed a motion, pursuant
to Practice Book § 41-19, for joinder of the defendant’s
and Armadore’s cases for trial. The state argued that
joinder of the two cases would promote judicial econ-
omy because, as the court ruled, ‘‘virtually all of the
witnesses [it] would call in [the defendant]’s trial would
be called in the trial of [Armadore],’’ and the physical
and scientific evidence that it would seek to introduce
in both cases would be identical. The state further
argued that the respective defenses of the defendant
and Armadore were not antagonistic, and thus that nei-
ther would suffer substantial injustice if their cases
were tried together.

On April 27, 2015, the defendant filed an objection
to the state’s motion for joinder. The defendant argued
that Ebrahimi’s testimony that Armadore had told her,
in the early morning hours of December 23, 2006, that
he had shot someone earlier that morning was hearsay
that would not be admissible in the state’s case against
him if he were tried alone and, thus, that by joining his
case with the state’s case against Armadore, against
whom the statement was admissible as a party admis-
sion, he would be substantially prejudiced. The defen-
dant argued that the only conceivable basis on which
the state could introduce Armadore’s statement to
Ebrahimi against him would be pursuant to the cocon-
spirator exception to the hearsay rule, but because the

4 The defendant also claims that the court erred in failing to sever the
two cases as the trial progressed and that the spillover effect of the evidence
clearly prejudiced him. The defendant did not object to any of the evidence
that he now claims prejudiced him, nor did he request a limiting instruction
regarding that evidence. His claim in this regard is therefore not preserved
and we decline to review it.
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conspiracy charge against him had been dismissed, the
statement could not properly be admitted on that basis.

The court heard argument on the state’s motion for
joinder on May 18, 2015. On October 6, 2015, the court
orally granted the motion, explaining its ruling as fol-
lows: ‘‘The court finds that joinder of the cases will
clearly advance judicial economy in this case. Virtually
all of the witnesses called in one trial would be called
in the trial of the other. The physical and the scientific
evidence would also be virtually identical. Moreover,
joinder would not substantially prejudice the rights of
the defendants. Based on the court’s review of the state-
ments of the defendants as set forth by the state in
its memorandum, it appears that the defenses are not
irreconcilable or antagonistic. Both have admitted
being with the other on the night in question, and the
statements of each do not implicate the other.’’ The
court thus found that a joint trial would not be unfairly
prejudicial, and so it granted the state’s motion for
joinder.

On appeal, the defendant claims, as he did at trial, that
the joinder of his case with Armadore’s was improper
because Ebrahimi’s testimony about Armadore’s admis-
sion to her that he had shot someone on the evening
of Thomas’ killing was not admissible against him under
the coconspirator exception to the hearsay rule, and
thus that its introduction and use against him in his
joint trial with Armadore caused him unfair prejudice.
We are not persuaded.

Practice Book § 41-19 provides that ‘‘[t]he judicial
authority may, upon its own motion or the motion of
any party, order that two or more informations, whether
against the same defendant or different defendants, be
tried together.’’ The paramount concern in ordering a
joint trial is whether the defendant’s right to a fair trial
will be impaired. ‘‘The argument for joinder is most
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persuasive when the offenses are based upon the same
act or criminal transaction, since it seems unduly ineffi-
cient to require the state to resolve the same issues at
numerous trials. . . . In contrast, when the cases are
not of the same character, the argument for joinder is
far less compelling because the state must prove each
offense with separate evidence and witnesses [thus]
eliminat[ing] any real savings in time or efficiency which
might otherwise be provided by a single trial.’’ (Internal
quotation marks omitted.) State v. LaFleur, 307 Conn.
115, 157, 51 A.3d 1048 (2012). ‘‘A joint trial expedites
the administration of justice, reduces the congestion of
trial dockets, conserves judicial time, lessens the bur-
den upon citizens who must sacrifice both time and
money to serve upon juries, and avoids the necessity
of recalling witnesses who would otherwise be called to
testify only once.’’ (Internal quotation marks omitted.)
State v. Madore, 96 Conn. App. 235, 240, 899 A.2d 721,
cert. denied, 280 Conn. 907, 907 A.2d 92 (2006).

‘‘A separate trial will be ordered where the defenses
of the accused are antagonistic, or evidence will be
introduced against one which will not be admissible
against others, and it clearly appears that a joint trial
will probably be prejudicial to the rights of one or more
of the accused. . . . [T]he phrase prejudicial to the
rights of the [accused] means something more than that
a joint trial will probably be less advantageous to the
accused than separate trials.’’ (Internal quotation marks
omitted.) Id., 239–40.

‘‘[I]t is the defendant’s burden on appeal to show that
joinder was improper by proving substantial prejudice
that could not be cured by the trial court’s instructions
to the jury . . . . [I]n deciding whether to [join infor-
mations] for trial, the trial court enjoys broad discretion,
which, in the absence of manifest abuse, an appellate
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court may not disturb.’’ (Citation omitted; internal quo-
tation marks omitted.) State v. Devon D., 321 Conn.
656, 665, 138 A.3d 849 (2016).

In this case, it is undisputed that the state’s cases
against the defendant and Armadore arose from the
same criminal incident—the shooting death of
Thomas—and that virtually all of the state’s testimonial
and documentary evidence at their joint trial, as well
as all of its physical and scientific evidence against the
two defendants, would have been admissible against
either of them had they been tried separately. The defen-
dants’ defenses to the charges against them were not
antagonistic. In fact, they each served as the other’s
principal alibi witness, insisting that they had been
together at Bella Notte in Norwich when Thomas was
shot and killed in New London.

The defendant argued before the trial court, and now
reiterates before us, that Armadore’s statement to
Ebrahimi about shooting someone on the evening of
Thomas’ shooting could only have been admitted into
evidence against him if it qualified for admission under
the coconspirator exception to the hearsay rule. He
insists, however, that that exception did not apply in
this case because, by the time the joint trial began, the
conspiracy charges against him and Armadore had been
dismissed. The defendant asserted no other evidentiary
basis for excluding Armadore’s admission to Ebrahimi,
and in fact conceded that it could have been admitted
against him under the coconspirator exception had his
conspiracy charge still been pending at the time.5

5 In his objection to the state’s motion for joinder, the defendant conceded,
for purposes of its objection, that ‘‘the state will be able to show that
Armadore’s statement was made (1) while the conspiracy was ongoing and
(2) in furtherance of the conspiracy.’’ The defendant also ‘‘assumes that the
state will also have made the threshold showing of the existence of a
conspiracy in order that this statement [may] be properly offered, let
alone admitted.’’
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The defendant’s argument that joinder of his case
and Armadore’s for trial was improper must be rejected
because the central premise on which that argument
rests, which is that in the absence of a pending charge
of conspiracy, Armadore’s admission to Ebrahimi was
not admissible against the defendant under the cocon-
spirator exception to the hearsay rule, is completely
unfounded as a matter of law. At all times relevant to
this case, the coconspirator exception to the hearsay
rule has been codified in § 8-3 of the Connecticut Code
of Evidence (2008), which provides in relevant part:
‘‘The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule,
even though the declarant is available as a witness: (1)
Statement by a party opponent. A statement that is
being offered against a party and is . . . (D) a state-
ment by a coconspirator of a party while the conspiracy
is ongoing and in furtherance of the conspiracy . . . .’’
So phrased, the rule lists no requirement that limits
its application to criminal cases involving charges of
conspiracy. To the contrary, consistent with Connecti-
cut’s pre-code case law which the Code of Evidence
was designed to adopt and codify, the rule’s official
commentary expressly explains the rule’s scope: ‘‘(1)
Statement by party opponent. Sections 8-3 (1) sets forth
six categories of party opponent admissions that were
excepted from the hearsay rule at common law . . . .
(D) The fourth category encompasses the hearsay
exception for statements of coconspirators. . . . The
exception is applicable in civil and criminal cases alike.
See Cooke v. Weed, 90 Conn. 544, 548, 97 A. 765 (1916).’’
Conn. Code Evid. (2008) § 8-3 (1), commentary.

In light of such controlling authority, it is apparent
that Connecticut follows the general American rule as
to the applicability of the coconspirator exception to
the hearsay rule in cases where no formal charge of
conspiracy has been made. That rule has been aptly
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summarized as follows: ‘‘A conspiracy need not be for-
mally charged for coconspirator statements to be
admissible if a conspiracy in fact exists. Likewise, the
declarant need not be charged, and acquittal of conspir-
acy charges does not preclude use of his or her state-
ment. The evidence is similarly admissible in civil cases,
where the conspiracy rule applies to tortfeasors acting
in concert.’’ (Footnotes omitted.) 2 K. Broun, McCor-
mick on Evidence (7th Ed. 2013) § 259, pp. 294–95.
Accordingly, because the defendant presented no other
basis for claiming that his case should not have been
joined with Armadore’s case for trial, we conclude that
the trial court committed no error in ordering joinder
in this case.

II

The defendant next claims that the court erred in
admitting the testimony of the state’s firearms exam-
iner, James Stephenson, because Stephenson’s opinions
regarding the firearms evidence in this case were assert-
edly based on the findings and conclusions of the pri-
mary examiner of the evidence in this case, Gerald
Petillo, who died before trial. The defendant claims
that Stephenson did not conduct ‘‘a true independent
examination’’ of the evidence, but, rather, in formulat-
ing his conclusions, he relied on Petillo’s findings and
conclusions. The defendant argues that because Ste-
phenson’s testimony was based on Petillo’s findings
and conclusions, and Petillo was unavailable for cross-
examination, Petillo’s findings and conclusions consti-
tuted testimonial hearsay, and the admission of evi-
dence on the basis of that hearsay, specifically,
Stephenson’s testimony, violated his constitutional
right to confrontation. We disagree.

In Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct.
1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004), the United States
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Supreme Court held that testimonial hearsay is admissi-
ble against a criminal defendant at trial only if the defen-
dant had a prior opportunity for cross-examination and
the witness is unavailable to testify at trial. Id., 68. The
United States Supreme Court’s subsequent decisions in
Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 129 S.
Ct. 2527, 174 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2009), and Bullcoming v.
New Mexico, 564 U.S. 647, 131 S. Ct. 2705, 180 L. Ed.
2d 610 (2011), extended the holding in Crawford to
apply the confrontation clause in the specific context
of scientific evidence.

In Melendez-Diaz, the court held that certificates
signed and sworn to by state forensics analysts, which
set forth laboratory results of drug tests that were done
by those analysts and which were admitted into evi-
dence in lieu of live testimony from the analysts them-
selves, were testimonial within the meaning of
Crawford, and thus that they were improperly admitted
because the defendant did not have an opportunity to
cross-examine those analysts. Melendez-Diaz v. Massa-
chusetts, supra, 557 U.S. 311.

In Bullcoming, the court held that the confrontation
clause does not permit the prosecution to introduce
a forensic laboratory report containing a testimonial
statement by an analyst, certifying to the results of a
blood alcohol concentration test he performed, through
the in-court testimony of another scientist ‘‘who did not
sign the certification or perform or observe the test
reported in the certification.’’ Bullcoming v. New Mex-
ico, supra, 564 U.S. 652. In short, an accused has the
right ‘‘to be confronted with the analyst who made the
certification, unless that analyst is unavailable at trial,
and the accused had an opportunity, pretrial, to cross-
examine that particular scientist.’’ Id.

Thus, in Crawford, Melendez-Diaz, and Bullcoming,
the trial court’s violation of the defendant’s confronta-
tion rights occurred because certain inculpatory state-
ments were admitted that were testimonial in nature
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and were made against the defendant by an individual
who was not subject to cross-examination. See State
v. Buckland, 313 Conn. 205, 215–16, 96 A.3d 1163 (2014),
cert. denied, U.S. , 135 S. Ct. 992, 190 L. Ed.
2d 837 (2015). Those circumstances are not present in
this case.

Here, the defendant and Armadore filed a joint
motion in limine to preclude Stephenson’s testimony
on the ground that his testimony would not be based
on his own independent examination of the firearms
evidence in this case, but, rather, would be based on
the examination of that evidence by Petillo, who was
not available for cross-examination by the defendant,
and thus that his constitutional right to confrontation
would be violated if Stephenson were permitted to so
testify. The court held a hearing outside of the presence
of the jury on the defendants’ motion to preclude Ste-
phenson’s testimony. Stephenson testified that when
firearms comparisons are made, the technical reviewer
would ‘‘go in, using the comparison microscope, look
at the comparisons himself to make a determination as
to whether the conclusions were correct that were
going to be issued in the report.’’ The technical reviewer
would make an independent determination concerning
the comparisons that were made. Stephenson acted as
the technical reviewer of Petillo’s conclusions in this
case. In that capacity, Stephenson examined the fire-
arms evidence himself and formulated his own opinions
as to the evidence he was examining. In this case, Petillo
had performed various tests on the firearms evidence
that had been collected and authored a report con-
taining his findings and analysis. Stephenson physically
examined the cartridge cases in this case and in the
incident on December 3, 2006. He did not merely verify
what Petillo had concluded, but came to his own conclu-
sions on the basis of his examination of the evidence
before him.
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The trial court concluded that ‘‘this case is in stark
contrast to [Melendez-Diaz and Bullcoming]. This is
not a situation in which the state attempts to elicit
testimony from the deceased examiner. . . . [Stephen-
son] conducted his own independent examination and
reached his own independent conclusions. He is clearly
entitled to testify as to those findings because he is
available and he made conclusions and he will be cross-
examined.’’ On that basis, the court concluded that Ste-
phenson’s testimony was admissible. We agree.

Here, the only inculpatory conclusions or statements
regarding the firearms evidence that were presented to
the jury were made by Stephenson in court. Stephenson
did not rely on Petillo’s report in formulating his own
conclusions, nor was Petillo’s report admitted into evi-
dence. Although Stephenson reviewed Petillo’s report,
he conducted his own physical examination of the evi-
dence in this case and came to his own conclusions,
which happened to be consistent with Petillo’s conclu-
sions. The defendant cross-examined Stephenson
extensively. Because the defendant was afforded a full
opportunity to confront Stephenson regarding his
examination of, and conclusions regarding, the firearms
evidence in this case, his claim that he was denied his
constitutional right to confrontation is without merit.

III

The defendant also claims that the court erred in
denying his request for a limiting instruction to the
jury regarding Stephenson’s testimony. Specifically, the
defendant claims that a ‘‘limiting instruction was neces-
sary given the problems with firearms identification.’’
In response, the state contends that the court’s general
instruction on expert testimony was sufficient to guide
the jury in its assessment of Stephenson’s testimony.
We agree with the state.6

6 The defendant asks this court to exercise its supervisory authority over
the administration of justice to create a rule requiring trial courts to give a
cautionary instruction warning juries that firearms identification testimony
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‘‘We review nonconstitutional claims of instructional
error under the following standard. While a request to
charge that is relevant to the issues in a case and that
accurately states the applicable law must be honored,
a [trial] court need not tailor its charge to the precise
letter of such a request. . . . If a requested charge is
in substance given, the [trial] court’s failure to give a
charge in exact conformance with the words of the
request will not constitute a ground for reversal. . . .
As long as [the instructions] are correct in law, adapted
to the issues and sufficient for the guidance of the jury
. . . we will not view the instructions as improper. . . .
A challenge to the validity of jury instructions presents
a question of law over which this court has plenary
review.’’ (Citation omitted; internal quotation marks
omitted.) State v. Crosby, 182 Conn. App. 373, 410–11,

A.3d (2018).

Here, the defendant filed a written request for a lim-
iting instruction regarding Stephenson’s testimony ‘‘to
ensure the jury retains its fact-finding function and does
not place undue weight on the conclusions expressed
by the forensic firearm examiner.’’ The defendant asked
that the jury be instructed as follows: ‘‘You are also
to consider each expert witness’ general credibility in
accordance with the instruction on credibility applica-
ble to all witnesses.

‘‘Amongst the expert witness testimony you heard in
this case was the testimony of a forensic firearm exam-

is not scientifically definitive. He argues: ‘‘Given that jurors often give undue
reliance on expert opinions [on firearms identification], an instruction is
necessary to protect future defendants against the risk of wrongful con-
victions.’’

‘‘The exercise of our supervisory powers is an extraordinary remedy to
be invoked only when circumstances are such that the issue at hand, while
not rising to the level of a constitutional violation, is nonetheless of utmost
seriousness, not only for the integrity of a particular trial but also for the
perceived fairness of the judicial system as a whole.’’ (Internal quotation
marks omitted.) State v. Elson, 311 Conn. 726, 765, 91 A.3d 862 (2014). We are
unpersuaded that the issue at hand calls for such an extraordinary remedy.
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iner, James Stephenson. Mr. Stephenson expressed var-
ious opinions about certain bullet casing and projectile
evidence in this case. Please understand that Mr. Ste-
phenson’s opinions in this case are not to be treated
by you as scientifically definitive. By that I mean that
the probability of his opinion being correct is for you,
and you alone, to determine. Your determination of that
issue should be guided by the principles that apply to
weighing the testimony of any expert witness, including
the witness’ general credibility.’’

The trial court declined to give the instruction
requested by the defendant, explaining: ‘‘In regard to
the request to charge regarding expert testimony, I do
believe that the charge that I have included in my pro-
posal does, in fact, convey all of the appropriate infor-
mation that’s requested by [defense counsel] in his
request to charge, and I do not intend to alter it in
order to adopt the specific language that is suggested
by [him].’’

The court thereafter instructed the jury concerning
expert testimony as follows: ‘‘In this case, certain wit-
nesses have taken the [witness] stand, given their quali-
fications and testified as expert witnesses. A person is
qualified to testify as an expert if he or she has special
knowledge, skill, experience, training or education suf-
ficient to qualify him or her as an expert on the subject
to which the testimony relates. An expert is permitted
not only to testify to facts that he or she personally
observed, but also to state an opinion about certain
circumstances. This is allowed because an expert, from
experience, research and study, [is] supposed to have
a particular knowledge on the subject of the inquiry
and be more capable than a layperson of drawing con-
clusions from facts and basing his or her opinion
upon them.

‘‘Such testimony is presented to you to assist you in
your deliberations. No such testimony is binding upon
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you, however, and you may disregard such testimony
either in whole or in part. It is for you to consider the
testimony with the other circumstances in the case, and
using your best judgment, determine whether you will
give any weight to it, and, if so, what weight you will
give to it. The testimony is entitled to such weight as
you find the expert’s qualifications in his or her field
entitle it to receive, and it must be considered by you,
but it is not controlling upon your judgment.’’

A comparison of the defendant’s requested instruc-
tion with the instruction given to the jury reveals that
they are substantially similar. The court properly
instructed the jury as to its exclusive role in assessing
the credibility of expert witnesses and determining the
weight to be given to expert testimony. Although the
court declined to highlight Stephenson’s testimony spe-
cifically, as requested by the defendant, there was no
substantive difference between the substance of the
defendant’s requested instruction and the instruction
given by the court. Because the court’s instructions
were correct in law, adapted to the issues and sufficient
to guide the jury, we cannot conclude that they were
improper.

The judgment is affirmed.

In this opinion the other judges concurred.
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material facts as determined by commissioner; whether board abused its discre-
tion in denying motion to submit additional evidence to board; whether board
reasonably could have concluded that plaintiff did not demonstrate that plaintiff
had good reason for not presenting additional evidence to commissioner, where
documents were in existence approximately four years before formal hearing on
workers’ compensation claim commenced.

Downing v. Dragone . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 565
Contracts; challenge to trial court’s finding that defendant company breached implied

in fact contract; whether trial court’s finding that named defendant testified that
he had written contract on his desk but did not read it until four months after
auction was clearly erroneous; whether trial court substantially relied on clearly
erroneous factual finding in rendering judgment in part for plaintiff; whether
new trial on breach of contract claim was necessary.

Doyle v. Chaplen . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 278
Paternity; child custody and support; claim that trial court improperly found that

mother signed acknowledgment of paternity on basis of material mistake of fact;
claim that trial court improperly concluded that opening judgment was in best
interests of minor child after making clearly erroneous finding that there was
no parent-like relationship between acknowledged father and minor child; claim
that trial court misapplied law regarding laches and equitable estoppel; whether
trial court’s finding that acknowledgment of paternity was signed on basis of
material mistake of fact was clearly erroneous; whether trial court’s finding that
acknowledged father did not have parent-like relationship with minor child was
clearly erroneous; whether trial court properly determined that mother was not
equitably estopped from opening judgment in support action; whether trial court
properly determined that elements of equitable estoppel had not been established.

Drabik v. Thomas . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 238
Petition for bill of discovery seeking to depose defendant employees of certain Indian

tribe and officers of tribe’s historic preservation office; whether trial court improp-
erly granted defendants’ motion to dismiss on ground of tribal sovereign immu-
nity; whether trial court correctly determined that certain defendants were
entitled to tribal sovereign immunity; whether certain defendants were named
in individual capacities or acted beyond scope of authority as employees of tribe
and officers of tribe’s historic preservation office.

Farmer-Lanctot v. Shand . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 249
Negligence; whether trial court improperly denied request for jury charge on sudden

emergency doctrine, standard of care for pedestrian in roadway, and defendant’s
duty to yield to pedestrians when making right-hand turn; whether trial court
properly declined to instruct jury in accordance with model instructions regard-
ing crossing at crosswalk; whether, under general verdict rule, this court, which
resolved plaintiff’s sole challenge to court’s jury instructions as to negligence and
concluded that there was no error, was required to presume that jury found that
defendant was not negligent; whether general verdict rule precluded review of
plaintiff’s remaining claims relating to instructions on contributory negligence.

Glastonbury v. Sakon . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 385
Foreclosure; action to foreclose municipal tax liens; attorney’s fees authorized by

statute (§ 12-193); claim that total award of attorney’s fees was unreasonable
when compared to amount of tax liens at issue and to attorney’s fees awarded
in similar tax lien foreclosure cases; whether trial court abused discretion in
determining amount of attorney’s fees awarded.

Goodwin Estate Assn., Inc. v. Starke . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 92
Foreclosure; whether trial court improperly denied motions to dismiss and to open

judgment; reviewability of claim that trial court, in denying motion to dismiss,
improperly considered equities and length of time that plaintiff had been deprived
of fees; claim that trial court committed plain error in denying motion to dismiss
because defendant had not received notice from plaintiff of adopted standard
foreclosure policy.
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Government Employees Ins. Co. v. Barros . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 395
Equitable subrogation; uninsured motorist benefits; claim that equitable subrogation

action was subject to same statute of limitations period as underlying tort claims;
whether claim sounding in equity is subject to statute of limitations; reviewability
of claim that equitable subrogation action was precluded under doctrine of laches.

Green v. Commissioner of Correction . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 76
Habeas corpus; claim that habeas court improperly dismissed habeas petition pursu-

ant to applicable rule of practice (§ 23-24) without holding hearing; whether
habeas court properly dismissed habeas petition sua sponte for lack of jurisdic-
tion; claim that petitioner was being deprived of risk reduction credits; whether
petitioner had constitutionally protected liberty interest in risk reduction credits;
whether applicable statute (§ 18-98e) conferred broad discretion on respondent
Commissioner of Correction to award such credits; claim that commissioner
altered discretionary nature of risk credit program by entering into binding
contract with petitioner.

Hirsch v. Woermer . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 583
Foreclosure; foreclosure by sale; special defense of unconscionability; motion to strike

special defenses; motion to open judgment; claim that trial court improperly
granted motion to strike special defense of unconscionability; whether defendant
sufficiently pleaded facts to support special defense of unconscionability on proce-
dural grounds; whether defendant’s assertion that loan was predatory because
of term of one year, with interest rate of 15 percent, and points of 5 percent,
alone, was sufficient to render contract unenforceable on ground of substantive
unconscionability; whether trial court abused its discretion in denying motion
to open judgment; whether defendant timely raised special defense of statutory
violation; whether special defense was available to defendant prior to when judg-
ment was rendered; whether defendant offered any evidence that there was good
and compelling reason for modification to special defenses after judgment was
rendered.

Holliday v. Commissioner of Correction . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 228
Habeas corpus; whether habeas court improperly dismissed petition for writ of

habeas corpus; whether habeas court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over claim
that 2013 revision to parole eligibility statute (§ 54-125a [b]) violated petitioner’s
rights to due process and equal protection, and constitutional prohibition against
ex post facto laws; whether petitioner demonstrated liberty interest that was
implicated by loss of risk reduction credits toward parole eligibility; whether
habeas court improperly dismissed habeas petition without notice or hearing
pursuant to rule of practice (§ 23-29 [1]) that authorized court to dismiss habeas
petition on own motion.

In re Joheli V. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 259
Termination of parental rights; claim that trial court erred in determining that

respondent father had failed to achieve such degree of personal rehabilitation as
would encourage belief that within reasonable time respondent could assume
responsible position in minor child’s life based solely upon respondent’s current
incarceration for allegedly sexually assaulting minor child; whether trial court
based determination that respondent failed to rehabilitate solely on ground that
respondent was incarcerated; whether trial court’s determination that respon-
dent’s efforts to rehabilitate were scant even before arrest was supported by record.

Landmark Development Group, LLC v. Water & Sewer Commission. . . . . . . . . . . . . 303
Administrative appeal; appeal from decision by water and sewer commission grant-

ing in part application for sewer treatment capacity determination; claim that
defendant commission improperly allocated 14,434 gallons per day of sewer
treatment capacity to plaintiffs’ proposed development when plaintiffs’ applica-
tion for determination of sewer capacity requested 118,000 gallons per day;
whether trial court abused discretion by granting motion to supplement record
and to conduct discovery regarding sewage capacity effectively allocated to
another similarly-situated development; claim that trial court abused discretion
by admitting supplemental evidence; whether evidence concerning other develop-
ment was relevant; whether plaintiffs had prior opportunity to present evidence
concerning other development to commission; whether law of case doctrine
required trial court to apply certain factors with regard to sewage capacity
because trial court in prior remand order required commission to apply those
factors; whether evidence regarding other development constituted new or overrid-
ing circumstances for purposes of law of case doctrine; whether trial court acted
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unreasonably, illegally, or in abuse of discretion when it sustained plaintiffs’
appeal and remanded matter to commission.

Merk-Gould v. Gould . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 512
Dissolution of marriage; whether trial court’s finding that defendant had annual

earning capacity of $200,000 was clearly erroneous; claim that trial court abused
its discretion in valuing defendant’s interests in certain private equity companies
on basis of cost of assets at time of purchase rather than as of date of marital
dissolution; whether evidence supported finding that $200,000 was net amount
that defendant could realistically be expected to earn after being left with only
40 percent of investment assets after trial court awarded 60 percent to plaintiff;
claim that trial court’s order was precise means of providing remedy for defend-
ant’s dissipation of marital assets; failure to raise claim before trial court;
whether trial court’s alimony award was necessarily interwoven with court’s
remaining financial and property orders.

Palosz v. Greenwich. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 201
Wrongful death; motion to strike; claim that board of education was entitled to

sovereign immunity from wrongful death action arising out of suicide of student
following severe and continual bullying while student was enrolled in school
system; whether board was acting as agent of state when employees allegedly
failed to comply with terms of policy that board had adopted to address bullying
in school system in accordance with statute (§ [Rev. to 2011] 10-222d [as
amended by Public Acts 2011, No. 11-232, § 1]); whether board was entitled to
sovereign immunity in light of qualified immunity specifically provided to local
board of education pursuant to statute (§ 10-222l) for actions taken by the board
with respect to policies adopted pursuant to § 10-222d.

Real Estate Mortgage Network, Inc. v. Squillante . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 356
Foreclosure; subject matter jurisdiction; claim that trial court improperly denied

named defendant’s second motion to reopen judgment of strict foreclosure;
whether trial court correctly concluded that motion to reopen was moot; whether
trial court should have dismissed rather than have denied motion to reopen.

Sovereign Bank v. Harrison . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 436
Foreclosure; whether trial court erred in interpreting defendant’s special defense as

counterclaim; whether trial court lacked authority to grant motion to restore case
to docket; whether third special defense could reasonably be construed as stating
independent cause of action.

State v. Carney. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 456
Murder; motion to correct illegal sentence; whether trial court properly construed

applicable statutes (§§ 17a-566 and 17a-567) and declined to hold that receipt
of information from personnel at Whiting Forensic Division regarding recom-
mendations for defendant’s psychiatric treatment required sentencing court to
consider more lenient sentence than that agreed on in plea agreement; claim that
sentencing court relied on inaccurate information in sentencing defendant.

State v. Covington . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 332
Carrying pistol without permit; criminal possession of firearm; whether evidence

was insufficient to support conviction of carrying pistol without permit; whether
jury’s inability to reach unanimous verdict on charges of murder and assault
in first degree suggested that jury did not believe that defendant was shooter;
whether jury could have found that defendant possessed pistol, as defined by
statute (§ 29-27), at time and place of shooting; unpreserved claim that conviction
of criminal possession of firearm should be vacated; claim that defendant’s rights
to trial by jury and to fair trial were violated because trial court’s finding of
guilt as to charge of criminal possession of firearm contravened jury’s inability
to reach unanimous verdict on murder and assault charges; unpreserved claim
that defendant was entitled to new sentencing hearing because trial court imper-
missibly relied on facts that contravened jury’s determination as to murder and
assault charges.

State v. Durdek . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 492
Murder; burglary in first degree; sexual assault in first degree; arson in first degree;

tampering with physical evidence; claim that trial court improperly restricted
defendant’s cross-examination of state’s witness by preventing defendant, for
purposes of impeachment, from asking witness about misconduct that witness
allegedly had committed as juvenile; whether defendant had provided adequate
record to review claim when defendant failed to make offer of proof regarding
how witness would have responded to any question about alleged misconduct.



Page 130A September 11, 2018CONNECTICUT LAW JOURNAL

State v. Ezequiel R. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55
Aggravated sexual assault of minor; sexual assault in first degree; risk of injury to

child; sexual assault in fourth degree; whether trial court properly determined
that victim’s statements made during forensic interview fell within medical
diagnosis or treatment exception to hearsay rule; whether trial court abused
discretion in admitting video recording of victim’s forensic interview into evi-
dence; whether statements during forensic interview of child that are offered
solely under medical diagnosis and treatment exception are admissible if such
statements are reasonably pertinent to obtaining medical diagnosis or treatment,
even if primary purpose of declarant’s statements was not to obtain medical
diagnosis and treatment; whether there was sufficient evidence in record to
demonstrate that victim’s statements were reasonably pertinent to obtaining
medical diagnosis and treatment; reviewability of unpreserved claim that trial
court improperly allowed clinical child interview specialist to render expert
opinion that appeared to be based on facts of case.

State v. Griffin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 595
Arson in first degree; conspiracy to commit arson in first degree; insurance fraud;

whether trial court abused its discretion in denying motion to suppress witnesses’
identifications of defendant that were made to police from photographic arrays
and in court; whether photographic arrays were unduly suggestive; claim that
there was increased risk that witnesses would select defendant’s photograph from
arrays because photographs were administered simultaneously instead of sequen-
tially; whether evidence was insufficient to support conviction of arson in first
degree and conspiracy to commit arson in first degree; claim that there was no
evidence that defendant started fire with intent to collect insurance proceeds
related to mother’s homeowner’s policy; claim that evidence was insufficient
to establish that defendant possessed requisite mens rea to support conspiracy
conviction; whether conviction of insurance fraud as to fraudulent insurance
claim by defendant’s mother could not stand where there was no evidence that
defendant participated in making or preparation of any statement that was
provided to mother’s home insurer.

State v. Harper . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24
Conspiracy to commit robbery in first degree; attempt to commit robbery in first

degree as accessory; whether evidence adduced at trial was sufficient to sustain
conviction; claim that conviction of attempt to commit robbery in first degree
as accessory required proof that defendant knew or believed that one of cohorts
would be armed with deadly weapon during attempted robbery; whether statute
(§ 53a-134 [a] [2]) governing robbery in first degree requires proof that defendant
intended to possess or intended for accomplice to possess deadly weapon; whether
trial court improperly declined to provide jury with unanimity instruction as
requested by defendant; claim that jurors must be instructed that unanimity is
required on nature or source of reasonable doubt.

State v. Jackson . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 419
Sexual assault in first degree; unlawful restraint; collateral estoppel; double jeopardy;

claim that trial court improperly admitted into evidence in defendant’s second
trial portion of witness’ statement that jury in defendant’s first trial necessarily
had rejected when jury found defendant not guilty of unlawful restraint charge;
whether admission of evidence violated defendant’s fifth amendment guarantee
against double jeopardy; whether finding of not guilty on charge of unlawful
restraint and finding that witness made credible statement were not mutually
exclusive findings or in any way inconsistent; whether jury reasonably could
have believed statement but found that statement did not establish or demonstrate
that defendant had intent to unlawfully restrain victim; whether defendant dem-
onstrated that jury, in finding defendant not guilty of unlawful restraint in first
trial, necessarily rejected witness’ statement.

State v. Lugojanu . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 576
Conspiracy to commit home invasion; whether trial court improperly dismissed

defendant’s motion to correct illegal sentence for lack of subject matter jurisdic-
tion; whether court had jurisdiction to consider defendant’s claim that sentence
of twenty years of incarceration followed by five year term of probation exceeded
statutory twenty year limit for class B felony; claim that sentence was illegal
because there was disparity between defendant’s sentence and sentences received
by other participants in underlying crime; claim that prosecutor improperly
increased defendant’s recommended sentence under plea deal after defendant
elected jury trial.
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State v. McKethan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 187
Murder; carrying pistol without permit; possession of narcotics; motion for joinder;

whether trial court abused discretion in consolidating two informations for trial;
whether defendant demonstrated that joinder resulted in substantial prejudice;
whether trial court’s explicit instructions to jury to consider each charge sepa-
rately in reaching verdict cured risk of substantial prejudice to defendant.

State v. Si . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 402
Negligent homicide with commercial motor vehicle; claim that trial court improperly

instructed jury because it failed to instruct jurors that it would be complete defense
to charge of negligent homicide with commercial motor vehicle that decedent’s
negligence was sole proximate cause of own death; claim that jury charge was
materially misleading because jury instructions on proximate causation could
have led jury to disregard conduct of decedent entirely and, thus, to ignore
possibility that decedent was sole proximate cause of own death; whether trial
court erred when it provided jury with copy of jury charge during deliberations.

State v. Tyus . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 669
Murder; whether trial court committed error in granting state’s motion to join

defendant’s case and that of another defendant for trial, where both cases arose
from same incident, virtually all of state’s testimonial, documentary, physical
and scientific evidence would have been admissible against each defendant if
they were tried separately, each defendant’s defenses were not antagonistic and
each defendant was other’s principal alibi witness; claim that certain statement
was inadmissible under coconspirator exception to hearsay rule in applicable
provision (§ 8-3 [1]) of Connecticut Code of Evidence (2008), where conspiracy
to commit murder count had been dismissed prior to trial; claim that trial court
violated defendant’s right to confrontation when it permitted state’s firearms
examiner to testify about firearms evidence that had been examined by examiner
who had died and was unavailable for cross-examination; whether trial court
improperly denied request for limiting instruction regarding testimony of fire-
arms examiner; whether trial court’s jury instructions were correct in law,
adapted to issues and sufficient to guide jury.

Taylor v. Wallace . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43
Legal malpractice; ripeness; subject matter jurisdiction; whether plaintiff’s claim

that defendant attorney provided deficient representation with respect to plain-
tiff’s prior habeas corpus action was ripe for adjudication where plaintiff
remained validly incarcerated and conviction has never been invalidated;
whether plaintiff had standing to pursue claim that plaintiff was injured as
result of defendant’s purported fraud on state; claim that trial court abused
discretion in denying motion to reargue.

Teodoro v. Bristol . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 363
Negligence; action for damages for injuries to student incurred during high school

cheerleading practice; whether trial court, in deciding motion for summary judg-
ment, improperly failed to consider excerpts from certified deposition transcripts,
where excerpts were submitted with pages from original deposition transcripts
that established that original transcripts were accurate transcriptions of testi-
mony under oath; whether excerpts from deposition transcripts were properly
authenticated under rule of practice (§ 17-45) that governs admissible evidence
as to issues raised in summary judgment motions; whether trial court abused
discretion in not considering surreply memoranda of law in contravention of
applicable rule of practice ([2016] § 11-10).

Thompson v. Commissioner of Correction . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 215
Habeas corpus; whether habeas court properly determined that petitioner failed

to prove, by preponderance of evidence, that trial counsel rendered deficient
performance by not moving for mistrial or requesting curative instruction after
complainant provided prejudicial testimony; whether conclusion that trial coun-
sel’s acquiescence waived petitioner’s claim that petitioner was deprived of right
to fair trial as result of jury’s potential exposure to prejudicial testimony equated
to determination that counsel rendered ineffective assistance in handling of issue;
claim that jury heard prejudicial testimony because it was reflected in trial
transcript; whether petitioner failed to present evidence to rebut presumption
that trial counsel’s performance fell within wide range of reasonable profes-
sional assistance.

Vaccaro v. D’Angelo. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 467
Interpleader; interpleader action to determine rights of defendants to portion of

funds from settlement resolving personal injury action; claim that trial court
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improperly determined that named defendant was entitled to portion of settlement
funds because named defendant failed to comply with certain provision in his
provider agreement, and because authorization form provided by named defend-
ant was unenforceable; claim that named defendant’s authorization form was
illegal on face and contrary to public policy because form violated statute ([Rev.
to 2011] § 20-7f [b]) that makes unfair billing practice for healthcare provider
to request payment, other than co-payment or deductible, from enrollee for medical
services covered under managed care plan and because form violated certain
other statutory provisions ([Rev. to 2011] §§ 36a-573 and 42-150aa [b]); claim
that once defendant had exhausted chiropractic benefit under health plan,
§ 2.03.12 (b) in provider agreement required named defendant to provide other
defendant with acknowledgment form, listing all noncovered services, at each
and every subsequent visit prior to treatment; reviewability of claim that authori-
zation form violated certain statutory provisions ([Rev. to 2011] §§ 36a-573 and
42-150aa [b]); failure to brief claim adequately; claim that authorization form
was illegal and against public policy because it violated § 20-7f (b).
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SUPREME COURT PENDING CASES

The following appeals are fully briefed and eligible for assignment
by the Supreme Court in the near future.

STATE v. DIVENSON PETION, SC 19938

Judicial District of Stamford-Norwalk

Criminal; Assault in the First Degree; Sufficiency of the

Evidence; Whether Scar on Victim’s Forearm Constituted a Seri-

ous Physical Injury. Following a jury trial, the defendant was con-
victed of two counts of assault in the first degree in violation of General
Statutes § 53a-59 (a) (1) in connection with an incident in which he
cut two victims with a knife. One of the victims, Rosa Bran, sustained
two cuts on her forearm. On appeal, the defendant claimed that the
evidence was insufficient to support his conviction for assaulting Bran
because the state failed to prove that she suffered a ‘‘serious physical
injury.’’ The defendant argued that Bran’s injuries were limited to ‘‘an
abrasion and two small lacerations on her left forearm.’’ The Appellate
Court (172 Conn. App. 668) upheld the defendant’s conviction, relying
on testimony from Bran and her physician, as well as photographic
evidence concerning her injuries, which indicated that one of the two
lacerations resulted in a significant and readily visible scar. The court
opined that the jury reasonably could find that such scarring consti-
tuted a serious disfigurement and, therefore, a serious physical injury.
The defendant appeals, and the Supreme Court will decide whether,
in rejecting his claim that there was insufficient evidence to support
his conviction of assault in the first degree as to Bran, the Appellate
Court properly concluded that a jury reasonably could have found
that the one and one-half inch scar on Bran’s forearm constituted
a serious disfigurement and, therefore, a serious physical injury as
contemplated by § 53a-59 (a) (1).

CLAUDIA PUFF v. GREGORY PUFF, SC 20058

Judicial District of Stamford-Norwalk

Dissolution of Marriage; Whether Appellate Court Properly

Reversed Contempt Judgment. In this dissolution of marriage case,
a hearing was held on February 19, 2014, on the plaintiff’s postjudgment
motion to modify alimony. At the hearing, the defendant’s counsel
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orally presented an agreement by which the defendant was to pay an
amount of periodic alimony and the plaintiff had the right to assign
the alimony to a special needs trust, subject to the defendant’s ability
to deduct the alimony from his gross income on his federal tax return.
The plaintiff was required immediately to secure, or endeavor to
secure, a legal opinion that such an arrangement would not affect the
deductibility of the alimony payments. The court approved the oral
agreement. Although the parties had agreed to submit a document
embodying the terms of the agreement to the court, disagreements
between them subsequently arose, with the plaintiff taking the position
that there had been no meeting of the minds sufficient to form an
agreement. The court ultimately reduced the terms of the oral agree-
ment to a written decision. Thereafter, the defendant filed a motion
for contempt, claiming that the plaintiff wilfully violated the court’s
order by failing to produce any legal opinion regarding the tax deduct-
ibility issue and by instead placing obstacles in the way of reducing
the oral agreement to writing, including the filing of a motion to open
the agreement that she later withdrew. At the hearing on the contempt
motion, the plaintiff’s counsel, relying on a draft opinion letter, argued
that it was impossible to comply with the court’s order because the
inclusion of the defendant as a residual beneficiary likely jeopardized
his right to deduct alimony payments. The trial court granted the
motion for contempt on finding that the plaintiff wilfully violated the
February 19, 2014 order, and it awarded attorney’s fees. The plaintiff
appealed. The Appellate Court (177 Conn. App. 103), while affirming
the trial court’s approval of the agreement, reversed the judgment of
contempt on determining that the finding of contempt was clearly
erroneous given the undisputed fact that the plaintiff had made at
least some effort to secure the opinion letter required under the
agreement. The defendant appeals, and the Supreme Court will decide
whether the Appellate Court properly reversed the trial court’s judg-
ment of contempt. The defendant argues that the trial court acted
within its discretion in finding that the plaintiff failed to make a good
faith effort to obtain the required legal opinion letter. The defendant
further contends that the record shows that the trial court’s contempt
finding was based on more than just the plaintiff’s lack of compliance
with the legal opinion requirement, and, therefore, that even if the
plaintiff had satisfied that requirement, the Appellate Court should
have upheld the contempt finding based on the other grounds of
contempt.
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ELIZABETH BURKE v. GREGORY MESNIAEFF, SC 20062
Judicial District of Stamford-Norwalk

Torts; Assault and Battery; Whether Jury Charge on Defense

of Justification Improperly Included Charge on Criminal Tres-

pass Where Plaintiff Claimed that Premises Were Marital Prop-

erty; Whether Evidence Insufficient to Support Defense of

Defense of Others. The plaintiff brought this action alleging that she
sustained personal injuries as a result of an assault and battery by the
defendant. At the time of the incident, the parties were married and
residing together in New York, but the incident occurred at a house
in Sharon, Connecticut that the defendant had purchased in his name
alone. Enraged and screaming, the plaintiff confronted the defendant
at the Sharon house while a tour of the house was being conducted
by an historic preservation organization. The defendant told the plain-
tiff to leave, grabbed her upper arm and escorted her from the house
and down the driveway. The plaintiff resisted and attempted to strike
him and break loose from his hold and return to the house. The jury
returned a verdict in favor of the defendant, finding that his conduct
toward the plaintiff constituted intentional assault and battery but that
her recovery was barred by the special defenses of justification and
defense of others. The plaintiff appealed, claiming that the trial court
improperly charged the jury on the special defense of justification by
incorporating a charge on criminal trespass because, as a matter of
law, she could not have been trespassing at the Sharon house because
it was marital property. The Appellate Court (177 Conn. App. 824)
affirmed the judgment, finding that it did not need to determine
whether the plaintiff had a right to be on the premises because the
jury did not find that she was trespassing. The Appellate Court further
held that, even if it were to assume that the jury had been misled by
the criminal trespass charge, the plaintiff was not harmed because the
jury found that her recovery was not barred by the special defense
of wrongful conduct, which necessarily relates to trespassing. The
Appellate Court also rejected the plaintiff’s claim that the special
defense of defense of others was legally barred due to insufficient
evidence, holding that the jury reasonably could have found that the
defendant’s response to the plaintiff’s actions was reasonable and that
he had used reasonable physical force in the defense of others when
he escorted her from the house. The plaintiff appeals, and the Supreme
Court will consider whether the Appellate Court properly determined
that (1) the trial court did not err in charging the jury on the defendant’s
justification defense of criminal trespass, (2) the special defense of
defense of others was not barred by insufficient evidence, and (3) no
finding needed to be made with respect to the plaintiff’s rights to
the property.
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MALKIE WIEDERMAN v. ISSAC HALPERT et al., SC 20066
Judicial District of Waterbury

Standing; Whether Plaintiff, as Shareholder of Closely-Held

Limited Liability Companies, Had Standing to Sue Other Share-

holders Based on Colorable Claims of Direct Injury That Were

Separate and Distinct From any Injury to Companies. The parties
entered into an agreement that provided for the creation of several
limited liability companies for the purpose of purchasing and devel-
oping real property. The plaintiff and the defendants were shareholders
in the companies, and the plaintiff brought this action against the
defendants raising several claims of injury based on the defendants’
alleged misappropriation and conversion of funds, commingling of
accounts and securing of funds by the use of fraudulent documents.
The trial court rendered judgment for the plaintiff, and the defendants
appealed, arguing that the trial court erred in denying their motion to
open the judgment because the plaintiff lacked standing to assert
her claims. They specifically argued that the plaintiff lacked standing
because her claims were based on injuries to the companies, as
opposed to injuries to her individually. The Appellate Court (178 Conn.
App. 783) disagreed, concluding that the plaintiff established a color-
able claim of direct injury and therefore that she was aggrieved by
the defendants’ conduct. It determined that the plaintiff’s complaint
did not allege that she had standing solely by reason of being a member
of the companies but, rather, alleged that the defendants conducted
the day-to-day management of the companies in a manner that damaged
her personally and directly in that she never received any portion of
the profits or distributions from the developed properties. The Appel-
late Court further determined that the plaintiff’s allegations that the
defendants had misappropriated and wasted funds that were due to her
and that they had forged her signature on certain financial documents
claimed injuries that were not indirect or derivative, but were peculiar
to her. The defendants appeal, and the Supreme Court will decide
whether the Appellate Court properly determined that the plaintiff had
standing to sue the defendants.

WILLIAM O’BRIEN v. CITY OF NEW HAVEN, SC 20069
Judicial District of New Haven

Municipalities; Whether Plaintiff’s Lawsuit Complied

With Notice Requirement and Time Limitations of Municipal

Employee Indemnification Statute, General Statutes § 7-101a.

The plaintiff, the former tax assessor for the defendant city, brought
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this action pursuant to General Statutes § 7-101a (b), seeking indemnifi-
cation for attorney’s fees and costs he incurred while defending an
action brought against him in 2010, which alleged misdeeds involving
his duties as assessor. Section 7-101a (b) requires each municipality
to ‘‘save harmless’’ any municipal employee from financial loss and
expense, including legal fees and costs, arising out of a lawsuit alleging
wilful or ultra vires acts on the part of the employee while acting in
the discharge of his duties, unless judgment is rendered against the
employee. The 2010 action concluded with a judgment in the plaintiff’s
favor in 2015. The plaintiff filed a notice of his intent to seek indemnifi-
cation from the defendant within four months of the judgment, and
he brought the present action within six months of the judgment.
The defendant filed a motion to dismiss the action, claiming that the
plaintiff’s notice and action were untimely pursuant to § 7-101a (d),
which provides that ‘‘[n]o action shall be maintained . . . unless such
action is commenced within two years after the cause of action therefor
arose nor unless’’ notice is given to the municipality of an intent to
commence such action ‘‘within six months after such cause of action
has accrued.’’ Specifically, the defendant claimed that the term ‘‘cause
of action’’ in § 7-101a (d) should be interpreted as the third party’s
action against the municipal employee, and thus referred to the 2010
tort action brought against the plaintiff, thus rendering the notice and
present action untimely. The trial court denied the motion to dismiss
and rendered judgment in favor of the plaintiff on determining that
the plaintiff’s notice and action were timely filed within six months
of the date that the tort action was resolved. The defendant appealed,
and the Appellate Court (178 Conn. App. 469) affirmed the trial court’s
judgment. The court explained that a plain reading of the text of § 7-
101a (d) and its relationship to other similar statutes revealed that
the plaintiff’s claim for indemnification accrued, and the notice and
limitation periods began to run, when he first could have successfully
held the defendant liable, which could not have occurred until the
2010 tort action was resolved in his favor, and that, therefore, the
notice and action were timely filed. The defendant appeals, and the
Supreme Court will decide whether the Appellate Court properly
affirmed the trial court’s judgment concluding that the plaintiff’s law-
suit complied with the notice requirement and the time limitations set
forth in § 7-101a (d).
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78 OLIVE STREET PARTNERS, LLC v. CITY OF
NEW HAVEN et al., SC 20126

Judicial District of New Haven

Environmental Protection; Zoning; Whether Trial Court

Properly Dismissed Action Brought Pursuant to General Stat-

utes § 22a-16 on Ground that It Constituted Impermissible Col-

lateral Attack on Previous Judgment. The plaintiff filed an
administrative appeal in the trial court challenging the city of New
Haven’s approval of Spinnaker Residential, LLC’s application to con-
struct a mixed use development project on property located near the
plaintiff’s apartment complex. The court remanded the case to the
city’s planning commission on concluding that Spinnaker’s site plan
did not comply with a city zoning ordinance mandating that the rate
of stormwater runoff from a property shall not increase after develop-
ment. On remand, Spinnaker submitted a modified site plan applica-
tion, which was approved by the commission’s staff. Subsequently,
the plaintiff filed a petition to intervene pursuant to General Statutes
§ 22a-19 of the Connecticut Environmental Protection Act (CEPA),
which permits one to intervene in an administrative proceeding for
the limited purpose of raising environmental issues. The commission
took no action on the petition to intervene, but it approved the modified
site plan application. The plaintiff the filed a second administrative
appeal, challenging the approval of the modified site plan application
and the commission’s refusal to entertain its petition to intervene. The
trial court dismissed the administrative appeal for lack of jurisdiction.
The plaintiff then brought this action pursuant to General Statutes
§ 22a-16 of CEPA, which permits one to bring an action seeking the
protection of the public trust in the air, water and other natural
resources of the state from unreasonable pollution, impairment or
destruction. The plaintiff alleged that Spinnaker’s modified site plan
would result in an increase in stormwater runoff that would present
an unreasonable risk of pollution to Long Island Sound. The trial court
granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss the action, ruling that the
plaintiff was impermissibly using an independent action under § 22a-
16 to collaterally attack the dismissal of its second administrative
appeal, and that equity required that the protracted litigation over
Spinnaker’s application come to an end. In so ruling, the trial court
rejected the plaintiff’s claim that its § 22a-16 action was proper under
Waterbury v. Washington, 260 Conn. 506 (2002), which held that the
exhaustion of remedies doctrine does not apply to actions brought
pursuant to § 22a-16. The plaintiff appeals, claiming that the trial court
improperly concluded that (1) the plaintiff lacked standing to bring
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the § 22a-16 action, (2) the plaintiff’s § 22a-16 action constituted an
improper collateral attack on the judgment dismissing the plaintiff’s
second administrative appeal, (3) the plaintiff was required to exhaust
its administrative remedies, and (4) the equities of the case required dis-
missal.

ESSEX INSURANCE COMPANY v. WILLIAM KRAMER &
ASSOCIATES, LLC, SC 20130

United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit

Negligence; Statute of Limitations; Continuing Course of

Conduct; Whether Evidence Sufficient to Support Jury’s Finding

that Negligence Claim was Timely Because Statute of Limita-

tions Tolled by Continuing Course of Conduct. The plaintiff, an
insurer based in Virginia, provided coverage for a commercial property
in Florida that was damaged by a hurricane in 2005. The defendant,
an insurance adjuster based in Connecticut, was retained by the plain-
tiff to provide adjustment services with respect to the resulting storm
damage claim. Among the defendant’s duties to the plaintiff was
informing the plaintiff of any mortgages on the property so that the
plaintiff could account for the interest of any mortgagee when making
payments for the loss. In 2006, the defendant received a letter identi-
fying a mortgage on the property in favor of Intervest National Bank
as mortgagee. Despite this notification, the defendant repeatedly repre-
sented to the plaintiff that there were no mortgages on the property.
The plaintiff made its final payment for the storm damage claim on
the property in 2007, without accounting for Intervest’s interest. In
2011, Intervest brought an action against the plaintiff, claiming that
the plaintiff had failed to protect Intervest’s interest in the property.
During the ensuing litigation, the plaintiff obtained a copy of the letter
identifying Intervest’s interest in the property, and the plaintiff paid
Intervest $1 million to settle. In 2013, the plaintiff brought this action
against the defendant in Connecticut federal district court, alleging
that the defendant was negligent in failing to advise it of Intervest’s
interest in the property. The plaintiff argued that its claim was timely,
notwithstanding the three year statute of limitations for negligence
actions under General Statutes § 52-577, because the continuing course
of conduct doctrine applied. That doctrine provides that a defendant’s
continuing course of conduct will toll a negligence statute of limitations
when there is a special relationship that gives rise to a continuing duty
or when the defendant commits later wrongful conduct related to the
initial wrongful conduct. This action was tried to a jury, which found
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in favor of the plaintiff and awarded it $1.25 million in damages. The
defendant then filed a postverdict motion for judgment as a matter of
law, arguing that the evidence was insufficient for the jury to find that
a continuing course of conduct tolled the statute of limitations. The
district court agreed, granting the motion and rendering judgment
in favor of the defendant. The plaintiff appealed the district court’s
judgment to the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit.
The Second Circuit determined that Connecticut law regarding the
interpretation of § 52-577 and the continuing course of conduct doc-
trine is unclear and certified the following question for review by the
Supreme Court pursuant to General Statutes § 51-199b: Is the trial
evidence legally sufficient to support the jury’s finding that the statute
of limitations was tolled at least through October 21, 2010, rendering
the insurer’s claim timely?

CARMINE CENATIEMPO et al. v. BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., SC 20150
Judicial District of Stamford-Norwalk at Stamford

Negligence; Foreclosure; Whether Loan Servicer Owes Legal

Duty to Borrowers to Act Diligently and Timely in Loan Modifica-

tion Process; Whether Loan Servicer’s Alleged Failure to Act

Diligently and Timely in Loan Modification Process May Consti-

tute Unfair Conduct under CUTPA. The plaintiffs, Carmine and
Sandra Cenatiempo, gave a mortgage on their home in Weston as
security for a loan serviced by the defendant. The plaintiffs defaulted on
the loan in 2009, and the defendant commenced a series of foreclosure
proceedings that ended in 2015, when the defendant offered a perma-
nent loan modification to the plaintiffs. The plaintiffs thereafter
brought this action against the defendant, alleging that the defendant’s
failure to act diligently and timely in the loan modification process
constituted negligence and a violation of the Connecticut Unfair Trade
Practices Act (CUTPA). The defendant filed a motion to strike the
complaint in its entirety, claiming that it failed to state a claim upon
which relief could be granted because there was neither an actionable
duty owed to the plaintiffs for purposes of their negligence claim nor
conduct that came within the scope of CUTPA. The trial court agreed
and granted the defendant’s motion to strike, concluding that the duty
alleged by the plaintiffs was not recognized under Connecticut law
and that the defendant’s alleged conduct was not unfair or deceptive
for purposes of CUTPA. After judgment was rendered on the stricken
complaint, the plaintiffs filed this appeal. The Supreme Court will
decide whether the trial court erred in striking the plaintiffs’ CUTPA
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claim on the ground that the defendant’s conduct was not ‘‘unfair’’
under the act. The Supreme Court will also decide whether the trial
court erred in striking the plaintiffs’ negligence claim where the plain-
tiffs argue that the defendant owed them a duty and that they pleaded
sufficient allegations to support a negligence per se theory.

The summaries appearing here are not intended to represent a comprehen-
sive statement of the facts of the case, nor an exhaustive inventory of issues
raised on appeal. These summaries are prepared by the Staff Attorneys’
Office for the convenience of the bar. They in no way indicate the Supreme
Court’s view of the factual or legal aspects of the appeal.

John DeMeo
Chief Staff Attorney
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NOTICES OF CONNECTICUT STATE AGENCIES

STATE ELECTIONS ENFORCEMENT COMMISSION

State Elections Enforcement Commission advisory opinions are
published herein pursuant to General Statutes Section 9-7b (14)
and are printed exactly as submitted to the Commission on Official
Legal Publications.

ADVISORY OPINION 2018-01:

CEP Candidates in Primaries Applying only for General Election Grant Funds

At a regular meeting on August 22, 2018, the State Elections Enforcement Com-
mission (the ‘‘Commission’’) voted to issue this Advisory Opinion to provide
clarification regarding the conditions under which a primary candidate participating
in the Citizens’ Election Program (‘‘CEP’’ or the ‘‘Program’’) who did not apply
for primary grant funds may apply for general election grant funds if successful in
the primary.

The CEP provides for qualified candidates to receive public grants for primaries,
if applicable, and general elections. In the ten-year history of the Program, which
includes five regular election cycles, many CEP candidates facing a primary and
seeking public funds have applied for primary campaign grants.1 For the first time,
however, several candidates facing primaries in this election cycle have asked
whether they may forgo applying for primary grants and apply for a general election
grant if successful in the primary.

The law does not squarely address this situation, but does not expressly preclude
a candidate facing a primary from joining the CEP before the primary campaign
deadline and only applying for a general elections grant.

Section 9-703 of the General Statutes establishes the deadlines for candidates to
opt in or out of the Program by filing an affidavit of intent to abide by the CEP
expenditure limits (SEEC Form CEP 10) or an affidavit of intent not to abide (SEEC
Form CEP 11). General Statutes § 9-703 (a). If a candidate is in a primary, the
deadline to join the Program is twenty-five days before the primary.2 For candidates
not involved in a primary, the deadline to join the Program is forty days before the
general election. A candidate who does not join the CEP by filing an affidavit of
intent to abide for the primary campaign deadline is not eligible to later join the
CEP and apply for a general election grant. A candidate who has joined the Program
may withdraw at any time before filing a grant application. General Statutes § 9-
703 (b).

1 There are also candidates who join the CEP who never intend to apply for a grant but choose to
follow the CEP rules, including only accepting small-dollar contributions from individuals and abiding
by the voluntary spending limits.

2 Candidates must declare their party status on the SEEC Form CEP 10 and a candidate who changes
his or her party status or becomes a candidate for a different party or a petitioning candidate after filing
this form will not be eligible to apply for a Program grant. General Statutes § 9-706 (a) (4).
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Section 9-702 of the General Statutes sets forth the general requirements for CEP
grant eligibility, and subsection (a) of that section provides as follows:

(1) [T]he candidate committee of a major party candidate for nomination to the
office of state senator or state representative in 2008, or thereafter, or the office
of Governor, Lieutenant Governor, Attorney General, State Comptroller, Secretary
of the State or State Treasurer in 2010, or thereafter, may receive a grant from
the Citizens’ Election Fund for the candidate’s primary campaign for said nomina-
tion, and (2) the candidate committee of a candidate nominated by a major party,
or the candidate committee of an eligible minor party candidate or an eligible
petitioning party candidate, for election to the office of state senator or state
representative at a special election held on or after December 31, 2006, or at a
regular election held in 2008, or thereafter, or for election to the office of Governor,
Attorney General, State Comptroller, Secretary of the State or State Treasurer in
2010, or thereafter, may receive a grant from the fund for the candidate’s general
election campaign for said office.

(Emphasis added.)

Section 9-706 (g) (1) provides for separate deadlines for candidates seeking
nomination in a primary or election in a general election, and does not foreclose a
candidate in a primary from forgoing a primary campaign grant and later applying
for a general election grant:

Any application submitted pursuant to this section for a primary or general election
shall be submitted in accordance with the following schedule: (A) By five o’clock
p.m. on the third Wednesday in May of the year that the primary or election will
be held at which such participating candidate will seek nomination or election,
or (B) by five o’clock p.m. on any subsequent Wednesday of such year, provided
no application shall be accepted by the commission after five o’clock p.m. on or
after the fourth to last Friday prior to the primary or election at which such
participating candidate will seek nomination or election. line

Section 9-702 (b) sets forth five general criteria for grant eligibility and pro-
vides that:

(b) Any such candidate committee is eligible to receive such grants for a
primary campaign, if applicable, and a general election campaign if

(1) the candidate certifies as a participating candidate under section 9-703,

(2) the candidate’s candidate committee receives the required amount of
qualifying contributions under section 9-704,

(3) the candidate’s candidate committee returns all contributions that do
not meet the criteria for qualifying contributions under section 9-704,

(4) the candidate agrees to limit the campaign expenditures of the candid-
ate’s candidate committee in accordance with the provisions of subsection
(c) of this section, and

(5) the candidate submits an application and the commission approves the
application in accordance with the provisions of section 9-706.

(Emphasis added.)
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Subsection (c) sets forth the spending limits, as follows, in relevant part:

A candidate participating in the Citizens’ Election Program shall limit the
expenditures of the candidate’s candidate committee

(A) before a primary campaign and a general election campaign, to the
amount of qualifying contributions permitted in section 9-704 and any
personal funds provided by the candidate under subsection (c) of section
9-710,

(B) for a primary campaign,3 to the sum of (i) the amount of such qual-
ifying contributions and personal funds that have not been spent before
the primary campaign, and (ii) the amount of the grant for the primary
campaign authorized under section 9-705, and

(C) for a general election campaign,4 to the sum of (i) the amount of such
qualifying contributions and personal funds that have not been spent
before the general election campaign, (ii) any unexpended funds from any
grant for a primary campaign authorized under section 9-705, and (iii) the
amount of the grant for the general election campaign authorized under
section 9-705 . . . .

General Statutes § 9-702 (c) (emphasis added).

Generally, CEP candidates in a primary and intending to apply for a primary
campaign grant may incur up to the primary campaign expenditure limit during the
primary campaign period, and, upon receipt of the primary campaign grant, pay off
the incurred primary campaign expenditures. However, a CEP candidate who does
not apply for and receive a primary campaign grant is in a different situation because
that campaign will not be able to pay off any incurred primary campaign expenditures
that exceed the required threshold amount of qualifying contributions, plus any

3 The ‘‘primary campaign’’ period is defined as follows:

‘‘Primary campaign’’ means the period beginning on the day following the close of (A) a convention
held pursuant to section 9-382 for the purpose of endorsing a candidate for nomination to the office of
Governor, Lieutenant Governor, Attorney General, State Comptroller, State Treasurer or Secretary of
the State or the district office of state senator or state representative, or (B) a caucus, convention or
town committee meeting held pursuant to section 9-390 for the purpose of endorsing a candidate for
the municipal office of state senator or state representative, whichever is applicable, and ending on the
day of a primary held for the purpose of nominating a candidate for such office.

General Statutes § 9-700 (11).

4 ‘‘General election campaign’’ is defined as follows:

‘‘General election campaign’’ means (A) in the case of a candidate nominated at a primary, the
period beginning on the day following the primary and ending on the date the treasurer files the final
statement for such campaign pursuant to section 9-608, or (B) in the case of a candidate nominated
without a primary, the period beginning on the day following the day on which the candidate is nominated
and ending on the date the treasurer files the final statement for such campaign pursuant to section 9-608.

General Statutes § 9-700 (7).
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personal funds provided within the personal funds provision,5 since such campaign
will not receive primary campaign funds.

The law provides that primary campaign grant funds are to be spent for primary
campaign expenditures, and general election grant funds are to be spent for general
election campaign expenditures. If a CEP candidate receives a primary campaign
grant and does not expend the entire grant amount on primary campaign expenditures,
‘‘the amount of the grant for the general election campaign shall be reduced by the
total amount of any such unexpended primary campaign grant and moneys . . . .’’
General Statutes § 9-705 (i) (2). In other words, a CEP candidate in a primary is
not permitted to stockpile a war chest of unspent primary campaign grant funds
to have additional monies to spend during the general election campaign period.
Conversely, a CEP candidate in a primary is not permitted to prepay for general
election campaign expenditures with primary campaign funds and then receive the
full general election campaign grant amount. See Regs. Conn. State Agencies § 9-
702-1. Although a CEP candidate whose committee received a primary campaign
grant does not need to reapply for a general election campaign grant, the committee
is required to file a disclosure statement and submit a primary-to-general election
‘‘carry forward form’’ in which the committee identifies campaign goods or services
purchased or pre-paid during the primary campaign period that will be used for the
general election. See General Statutes §§ 9-705 (j) (2) & 9-708; Regs. Conn. State
Agencies § 9-702-1.

It follows that a participating candidate in a primary who does not reach the
thresholds to apply for a primary campaign grant may only spend or incur during
the primary campaign period an aggregate amount not to exceed the required thresh-
old amount of qualifying contributions, plus any personal funds by the candidate
within the prescribed limits. If a committee exceeds these thresholds it may be
ineligible to receive a general election campaign grant.

In addition, a grant application must include a certification that the committee has
transmitted to the CEF contributions that exceed the required qualifying contribution
amount (these excess contributions are also referred as the ‘‘buffer’’ amount), and
release of any grant funds requires submission of such buffer. General Statutes § 9-
706 (b) (4). Accordingly, a committee will not be eligible to receive a grant if it
does not have enough funds in its bank account to write the ‘‘buffer’’ check.

With these considerations in mind, the Commission concludes that a candidate
in a primary who joins the CEP on or before the primary deadline to join, and who
does not apply for a primary campaign grant and spends only the amount of qualifying
contributions permitted in section 9-704 and any personal funds provided by the
candidate under subsection (c) of section 9-710, may apply for a general election
campaign grant.

5 General Statutes § 9-710 (c) provides that:

A candidate who intends to participate in the Citizens’ Election Program may provide personal funds
for such candidate’s campaign for nomination or election in an amount not exceeding: (1) For a candidate
for the office of Governor, twenty thousand dollars; (2) for a candidate for the office of Lieutenant
Governor, Attorney General, State Comptroller, State Treasurer or Secretary of the State, ten thousand
dollars; (3) for a candidate for the office of state senator, two thousand dollars; or (4) for a candidate
for the office of state representative, one thousand dollars. Such personal funds shall not constitute a
qualifying contribution under section 9-704.



September 11, 2018 Page 5CCONNECTICUT LAW JOURNAL

This constitutes an Advisory Opinion pursuant to General Statutes § 9-7b (a)
(14). This Advisory Opinion is only meant to provide general guidance and addresses
only the issues raised.

Adopted this 22nd day of August, 2018 at Hartford, Connecticut by a vote of
the Commission.

Anthony J. Castagno, Chair
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DECLARATORY RULING 2018-01:

Political Activity of Organized Groups

At its special meeting on April 18, 2018, the State Elections Enforcement Commis-
sion (the ‘‘Commission’’) voted to initiate this Declaratory Ruling proceeding
regarding how campaign finance law applies to the political activities of certain
groups of people acting together that have not formed Connecticut political commit-
tees.1 This Ruling provides general advice on the difference between independent
and coordinated expenditures, the issuance of scorecards, endorsements, the use
of social media and other communications and supportive activities on behalf of
Connecticut candidates. The advice provided is prospective and does not address
whether past activities undertaken were or were not in compliance with Connecticut’s
campaign finance laws.

Executive Summary

The organized groups who have requested this Ruling, and those who have
commented on its drafts or made comments at the public hearing, span a wide range.
Some groups like unions and formally organized professional associations have
historically spent large amounts on elections while others are newly formed, loosely
organized groups of citizens communicating through social media who plan on
spending very little money, instead mostly working with candidates as volunteers.
These groups come in many shapes and sizes. Part I of this Declaratory Ruling
reviews some background concepts that both types of groups will find useful in
understanding Connecticut’s campaign finance law.

Many groups that have commented on this Ruling have described themselves as
‘‘grassroots’’ organizations.2 Although we have no definition for ‘‘grassroots’’ in

1 This opinion revisits questions addressed in Advisory Opinion 2008-01, which was withdrawn
following the Citizens United v. FEC, 558 U.S. 310 (2010) decision, and also addresses questions raised
in the March 12, 2018 petition from counsel Arnold F. Skretta, on behalf of Connecticut Compliance
and Law Services LLC, concerning the subjects addressed herein. A declaratory ruling has the same
status and binding effect as an order issued in a contested case and shall be a final decision for purposes
of appeal in accordance with the provisions of General Statutes § 4-183, pursuant to General Statutes
§ 4-176 (h). Notice has been given to all persons who have requested notice of declaratory rulings on
this subject matter. General Statutes § 4-176 (c). At the request of the regulated community, the comment
period was extended and a public hearing was held on July 31, 2018.

2 Another distinction is helpful at this point. Campaign finance law exempts from disclosure require-
ments communication between members of certain types of organized groups. A detailed discussion of
this exemption can be found in Part II (B) (6) (a) of this Ruling. When the term ‘‘member’’ is used in
this Ruling, it is meant to indicate members of such groups covered by the exemption, not members of
less formalized groups, such as many grassroots groups tend to be. For the sake of clarity in this Ruling,
people associated with grassroots groups will be referred to as supporters. That is not to say that grassroots
groups can never qualify for the exemption by meeting the membership criteria, or conversely that all
formally-established groups spending in excess of $1,000 are necessarily ‘‘membership organizations’’—
in every case the determination as to whether a group qualifies for the membership exception will be
based on a factual analysis of the specific actor. But because grassroots groups tend to be informally
organized and larger groups, like trade association or unions, tend to be formally organized, this Ruling
will use the term ‘‘supporters’’ when discussing the group that has identifies as ‘‘grassroots’’ and the
term ‘‘members’’ when referring to the higher spending more formally organized groups such as unions
and trade associations, with the hope that the distinction is helpful.
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campaign finance law, we can understand that term to mean those groups that choose
to raise and spend less than $1000, and thus have no campaign finance reporting
requirements with this agency. But having no reporting requirements does not mean
that no rules apply. In particular, attribution rules (e.g. listing who produced the
communication) and rules about coordinating with candidates, even if spending
relatively small amounts of money, generally apply to these groups, as they do with
all others. However, much if not all of what the grassroots groups who have sought
advice through this Declaratory Ruling want to do in coordination with candidates
is allowable because the activity falls within existing exemptions in the law. In Part
II (A), this Ruling explains how the law applies to those situations and which
requirements, such as for attribution, apply.

When groups such as unions or trade associations that plan on making, or want
to preserve the ability to make, independent expenditures in the race, they must be
careful to structure their activity to ensure that they are acting totally and wholly
independently from the candidates with respect to those expenditures. In Part II (B),
this Ruling explains how to avoid making expenditures that are coordinated with
candidates’ campaigns.

I. Background

A. Groups Not Required to Register Committees

Such spenders might include for-profit corporations, labor unions, business and
industry associations, PTAs, civic organizations, federal SuperPACs, as well as
corporations exempt from taxation pursuant to Section 501(c) (4) of the Internal
Revenue Code and 527 organizations formed for political activities but not raising
money specifically for Connecticut elections. These groups are also known as
‘‘incidental spenders’’ because the money they are spending was raised for purposes
other than Connecticut elections and the election spending the group ultimately does
from its preexisting treasury is incidental to the group’s purpose.

These organized groups making independent expenditures from their own funds—
funds that were not raised for the purpose of spending on Connecticut elections—
do not have to form political committees, no matter how much they spend. Reporting
is required, however, after spending in excess of $1,000 on independent expenditures.
General Statutes § 9-601d.

Groups (such as certain grassroots groups) that raise and spend less than $1,000
also do not have to form political committees when their spending in coordination
with candidates falls within exceptions to the definitions of contribution or expen-
diture.

B. Coordinated Political Activity

Generally speaking, coordinated spending is a type of contribution and outside
groups, whether grassroots or higher-spending, may not make contributions to a
candidate, either monetary or in-kind, without first forming a political committee
and then staying within the relevant contribution limits and disclosure requirements.
Even small amounts of spending by a group that is coordinating with a campaign
may be considered impermissible, unless it falls within an exception, as described
in more detail below. These exceptions are a type of safe harbor for spending for
groups large and small.

There are twenty-four exceptions to the definition of contribution and fifteen to
the definition of expenditure, that allow various types of political activity, even if
it involves spending. For ease of reference, these definitions are appended to this
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Ruling. When a group’s activity and spending falls within one or more of these
exceptions, then coordinated political activity is permissible. Many of the scenarios
proposed by the ‘‘grassroots groups’’ requesting this Ruling fall within one or more
of these exceptions.

For candidates who voluntarily choose to participate in the CEP, one of the
leading clean elections programs in the nation, the limits on accepting contributions
are strict and the sources of allowable contributions are extremely limited. CEP
candidate committees may only receive monetary qualifying contributions and only
from individuals. In joining the Program, participating candidates are required to
forego most non-monetary ‘‘in-kind’’ contributions. Participating candidates who
violate the Program requirements may, in some circumstances, be responsible for
the return of all grant monies. It is therefore particularly important that groups
wishing to coordinate with a candidate who is participating in the Program are
careful to fit their activity within an exception.3

C. Independent Expenditures

As an alternative to coordination, organized groups may make unlimited indepen-
dent expenditures. An independent expenditure is ‘‘an expenditure, as defined in
General Statutes ’’ 9-601b, that is made without the consent, coordination, or consul-
tation of, a candidate or agent of the candidate, candidate committee, political
committee or party committee.’’ General Statutes § 9-601c (a). Groups wishing to
raise money to make independent expenditures in Connecticut elections have to
register as an independent expenditure political committee if and when they have
raised or spent or incurred over $1,000 in the aggregate. They must then file periodic
financial disclosure reports. General Statutes §§ 9-601d (b), 9-602, 9-605, 9-608.
Those groups who merely spend from their preexisting treasuries, or do not raise
money in excess of $1,000 to be used for independent expenditures in Connecticut
elections, do not need to form political committees. Rather, they need only file
incidental reports when they have spent or incurred an aggregate of over $1,000.
General Statutes § 9-601d.

The Supreme Court has spoken in the broadest terms about the degree of indepen-
dence that is necessary for ‘‘independent expenditures’’ to be considered free of
the legal constraints that would otherwise apply to in-kind contributions. Such
expenditures must be ‘‘totally independent,’’ ‘‘wholly independent,’’ ‘‘truly inde-
pendent,’’ and made ‘‘without any candidate’s approval (or wink or nod) . . . .’’
according to the Court.4 The statutes provide examples of when expenditures are
presumed not independent, identifying specific instances where a committee, individ-
ual, or organized group that communicates with a candidate committee could cross

3 Some commenters have expressed the opinion that it is a violation of their rights not to be able to
coordinate with a candidate. Courts have held that this is not so, in part, because the CEP candidates
have voluntarily chosen to not to accept such assistance. ‘‘[B]ecause a candidate may freely choose
whether to accept public funds and the conditions thereon in lieu of unlimited private fundraising, and
presumably will make that choice only if she believes that doing so will expand her powers of speech
and association, she cannot complain that those conditions burden her rights. Nor can the candidate’s
supporters and any political party with which she is affiliated complain that the limitations resulting
from the candidate’s voluntary choice burden their own rights.’’ Corren v. Condos, 2018 U.S. App.
LEXIS 21120 at *3 (2d Cir. July 31, 2018).

4 McConnell v. Fed. Election Comm’n, 540 U.S. 93, 221-22 (2003); Fed. Election Comm’n v. Colo.
Republican Fed. Campaign Comm., 533 U.S. 431, 442, 465 (2001); Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1,
47 (1976).
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the line between making an independent expenditure and making a coordinated
expenditure. General Statutes § 9-601c (b). The expenditures may not be made based
upon information about a candidate’s or a committee’s plans, projects or needs
gotten from the candidate, or their consultant or agent.

II. Permissible Political Activity for Groups Spending A Little or A Lot

A. Grassroots Groups Spending Little or No Money

1. What communication may take place between candidates and grassroots
groups planning to make endorsements or produce scorecards but not
spend money to either publicize the endorsement or scorecards, or other-
wise support the candidates of their choice?

During the election season, many grassroots groups wish to make endorsements
of candidates or produce scorecards of legislators’ records on issues germane to the
group’s interests. Groups that do not make expenditures to do so may coordinate
freely with the endorsed candidates. Such groups may communicate their endorse-
ment to the campaign and then the candidate committees are free to bear all costs
for the distribution of any endorsements in mailers or other communications paid
for by the candidate committee.

2. May the grassroots group use social media to communicate endorsements
or other messages of support for candidates?

Yes, but they are required to attribute the source of the communication, i.e.
disclose who is responsible for the communication on its face. There is an exception
to the definition of contribution that permits the use of free social media created
by volunteers, such that it may be used to communicate endorsements or the results
of scorecards to the general public, even if it were coordinated and within 90 days
of a vote. General Statutes § 9-601a (b) (18).5 This includes the use of email and
personal email lists.

Although such communication would not be considered a contribution, it is still
an expenditure, and so attribution must be used on such communications. General
Statutes § 9-621. The law states, and the courts have long upheld, that there is
no de minimis exception for attributions. See Seymour v. Elections Enforcement
Commission, 255 Conn. 78, 762 A.2d 880 (2000) (single page press release that
was faxed required to have an attribution); see also Cassidy v. Lawson, 3:02 CV
1688 (September 29, 2005), 2005 WL 2508593, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 23147. The
Commission, in Advisory Opinion 2008-01 explained: ‘‘[U]se of the Internet to
communicate with the public would be considered an expenditure subject to Connect-
icut’s campaign finance laws. See, e.g., In the Matter of a Complaint by Frank
DeJesus, Hartford, State Elections Enforcement Commission, File No. 2006-193
(civil penalty imposed for failure to report expenditure related to purchase and
payment of web hosting services for website that, at various times, contained mes-

5 General Statutes § 9-601a (b) (18) provides:

As used in this chapter and chapter 157, ‘‘contribution’’ does not mean: . . . The value associated
with the de minimis activity on behalf of a party committee, political committee, slate committee or
candidate committee, including for activities including, but not limited to, (A) the creation of electronic
or written communications or digital photos or video as part of an electronic file created on a voluntary
basis without compensation, including, but not limited to, the creation and ongoing content development
and delivery of social media on the Internet or telephone, including, but not limited to, the sending
or receiving of electronic mail or messages . . . (emphasis added).
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sages made for the purpose of influencing an election); see also FEC Advisory
Opinion 1998-22 (reporting requirements apply to Connecticut individual’s indepen-
dent creation of a website, and costs associated with creating and maintaining
that website).

Some commenters have asked for further guidance as to the reporting in campaign
finance filings of expenditures related to Internet use and the language required in
the attribution on electronic communications, especially when applied to volunteers
using their personal electronics to create and develop social media communications.

For those coordinating with candidates, the Commission has long said that volun-
teers may use their own electronic devices such as computers and cell phones
without triggering any disclosure on a campaign finance report for the volunteers
or the candidate committee for which they are volunteering.6 See e.g. 2018 Guide
for Statewide Office and General Assembly Candidates Participating in the Citizens’
Election Program, p. 42.

The law does require that the source of communications regarding elections be
disclosed. As the Connecticut Supreme Court noted in Seymour, there are a number
of important justifications for this requirement including the ability of a regulatory
agency to enforce the law, and to know whether contribution limits and the rules
(such as those of the CEP) are being followed. The United States Supreme Court
has instructed that ‘‘transparency enables the electorate to make informed decisions
and give proper weight to different speakers and messages.’’ Citizens United v.
FEC, 558 U.S. 310, 371 (2010).

When a respondent has achieved partial, but substantial compliance with attribu-
tion requirements, the Commission has in the past concluded that no further action
is required in the matter. See e.g. In the Matter of a Complaint by Jennifer Day,
File No. 2010-136 (2011). Commenters stated that with respect to the attribution
language used by volunteers who are uncompensated and are only creating and
developing their own ongoing content over social media using their own cell phones
and computers, the formal ‘‘paid for’’ and declarations of approved by or indepen-
dence in the statute can be confusing. In such cases, the Commission would find
substantial compliance where there is a clear indication in the email, post or other
social media communication as to the name of the group responsible for the commu-
nication and the name and address of an agent who can be reached to answer any
additional questions in the event a complaint is filed, or which the public can use
to research the speaker behind the communication in order to evaluate the message.

3. May a grassroots group encourage supporters to work for the campaigns
of candidates?

To the extent that the group is not spending any money and the persons being
steered to the campaign are volunteers, it would be permissible to encourage individu-
als to go and volunteer for a campaign. If a group of uncompensated volunteers
were posting on the social media they create, develop, and maintain about the
opportunity to volunteer while substantially complying with attribution requirements,
then that would not raise issues. If the group intends to make any future expenditures

6 If, however, a volunteer pays for web-hosting or a domain name on behalf of a candidate, they
would need to seek reimbursement from the candidate committee or, if the candidate is not participating
in the CEP, it could simply be reported by the candidate committee as an in-kind contribution from the
volunteer (subject to the aggregate contribution source and dollar limits to the recipient committee).
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to benefit these candidates, however, see the discussion in Part II (B) (7) and (8)
regarding similar activities by groups wishing to make independent expenditures.

4. May a grassroots group encourage supporters to canvass for the cam-
paigns of candidates, independently of those campaigns, and distribute
that campaigns’ literature?

Volunteer supporters of a grassroots group that wish to coordinate with candidates
rather than make independent expenditures for candidates may also volunteer for the
candidate committee, and distribute literature paid for by the candidate committee.
General Statutes §§ 9-601a (b) (4), 9-601b (b) (4). If the group intends to make any
future expenditures to benefit these candidates, however, see the discussion in Part
II (B) (7) and (8).

5. May a grassroots group host phone-banking sessions out of any sup-
porter’s home, with the caveat that attendance is optional, and members
use their own phones?

To the extent that the group is not spending money, people are using their own
personal phones and not making or incurring any additional phone charges and the
activity takes place at a person’s residence, this is permissible. General Statutes
§§ 9-601a (b) (5), 9-601b (b) (6). The call list could be provided by the candidate
or, if it is purchased by a supporter of the group, that individual would need to be
reimbursed by the candidate committee.

To the extent that money is being spent to send out invitations or serve food and
the group is working in coordination with the candidate committee (for example,
using call lists provided by the campaign), there is an exception to the definitions
of expenditure and contribution for the hosting of events at a residence. General
Statutes §§ 9-601a (b) (5), 9-601b (b) (6). The owner of the residence may pay up
to $400 per event and the event may be co-hosted by another individual paying up
to another $400 for food, beverage and invitations. Receipts are provided to the
candidate’s treasurer and that treasurer reports the event.

6. May a grassroots group encourage their supporters to host a fundraiser
for a candidate committee?

The exceptions for volunteer supporters’ use of social media and the hosting of
house parties, which can either be fundraisers or meet-and-greets, would allow for
this. General Statutes §§ 9-601a (b) (5) & (18), 9-601b (b) (6). If supporters of a
group chose to have an event for a candidate at one of the supporter’s residences,
and the statutory house party exemption rules were observed, then the event would
be permissible. The event could be coordinated with the candidate, who could
attend. The candidate committee could provide the mailing list for invitations, or
the supporter could use their personal mailing list (e.g. a Christmas card list). General
Statutes § 9-601b (d). Care must be taken to observe the spending limits for house
parties and to provide the candidate’s treasurer with the information that they will
need to report.

7. May a group host a fundraiser for a candidate committee?

No, not if the group makes expenditures from its treasury to do so. Groups may
not make contributions to committees without first forming a political committee.

If the group is able to hold an event without spending any money, for example
in a free room at the local library available to anyone who signs up and with
advertising by volunteers over social media they created then, to the extent that the
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group is not making any expenditures that could be coordinated contributions, it
may be possible.

Individual supporters of the group may, however, choose to have a house party
for the candidate, and that house party may even be for the purpose of fundraising.
(See the above questions & answers.)

8. May a group have a candidate forum?

It depends on when it is held, how it is organized and what costs are involved.
Because the organization and holding of a candidate forum usually involves costs,
the issue is whether the costs fall within the definition of expenditure under campaign
finance law. Because the participation of candidates in a forum held by an outside
group inevitably requires coordination as well, if any of the spending involved falls
under the definition of ‘‘an expenditure,’’ as further outlined below, then it would
be a coordinated expenditure (a contribution) and would be impermissible.

If the event is held in someone’s home or in a free public space, as addressed
above, it might not involve any expenditures.

The relevant applicable definition of expenditure is ‘‘any payment . . . or anything
of value . . . made to promote the success or defeat of any candidate . . . .’’ Using
this definition, if the group having the multi-candidate debate that does not promote
one candidate over another, then, generally speaking, it would not be considered
an expenditure to hold such an event. Much would depend on the surrounding facts,
such as whether all candidates were included or certain ones excluded, and the basis
for such determinations; whether the format was impartial to all participants; whether
it was promoted equally for all candidates; who else appeared and participated in
the forum, etc. All of these factors would be germane to determining whether the
forum promoted the success or defeat of any or all the involved candidates.

During the ninety days before an election or primary, the definition of expenditure
also includes ‘‘any communication that (A) refers to one or more clearly identified
candidates, and (B) is broadcast by radio, television, other than on a public access
channel, or by satellite communication or via the Internet, or as a paid-for telephone
communication, or appears in a newspaper, magazine or on a billboard, or is sent
by mail.’’ General Statutes § 9-601b (a) (2) (emphasis added). Because advertising
for candidate debates will often include communications that clearly identify the
participating candidates, then, if they occur within the ninety days before a primary
or election and via certain types of media, those communications are automatically
considered to be expenditures. Unless an exception applies,7 this would constitute
an impermissible in-kind contribution even if it does not promote the success or
defeat of any of the candidates.8

It is also important to remember that organized groups cannot coordinate with
any committees, including town committees or political committees, without the

7 It should be noted that such a coordinated expenditure for a communication would not be considered
an impermissible contribution if the communication was made using volunteer created social media or
email. General Statutes § 9-601a (b) (18). Similarly, if the communication only went to a restricted class
of recipients such as members for which there is an exception in the law, the communication would
not be considered an impermissible contribution. General Statutes § 9-601a (b) (2).

8 SEEC has proposed in past legislative sessions an exception to the ‘‘clearly identified candidate’’
prong for certain communications such as advertisements for debates, but it has yet to pass into law.
SEEC will continue to propose this legislative change.
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respective expenditures becoming contributions to those committees, and groups
cannot make such contributions.9 For example, if an outside group were to attempt
to ‘‘partner’’ with a town committee to host a debate by paying for half the cost
of the forum rental charge, any costs paid for by the outside group would be
considered an impermissible contribution to the town committee.

9. May a group talk to campaign staff or volunteers or the candidate about
what resources they need?

This would be considered coordination which is acceptable for groups who are
not making expenditures or whose activities and spending fall within exceptions to
the definitions of contribution and expenditure, such as those detailed above. See
General Statutes § 9-601c (b) (7).

B. Organized Groups Making or Planning to Make Independent Expenditures

1. Are there any limits as to the amounts an incidental spender may spend
independently of a candidate’s campaign?

No. As mentioned above, an organized group may make unlimited independent
expenditures on behalf of the candidacy for nomination or election of any individual
or any party. General Statutes § 9-601d. Certain filing requirements apply, however,
if the group spends or incurs over $1,000. See Advisory Opinion 2014-02. Certain
attribution requirements applies as well. See General Statutes § 9-621 (h).

2. Are there any possible fines or penalties for violations of the rules
governing independent expenditures?

Yes. Violations of Connecticut’s statutes governing independent expenditures
carry both potential civil and criminal sanctions. Whether a violation is found and
a determination of the amount for any penalty would be based on the facts and
circumstances of each case. The Commission, in assessing a civil penalty, would
consider the amount spent and whether such violation was intentional or inadvertent
as well as the person’s good faith efforts to comply. General Statutes §§ 9-7b, 9-
601d (i) & 9-623; Regs., Conn. State Agencies § 9-7b-48.

3. May a group solicit funds for the express purpose of making independent
expenditures to support Connecticut candidates?

Yes, but if an organized group solicits or receives funds in excess of $1,000 for
the express purpose of making independent expenditures to support Connecticut
candidates, then that group is required to form a political committee. General Statutes
§ 9-602 (a); Declaratory Ruling 2013-02. If that group only intends to make indepen-
dent expenditures then it has the option of forming an independent expenditure
political committee. An independent expenditure political committee is formed by
filing a registration statement with the Commission, and is then required to file
periodic disclosure reports, as well as incidental reports. If the group also wishes
to make contributions to candidates or spend in coordination with them, it would
need to form a traditional political committee, which is permitted to make contribu-
tions within certain limits to non-CEP candidates and other committees, but may only
accept contributions in limited amounts from certain sources. These requirements
are discussed in detail in Advisory Opinion 2014-02.

9 Only committees and individuals may make contributions to other committees, with the exception
of referendum and independent expenditure committees. A group could form a political committee if
they wanted to make contributions.
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If an organized group is planning to make independent expenditures for a candi-
date, the group should ensure that those activities can be performed wholly and
totally without any coordination with the candidate, their committee or agents. The
group should review carefully the scenarios in the rebuttable presumptions found
in the definition of ‘‘independent expenditure’’ (General Statutes § 9-601c) and avoid
them, and take any other necessary actions to ensure that there is no coordination.

4. Is there a certain point in time at which an organized group can sever
all communications with a candidate (or potential candidate) and thereby
guarantee that expenditures will be found to be independent?

No. The timing of any communications with a candidate is only one factor in
the analysis of whether an expenditure is independent or coordinated. The determina-
tion of whether an expenditure is truly independent relies on all of the facts in a
given situation.

In order to not be considered a contribution under the law, an expenditure must
be wholly and totally independent of a candidate or committee. In the simplest
scenario, therefore, an organized group making an independent expenditure for a
candidate will have never had any communication with the benefitting candidate
or committee or agent thereof.

The Commission recognizes, however, that this is not always the case but that
an organized group is capable of making an independent expenditure for a candidate
despite prior, limited communication between the two parties. It would not result
in a finding of coordination if an incidental spender and a candidate engaged in
discussions solely grounded in that spender’s position on a legislative or policy
matter, including urging the candidate or committee to adopt that spender’s position,
so long as there is no discussion between the spender and the candidate regarding
the candidate or spender’s campaign advertising, messaging, communications with
voters, strategy, polling, allocation of resources, fundraising, or campaign activities.

The important fact is that a communication between the candidate and the spender,
no matter when it occurs, does not establish consent or coordination or serve as
consultation between the parties regarding the expenditure or campaign strategy
generally. Determinations whether an expenditure is coordinated or independent are
fact-specific and often involve the totality of circumstances.

5. What communication may take place between candidates and groups
planning to make endorsements or produce scorecards and also spend
money to either publicize the endorsement or scorecards, or otherwise
support the candidates of their choice?

a. Interviews and Questionnaires

If a group plans to make expenditures and also wants to communicate directly
with the candidate to gather information, then questionnaires and interviews, if
properly crafted and executed, are one such way information may be gathered from
a candidate without the communication being considered coordination.

Questionnaires and interviews should be confined to issues and policies and
should not veer into campaign strategy. They should not include questions aimed
at determining campaign plans, projects and/or needs, because if expenditures are
later made by the group based on the candidate’s own plans, it would likely be
deemed a contribution (i.e. a coordinated expenditure). If the content of a question-
naire includes such questions about strategy, for example, that would be evidence



September 11, 2018 Page 15CCONNECTICUT LAW JOURNAL

of coordination or cooperation with the candidate should the organized group attempt
to do an independent expenditure at a later point in time.

Similarly, if the conversation during an interview evolved to include discussion
of the group’s plans regarding the content, intended audience, timing, location and/
or mode and frequency of communications regarding the endorsement, then later
expenditures by the group implementing those plans would likely fall within the
definition of a coordinated expenditure and therefore constitute an impermissible
contribution to the candidate.

Groups that will be making independent expenditures should therefore exercise
caution when drafting questionnaires and interviewing candidates to gather back-
ground information. Best practices include (1) careful review of questionnaire con-
tent in light of the definition of independent expenditure; (2) beginning interviews
by sharing with candidates the definitions of independent expenditure and contribu-
tion; (3) clearly expressing the intent at the beginning of an interview to avoid any
conversation that would fall within those definitions; (4) training interviewers as to
questions to be avoided; (5) conducting interviews according to a predetermined
set of questions and not deviating from it; and/or (6) not asking the candidate or
committee if or how they would like the group to possibly later spend funds to
benefit the candidate or committee.

Some groups publish scorecards that rate candidates or legislators based on their
voting records and legislative initiatives, distilling this information down to scores
or other explanatory formats to evaluate such candidates or legislators in regard to
their performance on issues of concern to the groups. References to specific politi-
cians may be limited to their score or to a reporting, in the sections discussing
particular bills, of the role they played with respect to that particular bill in the
relevant legislative session.

To the extent the scores do not involve communication with the candidate or
committee or agent thereof, there is little danger of published scorecards resulting
in findings of coordination. To the extent that communication is required to determine
a score, outside groups should follow the advice set forth above regarding background
questionnaires and interviews to gather information if they are planning to spend
money and distribute them via certain media within ninety days of the primary or
election, as discussed further below.

b. May group notify candidates of decision to endorse?

Yes, an endorsing group may contact candidates to inform them that an endorse-
ment has been made. As noted previously, care should be taken not to cross the
line into coordinating campaign activities with an endorsee if the group plans to
make expenditures on behalf of the candidate, since candidates cannot receive
contributions from organized groups. For example, alerting candidates of the timing
and location of a press conference so that they may attend or including them in the
drafting of a press release to announce the endorsements could result in a determina-
tion that coordination had occurred. However, the endorsing group is free to use
publicly available statements about a candidate’s positions on the subjects that they
are interested in as quotes in the announcement.

c. May candidates use an endorsement or scorecard rating in their
materials?

Yes, participating candidates, like any other candidate, may use a quote from a
group’s endorsement in their campaign material. The endorsement itself, as well as
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the use of language from a press release supporting that endorsement, absent any
other financial, logistical, or administrative support, would not be a campaign contri-
bution. Again, caution should be exercised with respect to coordination. For example,
a candidate would have received an impermissible in-kind contribution if he or she
distributed a glossy flyer designed or published by the incidental spender in order
to announce its endorsements to the general public.

6. In what ways may groups communicate their endorsements and score-
cards with voters?

Generally speaking, spending money to announce an endorsement or distribute
the contents of a scorecard would be an expenditure depending on the content, the
timing and distribution method of the communication. Under Public Act 13-180,
the definition of expenditure includes communications made within ninety days of
the primary or election that refer to one or more clearly identified candidates, and
are broadcast by radio, television, other than on a public access channel, or by
satellite communication or via the Internet, or as a paid-for telephone communication,
or appears in a newspaper, magazine or on a billboard, or are sent by mail. General
Statutes §§ 9-601b (a) (2) and 9-601b (b) (7). This would cover most distribution
methods for endorsements and scorecards, making them expenditures because they
clearly identify candidates, if they are distributed to the general public within ninety
days before the election.

Since these communications are generally expenditures (unless they fall within
one of the exceptions to the definition of expenditure), the relevant question then
would be whether the expenditure for the distributions of an endorsement or scorecard
is independent (and thus permissible) or is coordinated (and impermissible unless
it falls within one of the exceptions to the definition of contribution).10

a. Membership Communications

One exception to the definitions of expenditure and contribution is for membership
communications. Specifically, General Statutes § 9-601b (b) (2) excludes from the
definition of ‘‘expenditure’’ communications ‘‘made by any corporation, organiza-
tion or association to its members, owners, stockholders, executive or administrative

10 In response to a commenter’s request regarding pre-recorded video interviews distributed on social
media, the Commission provides clarification: Money spent on a video promoting, supporting, attacking
or opposing the election of a candidate, or clearly identifying the candidate over certain media during
ninety days before the vote may be considered a coordinated expenditure even if it addresses policy
rather than saying ‘‘Vote for Candidate A.’’ The United States Supreme Court addressed this possibility
in Citizens United.

Making an expenditure, independent or coordinated, involves far more than simply the last step of
posting a video on social media. Communications must be created, and this may involve fundraising
(acquiring the funds to be spent), budgeting, strategizing, design, planning, media acquisition, develop-
ment, recording equipment and filming costs, distribution and any number of additional prior acts. To
the extent that any of these activities are done with the intention that the result will be a communication
that fits the definition of an independent expenditure, any attendant expenditures for these activities
must be themselves independent expenditures, and cannot be coordinated. See SEEC Declaratory Ruling
2014-02; Declaratory Ruling 2014-01.

The fact that a candidate and spender have communicated about policy in the past will not alone
make an expenditure coordinated, and just because a spender has discussed policy with a candidate does
not necessarily make later expenditures independent.
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personnel, or their families.’’11 See also General Statutes § 9-601a (b) (2) (‘‘ ‘[C]on-
tribution’ does not mean . . . [a]ny communication made by a corporation, organiza-
tion or association to its members, owners, stockholders, executive or administrative
personnel, or their families . . .’’).

For organized groups that have members, this exception for internal communica-
tion allows the group to communicate with its membership without that communica-
tion resulting in a contribution or expenditure. It even covers communications
expressly advocating the election or defeat of a particular candidate, so long as the
communication remains limited to the restricted class. It covers communications
that may have been coordinated with the candidate or committee, again, so long as
the communication remains limited to the restricted class.

Membership organizations are groups composed of members. A group with mem-
bers might, for example, be a trade association, a cooperative, a corporation without
capital stock or a local, national or international labor organization.12 The Commis-
sion has adopted the definition of ‘‘member’’ as enunciated first by the Federal
Election Commission (‘‘FEC’’). See Complaint of Karen Murphy, Stamford, File
No. 2009-141 (finding a soccer league to be eligible for the membership exception).
That definition specifies ‘‘members’’ to include:

[A]ll persons who are currently satisfying the requirements for membership
in a membership organization, affirmatively accept the membership organiza-
tion’s invitation to become a member, and either:

(1) Have some significant financial attachment to the membership organiza-
tion, such as a significant investment or ownership stake; or

(2) Pay membership dues at least annually, of a specific amount predeter-
mined by the organization; or

(3) Have a significant organizational attachment to the membership organiza-
tion that includes: affirmation of membership on at least an annual basis
and direct participatory rights in the governance of the organization. For
example, such rights could include the right to vote directly or indirectly
for at least one individual on the membership organization’s highest govern-
ing board; the right to vote on policy questions where the highest governing
body of the membership organization is obligated to abide by the results;
the right to approve the organization’s annual budget; or the right to partici-
pate directly in similar aspects of the organization’s governance.

11 Like organizations with members, corporations also have a restricted class to which they may
communicate without being considered an expenditure or contribution. Corporations are not the focus
of this declaratory ruling, however, and thus will not be specifically addressed. Anyone seeking guidance
on the restricted class of corporations may call and speak with Commission staff.

12 Such groups need to be composed of members who have the authority to administer the organization
according to the organization’s bylaws; have bylaws stating the qualifications for membership; make
its bylaws available to its members; expressly solicit persons to become members; expressly acknowledge
new members by, for example, sending a membership card or including the member’s name on a
newsletter list; and cannot be raising money to make expenditures in Connecticut elections. See e.g. 11
C.F.R. 114.1 (e) (1); see FEC Advisory Opinions 2008-21 (CME Group, Inc.) and 2007-16 (American
Kennel Club).
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11 C.F.R. 100.134 (f).

This definition, which the Commission and its staff have applied in the past to
organized groups, creates a general guideline for determining whether a group’s
membership structure satisfies the standards for a membership organization or associ-
ation that can utilize the membership exceptions to the definitions of contribution
and expenditure included in Connecticut’s campaign finance laws. See General
Statutes §§ 9-601a (b) (2), 9-601b (b) (2). The definition also serves to demonstrate
what would not be considered a membership organization or association, for exam-
ple, a loosely associated group of individuals, such as a Facebook group, or listserv,
or any other email list subscription not associated with a group that meets some or
all of the above criteria.

The breadth of the membership communication exception affords these types
of groups great latitude in communicating with their members. A membership
organization or association may rely on this exception to communicate in-house to
the restricted group regarding political subjects, and even encourage them to support,
volunteer on behalf of, or vote for or against selected candidates, regardless of prior
coordination with that candidate, because the costs associated with the communica-
tions would not be considered expenditures. Because this is an exception to both
contribution and expenditure, there are no attribution requirements; however, the
Commission recommends making sure that the source of the communication is clear
so as to not create confusion.

The membership exception allows the group to coordinate with candidates for
the limited purpose of the membership communication, but this carries with it some
risks and liabilities. One risk is that if the coordinated communication goes beyond
the restricted class of members and also goes to non-members, then it becomes an
impermissible expenditure, and an impermissible in-kind contribution to the candi-
date. For example, if an organized group chooses to create an interview video of a
candidate regarding policy issues to be distributed to its members within 90 days
of a vote or invite a candidate to attend a membership organization’s meeting to
speak directly to its members, but the general public also receives the distribution
or is invited, the cost of the event will be considered a coordinated expenditure,
and thus a contribution, which candidates may not accept. Once the communication
extends beyond the restricted class, the associated cost of the entire communication
would be considered an expenditure for the purposes of the campaign finance laws.
See Advisory Opinion 2014-02.

b. Press Releases on Websites and Social Media

When organized groups are acting independently of candidates, they are not
required to file campaign finance reports until they reach over $1,000 in aggregate
expenditures. At that time, fees paid for web-hosting services, payments to increase
circulation of a post or increase the number of apparent followers, advertising
costs and content development costs, as well as any other associated costs, would
be included.

Many groups are in the practice of issuing press releases and have inquired as
to whether they may announce their candidate endorsements through a press release.
The Commission has long held and will continue to hold that limited communication
of endorsements by a group beyond its membership (if applicable) to the public
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through its normal press release channels will not be the subject of civil action,
absent any other aggravating factors.13

For groups that customarily post their press releases through established social
media platforms, the Commission further applies this reasoning to a one-time share
of the press release through each such platform, extending the de minimis exception
to this activity. See General Statutes § 9-601a (b) (18). For example, if a group has
a Twitter account and customarily posts a press release to its website on a page
dedicated to press releases and then shares a link to those press releases on its
Twitter account, doing so for a press release concerning the endorsement of a
candidate, then it will be considered de minimis even if the posting is done by a
paid employee. The communication is still required to have a substantially compli-
ant attribution.

7. May a group pay for supporters or members to canvass or phone-bank
for the campaigns of candidates independently of those campaigns?

An incidental spender may encourage, or pay, supporters or members to canvass
for the campaigns of candidates, independently of those campaigns. The spender
may distribute literature that it designs and pays for. The organized group may also
pay for phone-banking.

If, however, an expenditure is made by the group for the distribution of the
campaign’s own material, it is presumed to be an impermissible coordinated expendi-
ture. General Statutes § 9-601c (b) (2). Similarly, if an expenditure is made for
phone-banking and the phone-banking is done with a call-list provided by the
candidate, then it would be an impermissible coordinated expenditure.

8. May a group encourage supporters or members to work for the cam-
paigns of candidates?

An incidental spender may encourage supporters or members to work for a
campaign, however, a group may not pay for campaign workers. A member cannot

13 See Advisory Opinion 2008-01: Proposed Political Activity of Nonprofit Association (withdrawn
by Commission on January 26, 2011, following Citizens United and Public Act 10-187) (citing 11 CFR
114.4 (c) (6) (a Federal Election Commission regulation allowing a corporation or organization that
routinely posts press releases on its website to post a press release announcing its endorsement in the same
manner, if the press release and notice of the press conference are distributed only to the representatives
of the news media that the corporation or labor organization customarily contacts when issuing non-
political press releases or holding press conferences for other purposes, and if the public announcement
of the endorsement is not coordinated with the candidate, the candidate’s agents or the candidate’s
authorized committees) and Minutes of the February 13, 2002 Meeting of the Maine Commission on
Governmental Ethics and Election Practices (public financing jurisdiction which adopted a policy permit-
ting a press release announcing a candidate endorsement available to the general public on an Association’s
website, provided that four conditions were met: 1) the association ordinarily makes press releases
available to the general public on its website; 2) the press release is limited to an announcement of the
organization’s endorsement or pending endorsement and a statement of the reasons therefore; 3) the
press release is made available in the same manner as other press releases made available on the website;
and 4) the costs of making the press release available on the website are de minimis).
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‘‘volunteer’’ for a campaign while being paid by the organized group—that would
be considered a coordinated expenditure (an in-kind contribution).14

When there are expenditures made to steer supporters or members to a campaign
and they do not fall within the exceptions for membership communications or de
minimis social media use by volunteers, it is important that the effort is independent
of the candidate. For example, if a mailer was sent by post to inform the group’s
supporters about a specific campaign event and request volunteers for that event,
that might raise questions as to where the group got the information that volunteers
were needed. If a complaint were filed against the group alleging that an impermissi-
ble coordinated expenditure had been made, there would be an investigation into
whether there was coordination (clearly there had been an expenditure, i.e. for the
cost of printing the mailers, for postage). There is not a presumption of coordination
under these facts, but questions would be raised about how the group knew of the
event, whether the campaign asked for this help, etc.

An additional problem may be created if volunteers or staff work for both the
organized group and a candidate’s campaign and the group later makes expenditures.
Not only does it create an avenue for communication and coordination between the
group and the committee, but if the group makes subsequent expenditures to support
the candidate, those expenditures may be presumed to be coordinated. General
Statutes § 9-601c (b) (5), (7) and (9). For example, if a group sent volunteers to
canvass for the campaign, and the campaign gave them a list of addresses and
campaign materials to distribute, the volunteers—who are also supporters or mem-
bers of the organized group—would then be coordinating with the campaign. Their
knowledge gained and the use of that knowledge by the group would be a part of
the totality of circumstances considered in analyzing whether or not there was
coordination if the group subsequently made an expenditure in support of the can-
didate.15

Adopted this 22nd day of August, 2018 at Hartford, Connecticut by a vote of
the Commission.

Anthony J. Castagno, Chairman

14 If a volunteer is using paid vacation time to work for a campaign of their choice that would not
trigger a finding that the employer had made an in-kind contribution to the candidate committee. If,
however, the employer were to require the worker to volunteer during their vacation or require the
worker to provide services to the campaigns of certain candidates or parties then that would raise issues
as to whether there had been a coordinated contribution by the employer to the candidate committee.

15 Some commenters have requested that the Commission address the weighing and operation of the
rebuttable presumptions and the use of firewalls. Because the scope of this ruling is already quite broad,
the Commission declines at this time to expand its discussion to further address these topics in detail.
The Commission does note that in order to be used to rebut a Section 9-601c (b) presumption, a firewall
would have to be proven to have been effectively designed and implemented to have actually prohibited
the flow of information between the candidate and their agents and the spender, including employees
consultants or any other individuals providing services to the spender.
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Appendix A

Sec. 9-601a. (Formerly Sec. 9-333b). ‘‘Contribution’’ defined. (a) As used in
this chapter and chapter 157, ‘‘contribution’’ means:

(1) Any gift, subscription, loan, advance, payment or deposit of money or anything
of value, made to promote the success or defeat of any candidate seeking the
nomination for election, or election or for the purpose of aiding or promoting the
success or defeat of any referendum question or the success or defeat of any
political party;

(2) A written contract, promise or agreement to make a contribution for any
such purpose;

(3) The payment by any person, other than a candidate or treasurer, of compensa-
tion for the personal services of any other person which are rendered without charge
to a committee or candidate for any such purpose;

(4) An expenditure that is not an independent expenditure; or

(5) Funds received by a committee which are transferred from another committee
or other source for any such purpose.

(b) As used in this chapter and chapter 157, ‘‘contribution’’ does not mean:

(1) A loan of money made in the ordinary course of business by a national or
state bank;

(2) Any communication made by a corporation, organization or association solely
to its members, owners, stockholders, executive or administrative personnel, or
their families;

(3) Nonpartisan voter registration and get-out-the-vote campaigns by any corpora-
tion, organization or association aimed at its members, owners, stockholders, execu-
tive or administrative personnel, or their families;

(4) Uncompensated services provided by individuals volunteering their time on
behalf of a party committee, political committee, slate committee or candidate
committee, including any services provided for the benefit of nonparticipating and
participating candidates under the Citizens’ Election Program and any unreimbursed
travel expenses made by an individual who volunteers the individual’s personal
services to any such committee. For purposes of this subdivision, an individual is
a volunteer if such individual is not receiving compensation for such services
regardless of whether such individual received compensation in the past or may
receive compensation for similar services that may be performed in the future;

(5) The use of real or personal property, a portion or all of the cost of invitations
and the cost of food or beverages, voluntarily provided by an individual to a
candidate, including a nonparticipating or participating candidate under the Citizens’
Election Program, or to a party, political or slate committee, in rendering voluntary
personal services at the individual’s residential premises or a community room in
the individual’s residence facility, to the extent that the cumulative value of the
invitations, food or beverages provided by an individual on behalf of any candidate
or committee does not exceed four hundred dollars with respect to any single event
or does not exceed eight hundred dollars for any such event hosted by two or more
individuals, provided at least one such individual owns or resides at the residential
premises, and further provided the cumulative value of the invitations, food or
beverages provided by an individual on behalf of any such candidate or committee
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does not exceed eight hundred dollars with respect to a calendar year or single
election, as the case may be;

(6) The sale of food or beverage for use by a party, political, slate or candidate
committee, including those for a participating or nonparticipating candidate, at a
discount, if the charge is not less than the cost to the vendor, to the extent that the
cumulative value of the discount given to or on behalf of any single candidate
committee does not exceed four hundred dollars with respect to any single primary
or election, or to or on behalf of any party, political or slate committee, does not
exceed six hundred dollars in a calendar year;

(7) The display of a lawn sign by a human being or on real property;

(8) The payment, by a party committee or slate committee of the costs of prepara-
tion, display, mailing or other distribution incurred by the committee or individual
with respect to any printed slate card, sample ballot or other printed list containing
the names of three or more candidates;

(9) The donation of any item of personal property by an individual to a committee
for a fund-raising affair, including a tag sale or auction, or the purchase by an
individual of any such item at such an affair, to the extent that the cumulative value
donated or purchased does not exceed one hundred dollars;

(10) (A) The purchase of advertising space which clearly identifies the purchaser,
in a program for a fund-raising affair sponsored by the candidate committee of a
candidate for an office of a municipality, provided the cumulative purchase of such
space does not exceed two hundred fifty dollars from any single such candidate or
the candidate’s committee with respect to any single election campaign if the
purchaser is a business entity or fifty dollars for purchases by any other person;

(B) The purchase of advertising space which clearly identifies the purchaser, in
a program for a fund-raising affair or on signs at a fund-raising affair sponsored
by a party committee or a political committee, other than an exploratory committee,
provided the cumulative purchase of such space does not exceed two hundred fifty
dollars from any single party committee or a political committee, other than an
exploratory committee, in any calendar year if the purchaser is a business entity or
fifty dollars for purchases by any other person. Notwithstanding the provisions of
this subparagraph, the following may not purchase advertising space in a program
for a fund-raising affair or on signs at a fund-raising affair sponsored by a party
committee or a political committee, other than an exploratory committee: (i) A
communicator lobbyist, (ii) a member of the immediate family of a communicator
lobbyist, (iii) a state contractor, (iv) a prospective state contractor, or (v) a principal
of a state contractor or prospective state contractor. As used in this subparagraph,
‘‘state contractor’’, ‘‘prospective state contractor’’ and ‘‘principal of a state contrac-
tor or prospective state contractor’’ have the same meanings as provided in subsection
(f) of section 9-612;

(11) The payment of money by a candidate to the candidate’s candidate committee,
provided the committee is for a nonparticipating candidate;

(12) The donation of goods or services by a business entity to a committee for
a fund-raising affair, including a tag sale or auction, to the extent that the cumulative
value donated does not exceed two hundred dollars;

(13) The advance of a security deposit by an individual to a telephone company,
as defined in section 16-1, for telecommunications service for a committee or to
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another utility company, such as an electric distribution company, provided the
security deposit is refunded to the individual;

(14) The provision of facilities, equipment, technical and managerial support, and
broadcast time by a community antenna television company, as defined in section
16-1, for community access programming pursuant to section 16-331a, unless (A)
the major purpose of providing such facilities, equipment, support and time is to
influence the nomination or election of a candidate, or (B) such facilities, equipment,
support and time are provided on behalf of a political party;

(15) The sale of food or beverage by a town committee to an individual at a
town fair, county fair, local festival or similar mass gathering held within the state,
to the extent that the cumulative payment made by any one individual for such
items does not exceed fifty dollars;

(16) An organization expenditure by a party committee, legislative caucus commit-
tee or legislative leadership committee;

(17) The donation of food or beverage by an individual for consumption at a
slate, candidate, political committee or party committee meeting, event or activity
that is not a fund-raising affair to the extent that the cumulative value of the food
or beverages donated by an individual for a single meeting or event does not exceed
fifty dollars;

(18) The value associated with the de minimis activity on behalf of a party
committee, political committee, slate committee or candidate committee, including
for activities including, but not limited to, (A) the creation of electronic or written
communications or digital photos or video as part of an electronic file created on
a voluntary basis without compensation, including, but not limited to, the creation
and ongoing content development and delivery of social media on the Internet or
telephone, including, but not limited to, the sending or receiving of electronic mail
or messages, (B) the posting or display of a candidate’s name or group of candidates’
names at a town fair, county fair, local festival or similar mass gathering by a party
committee, (C) the use of personal property or a service that is customarily attendant
to the occupancy of a residential dwelling, or the donation of an item or items of
personal property that are customarily used for campaign purposes, by an individual,
to a candidate committee, provided the cumulative fair market value of such use
of personal property or service or items of personal property does not exceed one
hundred dollars in the aggregate for any single election or calendar year, as the case
may be;

(19) The use of offices, telephones, computers and similar equipment provided
by a party committee, legislative caucus committee or legislative leadership commit-
tee that serve as headquarters for or are used by such party committee, legislative
caucus committee or legislative leadership committee;

(20) A communication, as described in subdivision (7) of subsection (b) of section
9-601b;

(21) An independent expenditure, as defined in section 9-601c;

(22) A communication containing an endorsement on behalf of a candidate for
nomination or election to the office of Governor, Lieutenant Governor, Secretary
of the State, State Treasurer, State Comptroller, Attorney General, state senator or
state representative, from a candidate for the office of Governor, Lieutenant Gover-
nor, Secretary of the State, State Treasurer, State Comptroller, Attorney General, state
senator or state representative, provided the candidate (A) making the endorsement
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is unopposed at the time of the communication, and (B) being endorsed paid for
such communication;

(23) A communication that is sent by mail to addresses in the district for which
a candidate being endorsed by another candidate pursuant to this subdivision is
seeking nomination or election to the office of state senator or state representative,
containing an endorsement on behalf of such candidate for such nomination or
election from a candidate for the office of state senator or state representative,
provided the candidate (A) making the endorsement is not seeking election to the
office of state senator or state representative for a district that contains any geographi-
cal area shared by the district for the office to which the endorsed candidate is seeking
nomination or election, and (B) being endorsed paid for such communication; or

(24) Campaign training events provided to multiple individuals by a legislative
caucus committee and any associated materials, provided the cumulative value of
such events and materials does not exceed six thousand dollars in the aggregate for
a calendar year.

(c) The provisions of subdivision (5) of subsection (b) of this section concerning
the cost of invitations shall not be construed as preventing the candidate or the
party, political or slate committee from paying all or any portion of such costs, in
which case such amount paid by such candidate or committee shall not count toward
the calculation of the cumulative value of the invitations, food or beverages provided
pursuant to said subdivision (5).

General Statutes § 9-601b. ‘‘Expenditure’’ defined:

(a) As used in this chapter and chapter 157, the term ‘‘expenditure’’ means:

(1) Any purchase, payment, distribution, loan, advance, deposit or gift of money
or anything of value, when made to promote the success or defeat of any candidate
seeking the nomination for election, or election, of any person or for the purpose
of aiding or promoting the success or defeat of any referendum question or the
success or defeat of any political party;

(2) Any communication that (A) refers to one or more clearly identified candidates,
and (B) is broadcast by radio, television, other than on a public access channel, or
by satellite communication or via the Internet, or as a paid-for telephone communica-
tion, or appears in a newspaper, magazine or on a billboard, or is sent by mail; or

(3) The transfer of funds by a committee to another committee.

(b) The term ‘‘expenditure’’ does not mean:

(1) A loan of money, made in the ordinary course of business, by a state or
national bank;

(2) A communication made by any corporation, organization or association solely
to its members, owners, stockholders, executive or administrative personnel, or
their families;

(3) Nonpartisan voter registration and get-out-the-vote campaigns by any corpora-
tion, organization or association aimed at its members, owners, stockholders, execu-
tive or administrative personnel, or their families;

(4) Uncompensated services provided by individuals volunteering their time on
behalf of a party committee, political committee, slate committee or candidate
committee, including any services provided for the benefit of nonparticipating and
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participating candidates under the Citizens’ Election Program and any unreimbursed
travel expenses made by an individual who volunteers the individual’s personal
services to any such committee. For purposes of this subdivision, an individual is
a volunteer if such individual is not receiving compensation for such services
regardless of whether such individual received compensation in the past or may
receive compensation for similar services that may be performed in the future;

(5) Any news story, commentary or editorial distributed through the facilities of
any broadcasting station, newspaper, magazine or other periodical, unless such
facilities are owned or controlled by any political party, committee or candidate;

(6) The use of real or personal property, a portion or all of the cost of invitations
and the cost of food or beverages, voluntarily provided by an individual to a
candidate, including a nonparticipating or participating candidate under the Citizens’
Election Program, or to a party, political or slate committee, in rendering voluntary
personal services at the individual’s residential premises or a community room in
the individual’s residence facility, to the extent that the cumulative value of the
invitations, food or beverages provided by an individual on behalf of any candidate
or committee does not exceed four hundred dollars with respect to any single event
or does not exceed eight hundred dollars for any such event hosted by two or more
individuals, provided at least one such individual owns or resides at the residential
premises, and further provided the cumulative value of the invitations, food or
beverages provided by an individual on behalf of any such candidate or committee
does not exceed eight hundred dollars with respect to a calendar year or single
election, as the case may be;

(7) A communication described in subdivision (2) of subsection (a) of this section
that includes speech or expression made (A) prior to the ninety-day period preceding
the date of a primary or an election at which the clearly identified candidate or
candidates are seeking nomination to public office or position, that is made for the
purpose of influencing any legislative or administrative action, as defined in section
1-91, or executive action, or (B) during a legislative session for the purpose of
influencing legislative action;

(8) An organization expenditure by a party committee, legislative caucus commit-
tee or legislative leadership committee;

(9) A commercial advertisement that refers to an owner, director or officer of a
business entity who is also a candidate and that had previously been broadcast or
appeared when the owner, director or officer was not a candidate;

(10) A communication containing an endorsement on behalf of a candidate for
nomination or election to the office of Governor, Lieutenant Governor, Secretary
of the State, State Treasurer, State Comptroller, Attorney General, state senator or
state representative, from a candidate for the office of Governor, Lieutenant Gover-
nor, Secretary of the State, State Treasurer, State Comptroller, Attorney General,
state senator or state representative, shall not be an expenditure attributable to the
endorsing candidate, if the candidate making the endorsement is unopposed at the
time of the communication;

(11) A communication that is sent by mail to addresses in the district for which
a candidate being endorsed by another candidate pursuant to the provisions of this
subdivision is seeking nomination or election to the office of state senator or state
representative, containing an endorsement on behalf of such candidate for such
nomination or election, from a candidate for the office of state senator or state
representative, shall not be an expenditure attributable to the endorsing candidate,
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if the candidate making the endorsement is not seeking election to the office of
state senator or state representative for a district that contains any geographical area
shared by the district for the office to which the endorsed candidate is seeking
nomination or election;

(12) Campaign training events provided to multiple individuals by a legislative
caucus committee and any associated materials, provided the cumulative value of
such events and materials does not exceed six thousand dollars in the aggregate for
a calendar year;

(13) A lawful communication by any charitable organization which is a tax-
exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
or any subsequent corresponding internal revenue code of the United States, as from
time to time amended;

(14) The use of offices, telephones, computers and similar equipment provided
by a party committee, legislative caucus committee or legislative leadership commit-
tee that serve as headquarters for or are used by such party committee, legislative
caucus committee or legislative leadership committee; or

(15) An expense or expenses incurred by a human being acting alone in an amount
that is two hundred dollars or less, in the aggregate, that benefits a candidate for a
single election.

(c) ‘‘Expense incurred but not paid’’ means any receipt of goods or services for
which payment is required but not made or a written contract, promise or agreement
to make an expenditure.

(d) The provisions of subdivision (6) of subsection (b) of this section concerning
the cost of invitations shall not be construed as preventing the candidate or the
party, political or slate committee from paying all or any portion of such costs, in
which case such amount paid by such candidate or committee shall not count toward
the calculation of the cumulative value of the invitations, food or beverages provided
pursuant to said subdivision (6).

General Statutes § 9-601c - ‘‘Independent expenditure’’ defined:

(a) As used in this chapter and chapter 157, the term ‘‘independent expenditure’’
means an expenditure, as defined in section 9-601b, that is made without the consent,
coordination, or consultation of, a candidate or agent of the candidate, candidate
committee, political committee or party committee.

(b) When the State Elections Enforcement Commission evaluates an expenditure
to determine whether such expenditure is an independent expenditure, there shall
be a rebuttable presumption that the following expenditures are not independent
expenditures:

(1) An expenditure made by a person in cooperation, consultation or in concert
with, at the request, suggestion or direction of, or pursuant to a general or particular
understanding with (A) a candidate, candidate committee, political committee or
party committee, or (B) a consultant or other agent acting on behalf of a candidate,
candidate committee, political committee or party committee;

(2) An expenditure made by a person for the production, dissemination, distribu-
tion or publication, in whole or in substantial part, of any broadcast or any written,
graphic or other form of political advertising or campaign communication prepared
by (A) a candidate, candidate committee, political committee or party committee, or
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(B) a consultant or other agent acting on behalf of a candidate, candidate committee,
political committee or party committee;

(3) An expenditure made by a person based on information about a candidate’s,
political committee’s, or party committee’s plans, projects or needs, provided by
(A) a candidate, candidate committee, political committee or party committee, or
(B) a consultant or other agent acting on behalf of a candidate, candidate committee,
political committee or party committee, with the intent that such expenditure be
made;

(4) An expenditure made by an individual who, in the same election cycle, is
serving or has served as the campaign chairperson, treasurer or deputy treasurer of
a candidate committee, political committee or party committee benefiting from such
expenditure, or in any other executive or policymaking position, including as a
member, employee, fundraiser, consultant or other agent, of a candidate committee,
political committee or party committee;

(5) An expenditure made by a person or an entity on or after January first in the
year of an election in which a candidate is seeking public office that benefits such
candidate when such person or entity has hired an individual as an employee or
consultant and such individual was an employee of or consultant to such candidate’s
candidate committee or such candidate’s opponent’s candidate committee during
any part of the eighteen-month period preceding such expenditure;

(6) An expenditure made by a person for fundraising activities (A) for a candidate,
candidate committee, political committee or party committee, or a consultant or
other agent acting on behalf of a candidate, candidate committee, political committee
or party committee, or (B) for the solicitation or receipt of contributions on behalf
of a candidate, candidate committee, political committee or party committee, or a
consultant or other agent acting on behalf of a candidate, candidate committee,
political committee or party committee;

(7) An expenditure made by a person based on information about a candidate’s
campaign plans, projects or needs, that is directly or indirectly provided by a
candidate, the candidate’s candidate committee, a political committee or a party
committee, or a consultant or other agent acting on behalf of such candidate,
candidate committee, political committee or party committee, to the person making
the expenditure or such person’s agent, with an express or tacit understanding that
such person is considering making the expenditure;

(8) An expenditure made by a person for a communication that clearly identifies
a candidate during an election campaign, if the person making the expenditure, or
such person’s agent, has informed the candidate who benefits from the expenditure,
that candidate’s candidate committee, a political committee or a party committee,
or a consultant or other agent acting on behalf of the benefiting candidate or candidate
committee, political committee, or party committee, concerning the communication’s
contents, or of the intended audience, timing, location or mode or frequency of
dissemination. As used in this subdivision, a communication clearly identifies a
candidate when that communication contains the name, nickname, initials, photo-
graph or drawing of the candidate or an unambiguous reference to that candidate,
which includes, but is not limited to, a reference that can only mean that candi-
date; and

(9) An expenditure made by a person or an entity for consultant or creative
services, including, but not limited to, services related to communications strategy
or design or campaign strategy or to engage a campaign-related vendor, to be used
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to promote or oppose a candidate’s election to office if the provider of such services
is or has provided consultant or creative services to such candidate, such candidate’s
candidate committee or an agent of such candidate committee, or to any opposing
candidate’s candidate committee or an agent of such candidate committee after
January first of the year in which the expenditure occurs. For purposes of this
subdivision, communications strategy or design does not include the costs of printing
or costs for the use of a medium for the purpose of communications. For purposes
of this subdivision, campaign-related vendor includes, but is not limited to, a vendor
that provides the following services: Polling, mail design, mail strategy, political
strategy, general campaign advice or telephone banking.

(c) When the State Elections Enforcement Commission evaluates an expenditure
to determine whether an expenditure by entity is an independent expenditure, the
following shall not be presumed to constitute evidence of consent, coordination or
consultation within the meaning of subsection (a) of this section: (1) Participation
by a candidate or an agent of the candidate in an event sponsored by the entity,
unless such event promotes the success of the candidate’s candidacy or the defeat
of the candidate’s opponent, or unless the event is during the period that is forty-
five days prior to the primary for which the candidate is seeking nomination for
election or election to office; (2) membership of the candidate or agent of the
candidate in the entity, unless the candidate or agent of the candidate holds an
executive or policymaking position within the entity after the candidate becomes a
candidate; or (3) financial support for, or solicitation or fundraising on behalf of
the entity by a candidate or an agent of the candidate, unless the entity has made
or obligated to make independent expenditures in support of such candidate in the
election or primary for which the candidate is a candidate.

(d) When the State Elections Enforcement Commission evaluates an expenditure
to determine whether such expenditure is an independent expenditure, the commis-
sion shall consider, as an effective rebuttal to the presumptions provided in subsection
(b) of this section, the establishment by the person making the expenditure of a
firewall policy designed and implemented to prohibit the flow of information between
(1) employees, consultants or other individuals providing services to the person
paying for the expenditure, and (2) the candidate or agents of the candidate.

Connecticut Higher Education Supplemental Loan Authority

Notice of Intent to Amend CHESLA Loan Program Manual

In accordance with the provisions of Connecticut General Statutes § 1-121, notice
is hereby given that the Connecticut Higher Education Supplemental Loan Authority
(‘‘CHESLA’’), pursuant to Connecticut General Statutes § 10a-224(f)(6), intends
to amend the CHESLA Loan Program Manual (‘‘Manual’’) to: (i) add the following
definition to Section B: ‘‘ ‘Eligible Non-U.S. Citizen’ means an individual that
would be an eligible noncitizen for purposes of the U.S. Department of Education
Direct Loan Program’’; (ii) add the phrase ‘‘must be a U.S. citizen or an Eligible
Non-U.S. Citizen’’ to the first sentence of Section D. 2.; and (iii) add the following
subsection to Section E. 1.: ‘‘j. Review and determine that the Applicant and any
Co-Applicant, is a U.S. citizen or Eligible Non-U.S. Citizen’’.

Such amendments shall become effective 30 days after notice thereof has been
published in the Connecticut Law Journal, unless the CHESLA Board of Directors
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(‘‘Board’’) determines that based on comments received from members of the
public, after such publication, that it would be desirable or appropriate to defer such
effectiveness so that the Board may reconsider the proposed amendments in light
of such comments.

All written comments, questions, and concerns regarding the proposed amend-
ments may be submitted within 30 days of the publication of this notice in the
Connecticut Law Journal to Jeanette W. Weldon, Executive Director, Connecticut
Higher Education Supplemental Loan Authority, 10 Columbus Boulevard, 7th Floor,
Hartford, CT 06106 or via email at jweldon@chesla.org
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NOTICES

NOTICE OF SUSPENSION OF ATTORNEY

Pursuant to Practice Book § 2-54, notice is hereby given that on August 28. 2018,
Attorney Robert Heroux, Juris #425905, was ordered suspended from the practice
of law by the Hon. Irene Jacobs for a period of 30 days.

The full order of the court can be found in FST-CV17-6033590-S Disciplinary
Counsel v. Robert Heroux.

Notice of Discipline

Pursuant to § 2-54 of the Connecticut Practice Book, notice is hereby given that
on August 23, 2018, in Docket Number HHD-CV-17-6084134 Musa Sebadduka,
juris # 425881, stipulated as follows:

1. The interim suspension imposed by the Court on January 2, 2018 shall be
terminated and the Respondent shall be reinstated, subject to the order of
suspension dated June 4, 2018 on the Second Count of the Amended Present-
ment of Attorney for Misconduct dated April 5, 2018.

2. The Respondent, having previously been found to have violated Rule 8.1 (2)
of the Rules of Professional Conduct and § 2-27 of the Connecticut Practice
Book, shall be reprimanded.

3. The Respondent shall create and maintain IOLTA account records that are in
compliance with Rule 1.15(j) of the Rules of Professional Conduct.

4. The Respondent shall engage the services of a bookkeeper or accountant on
or before October 8, 2018. If on or about October 9, 2019, the bookkeeper or
accountant certifies to Disciplinary Counsel that the Respondent is able to
properly maintain his own IOLTA account records, the services of the book-
keeper or accountant may be terminated. If the bookkeeper or accountant is
unable to make such certification, the Respondent shall continue to engage
the services of the bookkeeper or accountant until such time as the bookkeeper
or accountant is able to make a certification to Disciplinary Counsel.

5. The Respondent shall submit to, and fully cooperate with, monthly audits of
his clients’ funds account by the Statewide Grievance Committee for the period
beginning October 1, 2018 through and including September 30, 2019. The
Respondent and the Disciplinary Counsel agree that if any issues are discovered,
any additional audit period may be determined at the discretion of the Statewide
Grievance Committee. Otherwise, if no issues are discovered, the audits will
cease after the period including September 30, 2019.

David Sheridan
Presiding Judge
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Notice of Suspension of Attorney

Pursuant to § 2-54 of the Connecticut Practice Book, notice is hereby given that
on August 30, 2018 in Docket Number HHD-CV-18-6097916-S John Paul Carroll,
juris # 417951 of Naperville, IL was suspended from the practice of law for a period
of six months, commencing June 14, 2018.

1. The Respondent must comply with Practice Book § 2-47B (Restrictions on the
Activities of Deactivated Attorneys).

2. Prior to reinstatement in Connecticut, the Respondent must demonstrate com-
pliance with all the terms of the order of suspension in the State of Illinois
and must demonstrate that he is eligible for reinstatement in that State.

3. Prior to reinstatement in Connecticut, the Respondent shall satisfy any bar
requirements and shall be in good standing.

4. Prior to reinstatement in Connecticut, the Respondent must file a motion with
the court and demonstrate compliance with all conditions stated herein.

David Sheridan
Presiding Judge
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